

Fluid dynamic limit of Boltzmann equation for granular hard–spheres in a nearly elastic regime

Ricardo J. Alonso, Bertrand Lods, Isabelle Tristani

▶ To cite this version:

Ricardo J. Alonso, Bertrand Lods, Isabelle Tristani. Fluid dynamic limit of Boltzmann equation for granular hard–spheres in a nearly elastic regime. 2020. hal-02922416v1

HAL Id: hal-02922416 https://hal.science/hal-02922416v1

Preprint submitted on 26 Aug 2020 (v1), last revised 12 Apr 2021 (v2)

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

FLUID DYNAMIC LIMIT OF BOLTZMANN EQUATION FOR GRANULAR HARD-SPHERES IN A NEARLY ELASTIC REGIME

RICARDO J. ALONSO, BERTRAND LODS, AND ISABELLE TRISTANI

ABSTRACT. In this paper, we provide the first rigorous derivation of hydrodynamic equations from the Boltzmann equation for inelastic hard spheres with small inelasticity. The hydrodynamic system that we obtain is an incompressible Navier-Stokes-Fourier system with self-consistent forcing terms and, to our knowledge, it is thus the first hydrodynamic system that properly describes rapid granular flows consistent with the kinetic formulation. To this end, we write our Boltzmann equation in a non dimensional form using the dimensionless Knudsen number which is intended to be sent to 0. There are several difficulties in such derivation, the first one coming from the fact that the original Boltzmann equation is free-cooling and, thus, requires a self-similar change of variables to introduce an homogeneous steady state. Such a homogeneous state is not explicit and is heavy-tailed, which is a major obstacle to adapting energy estimates and spectral analysis. Additionally, a central challenge is to understand the relation between the restitution coefficient, which quantifies the energy loss at the microscopic level, and the Knudsen number. This is achieved by identifying the correct *nearly elastic regime* to capture nontrivial hydrodynamic behavior. We are, then, able to prove exponential stability uniformly with respect to the Knudsen number for solutions of the rescaled Boltzmann equation in a close to equilibrium regime. Finally, we prove that solutions to the Boltzmann equation converge in a specific weak sense towards a hydrodynamic limit which depends on time and space variables only through macroscopic quantities. Such macroscopic quantities are solutions to a suitable modification of the incompressible Navier-Stokes-Fourier system which appears to be new in this context.

Mathematics Subject Classification (2010): 76P05 Rarefied gas flows, Boltzmann equation [See also 82B40, 82C40, 82D05]; 76T25 Granular flows [See also 74C99, 74E20]; 47H20 Semigroups of nonlinear operators [See also 37L05, 47J35, 54H15, 58D07], 35Q35 PDEs in connection with fluid mechanics; 35Q30 Navier-Stokes equations [See also 76D05, 76D07, 76N10].

Keywords: Inelastic Boltzmann equation; Granular flows; Nearly elastic regime; Longtime asymptotic; Incompressible Navier-Stokes hydrodynamical limit; Knudsen number.

CONTENTS

1. Introduction	3
1.1. Multiscale descriptions of granular gases	3
1.2. The Boltzmann equation for granular gases	4
1.3. Navier-Stokes scaling	6
1.4. Self-similar variable and homogeneous cooling state	7
1.5. Main results	9
1.6. Hydrodynamic limits in the elastic case	11
1.7. The challenge of hydrodynamic limits for granular gases	13
1.8. Notations and definition	14
1.9. Strategy of the proof	15
1.10. Organization of the paper	18
2. Summary of useful results about the collision operator	19
2.1. The linearized operators \mathscr{L}_{α} and \mathscr{L}_{1}	19
2.2. Decomposition of \mathscr{L}_{α}	23
2.3. The complete linearized operator	24
2.4. The elastic semigroup	27
3. Linear theory in the weakly inelastic regime	30
4. Nonlinear analysis	37
4.1. Estimating h^0	39
4.2. Estimating $\mathbf{P}_0 h^1(t)$	41
4.3. Estimating the complement $(\mathbf{Id} - \mathbf{P}_0)h^1$	44
5. Cauchy Theory	54
5.1. Iteration scheme	54
5.2. Estimating $\ h_{n+1}^0 - h_n^0\ _{\mathcal{E}}$ and $\ h_{n+1}^1 - h_n^1\ _{\mathcal{H}}$	55
5.3. Convergence of the iteration scheme	62
6. Hydrodynamic limit	63
6.1. Compactness and convergence	63
6.2. Identification of the limit	70
6.3. About the equations of motion and temperature	72
6.4. Convergence of the nonlinear terms	76
6.5. About the initial conditions	81
6.6. About the original problem in the physical variables	84
Appendix A. About granular gases in the spatial homogeneous setting	86
A.1. Alternative representation of the velocities	86
A.2. About the original problem in physical variables	89
Appendix B. Tools for the Hydrodynamic limit	91
Appendix C. Proof of Theorem 2.10 and Proposition 2.13	95
References	99

2

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Multiscale descriptions of granular gases. Granular materials are ubiquitous in nature and understanding the behaviour of granular matter is a relevant challenge from both the physics and mathematics viewpoints. Various descriptions of granular matter have been proposed in the literature [28]. An especially relevant one consists in viewing granular systems as clusters of a large number of discrete macroscopic particles (with size exceeding 1 μ m, significantly larger than the one of a typical particle described in classical kinetic theory) suffering dissipative interactions. One speaks then of *rapid granular flows* or *gaseous granular matter*. If the number of particles is large enough, it is then common to adopt a kinetic theory, it is then particularly relevant to deduce from this kinetic description the fluid behaviour of the system. This means, roughly speaking, that we look at the granular gas at a scale larger than the mesoscopic and aim to capture the hydrodynamical features of it through the evolution of macroscopic quantities like *density, bulk velocity* and *temperature* of the gas which satisfy suitable hydrodynamics equations.

One of the main objects of the present work is to make a first rigorous link between these two co-existing descriptions by deriving a suitable modification of incompressible Navier-Stokes equation from the Boltzmann equation for inelastic hard-spheres as the Knudsen number goes to zero.

Recall that the Knudsen number ε is proportional to the mean free path between collisions and in order to derive hydrodynamic equations from the Boltzmann equation, the usual strategy consists, roughly speaking, in performing a perturbation analysis in the limit $\varepsilon \to 0$ (meaning that the mean free path is negligible when compared to the typical physical scale length). We point out that these questions are perfectly understood in the elastic case (*molecular gases*) for which rigorous results on the hydrodynamic limits of the Boltzmann equation have been obtained, we refer to the next Section 1.6 for more details.

The picture in the context of granular gases is quite different. In fact, a satisfying hydrodynamic equation that properly describes rapid granular flow is still a controversial issue among the physics community. The continuous loss of kinetic energy makes granular gases an *open system* as far as thermodynamics is concerned. Moreover, no non-trivial steady states exist in granular gases without an external energy supply which makes granular gases a prototype of *non-equilibrium* systems. This is an important obstacle in the derivation of hydrodynamical equations from the kinetic description since it is expected that *equilibrium states* play the role of the typical *hydrodynamic solution* where time-space dependence of the single-particle distribution function F(t, x, v) occurs only through suitable hydrodynamic fields like density $\varrho(t, x)$, bulk velocity u(t, x), and temperature $\theta(t, x)$. An additional difficulty is related to the size of particles and scale separation. Recall that granular gases involve *macroscopic particles* whose size is much larger than the ones described by the usual Boltzmann equation with elastic interactions referred to as *molecular gases*. As the hydrodynamic description occurs on large time scales (compared to the mean free time) and on large spatial scales (compared to the mean free path) the mesoscopic – continuum scale separation is problematic to justify in full generality for granular gases. We refer to [28, Section 3.1, p. 102] for more details on this point and observe here that the main concern is related to the time scale induced by the evolution of the temperature (see (1.9) herafter). In particular, as observed in [28], this problem can only be answered with a fine spectral analysis of the linearized Boltzmann equation that ensures that the d+2 hydrodynamic modes associated to density, velocity and temperature decay more slowly than the remaining kinetic excitations at large times. This is the only way that the hydrodynamic excitations emerge as the dominant dynamics. All these physically grounded obstacles make the derivation of hydrodynamic equations from the Boltzmann equation associated to granular gases a reputedly challenging open problem. Quoting [13]:

"the context of the hydrodynamic equations remains uncertain. What are the relevant space and time scales? How much inelasticity can be described in this way?"

The present paper is, to the best of our knowledge, the first rigorous answer to these relevant problems, at least in dimension $d \ge 2$. We already mentioned that the key point in our analysis is to identify the correct regime which allows to answer these questions: *nearly elastic*. In this regime the energy dissipation rate in the systems happens in a controlled fashion since the inelasticity parameter is compensated accordingly to the number of collisions per time unit. This process mimics viscoelasticity as particle collisions become more elastic as the collision dissipation mechanism increases in the limit $\varepsilon \rightarrow 0$ (see Assumption 1.2 below). In this way, we are able to consider a re-scaling of the kinetic equation in which a peculiar intermediate asymptotic emerge and prevent the total cooling of the granular gas.

Other regimes can be considered depending on the rate that the kinetic energy is dissipated, for example, an interesting regime is the *mono-kinetic* which considers the extreme case of infinite energy dissipation rate. In this way, the limit is formally described by plugging in a Dirac mass solution in the kinetic equation yielding the *pressureless Euler system* (corresponding to sticky particles). Such a regime has been rigorously addressed in the one-dimensional framework in the interesting contribution [39]. It is an open question to extend such analysis to higher dimensions since the approach of [39] uses the so-called Bony functional which is a tool specifically tailored for 1D kinetic equations.

1.2. **The Boltzmann equation for granular gases.** We consider here the (freely cooling) Boltzmann equation which provides a statistical description of identical smooth hard spheres suffering binary and *inelastic collsions*:

$$\partial_t F(t, x, v) + v \cdot \nabla_x F(t, x, v) = \mathcal{Q}_\alpha(F, F)$$
(1.1)

supplemented with initial condition $F(0, x, v) = F_{in}(x, v)$, where F(t, x, v) is the density of granular gases having position $x \in \mathbb{T}^d$ and velocity $v \in \mathbb{R}^d$ at time $t \ge 0$. We consider here for simplicity the case of *flat torus*

$$\mathbb{T}^d_\ell = \mathbb{R}^d / (2\pi \,\ell \,\mathbb{Z})^d \tag{1.2}$$

for some typical length-scale $\ell > 0$. This corresponds to periodic boundary conditions:

$$F(t, x + 2\pi \ell \boldsymbol{e}_i, v) = F(t, x, v) \qquad i = 1, \dots, d$$

where e_i is the *i*-th vector of the canonical basis of \mathbb{R}^d . The collision operator \mathcal{Q}_{α} is defined in weak form as

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathcal{Q}_\alpha(g, f)(v) \,\psi(v) \mathrm{d}v = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} f(v) \,g(v_*) \,|v - v_*| \mathcal{A}_\alpha[\psi](v, v_*) \mathrm{d}v_* \mathrm{d}v, \tag{1.3}$$

where

$$\mathcal{A}_{\alpha}[\psi](v,v_*) = \int_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1}} (\psi(v') + \psi(v'_*) - \psi(v) - \psi(v_*))b(\sigma \cdot \bar{q}) \mathrm{d}\sigma, \tag{1.4}$$

and the post-collisional velocities (v', v'_*) are given by

$$v' = v + \frac{1+\alpha}{4} (|q|\sigma - q), \qquad v'_{*} = v_{*} - \frac{1+\alpha}{4} (|q|\sigma - q),$$

where $q = v - v_{*}, \qquad \bar{q} = q/|q|.$ (1.5)

Here, $d\sigma$ denotes the Lebesgue measure on \mathbb{S}^{d-1} and the angular part $b = b(\cos \theta)$ of the collision kernel appearing in (1.4) is a non-measurable mapping integrable over \mathbb{S}^{d-1} . There is no loss of generality assuming

$$\int_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1}} b(\sigma \cdot \bar{q}) \mathrm{d}\sigma = 1, \qquad \forall \, \bar{q} \in \mathbb{S}^{d-1}$$

The fundamental distinction between the classical elastic Boltzmann equation and the associated to granular gases lies in the role of the parameter $\alpha \in (0, 1)$, the coefficient of restitution. This coefficient is given by the ratio between the magnitude of the normal component (along the line of separation between the centers of the two spheres at contact) of the relative velocity after and before the collision (see Appendix A.1 for the detailed microscopic velocities). The case $\alpha = 1$ corresponds to perfectly elastic collisions where kinetic energy is conserved. However, when $\alpha < 1$, part of the kinetic energy of the relative motion is lost since

$$|v'|^2 + |v'_*|^2 - |v|^2 - |v_*|^2 = -\frac{1-\alpha^2}{4}|q|^2 \ (1-\sigma \cdot \bar{q}) \leqslant 0.$$

It is assumed in this work that α is independent of the relative velocity q (refer to [1], [6], and [7] for the viscoelastic restitution coefficient case). Notice that the microscopic description (1.5) preserves the momentum

$$v' + v'_* = v + v_*$$

and, taking $\psi = 1$ and then $\psi(v) = v$ in (1.3) yields to the following conservation of macroscopic density and bulk velocity

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\boldsymbol{R}(t) = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\int_{\mathbb{R}^d\times\mathbb{T}_\ell^d} F(t,x,v)\mathrm{d}v\mathrm{d}x = 0, \qquad \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\boldsymbol{U}(t) = \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\int_{\mathbb{R}^d\times\mathbb{T}_\ell^d} vF(t,x,v)\mathrm{d}v\mathrm{d}x = 0.$$

Consequently, there is no loss of generality in assuming that

$$\boldsymbol{R}(t) = \boldsymbol{R}(0) = 1, \qquad \boldsymbol{U}(t) = \boldsymbol{U}(0) = 0 \qquad \forall t \ge 0.$$

As mentioned, the main contrast between elastic and inelastic gases is that in the latter the *granular temperature*

$$\boldsymbol{T}(t) := \frac{1}{|\mathbb{T}_{\ell}^{d}|} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \mathbb{T}_{\ell}^{d}} |v|^{2} F(t, x, v) \mathrm{d}v \mathrm{d}x$$

is constantly decreasing

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\boldsymbol{T}(t) = -(1-\alpha^2)\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}(F(t),F(t)) \leqslant 0,$$

where $\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}(g,g)$ denotes the normalised energy dissipation associated to \mathcal{Q}_{α} , see [51], given by

$$\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}(g,g) := \frac{\gamma_b}{4} \int_{\mathbb{T}_{\ell}^d} \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{|\mathbb{T}_{\ell}^d|} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} g(x,v) g(x,v_*) |v-v_*|^3 \mathrm{d}v \mathrm{d}v_*$$
(1.6)

with

$$\gamma_b := \int_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1}} \frac{1 - \sigma \cdot \bar{q}}{2} b(\sigma \cdot \bar{q}) \mathrm{d}\sigma = |\mathbb{S}^{d-2}| \int_0^\pi b(\cos\theta) \, (\sin\theta)^{d-2} \, \sin^2\left(\frac{\theta}{2}\right) \mathrm{d}\theta.$$

In fact, it is possible to show that

$$\lim_{t \to \infty} \boldsymbol{T}(t) = 0$$

which expresses the *total cooling of granular gases*. Determining the exact dissipation rate of the granular temperature is an important question known as *Haff's law* [37].

1.3. **Navier-Stokes scaling.** To capture some hydrodynamic behaviour of the gas, we need to write the above equation in *nondimensional form* introducing the dimensionless Knudsen number

$$\varepsilon := \frac{\text{mean free path}}{\text{spatial length-scale}}$$

which is assumed to be small. We introduce then a rescaling of time and space to capture the hydrodynamic limit and introduce the particle density

$$F_{\varepsilon}(t, x, v) = F\left(\frac{t}{\varepsilon^2}, \frac{x}{\varepsilon}, v\right), \qquad t \ge 0.$$
(1.7)

In this case, we choose for simplicity $\ell = \varepsilon$ in (1.2) which ensures now that F_{ε} is defined on $\mathbb{R}^+ \times \mathbb{T}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d$ with $\mathbb{T}^d = \mathbb{T}_1^d$. It is well-know that this scaling leads to the incompressible Navier-Stokes, however, other scalings are possible that yield different hydrodynamic models. Under such a scaling, the typical number of collisions per particle per time unit is ε^{-2} , more specifically, F_{ε} satisfies the rescaled Boltzmann equation

$$\varepsilon^2 \partial_t F_{\varepsilon}(t, x, v) + \varepsilon \, v \cdot \nabla_x F_{\varepsilon}(t, x, v) = \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha}(F_{\varepsilon}, F_{\varepsilon}), \qquad (x, v) \in \mathbb{T}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d, \tag{1.8a}$$

supplemented with initial condition

$$F_{\varepsilon}(0, x, v) = F_{\text{in}}^{\varepsilon}(x, v) = F_{\text{in}}(\frac{x}{\varepsilon}, v).$$
(1.8b)

Conservation of mass and density is preserved under this scaling, consequently, we assume that

$$\boldsymbol{R}_{\varepsilon}(t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{T}^d} F_{\varepsilon}(t, x, v) \mathrm{d}v \mathrm{d}x = 1, \quad \boldsymbol{U}_{\varepsilon}(t) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{T}^d} F_{\varepsilon}(t, x, v) v \mathrm{d}v \mathrm{d}x = 0, \quad \forall t \ge 0,$$

whereas the cooling of the granular gas is given by the equation

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\boldsymbol{T}_{\varepsilon}(t) = -\frac{1-\alpha^2}{\varepsilon^2}\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}(F_{\varepsilon}(t), F_{\varepsilon}(t)), \qquad (1.9)$$

where $T_{\varepsilon}(t) = \frac{1}{|\mathbb{T}^d|} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{T}^d} |v|^2 F_{\varepsilon}(t, x, v) \mathrm{d}v \mathrm{d}x.$

Remark 1.1. From now on we will always assume that

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} F_{\mathrm{in}}^{\varepsilon}(x, v) \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ v \\ |v|^2 \end{pmatrix} \mathrm{d}v \mathrm{d}x = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \\ E_{\mathrm{in}} \end{pmatrix}$$

with $E_{\rm in} > 0$ fixed and independent of ε . It is important to emphasize that, in all the sequel, all the threshold values on ε and the various constants involved are actually depending only on this initial choice.

1.4. Self-similar variable and homogeneous cooling state. Various forcing terms have been added to (1.8a) depending on the underlying physics. Forcing terms prevent the total cooling of the gas (heated bath, thermal bath, see [61] for details) since they act as an energy supply source to the system and induce the existence of a non-trivial steady state. These are, however, systems different from the free-cooling Boltzmann equation (1.8a) that we aim to investigate here.

To understand better this free-cooling scenario, it is still possible to introduce an intermediate asymptotic and a steady state to work with. This is done by performing a self-similar change of variables

$$F_{\varepsilon}(t, x, v) = V_{\varepsilon}(t)^{d} f_{\varepsilon}(\tau_{\varepsilon}(t), x, V_{\varepsilon}(t)v), \qquad (1.10a)$$

with

$$\pi_{\varepsilon}(t) := \frac{1}{c_{\varepsilon}} \ln(1 + c_{\varepsilon} t), \quad V_{\varepsilon}(t) = (1 + c_{\varepsilon} t), \quad t \ge 0, \ c_{\varepsilon} > 0.$$
(1.10b)

With the special choice

$$c_{\varepsilon} = \frac{1-\alpha}{\varepsilon^2}, \qquad (1.10c)$$

we can prove that f_{ε} satisfies

$$\varepsilon^2 \partial_t f_{\varepsilon}(t, x, v) + \varepsilon v \cdot \nabla_x f_{\varepsilon}(t, x, v) + \kappa_\alpha \nabla_v \cdot (v f_{\varepsilon}(t, x, v)) = \mathcal{Q}_\alpha(f_{\varepsilon}, f_{\varepsilon}), \qquad (1.11)$$

with initial condition

$$f_{\varepsilon}(0, x, v) = F_{\rm in}^{\varepsilon}(x, v).$$

Here

$$\kappa_{\alpha} = 1 - \alpha > 0, \quad \forall \alpha \in (0, 1).$$

The underlying drift term $\kappa_{\alpha} \nabla_{v} \cdot (vf(t, x, v))$ acts as an energy supply which prevents the total cooling down of the gas. Indeed, it has been shown in a series of papers [50, 51, 52] that there exists a *spatially homogeneous* steady state G_{α} to (1.11) which is unique for $\alpha \in (\alpha_0, 1)$ in an explicit threshold value $\alpha_0 \in (0, 1)$. More specifically, for $\alpha \in (\alpha_0, 1)$, there exists a unique solution G_{α} to the spatially homogeneous steady equation

$$\kappa_{\alpha} \nabla_{v} \cdot (v G_{\alpha}(v)) = \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha}(G_{\alpha}, G_{\alpha}),$$

with

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} G_{\alpha}(v) dv = 1, \qquad \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} G_{\alpha}(v) v dv = 0.$$

Moreover,

$$\lim_{\alpha \to 1^{-}} \|G_{\alpha} - \mathcal{M}\|_{L_{2}^{1}} = 0, \qquad (1.12)$$

where \mathcal{M} is the Maxwellian distribution

$$\mathcal{M}(v) = G_1(v) = (2\pi\vartheta_1)^{-d/2} \exp\left(-\frac{|v|^2}{2\vartheta_1}\right), \qquad v \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$
(1.13)

for some explicit temperature $\vartheta_1 > 0$. The Maxwellian distribution $\mathcal{M}(v)$ is a steady solution for $\alpha = 1$ and its prescribed temperature ϑ_1 (which ensures (1.12) to hold) will play a role in the rest of the analysis. We refer to Appendix A for more details and explanation of the role of ϑ_1 .

Three main questions are addressed in this work regarding the solution to (1.11):

(Q1) First, we aim to prove the existence and uniqueness of solutions to (1.11) in a close to equilibrium setting, i.e. solutions which are defined *globally* in time and such that

$$\sup_{t \ge 0} \|f_{\varepsilon}(t) - G_{\alpha}\| \le \delta \tag{1.14}$$

for some positive and explicit $\delta > 0$ in a suitable norm $\|\cdot\|$ of a functional space to be identified. The close to equilibrium setting is quite relevant for very small Knudsen numbers given the large number of collisions per unit time which keep the system thermodynamically relaxed.

- (Q2) More importantly (though closely related), the scope here is to provide estimates on the constructed solutions f_{ε} which are *uniform with respect to* ε . This means that, in the previous point, $\delta > 0$ is independent of ε . In fact, we are able to prove *exponential time decay* for the difference $||f_{\varepsilon}(t) - G_{\alpha}||$.
- (Q3) Finally, we aim to prove that, as $\varepsilon \to 0$, the solution $f_{\varepsilon}(t)$ converges towards some hydrodynamic solution which depends on (t, x) only through macroscopic quantities $(\varrho(t, x), u(t, x), \theta(t, x))$ which are solutions to a suitable modification of the incompressible Navier-Stokes system.

The central underlying assumption in the previous program is the following relation between the restitution coefficient and the Knudsen number. **Assumption 1.2.** The restitution coefficient $\alpha(\cdot)$ is a continuously decreasing function of the Knudsen number ε satisfying the optimal scaling behaviour

$$\alpha(\varepsilon) = 1 - \lambda_0 \varepsilon^2 + o(\varepsilon^2) \tag{1.15}$$

with $\lambda_0 \ge 0$.

Indeed, a careful spectral analysis of the linearized collision operator around G_{α} shows that unless one assumes $1 - \alpha$ comparable to ε^2 the eigenfunction associated to the energy dissipation would explode and prevent (1.14) to hold true. In fact, we require λ_0 to be relatively small with respect to the eigenvalues associated to other kinetic excitations. As mentioned before, in this regime the energy dissipation rate is controlled along time by mimicking a viscoelastic property in the granular gas which is at contrast to other regimes such as the mono-kinetic limit. In viscoelastic models, nearly elastic regimes emerges naturally, see [11, 6, 7] for details.

Because $\varepsilon \to 0$, Assumption 1.2 means that the limit produces a model of the cumulative effect of *nearly elastic* collisions in the *hydrodynamic regime*. Two situations are of interest in our analysis

- <u>Case 1</u>: If $\lambda_0 = 0$ the cumulative effect of the inelasticity is too weak in the hydrodynamic scale and the expected model is the classical Navier-Stokes equations.
- <u>Case 2:</u> If $0 < \lambda_0 < \infty$, the cumulative effect is visible in the hydrodynamic scale and we expect a different model to the Navier-Stokes equation accounting for that. As we mentioned, we require λ_0 to be relatively small compared to some explicit quantities completely determined by the mass and energy of the initial datum, say, $0 < \lambda_0 \ll 1$ with some explicit upper bounds on λ_0 .

1.5. Main results. The main results are both concern with the solutions to (1.11). The first one is the following Cauchy theorem regarding the existence and uniqueness of close-to-equilibrium solutions to (1.11). Notations for the functional spaces are introduced in Section 1.8.

Theorem 1.3. Assume Assumption 1.2. Let

 $m>2d,\qquad m-1\geqslant k\geqslant 1,\qquad q\geqslant 4,$

be fixed. There exist a triple $(\varepsilon^{\dagger}, \lambda^{\dagger}, \mathcal{K}_{0}^{\dagger})$ depending only on the mass and energy of F_{in}^{ε} and m, k, q such that, for $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon^{\dagger})$, $\lambda_{\varepsilon} \in (0, \lambda^{\dagger})$, and $\mathcal{K}_{0} \in (0, \mathcal{K}_{0}^{\dagger})$, if

$$\|F_{\mathrm{in}}^{\varepsilon} - G_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}\|_{\mathbb{W}^{m,1}_{x}\mathbb{W}^{k,1}_{v}(\langle v \rangle^{q})} \leqslant \varepsilon \sqrt{\mathcal{K}_{0}}$$

then the inelastic Boltzmann equation (1.11) has a unique solution

$$f_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{C}([0,\infty); \mathbb{W}_x^{m,1} \mathbb{W}_v^{k,1}(\langle v \rangle^q))$$

satisfying for t > 0

$$\begin{split} \left\| f_{\varepsilon}(t) - G_{\alpha(\varepsilon)} \right\|_{\mathbb{W}^{m,1}_{x} \mathbb{W}^{k,1}_{v}(\langle v \rangle^{q})} &\leqslant C \varepsilon \sqrt{\mathcal{K}_{0}} \exp\left(-\lambda_{\varepsilon} t\right), \\ and \quad \int_{0}^{t} \left\| f_{\varepsilon}(\tau) - G_{\alpha(\varepsilon)} \right\|_{\mathbb{W}^{m,1}_{x} \mathbb{W}^{k,1}_{v}(\langle v \rangle^{q+1})} \,\mathrm{d}\tau &\leqslant C \varepsilon \sqrt{\mathcal{K}_{0}} \min\left\{ 1 + t, 1 + \frac{1}{\lambda_{\varepsilon}} \right\}, \end{split}$$

for some positive constant C > 0 independent of ε and where $\lambda_{\varepsilon} \simeq \frac{1-\alpha(\varepsilon)}{\varepsilon^2}$ is the energy eigenvalue of the linearized operator (see Theorem 1.7 hereafter).

Theorem 1.3 completely answers queries (Q1) and (Q2) where the functional space is chosen to be a L^1 -based Sobolev space

$$\mathbb{W}^{m,1}_{x}\mathbb{W}^{k,1}_{v}(\langle v \rangle^{q})$$

and the close-to-equilibrium solutions are shown to decay with a rate that can be made uniform with respect to the Knudsen number ε . Recall here that, since Assumption 1.2 is met, the homogeneous cooling state depends on ε and $G_{\alpha(\varepsilon)} \to \mathcal{M}$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$.

The estimates on the solution f_{ε} provided by Theorem 1.3 are enough to answer (Q3). This is done under some additional assumption on the initial datum. Namely

Theorem 1.4. Under the Assumptions of Theorem 1.3, set

$$f_{\varepsilon}(t, x, v) = G_{\alpha(\varepsilon)} + \varepsilon h_{\varepsilon}(t, x, v),$$

with $h_{\varepsilon}(0, x, v) = h_{\text{in}}^{\varepsilon}(x, v) = \varepsilon^{-1} \left(F_{\text{in}}^{\varepsilon} - G_{\alpha(\varepsilon)} \right)$ such that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \|\boldsymbol{\pi}_0 h_{\mathrm{in}}^{\varepsilon} - h_0\|_{\mathbb{W}^{m,1}_x L^1_v} = 0,$$

where π_0 stands for the projection over the elastic linearized Boltzmann operator (see Section 6 for a precise definition)

$$h_0(x,v) = \left(\varrho_0(x) + u_0(x) \cdot v + \frac{1}{2}\theta_0(x)(|v|^2 - d\vartheta_1)\right)\mathcal{M}(v),$$

with \mathcal{M} being the Maxwellian distribution introduced in (1.13) and

$$(\varrho_0, u_0, \theta_0) \in \mathscr{W}_m$$

where we set $\mathscr{W}_{\ell} := \mathbb{W}_{x}^{\ell,1}(\mathbb{T}^{d}) \times \left(\mathbb{W}_{x}^{\ell,1}(\mathbb{T}^{d})\right)^{d} \times \mathbb{W}_{x}^{\ell,1}(\mathbb{T}^{d})$ for any $\ell \in \mathbb{N}$.

Then, for any T > 0 and $\{h_{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$ converges in some weak sense to a limit h = h(t, x, v) which is such that

$$\boldsymbol{h}(t,x,v) = \left(\varrho(t,x) + u(t,x) \cdot v + \frac{1}{2}\theta(t,x)(|v|^2 - d\vartheta_1)\right)\mathcal{M}(v), \quad (1.16)$$

where \mathcal{M} is the Maxwellian distribution introduced in (1.13) and

$$(\varrho, u, \theta) \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathscr{W}_{m-2}) \cap L^1((0, T); \mathscr{W}_m),$$

is solution to the following incompressible Navier-Stokes-Fourier system with forcing

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u - \frac{\nu}{\vartheta_1} \Delta_x u + \vartheta_1 u \cdot \nabla_x u + \nabla_x p = \lambda_0 u ,\\ \partial_t \theta - \frac{\gamma}{\vartheta_1^2} \Delta_x \theta + \vartheta_1 u \cdot \nabla_x \theta = \frac{\lambda_0 \bar{c}}{2(d+2)} \sqrt{\vartheta_1} \theta ,\\ \operatorname{div}_x u = 0, \qquad \varrho + \vartheta_1 \theta = 0 , \end{cases}$$
(1.17)

subject to initial conditions $(\rho_{\rm in}, u_{\rm in}, \theta_{\rm in})$ given by

$$u_{\rm in} =: u(0) = \mathcal{P}u_0, \quad \theta_{\rm in} = \theta(0) = \frac{d}{d+2}\theta_0 - \frac{2}{(d+2)\vartheta_1}\varrho_0, \quad \varrho_{\rm in} = \varrho(0) := -\vartheta_1\theta_{\rm in},$$

where $\mathcal{P}u_0$ is the Leray projection of u_0 on divergence-free vector fields. The viscosity $\nu > 0$ and heat conductivity $\gamma > 0$ are explicit and $\lambda_0 > 0$ is the parameter appearing in (1.15). The parameter $\bar{c} > 0$ is depending on the collision kernel $b(\cdot)$.

The precise notion of weak convergence in the above Theorem 1.4 is very peculiar and strongly related to the *a priori* estimates used for the proof of Theorem 1.3. The mode of convergence is detailed in Theorem 6.3, see also Section 6.2 for more details.

It is classical for incompressible Navier-Stokes equations, see [48, Section 1.8, Chapter I], that the pressure term p acts as a Lagrange multiplier due to the constraint $\text{div}_x u = 0$ and it is recovered (up to a constant) from the knowledge of (ϱ, u, θ) .

We point out that the above incompressible Navier-Stokes-Fourier system (1.17) with the self-consistent forcing terms on the right-hand-side is a new system of hydrodynamic equations that, to our knowledge, has never been rigorously derived earlier to describe granular flows. We also notice that the last two identities in (1.17) give respectively the incompressibility condition and a strong Boussinesq relation (see the discussion in Section 6). It is important to point out that in the case $\lambda_0 = 0$, one recovers the classical incompressible Navier-Stokes-Fourier system derived from elastic Boltzmann equation, see [56]. This proves continuity with respect to the restitution coefficient α .

We finally mention that the above Theorem 1.4 together with the relations (1.10) provide also a quite precise description of the hydrodynamic behaviour of the original problem (1.8a) in physical variables. In this framework, the above mentioned <u>Case 2</u> for which $\lambda_0 > 0$ enjoys some special features for which uniform-in-time error estimates can be obtained. Turning back to the original problem (1.8a) not only gives a precise answer to *Haff's law* (with an explicit cooling rate of the granular temperature $T_{\varepsilon}(t)$) but also describes the cooling rate of the *local temperature* $\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} F_{\varepsilon}(t, x, v) |v|^2 dv$. We refer to Section 6.6 and Appendix A.2 for a more detailed discussion.

1.6. **Hydrodynamic limits in the elastic case.** The derivation of hydrodynamic limits from the elastic Boltzmann equation is an important problem which received a lot of attention and its origin can be traced back at least to D. Hilbert exposition of its 6th problem at the 1900 International Congress of Mathematicians. We refer the reader to [56, 33] for an up-to-date description of the mathematically relevant results in the field. Roughly

speaking three main approaches are adopted for the rigorous derivation of hydrodynamic limits.

A) Many of the early mathematical justifications of hydrodynamic limits of the Boltzmann equation are based on (truncated) asymptotic expansions of the solution around some hydrodynamic solution

$$F_{\varepsilon}(t,x,v) = F_0(t,x,v) \left(1 + \sum_n \varepsilon^n F_n(t,x,v) \right)$$
(1.18)

where, typically

$$F_0(t,x,v) = \frac{\varrho(t,x)}{(2\pi\theta(t,x))^{d/2}} \exp\left(-\frac{|v-u(t,x)|^2}{2\theta(t,x)}\right)$$
(1.19)

is a *local Maxwellian* associated to the macroscopic fields which is required to satisfy the limiting fluid dynamic equation. This approach (or a variant of it based upon Chapman-Enskog expansion) leads to the first rigorous justification of the compressible Euler limit up to the first singular time for the solution of the Euler system in [17] (see also [43] for more general initial data and a study of initial layers). In the same way, a justification of the incompressible Navier-Stokes limit has been obtained in [22]. This approach deals mainly with strong solutions for both the kinetic and fluid equations.

B) Another important line of research concerns weak solutions and a whole program on this topic has been introduced in [8, 9]. The goal is to prove the convergence of the renormalized solutions to the Boltzmann equation (as obtained in [24]) towards weak solutions to the compressible Euler system or to the incompressible Navier-Stokes equations. This program has been continued exhaustively and the convergence have been obtained in important results (see [30, 31, 40, 44, 46, 47] to mention just a few). We remark that, in the notion of renormalized solutions for the classical Boltzmann equation, a crucial role is played by the entropy dissipation (*H*-theorem) which asserts that the entropy of solutions to the Boltzmann equation is non increasing

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{T}^d} F_{\varepsilon} \log F_{\varepsilon}(t, x, v) \mathrm{d}v \mathrm{d}x \leqslant 0.$$

This *a priori* estimate is fully exploited in the construction of renormilized solutions to the classical Boltzmann equation and is also fundamental in some justification arguments for the Euler limit, see [57].

C) A third line of research deals with strong solutions close to equilibrium and exploits a careful spectral analysis of the linearized Boltzmann equation. Strong solutions to the Boltzmann equation close to equilibrium have been obtained in a weighted L^2 -framework in the work [60] and the *local-in-time* convergence of these solutions to wards solution to the compressible Euler equations have been derived in [54]. For the limiting incompressible Navier-Stokes solution, a similar result have been carried out in [10] for smooth global solutions in \mathbb{R}^3 with a small initial velocity field. The smallness assumption has been recently removed in [27] allowing to recover non global in

12

time solutions to the Navier-Stokes equation. These results as well as [14] exploit a very careful description of the spectrum of the linearized Boltzmann equation derived in [26]. We notice that they are framed in the space $L^2(\mathcal{M}^{-1})$ where the linearized Boltzmann operator is self-adjoint and coercive.

We mention in particular two papers whose approaches are the closest to the ones adopted here. The work [15] was the main inspiration to answer questions (Q1)-(Q2). Indeed, in [15], the first estimates on the elastic Boltzmann equation in Sobolev spaces with polynomial weight (based on L^1) are obtained *uniformly with respect to the Knudsen number* ε . Also, the work [41] deals with an energy method in $L^2(\mathcal{M}^{-1})$ spaces (see also [35, 36]) in order to prove the *strong convergence* of the solutions to the Boltzmann equation towards the incompressible Navier-Stokes equation without resorting to the work of [26]. We adopt a similar strategy to answer (Q3).

1.7. The challenge of hydrodynamic limits for granular gases. There are several reasons which make the derivation of hydrodynamic limits for granular gases a challenging question at the physical level. In regard of the mathematical aspects of the hydrodynamical limit, several hurdles stand on way when trying to adapt the aforementioned approaches:

- With respect to the strategy given in A), the main difficulty lies in the identification of the typical hydrodynamic solution. Such solution is such that the time-space dependence of the one-particle distribution function F(t, x, v) occurs only through suitable hydrodynamic fields like density ρ(t, x), bulk velocity u(t, x), and temperature θ(t, x). This is the role played by the Maxwellian F₀ in (1.19) whenever α = 1 and one wonders if the homogeneous cooling state G_α plays this role here. This is indeed the case up to first order capturing the fat tails of inelastic distributions, yet surprisingly, a suitable Maxwellian plays the role of the hydrodynamic solution in the ε-order correction. This Gaussian behaviour emerges in the hydrodynamic limit because of the near elastic regime that we treat here.¹
- II) The direction promoted in B) appears for the moment out of reach in the context of granular gases. Renormalized solutions in the context of the inelastic Boltzmann equation (1.20) have not been obtained due to the lack of an *H*-Theorem for granular gases. It is unclear if the classical entropy (or a suitable modification of it) remains bounded in general for granular gases.
- III) Homogeneous cooling states G_{α} are not explicit, this is a technical difficulty when adapting the approach of [26] for the spectral analysis of the linearized inelastic Boltzmann equation in the spatial Fourier variable. Partial interesting results have been obtained in [55] (devoted to diffusively heated granular gases) but they do not give a complete asymptotic expansion of eigenvalues and eigenfunctions up to the order leading to the Navier-Stokes asymptotic. We mention that obtaining an

¹See the interesting discussion in [61], especially the Section 2.8 entitled "What Is the Trouble with Non-Gaussianity"

analogue of the work [26] for granular gases would allow, in particular, to quantify the convergence rate towards the limiting model as in the recent work [27].

IV) A major obstacle to adapt energy estimates and spectral approach lies in the choice of functional spaces. While the linearized Boltzmann operator associated to elastic interactions is self-adjoint and coercive in the weighted L^2 -space $L^2(\mathcal{M}^{-1})$, there is no such "self-adjoint" space for the inelastic case. This yields technical difficulties in the study of the spectral analysis of the linearized operator ². Moreover, the energy estimates of [35, 36, 40, 41] are essentially based upon the coercivity of the linearized operator. For granular gases, it seems that one needs to face the problem *directly* in a L^1 -setting. Points III) and IV) make the approach C) difficult to directly adapt.

1.8. Notations and definition. Let us introduce some useful notations for function spaces. For any nonnegative weight function $m : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^+$, we define, for all p > 1 and q > 0 the space $L^p(m)$ through the norm

$$||f||_{L^p(m)} := \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |f(\xi)|^p m(\xi)^p \mathrm{d}\xi\right)^{1/p},$$

We also define, for $p \ge 1$

$$\mathbb{W}^{k,p}(m) = \left\{ f \in L^p(m) \; ; \; \partial_{\xi}^{\beta} f \in L^p(m) \; \forall |\beta| \leq k \right\}$$

with the usual norm, i.e., for $k \in \mathbb{N}$:

$$\|f\|_{\mathbb{W}^{k,p}(m)}^{p} = \sum_{|\beta| \leq k} \|\partial_{\xi}^{\beta}f\|_{L^{p}(m)}^{p}.$$

For $m \equiv 1$, we simply denote the associated spaces by L^p and $\mathbb{W}^{k,p}$. Notice that all the weights we consider here will depend only on velocity, i.e. m = m(v).

We consider in the sequel the general weight

$$\boldsymbol{\varpi}_s(v) = (1+|v|^2)^{\frac{s}{2}}, \qquad v \in \mathbb{R}^d, \qquad s \ge 0.$$

On the complex plane, for any $a \in \mathbb{R}$, we set

$$\mathbb{C}_a := \{ z \in \mathbb{C} ; \operatorname{Re} z > -a \}, \qquad \mathbb{C}_a^{\star} := \mathbb{C}_a \setminus \{ 0 \}$$

and, for any r > 0, we set

$$\mathbb{D}(r) = \{ z \in \mathbb{C} ; |z| \leq r \}.$$

We also introduce the following notion of hypo-dissipativity in a general Banach space.

Definition 1.5. Let $(X, \|\cdot\|)$ be a given Banach space. A closed (unbounded) linear operator $A : \mathscr{D}(A) \subset X \to X$ is said to be hypo-dissipative on X if there exists a norm, denoted by $\|\cdot\|$, equivalent to the $\|\cdot\|$ -norm such that A is dissipative on the space $(X, \|\cdot\|)$, that is,

$$\|\|(\lambda - A)h\|| \ge \lambda \|\|h\||, \qquad \forall \lambda > 0, \ h \in \mathscr{D}(A).$$

²Recall that the powerful enlargement techniques for the elastic Boltzmann equation are based on the *knowledge* of the spectral structure in the space $L^2(\mathcal{M}^{-1})$ (and Sobolev spaces built on it) which can be extended to the more natural L^1 -setting.

Remark 1.6. This is equivalent to the following, see [25, Proposition 3.23, p. 88]: if $||| \cdot |||_*$ denotes the norm on the dual space X^* , for all $h \in \mathscr{D}(A)$, there exists $u_h \in X^*$ such that

$$[u_h, h] = |||h|||^2 = |||u_h||_{\star}^2$$
 and $\operatorname{Re}[u_h, Ah] \leq 0$,

where $[\cdot, \cdot]$ denotes the duality bracket between $(X^*, ||| \cdot |||_*)$ and $(X, ||| \cdot |||)$.

For two tensors $A = (A_{i,j}), B = (B_{i,j}) \in \mathcal{M}_d(\mathbb{R})$, we denote by A : B the scalar $(A : B) = \sum_{i,j} A_{i,j} B_{i,j} \in \mathbb{R}$ as the trace of the matrix product AB whereas, for a vector function $w = w(x) \in \mathbb{R}^d$, the tensor $(\partial_{x_i} w_j)_{i,j}$ is denoted as $\nabla_x w$. We also write $(\text{Div}_x A)^i = \sum_j \partial_{x_j} A_{i,j}(x)$.

1.9. Strategy of the proof. The strategy used to prove the main results Theorems 1.3 and 1.4 yields to several intermediate results of independent interest. The approach is perturbative in essence since we are dealing with close to equilibrium solutions to (1.11). This means that, in the study of (1.11), we introduce the fluctuation h_{ε} around the equilibrium G_{α} defined through

$$f_{\varepsilon}(t, x, v) = G_{\alpha}(v) + \varepsilon h_{\varepsilon}(t, x, v),$$

and h_{ε} satisfies

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t h_{\varepsilon}(t,x,v) + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} v \cdot \nabla_x h_{\varepsilon}(t,x,v) - \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \mathscr{L}_{\alpha} h_{\varepsilon}(t,x,v) = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha}(h_{\varepsilon},h_{\varepsilon})(t,x,v) ,\\ h_{\varepsilon}(0,x,v) = h_{\varepsilon}^{\mathrm{in}}(x,v) , \end{cases}$$
(1.20)

where \mathscr{L}_{α} is the linearized collision operator (local in the *x*-variable) defined as

$$\mathscr{L}_{\alpha}h(x,v) = \mathbf{L}_{\alpha}(h)(x,v) - \kappa_{\alpha}\nabla_{v}\cdot (vh(x,v)),$$

with

$$\mathbf{L}_{\alpha}(h) = 2\widetilde{Q}_{\alpha}(G_{\alpha}, h) \,,$$

where we set

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{\alpha}(f,g) = \frac{1}{2} \left\{ \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha}(f,g) + \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha}(g,f) \right\}.$$

We also denote by \mathscr{L}_1 the linearized operator around $G_1 = \mathcal{M}$, that is,

$$\mathscr{L}_1(h) = \mathbf{L}_1(h) = \mathcal{Q}_1(\mathcal{M}, h) + \mathcal{Q}_1(h, \mathcal{M}).$$

The method of proof requires first a careful spectral analysis of the full linearized operator appearing in (1.20):

$$\mathcal{G}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}h := -\varepsilon^{-1}v \cdot \nabla_x h + \varepsilon^{-2} \mathscr{L}_{\alpha}h.$$

Such a spectral analysis has to be performed in a suitable L^1 -based Sobolev space and we borrow for this idea from [34] and extended to the case $\varepsilon \neq 1$ in [15].

A central point in the approach is that we treat $\mathcal{G}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}$ as a *perturbation*³ of the elastic linearized operator $\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}$. The spectrum of $\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}$ in $\mathbb{W}_x^{s,1}\mathbb{W}_v^{k,1}(\langle v \rangle^q)$ is well-understood [15], so, it is possible to deduce from this characterisation the spectrum of $\mathcal{G}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}$ using ideas from [59]. We only study the spectrum of $\mathcal{G}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}$ without requiring knowledge of the decay of the semigroup associated to $\mathcal{G}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}$. This simplifies the technicalities of the spectral analysis performed in Section 3 related to Dyson-Phillips iterates which leads to the spectral mapping theorem [34, 59]. Most notably, in this simplified approach one is able to identify the optimal scaling (1.15) of the restitution coefficient.

The scaling (1.15) is precisely the one which allows to preserve exactly d+2 eigenvalues in the neighbourhood of zero (recall that 0 is an eigenvalue of multiplicity d + 2 in the elastic case). Recalling that, in any reasonable space, the elastic operator has a spectral gap of size $\mu_{\star} > 0$, i.e.

$$\mathfrak{S}(\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}) \cap \{ z \in \mathbb{C} ; \operatorname{Re} z > -\mu_{\star} \} = \{ 0 \}$$

where 0 is an eigenvalue of algebraic multiplicity d + 2 associated to the eigenfunctions $\{\mathcal{M}, v_j \mathcal{M}, |v|^2 \mathcal{M}, j = 1, ..., d\}$, one can prove the following theorem.

Theorem 1.7. Set

$$\mathbb{X} := \mathbb{W}_x^{\ell,1} \mathbb{W}_v^{s,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q), \qquad \ell \in \mathbb{N}, \, s \ge 0, \quad \ell \ge s+1, \quad q > 2$$

and assume that Assumption 1.2 is met. There exists some explicit $\nu_* > 0$ such that, if $\mu \in (\mu_* - \nu_*, \mu_*)$, there is some explicit $\overline{\varepsilon} > 0$ depending only on $\mu_* - \mu$ and such that, for all $\varepsilon \in (0, \overline{\varepsilon})$, the linearized operator

$$\mathcal{G}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}$$
 : $\mathscr{D}(\mathcal{G}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}) \subset \mathbb{X} \to \mathbb{X}$

has the spectral property:

$$\mathfrak{S}(\mathcal{G}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}) \cap \{ z \in \mathbb{C} ; \operatorname{Re} z \ge -\mu \} = \{ \lambda_1(\varepsilon), \dots, \lambda_{d+2}(\varepsilon) \},$$
(1.21)

where $\lambda_1(\varepsilon), \ldots, \lambda_{d+2}(\varepsilon)$ are eigenvalues of $\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon}$ (not necessarily distinct) with

$$|\lambda_j(\varepsilon)| \leqslant \mu_\star - \mu$$
 for $j = 1, \dots, d+2$.

More precisely, it follows that

$$\mathfrak{S}(\mathcal{G}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}) \cap \{ z \in \mathbb{C} ; \operatorname{Re} z \ge -\mu \} = \mathfrak{S}(\varepsilon^{-2}\mathscr{L}_{\alpha}) \cap \{ z \in \mathbb{C} ; \operatorname{Re} z \ge -\mu \}$$
$$= \{ \lambda_1(\varepsilon), \dots, \lambda_{d+2}(\varepsilon) \},$$

with

$$\lambda_1(\varepsilon) = 0, \qquad \lambda_j(\varepsilon) = \varepsilon^{-2} \kappa_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}, \qquad j = 2, \dots, d+1,$$

and

$$\lambda_{d+2}(\varepsilon) = -\lambda_{\varepsilon} = -\frac{1-\alpha(\varepsilon)}{\varepsilon^2} + O(\varepsilon^2), \quad \text{for } \varepsilon \simeq 0.$$

³This perturbation does not fall into the realm of the classical perturbation theory of the unbounded operator as described in [42]. Typically, the domain of $\mathcal{G}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}$ is much smaller than the one of $\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}$ (because of the drift term in velocity) and the relative bound between $\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}$ and $\mathcal{G}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}$ does not converges to zero in the elastic limit $\alpha \to 1$.

Remark 1.8. Notice that the eigenvalue $\lambda_{d+2}(\varepsilon) = -\lambda_{\varepsilon}$ can be seen as the energy eigenvalue in the sense that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathcal{G}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}\varphi(v) \, |v|^2 \mathrm{d}v = -\lambda_{\varepsilon} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \varphi(v) |v|^2 \mathrm{d}v$$

for any smooth test-function φ .

To prove Theorem 1.7, it is necessary to strengthen several results of [52] and obtain *sharp* convergence rate in the elastic limit for the linearized operator. Typically, one needs to prove that, for suitable topology

$$\mathscr{L}_{\alpha} - \mathscr{L}_{1} \simeq (1 - \alpha)$$

which gives an estimate of the type

$$(\mathcal{G}_{\alpha,\varepsilon} - \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}) \simeq \frac{1-\alpha}{\varepsilon^2}.$$

This is done in Section 2.

After the spectral analysis is performed, in order to prove Theorem 1.3 several *a priori estimates* for the solutions to (1.11) are required. This is done in Section 4. The crucial point in the analysis lies in the splitting of (1.11) into a system of two equations mimicking a spectral enlargement method from a PDE perspective (see [53, Section 2.3] and [15] for pioneering ideas on such a splitting). More precisely, the splitting performed in Sections 4 and 5 amounts to look for a solution of (1.20) of the form

$$h_{\varepsilon}(t) = h_{\varepsilon}^{0}(t) + h_{\varepsilon}^{1}(t)$$

where $h_{\varepsilon}^{1}(t)$ is solution to the *linearized elastic equation* with a source term involving the reminder $h_{\varepsilon}^{0}(t)$, namely,

$$\partial_t h^1_{\varepsilon}(t) = \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon} h^1_{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon^{-1} \mathcal{Q}_1(h^1_{\varepsilon}, h^1_{\varepsilon}) + \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} h^0_{\varepsilon}$$
(1.22)

having zero initial datum and where $\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$ is a regularizing operator (see Section 3 for a precise definition). In this way we seek $h_{\varepsilon}^{1}(t)$ in the Hilbert space

$$h_{\varepsilon}^{1}(t) \in \mathbb{W}_{x,v}^{m,2}\left(\mathcal{M}^{-1/2}\right) =: \mathcal{H}$$

with m > 2d and prove bounds of the type

$$\sup_{t\geq 0} \left(\|h_{\varepsilon}^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} + \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-\tau)} \|h_{\varepsilon}^{1}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{H}_{1}}^{2} \mathrm{d}\tau \right) \leqslant C\mathcal{K}_{0}$$

where \mathcal{H}_1 is the domain of $\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}$ in \mathcal{H} , \mathcal{K}_0 depends only on the initial datum h_{in}^{ε} and ν is of the order of the spectral gap of $\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}$ on \mathcal{H} . With such a splitting, it is possible to fully exploit the elastic problem and treat h_{ε} as a perturbation of this solution. This is the role of Section 4.

In Section 5, we prove Theorem 1.3 introducing a suitable iterative scheme based upon the coupling $(h_{\varepsilon}^{0}(t), h_{\varepsilon}^{1}(t))$. We show in practice that the coupled system of kinetic equations satisfied by h^{0} and h^{1} is well-posed. It is fair to say that the bounds for h_{ε}^{0} and h_{ε}^{1} given in sections 4 and 5 play the role of suitable energy estimates as the ones established in the purely Hilbert setting [35, 36, 41]. In particular, these bounds are sufficient to deduce a very peculiar type of weak convergence of $h_{\varepsilon}(t)$ towards an element in the kernel of the linearized operator \mathscr{L}_1 , in particular, the limit of h_{ε} is necessarily of the form (1.16). The notion of weak convergence we use here fully exploits the splitting $h_{\varepsilon} = h_{\varepsilon}^0 + h_{\varepsilon}^1$ where we proved that h_{ε}^0 converges to 0 strongly in $L^1((0,T); \mathbb{W}_x^{m,1}L_v^1(\varpi_q))$ whereas h_{ε}^1 converges to *h* weakly in $L^2((0,T); \mathbb{W}_x^{m,2}L_v^2(\mathcal{M}^{-\frac{1}{2}}))$.

Finally, in Section 6, the regularity of (ρ, u, θ) obtained via a simple use of Ascoli-Arzela Theorem and the identification of the limiting equations these macroscopic fields satisfy is presented. With the notion of weak convergence at hand presented above, the approach is simpler but reminiscent of the program established in [8, 9]. In particular, we can adapt some of the main ideas of [30] regarding the delicate convergence of nonlinear convection terms. Detailed computations are included to make the paper as much selfcontained as possible also because, even in the classical "elastic" case, it is difficult to find a full proof of the convergence towards hydrodynamic limit for the weak solutions we consider here. For such solutions, details of proof are scattered in the literature and full proof of the convergence of nonlinear terms is sometimes only sketched where most of the full detailed proofs are dealing with the more delicate case of renormalized solutions [30, 31, 44]. In our framework, the terms involving the quadratic operator $\mathcal{Q}_{\alpha}(h_{\varepsilon}, h_{\varepsilon})$ are treated as source terms which converge in distributions to zero whereas the drift term and the dissipation of energy function \mathcal{D}_{α} are the objects responsible for the terms in the right-side of the Navier-Stokes system (1.17). We also observe that the derivation of the strong Boussinesq relation is not as straightforward as in the elastic case. Actually, the classical Boussinesq relation

$$\nabla \left(\varrho(t, x) + \vartheta_1 \theta(t, x) \right) = 0$$

is established as in the elastic case. In the elastic case, this relation implies the strong form of Boussinesq mainly because the two functions $\rho(t, x)$ and $\theta(t, x)$ have zero spatial averages. This cannot be deduced directly in the granular context due to the dissipation of energy.

1.10. **Organization of the paper.** The paper is divided into 6 Sections and three Appendices. In the following Section 2, we collect several results regarding the collision operator $\mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}$ and introduce the splitting of the operator in $\mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)} = \mathcal{A}_{\alpha} + \mathcal{B}_{\alpha}$ as well as the splitting of the full linearized operator $\mathcal{G}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}$. Section 3 is devoted to the spectral analysis of $\mathcal{G}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}$ culminating with the proof of Theorem 1.7. In Section 4, we derive the fundamental *a priori* estimates on the close-to-equilibrium solutions to (1.20). It is the most technical part of the work and fully exploits the splitting of the operator $\mathcal{G}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}$ as explained earlier. Section 5 gives the proof of Theorem 1.3 whereas Section 6 gives the full proof of the hydrodynamic limit (Theorem 1.4). In Appendix A, we recall some facts about the granular Boltzmann equation and gives the full proof of a technical result of Section 2. In Appendix B, we collect some well-known properties useful for the hydrodynamic limit as well as some technical proofs used in Section 6. Finally, Appendix C gives the proof of two technical results of Section 2.

Acknowledgements. RA gratefully acknowledges the support from O Conselho Nacional de Desenvolvimento Científico e Tecnológico, Bolsa de Produtividade em Pesquisa - CNPq (303325/2019-4) and The Department of Mathematics at PUC-Rio. BL gratefully acknowledges the financial support from the Italian Ministry of Education, University and Research (MIUR), "Dipartimenti di Eccellenza" grant 2018-2022. Part of this research was performed while the second author was visiting the "Département de Mathématiques et Applications," at École Normale Supérieure, Paris in February 2019. He wishes to express his gratitude for the financial support and warm hospitality offered by this Institution. IT thanks the ANR EFI: ANR-17-CE40-0030 and the ANR SALVE: ANR-19-CE40-0004 for their support. We thank Isabelle Gallagher for stimulating discussions and precious advices.

2. Summary of useful results about the collision operator

2.1. The linearized operators \mathscr{L}_{α} and \mathscr{L}_{1} . In all the sequel, we will use well-known estimates for the bilinear operator $\mathcal{Q}_{\alpha}(f,g)$ and $\mathcal{Q}_{1}(f,g)$ in several different functional spaces. We refer to [3, 4, 52] for precise statements. A crucial role in our analysis will be played by the fact that, in some suitable sense, \mathscr{L}_{α} is close to the elastic linearized operator \mathscr{L}_{1} for $\alpha \simeq 1$. Let us begin with the following crucial observation which also justifies the optimal scaling (1.15) and optimise the rate of convergence previously derived in [52, Proposition 3.1 (iii)] for weights different to the ones considered here. The technical proof is postponed to Appendix A since it based upon the so-called *n*-representation of the collision operator:

Lemma 2.1. Assume $\alpha \in (0,1]$. For all $q \ge 2$ there is a positive constant c_q such that

$$\|\mathcal{Q}_1(g,f) - \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha}(g,f)\|_{L^1_v(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q)} \leqslant \boldsymbol{c}_q \, \frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha^2} \, \|f\|_{\mathbb{W}^{1,1}_v(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q+2})} \, \|g\|_{\mathbb{W}^{1,1}_v(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q+2})}$$

More generally, for $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $q \ge 2$, there is a positive constant $c_{k,q} > 0$ such that

$$\|\mathcal{Q}_{1}(g,f) - \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha}(g,f)\|_{\mathbb{W}^{k,1}_{v}(\varpi_{q})} \leq c_{k,q} \frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha^{2}} \|f\|_{\mathbb{W}^{k+1,1}_{v}(\varpi_{q+2})} \|g\|_{\mathbb{W}^{k+1,1}_{v}(\varpi_{q+2})}.$$

Let us now investigate the rate of convergence of the equilibrium G_{α} towards \mathcal{M} . An optimal convergence rate in L^1 -spaces is given in [52, Step 2, proof of Lemma 4.4]: there is C > 0 and $\alpha_* > 0$ such that

$$\|\mathcal{M} - G_{\alpha}\|_{L^{1}_{v}(\cdot)m^{-1})} \leqslant C(1-\alpha), \qquad \alpha \in [\alpha_{*}, 1].$$
(2.1)

for $m(v) = \exp(a |v|)$, a > 0 small enough. We need to extend this optimal rate of convergence to the Sobolev spaces $\mathbb{W}^{s,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q)$ we are considering here.

Lemma 2.2. Let $k \in \mathbb{N}$, $q \ge 2$ be given. There exist some explicit $\alpha_{\star} \in (0,1)$ and C > 0 such that

$$\|\mathcal{M} - G_{\alpha}\|_{\mathbb{W}_{v}^{k,1}(\varpi_{q+1})} \leq C(1-\alpha), \qquad k \in \mathbb{N}.$$

Proof. We slightly modify here a strategy adopted in [5] which consists in combining a *nonlinear* estimate for $||G_{\alpha} - \mathcal{M}||_{\mathbb{W}^{k,1}(\varpi_q)}$ together with non-quantitative convergence. We fix k, q and we divide the proof into three steps:

First step: non quantitative convergence. We prove that

$$\lim_{\alpha \to 1} \left\| \mathcal{M} - G_{\alpha} \right\|_{\mathbb{W}_{v}^{k,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q+1})} = 0.$$
(2.2)

We argue here as in [5, Theorem 4.1]. We sketch only the main steps. First, as already noticed in [52], there is $\alpha_0 > 0$ such that

$$\sup_{\alpha \in (\alpha_0, 1)} \|G_{\alpha}\|_{\mathbb{W}_v^{k, 1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q+1})} < \infty.$$

Then, there is a sequence $(\alpha_n)_n$ converging to 1 such that $(G_{\alpha_n})_n$ converges weakly, in $\mathbb{W}_v^{k,1}(\varpi_{q+1})$ to some limit \overline{G} (notice that, a priori, the limit function \overline{G} depends on the choice of k and q). Using the decay of (G_α) and compact embedding for Sobolev spaces, this convergence is actually strong, i.e. $\lim_n \|G_{\alpha_n} - \overline{G}\|_{\mathbb{W}_v^{k,1}(\varpi_{q+1})} = 0$. According to (2.1), one necessarily has $\overline{G} = \mathcal{M}$ and one deduces easily that whole net $(G_\alpha)_\alpha$ is converging to \mathcal{M} . This proves (2.2).

Second step: nonlinear estimate. We first consider the Maxwellian \mathcal{M}_{α} with same mass, momentum and energy of G_{α} and we consider the linearized elastic collision operator around that Maxwellian

$$\mathbf{L}g = \mathcal{Q}_1(g, \mathcal{M}_\alpha) + \mathcal{Q}_1(\mathcal{M}_\alpha, g), \qquad g \in \mathbb{W}_v^{k, 1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q+1}).$$

One simply notices that, since $Q_1(\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}, \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}) = 0$,

$$\mathbf{L}(G_{\alpha}) = \mathcal{Q}_{1}(G_{\alpha} - \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}, \mathcal{M}_{\alpha} - G_{\alpha}) + \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha}(G_{\alpha}, G_{\alpha}) + \left[\mathcal{Q}_{1}(G_{\alpha}, G_{\alpha}) - \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha}(G_{\alpha}, G_{\alpha})\right]$$
$$= \mathcal{Q}_{1}(G_{\alpha} - \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}, \mathcal{M}_{\alpha} - G_{\alpha}) - (1 - \alpha)\nabla \cdot (vG_{\alpha}) + \left[\mathcal{Q}_{1}(G_{\alpha}, G_{\alpha}) - \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha}(G_{\alpha}, G_{\alpha})\right]$$

Therefore, using classical estimates for Q_1 (see [3, 4])

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathbf{L}(G_{\alpha})\|_{\mathbb{W}_{v}^{k,1}(\varpi_{q})} &\leq \|\mathcal{Q}_{1}(G_{\alpha} - \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}, \mathcal{M}_{\alpha} - G_{\alpha})\|_{\mathbb{W}_{v}^{k,1}(\varpi_{q})} + (1 - \alpha) \|G_{\alpha}\|_{\mathbb{W}_{v}^{k+1,1}(\varpi_{q+1})} \\ &+ \|\mathcal{Q}_{1}(G_{\alpha}, G_{\alpha}) - \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha}(G_{\alpha}, G_{\alpha})\|_{\mathbb{W}_{v}^{k,1}(\varpi_{q})} \\ &\leq C_{1} \|G_{\alpha} - \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}\|_{\mathbb{W}^{k,1}(\varpi_{q+1})}^{2} + C(1 - \alpha) \|G_{\alpha}\|_{\mathbb{W}_{v}^{k+1,1}(\varpi_{q+1})} + C_{1}(1 - \alpha) \|G_{\alpha}\|_{\mathbb{W}_{v}^{k,1}(\varpi_{q+2})}^{2} \end{aligned}$$

where we used Lemma 2.1 for estimating the difference $\mathcal{Q}_1(G_\alpha, G_\alpha) - \mathcal{Q}_\alpha(G_\alpha, G_\alpha)$. Since $\sup_\alpha \|G_\alpha\|_{W_v^{k+1,1}(\varpi_{q+2})} < \infty$, we obtain that there is a positive constant $C_2 > 0$ such that

$$\|\mathbf{L}(G_{\alpha})\|_{\mathbb{W}_{v}^{k,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q})} \leqslant C_{2}(1-\alpha) + C_{2}\|G_{\alpha} - \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}\|_{\mathbb{W}_{v}^{k,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q+1})}^{2}$$

We can write $\mathbf{L}(G_{\alpha}) = \mathbf{L}(G_{\alpha} - \mathcal{M}_{\alpha})$ and, as $G_{\alpha} - \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}$ has zero mass, momentum and energy, there is a positive constant c > 0 (that can be taken independent of α) such that

$$\|\mathbf{L}(G_{\alpha}-\mathcal{M}_{\alpha})\|_{\mathbb{W}^{k,1}_{v}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q})} \ge c\|G_{\alpha}-\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}\|_{\mathbb{W}^{k,1}_{v}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q+1})}.$$

Recall that the constant c > 0 is actually the norm of the inverse of **L** on the subspace of functions with zero mass, momentum and energy; recall that this inverse maps $\mathbb{W}_{v}^{k,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q})$ into $\mathscr{D}(\mathbf{L}) = \mathbb{W}_{v}^{k,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q+1})$. Therefore, with $C_{3} = C_{2}/c$

$$\|G_{\alpha} - \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}\|_{\mathbb{W}^{k,1}_{v}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q+1})} \leq C_{3}(1-\alpha) + C_{3}\|G_{\alpha} - \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}\|^{2}_{\mathbb{W}^{k,1}_{v}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q+1})}, \qquad \alpha \in (\alpha_{0}, 1).$$
(2.3)

Third step: conclusion. Setting

$$\vartheta_{\alpha} := \frac{1}{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |v|^2 \,\mathcal{M}_{\alpha}(v) \mathrm{d}v = \frac{1}{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |v|^2 \,G_{\alpha}(v) \mathrm{d}v,$$

one sees easily from (2.1) that $|\vartheta_1 - \vartheta_\alpha| \leq C(1 - \alpha)$ and then, one can check without difficulty that there is some positive constant $C_{k,q} > 0$ such that

$$\|\mathcal{M}_{\alpha} - \mathcal{M}\|_{\mathbb{W}_{v}^{k,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q})} \leq C_{k,q}(1-\alpha), \qquad \forall \alpha \in [\alpha_{*}, 1].$$
(2.4)

Thanks to (2.2), we can then find $\alpha_1 > \alpha_0$ such that

$$C_3 \| G_{\alpha} - \mathcal{M}_{\alpha} \|_{\mathbb{W}^{k,1}_v(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q+1})} \leqslant \frac{1}{2}$$

where $C_3 > 0$ is the positive constant in (2.3). Then, (2.3) reads simply as

$$\|G_{\alpha} - \mathcal{M}_{\alpha}\|_{\mathbb{W}^{k,1}_{v}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q+1})} \leq 2C_{3}(1-\alpha), \qquad \alpha \in (\alpha_{1},1),$$

and, using (2.4), we end up with

$$\|G_{\alpha} - \mathcal{M}\|_{\mathbb{W}_{v}^{k,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q+1})} \leq C(1-\alpha), \qquad \alpha \in (\alpha_{1},1),$$

which gives also a quantitative lower bound on α_1 .

Remark 2.3. The existence of the self-similar profile G_{α} has been obtained in [51] and the uniqueness in [52] for $1 - \alpha$ sufficiently small. The uniqueness of the profile has been proved in spaces with exponential weights, but from the a posteriori estimates provided therein, any self-similar profile G_{α} belongs to some L^1 -space with exponential weight. Therefore, self-similar profiles are unique in spaces with polynomial weights ϖ_q as well, provided $1 - \alpha$ is sufficiently small.

We recall also the following spectral properties of \mathscr{L}_{α} as established in [52].

Proposition 2.4. On the space

$$L_v^1(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q) \cap \Big\{ h \in L_v^1(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_1) \; ; \; \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} h(v) \mathrm{d}v = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} h(v) \, v \, \mathrm{d}v = 0 \Big\}, \qquad q \ge 2$$

the spectrum of \mathscr{L}_{α} is such that there exists $\overline{\mu} > 0$ such that

$$\mathfrak{S}(\mathscr{L}_{\alpha}) \cap \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} ; \operatorname{Re}\lambda > -\overline{\mu}\} = \{-\mu_{\alpha}\}$$
(2.5)

where μ_{α} is a simple eigenvalue of \mathscr{L}_{α} with

$$\mu_{\alpha} = (1 - \alpha) + \mathcal{O}((1 - \alpha)^2) \qquad \text{as} \quad \alpha \to 1.$$
(2.6)

Moreover, denoting by ϕ_{α} the unique associated eigenfunction such that $\|\phi_{\alpha}\|_{L^{1}_{v}(\varpi_{2})} = 1$ and $\phi_{\alpha}(0) < 0$, it holds

$$\lim_{\alpha \to 1} \phi_{\alpha}(v) = c_0 \left(|v|^2 - d\vartheta_1 \right) \mathcal{M}.$$
(2.7)

Remark 2.5. We stress that the results of [52] have been established for exponential weights $m(v) = \exp(a|v|)$. An elementary adaption can be made for the weights considered here. An alternative route is to extend the spaces from $L^1(\exp(a|v|)dv)$ to $L^1(\varpi_q)$ using enlargement techniques, see [34].

On the underlying space $\mathbb{W}_{v}^{k,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q})$, introduce the operator $T_{\alpha} : \mathscr{D}(T_{\alpha}) \subset \mathbb{W}_{v}^{k,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q}) \to \mathbb{W}_{v}^{k,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q})$ defined by $\mathscr{D}(T_{\alpha}) = \mathbb{W}_{v}^{k+1,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q+1})$ and

$$T_{\alpha}h(v) = -\kappa_{\alpha}\operatorname{div}(v\,h(v)), \qquad h \in \mathscr{D}(T_{\alpha})$$

One sees that the operator T_{α} is the one responsible for the discrepancy between the domain of \mathscr{L}_1 and \mathscr{L}_{α} . Because of this, we set

$$\mathcal{P}_{lpha} \ : \ \mathscr{D}(\mathcal{P}_{lpha}) \subset \mathbb{W}^{k,1}_v(oldsymbol{arphi}_q) o \mathbb{W}^{k,1}_v(oldsymbol{arphi}_q)$$

as $\mathcal{P}_{\alpha} = \mathbf{L}_{\alpha} - \mathbf{L}_{1}$ with domain

$$\mathscr{D}(\mathcal{P}_{\alpha}) = \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}_{1}) = \mathbb{W}_{v}^{k,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{1+q}).$$

One has then the following Proposition.

Proposition 2.6. For any $k \in \mathbb{N}$, $q \ge 0$, there exists some explicit constant $C_{k,q} > 0$ such that for any $h \in \mathbb{W}_v^{k,1}(\varpi_{1+q})$

$$\|\mathcal{P}_{\alpha}h\|_{\mathbb{W}^{k,1}_{v}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q})} = \|\mathbf{L}_{\alpha}h - \mathbf{L}_{1}h\|_{\mathbb{W}^{k,1}_{v}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q})} \leqslant C_{k,q}(1-\alpha) \|h\|_{\mathbb{W}^{k+1,1}_{v}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{2+q})}.$$
(2.8)

As a consequence, for any $h \in \mathbb{W}_v^{k+1,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{2+q})$

$$\left\|\mathscr{L}_{\alpha}h - \mathscr{L}_{1}h\right\|_{\mathbb{W}^{k,1}_{v}(\varpi_{q})} \leq \left(C_{k,q}(1-\alpha) + \kappa_{\alpha}\right) \left\|h\right\|_{\mathbb{W}^{k+1,1}_{v}(\varpi_{2+q})}.$$
(2.9)

Proof. Recall (see [3, 4]) that, for any $q \ge 0$, there is some universal positive constant $C_q > 0$ such that

$$\|\mathcal{Q}_{\alpha}(g,f)\|_{L^{1}_{v}(\varpi_{q})} \leqslant C_{q} \|g\|_{L^{1}_{v}(\varpi_{q+1})} \|f\|_{L^{1}_{v}(\varpi_{q+1})}, \qquad \forall f,g \in L^{1}_{v}(\varpi_{q+1}).$$
(2.10)

Then, since

$$\mathbf{L}_{\alpha}h(v) - \mathbf{L}_{1}h(v) = \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha}(h, G_{\alpha} - \mathcal{M})(v) + \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha}(G_{\alpha} - \mathcal{M}, h)(v) + \left[\mathcal{Q}_{\alpha}(h, \mathcal{M})(v) - \mathcal{Q}_{1}(\mathcal{M}, h)(v)\right] + \left[\mathcal{Q}_{\alpha}(\mathcal{M}, h)(v) - \mathcal{Q}_{1}(h, \mathcal{M})(v)\right],$$
(2.11)

one deduces from (2.10) and Lemma 2.1 that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{P}_{\alpha}h\|_{L^{1}_{v}(\varpi_{q})} &\leq 2 C_{q} \|h\|_{L^{1}_{v}(\varpi_{1+q})} \|G_{\alpha} - \mathcal{M}\|_{L^{1}_{v}(\varpi_{1+q})} \\ &+ 2 c_{q} \frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha^{2}} \|h\|_{\mathbb{W}^{1,1}_{v}(\varpi_{2+q})} \|\mathcal{M}\|_{\mathbb{W}^{1,1}_{v}(\varpi_{2+q})}.\end{aligned}$$

Using now Lemma 2.1, this proves (2.8) for k = 0 with $C_{0,q} = 2C_qC + 2c_q\alpha_0^{-2} \|\mathcal{M}\|_{\mathbb{W}^{1,1}_{q}(\varpi_{2+q})}$.

In order to prove the result for higher-order derivatives, one argues using the fact that

$$\nabla_v \mathcal{Q}_\alpha(g, f) = \mathcal{Q}_\alpha(\nabla_v g, f) + \mathcal{Q}_\alpha(g, \nabla_v f).$$

Then, using (2.11) with the help of the estimate

$$\|T_{\alpha}h\|_{\mathbb{W}^{k,1}_{v}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q})} \leqslant \kappa_{\alpha}\|h\|_{\mathbb{W}^{k+1,1}_{v}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{1+q})}$$

one deduces (2.9) from (2.8).

2.2. Decomposition of \mathscr{L}_{α} . Let us now recall the following decomposition of \mathscr{L}_{0} introduced in [34, 59]. For any $\delta \in (0, 1)$, we consider the cutoff function $0 \leq \Theta_{\delta} = \Theta_{\delta}(\xi, \xi_{*}, \sigma) \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \mathbb{R}^{d} \times \mathbb{S}^{d-1})$, assumed to be bounded by 1, which equals 1 on

$$J_{\delta} := \left\{ (\xi, \xi_*, \sigma) \in \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{S}^{d-1} \, \middle| \, |\xi| \leqslant \delta^{-1} \,, \, 2\delta \leqslant |\xi - \xi_*| \leqslant \delta^{-1} \,, \, |\cos \theta| \leqslant 1 - 2\delta \right\},$$

and whose support is included in $J_{\delta/2}$ (where $\cos \theta = \langle \frac{\xi - \xi_*}{|\xi - \xi_*|}, \sigma \rangle$). We then set

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{L}_{1}^{S,\delta}h(\xi) &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}\times\mathbb{S}^{d-1}} \left[\mathcal{M}(\xi'_{*})h(\xi') + \mathcal{M}(\xi')h(\xi'_{*}) - \mathcal{M}(\xi)h(\xi_{*}) \right] \\ &\times |\xi - \xi_{*}| \,\Theta_{\delta}(\xi,\xi_{*},\sigma) \mathrm{d}\xi_{*}\mathrm{d}\sigma \,, \\ \mathscr{L}_{1}^{R,\delta}h(\xi) &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}\times\mathbb{S}^{d-1}} \left[\mathcal{M}(\xi'_{*})h(\xi') + \mathcal{M}(\xi')h(\xi'_{*}) - \mathcal{M}(\xi)h(\xi_{*}) \right] \\ &\times |\xi - \xi_{*}| \left(1 - \Theta_{\delta}(\xi,\xi,\sigma) \right) \mathrm{d}\xi_{*}\mathrm{d}\sigma \,, \end{aligned}$$

so that $\mathscr{L}_1 h = \mathscr{L}_1^{S,\delta} h + \mathscr{L}_1^{R,\delta} h - h \Sigma_{\mathcal{M}}$ where $\Sigma_{\mathcal{M}}$ denotes the mapping

$$\Sigma_{\mathcal{M}}(\xi) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathcal{M}(\xi_*) |\xi - \xi_*| \mathrm{d}\xi_*, \qquad \xi \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$
(2.12)

Introduce

$$\mathcal{A}^{(\delta)}(h) := \mathscr{L}_1^{S,\delta}(h) \quad \text{and} \quad \mathcal{B}_1^{(\delta)}(h) := \mathscr{L}_1^{R,\delta} - \Sigma_{\mathcal{M}}$$

so that $\mathscr{L}_1 = \mathcal{A}^{(\delta)} + \mathcal{B}_1^{(\delta)}$. Let us recall [34, Lemmas 4.12, 4.14 & Lemma 4.16]:

Lemma 2.7. For any $k \in \mathbb{N}$ and $\delta > 0$, there are two positive constants $C_{k,\delta} > 0$ and $R_{\delta} > 0$ such that supp $(\mathcal{A}^{(\delta)}f) \subset B(0, R_{\delta})$ and

$$\|\mathcal{A}^{(\delta)}f\|_{\mathbb{W}^{k,1}_{v}(\mathbb{R}^{d})} \leqslant C_{k,\delta} \|f\|_{L^{1}_{v}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{1})}, \qquad \forall f \in L^{1}(\mathbb{R}^{d}, \boldsymbol{\varpi}_{1}(v) \mathrm{d}v).$$
(2.13)

Moreover, for any q > 2 and any $\delta \in (0, 1)$ it holds

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \mathrm{d}x \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \langle \xi \rangle^q \operatorname{sign}(h) \,\mathcal{B}_1^{(\delta)} h \mathrm{d}\xi \leqslant \left(\Lambda_q(\delta) - 1\right) \|h\|_{L^1_x L^1_\xi(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q+1})} \tag{2.14}$$

where Λ_q : $(0,1) \to \mathbb{R}^+$ is some explicit function such that $\lim_{\delta \to 0} \Lambda_q(\delta) = \frac{4}{q+2}$.

This leads to the following decomposition of \mathscr{L}_{α} :

$$\mathscr{L}_{\alpha} = \mathscr{B}_{\alpha}^{(\delta)} + \mathscr{A}^{(\delta)}, \text{ where } \mathscr{B}_{\alpha}^{(\delta)} = \mathscr{B}_{1}^{(\delta)} + [\mathscr{L}_{\alpha} - \mathscr{L}_{1}].$$

2.3. The complete linearized operator. The complete linearized operator is given by

$$\mathcal{G}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}h = \varepsilon^{-2}\mathscr{L}_{\alpha}(h) - \varepsilon^{-1}v \cdot \nabla_x h, \qquad \forall \alpha \in (0,1].$$

With previous decomposition, we have that

$$\mathcal{G}_{\alpha,\varepsilon} = \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}^{(\delta)} + \mathcal{B}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)}$$

where

$$\mathcal{A}^{(\delta)}_{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon^{-2} \mathcal{A}^{(\delta)}, \qquad \mathcal{B}^{(\delta)}_{\alpha,\varepsilon} = \varepsilon^{-2} \mathcal{B}^{(\delta)}_{\alpha} - \varepsilon^{-1} v \cdot \nabla_x \,.$$

Notice that

$$\mathcal{B}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)} - \mathcal{B}_{1,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)} = \mathcal{G}_{\alpha,\varepsilon} - \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon} = \varepsilon^{-2} \mathcal{P}_{\alpha} + \varepsilon^{-2} T_{\alpha}.$$

One has the following properties of $\mathcal{B}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)}$ (see [59, Lemmas 2.7, 2.8, 2.9] for a similar result).

Proposition 2.8. For any $k \ge s \ge 0$ and q > 2 there exist $\alpha_{\ell,s,q}^{\dagger} > 0$, $\delta_{\ell,s,q}^{\dagger} > 0$ and $\nu_{\ell,s,q} > 0$ such that

$$\mathcal{B}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)} + \varepsilon^{-2} \nu_{\ell,s,q} \quad \text{is hypo-dissipative in } \mathbb{W}_x^{\ell,1} \mathbb{W}_v^{s,1}(\varpi_q), \quad \forall \, \alpha \in (\alpha_{\ell,s,q}^{\dagger}, 1), \ \delta \in (0, \delta_{\ell,s,q}^{\dagger}).$$

Proof. Notice that derivatives with respect to the *x*-variable commute with the operator $\mathcal{B}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)}$ and this allows to prove the result, without loss of generality, in the special case $\ell = s$. We divide the proof in several steps:

• We first consider the case $\ell = 0$. We write $\mathcal{B}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)}(h) = \sum_{i=0}^{3} C_i(h)$ with

$$C_0(h) = \varepsilon^{-2} \mathcal{B}_1^{(\delta)} h, \quad C_1(h) = -\varepsilon^{-1} v \cdot \nabla_x h,$$

$$C_2(h) = \varepsilon^{-2} \mathcal{P}_{\alpha} h, \qquad C_3(h) = \varepsilon^{-2} T_{\alpha} h = -\varepsilon^{-2} \kappa_{\alpha} \nabla_v \cdot (v h(x, v))$$

and correspondingly and with obvious notations,

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \mathrm{d}x \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathcal{B}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)}(h)(x,v) \operatorname{sign}(h(v)) \,\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q(v) \,\mathrm{d}v =: \sum_{i=0}^3 I_i(h).$$

First,

$$I_{1}(h) = \varepsilon^{-1} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \operatorname{sign}(h(x, v)) v \cdot \nabla_{x} h(x, v) \boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q}(v) \mathrm{d}v$$
$$= \varepsilon^{-1} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} v \cdot \nabla_{x} |h(x, v)| \boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q}(v) \mathrm{d}v = 0$$

while, according to Eq. (2.14)

$$I_0(h) \leqslant \varepsilon^{-2} \left(\Lambda_q(\delta) - 1 \right) \|h\|_{L^1_x L^1_v(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q+1})}$$

Moreover, it follows from Proposition 2.6 that

$$I_2(h) \leqslant \varepsilon^{-2} \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \|\mathcal{P}_{\alpha}h(x,\,\cdot\,)\|_{L^1_v(\varpi_q)} \mathrm{d}x \leqslant \varepsilon^{-2} C_{0,q}(1-\alpha) \|h\|_{L^1_x L^1_v(\varpi_{q+1})}.$$

Finally, since $h\nabla_v \operatorname{sign} h = 0$, one has

$$I_{3}(h) = -\varepsilon^{-2}\kappa_{\alpha} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \mathrm{div}_{v}(v|h(x,v)|) \,\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q}(v) \,\mathrm{d}v$$
$$= \varepsilon^{-2}\kappa_{\alpha} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |h(x,v)| v \cdot \nabla_{v} \boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q}(v) \,\mathrm{d}v$$

Since $v\cdot \nabla_v \varpi_q(v) = q \varpi_q(v) - q \varpi_{q-2}(v)$ we get

$$I_3(h) \leqslant q\kappa_\alpha \varepsilon^{-2} \|h\|_{L^1_x L^1_v(\varpi_{q+1})}.$$

Gathering the previous estimates, one obtains

$$\mathcal{I} := \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \mathrm{d}x \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathcal{B}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)}(h)(x,v) \operatorname{sign}(h(x,v)) \,\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q(v) \,\mathrm{d}v$$

$$\leq \varepsilon^{-2} \, \left(\boldsymbol{C}_{0,q}(1-\alpha) + \Lambda_q(\delta) - 1 + q\kappa_\alpha \right) \|h\|_{L^1_x L^1_v(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q+1})}.$$
(2.15)

Recalling that $\kappa_{\alpha} = 1 - \alpha$ while $\lim_{\delta \to 0} (\Lambda_q(\delta) - 1) = -\frac{q-2}{q+2} < 0$ we can pick $\delta_{0,0,q}^{\dagger}$ small enough and then $\alpha_{0,0,q}^{\dagger} \in (0,1)$ close enough to 1 so that

$$\nu_{0,0,q} := -\inf\left\{ C_{0,q}(1-\alpha) + \Lambda_q(\delta) - 1 + q\kappa_\alpha \, ; \, \alpha \in (\alpha_{0,0,q}^{\dagger}, 1), \, \delta \in (0, \delta_{0,0,q}^{\dagger}) \right\} > 0$$

and get the result.

Let us investigate the case k = 1 first. We consider the norm

$$|||h||| = ||h||_{L^{1}_{x}L^{1}_{v}(\varpi_{q})} + ||\nabla_{x}h||_{L^{1}_{x}L^{1}_{v}(\varpi_{q})} + \eta \, ||\nabla_{v}h||_{L^{1}_{x}L^{1}_{v}(\varpi_{q})},$$

for some $\eta > 0$, the value of which shall be fixed later on. This norm is equivalent to the classical $\mathbb{W}_{x,v}^{1,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q)$ -norm. We shall prove that for some $\nu_{1,1,q} > 0$, $\mathcal{B}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)} + \varepsilon^{-2}\nu_{1,1,q}$ is dissipative in $W_{x,v}^{1,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q)$ for the norm $\|\cdot\|$. Notice first that the *x*-derivative commutes with all the above terms $C_i(h)$, $i = 0, \ldots, 3$, i.e.

$$\nabla_x \mathcal{B}^{(\delta)}_{\alpha,\varepsilon} h(x,v) = \mathcal{B}^{(\delta)}_{\alpha,\varepsilon} \nabla_x h(x,v)$$

so that, according to the previous step

$$\mathcal{J}_{x} := \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \nabla_{x} \mathcal{B}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)}(h)(x,v) \operatorname{sign}(\nabla_{x}h(x,v)) \,\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q}(v) \,\mathrm{d}v$$

$$\leq -\varepsilon^{-2} \nu_{0,0,q} \|\nabla_{x}h\|_{L^{1}_{x}L^{1}_{v}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q})}$$
(2.16)

where we used the short-hand notation

$$\operatorname{sign}(\nabla_x h(x,v)) = (\operatorname{sign}(\partial_{x_1} h(x,v)), \cdots, \operatorname{sign}(\partial_{x_d} h(x,v)))$$

Consider now the quantity

$$\mathcal{J}_{v} := \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \mathrm{d}x \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \nabla_{v} (\mathcal{B}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)} h(x,v)) \cdot \operatorname{sign}(\nabla_{v} h(x,v)) \,\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q}(v) \,\mathrm{d}v.$$

Using the notations above, one notices that $\nabla_v C_1(h) = -\varepsilon^{-1} \nabla_x h + C_1(\nabla_v h)$, so that

$$\nabla_{v}(\mathcal{B}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)}h(x,v)) = \varepsilon^{-2}\nabla_{v}(\mathcal{B}_{1}^{(\delta)}h) - \varepsilon^{-1}\nabla_{x}h + C_{1}(\nabla_{v}h) + \varepsilon^{-2}\nabla_{v}(\mathcal{P}_{\alpha}h) + \varepsilon^{-2}\nabla_{v}(T_{\alpha}h) = \varepsilon^{-2}\nabla_{v}[\mathscr{L}_{1}^{R,\delta}h - \Sigma_{\mathcal{M}}h] - \varepsilon^{-1}\nabla_{x}h + C_{1}(\nabla_{v}h) + \varepsilon^{-2}\nabla_{v}(\mathcal{P}_{\alpha}h) + \varepsilon^{-2}\nabla_{v}(T_{\alpha}h).$$

$$(2.17)$$

Then, it follows from Proposition 2.6 that

$$\|\nabla_{v}(\mathcal{P}_{\alpha}h)\|_{L^{1}_{v}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q})} \leqslant \boldsymbol{C}_{1,q}(1-\alpha)\left(\|h\|_{L^{1}_{v}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{1+q})} + \|\nabla_{v}h\|_{L^{1}_{v}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{1+q})}\right).$$
(2.18)

Now,

$$\nabla_{v}[\mathscr{L}_{1}^{R,\delta}h - \Sigma_{\mathcal{M}}h] = \mathscr{L}_{1}^{R,\delta}(\nabla_{v}h) - \Sigma_{\mathcal{M}}\nabla_{v}h + \mathcal{R}(h),$$

where

$$\mathcal{R}(h) = \mathcal{Q}_1(h, \nabla_v \mathcal{M}) + \mathcal{Q}_1(\nabla_v \mathcal{M}, h) - (\nabla_v \mathcal{A}^{(\delta)})(h) - \mathcal{A}^{(\delta)}(\nabla_v h).$$

As in [59, p. 1942], an integration by parts leads to

$$\|(\nabla \mathcal{A}^{(\delta)})(h)\|_{L^{1}_{v}(\varpi_{q})} + \|\mathcal{A}^{(\delta)}(\nabla_{v}h)\|_{L^{1}_{v}(\varpi_{q})} \leqslant C_{\delta}\|h\|_{L^{1}_{v}(\varpi_{q})},$$

for some constant $C_{\delta} > 0$. This and some classical estimates on $\mathcal{Q}_1(h, \nabla_v \mathcal{M}) + \mathcal{Q}_1(\nabla_v \mathcal{M}, h)$ yield

$$\|\mathcal{R}(h)\|_{L^1_v(\varpi_q)} \leqslant C_{\delta} \|h\|_{L^1_v(\varpi_{q+1})}.$$

Again, as in [59, Eq. (2.10)], one has

$$\|\mathscr{L}_{1}^{R,\delta}(\nabla_{v}h)\|_{L^{1}_{v}(\varpi_{q})} \leqslant \tau(\delta) \|\nabla_{v}h\|_{L^{1}_{v}(\varpi_{q+1})},$$

where $\lim_{\delta\to 0} \tau(\delta) = 0$. Then, since $\Sigma_{\mathcal{M}}(\xi) \ge \sigma_0 \langle \xi \rangle$, one has that

$$-\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Sigma_{\mathcal{M}}(\xi) \,\nabla_{\xi} h(x,\xi) \cdot \operatorname{sign}(\nabla_{\xi} h(x,\xi)) \,\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi = -\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Sigma_{\mathcal{M}}(\xi) \,|\nabla_{\xi} h(\xi)| \,\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q(\xi) \,\mathrm{d}\xi \\ \leqslant -\sigma_0 \,\|\nabla_v h\|_{L^1_v(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q+1})}.$$

Therefore,

$$\|\nabla_{v}[\mathscr{L}_{1}^{R,\delta}(h) - \Sigma_{\mathcal{M}}h]\|_{L^{1}_{v}(\varpi_{q})} \leq C_{\delta}\|h\|_{L^{1}_{v}(\varpi_{q+1})} + (\tau(\delta) - \sigma_{0})\|\nabla_{v}h\|_{L^{1}_{v}(\varpi_{q+1})}$$

$$(2.19)$$

where $\lim_{\delta \to 0^+} \tau(\delta) = 0$. Finally,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \nabla_v (T_\alpha h(x,v)) \cdot \operatorname{sign}(\nabla_v h(v)) \, \boldsymbol{\varpi}_q(v) \, \mathrm{d}v = -(d+1) \, \kappa_\alpha \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |\nabla_v h(x,v)| \, \boldsymbol{\varpi}_q(v) \, \mathrm{d}v \\ + \kappa_\alpha \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |\nabla_v h(x,v)| \, \nabla_v \cdot (v \, \boldsymbol{\varpi}_q(v)) \, \mathrm{d}v \leqslant C \, \kappa_\alpha \, \|\nabla_v h\|_{L^1_v(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q+1})}.$$
(2.20)

Combining (2.17) with the estimates (2.18), (2.19) and (2.20), one obtains that

$$\mathcal{J}_{v} \leqslant \varepsilon^{-2} (C_{\delta} + \boldsymbol{C}_{1,q}(1-\alpha)) \|h\|_{L_{x}^{1} L_{v}^{1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q+1})} + \varepsilon^{-2} (\boldsymbol{C}_{1,q}(1-\alpha) + C\kappa_{\alpha} + \tau(\delta) - \sigma_{0}) \|\nabla_{v}h\|_{L_{x}^{1} L_{v}^{1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q+1})},$$

where we used that the contribution to \mathcal{J}_v of the divergence term $-\varepsilon^{-1}\nabla_x h + C_1(\nabla_v h)$ vanishes. Hence, combining this estimate with (2.15) and (2.16) it follows that

$$\mathcal{I} + \mathcal{J}_{x} + \eta \, \mathcal{J}_{v} \leqslant \varepsilon^{-2} \bigg(\big[-\nu_{0,0,q} + \eta (C_{\delta} + C_{1,q}(1-\alpha)) \big] \|h\|_{L^{1}_{x}L^{1}_{v}(\varpi_{q+1})} - \nu_{0,0,q} \|\nabla_{x}h\|_{L^{1}_{x}L^{1}_{v}(\varpi_{q+1})} + \eta \big[C_{1,q}(1-\alpha) + C\kappa_{\alpha} + \tau(\delta) - \sigma_{0} \big] \|\nabla_{v}h\|_{L^{1}_{x}L^{1}_{v}(\varpi_{q+1})} \bigg).$$

Consequently, there exists $\alpha^{\dagger}_{1,1,q} > 0$ and $\delta^{\dagger}_{1,1,q} > 0$ so that

$$\boldsymbol{C}_{1,q}(1-\alpha) + C\kappa_{\alpha} + \tau(\delta) - \sigma_0 < 0 \qquad \forall \alpha \in (\alpha_{1,1,q}^{\dagger}, 1), \ \delta \in (0, \delta_{1,1,q}^{\dagger}).$$

Choosing $\eta > 0$ small enough such that $\nu_{0,0,q} - \eta \left(C_{\delta} + C_{1,q}(1-\alpha)\right) > 0$, we finally obtain

$$\mathcal{I} + \mathcal{J}_{x} + \eta \, \mathcal{J}_{v} \leqslant -\varepsilon^{-2} \nu_{1,1,q} \left[\|h\|_{L_{x}^{1} L_{v}^{1}(\varpi_{q+1})} + \|\nabla_{x}h\|_{L_{x}^{1} L_{v}^{1}(\varpi_{q+1})} + \eta \, \|\nabla_{v}h\|_{L_{x}^{1} L_{v}^{1}(\varpi_{q+1})} \right]$$

$$\leqslant -\varepsilon^{-2} \nu_{1,1,q} \|\|h\||,$$

with $\nu_{1,1,q} := \min(\nu_{0,0,q} - \eta (C_{\delta} + C_{1,q}(\alpha)), \sigma_0 - (C_{1,q}(\alpha) + C\kappa_{\alpha} + \tau(\delta)))$. This proves that $\mathcal{B}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)} + \varepsilon^{-2}\nu_{1,1,q}$ is hypo-dissipative in $\mathbb{W}_{x,v}^{1,1}(\varpi_q)$. We prove the result for higher order derivatives in the same way considering now the norm

$$|\hspace{-0.1ex}|\hspace{-0.1ex}| h|\hspace{-0.1ex}| = \sum_{|\boldsymbol{\beta}_1|+|\boldsymbol{\beta}_2|\leqslant k} \eta^{|\boldsymbol{\beta}_1|} \left\| \nabla_v^{|\boldsymbol{\beta}_1|} \nabla_x^{|\boldsymbol{\beta}_2|} h \right\|_{L^1_x L^1_v(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q)}$$

for some $\eta > 0$ to be chosen sufficiently small.

Remark 2.9. It is important to notice that the equivalent norms constructed in the Proposition 2.8 are independent of ε . This means that the hypo-dissipativity of $\mathcal{B}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)} + \varepsilon^{-2}\nu_{\ell,s,q}$ on $\mathbb{W}_x^{\ell,1}\mathbb{W}_v^{s,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q)$ can be re-written as

$$\|(\lambda - \varepsilon^{-2}\nu_{\ell,s,q} - \mathcal{B}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)})g\|_{\mathbb{W}^{\ell,1}_{x}\mathbb{W}^{s,1}_{v}(\varpi_{q})} \ge C\,\lambda\|g\|_{\mathbb{W}^{\ell,1}_{x}\mathbb{W}^{s,1}_{v}(\varpi_{q})}$$

for any $\lambda > 0$, $g \in \mathscr{D}(\mathcal{B}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)})$, and some constant C > 0 depending on ℓ, s, q but not on ε .

2.4. The elastic semigroup. The spectral analysis of $\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}$ and the generation of its associated semigroup has been performed in [15, Theorem 2.1]. We need a slightly more precise estimate on the decay of the semigroup independently of ε . Our main result concerning $\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}$ is the following whose proof is postponed to Appendix C:

Theorem 2.10. There exists $\varepsilon_0 \in (0, 1)$ such that, for all $\ell, s \in \mathbb{N}$ with $\ell \ge s$ and q > 2 and any $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0)$, the full transport operator $\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}$ generates a C_0 -semigroup $\{\mathcal{V}_{1,\varepsilon}(t) ; t \ge 0\}$ on $\mathbb{W}_x^{\ell,1}\mathbb{W}_v^{s,1}(\varpi_q)$ and there exist $C_0 > 0$ and $\mu_* > 0$ (both independent of ε) such that

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \mathcal{V}_{1,\varepsilon}(t) \left[h - \mathbf{P}_0 h \right] \right\|_{\mathbb{W}_x^{\ell,1} \mathbb{W}_v^{s,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q)} \\ \leqslant C_0 \exp(-\mu_\star t) \left\| h - \mathbf{P}_0 h \right\|_{\mathbb{W}_x^{\ell,1} \mathbb{W}_v^{s,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q)}, \qquad \forall t \ge 0, \quad (2.21) \end{aligned}$$

holds true for any $h \in W_x^{\ell,1} W_v^{s,1}(\varpi_q)$, where \mathbf{P}_0 is the spectral projection onto $\operatorname{Ker}(\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}) = \operatorname{Ker}(\mathscr{L}_1)$ which is independent of ε and given by

$$\mathbf{P}_{0}h = \sum_{i=1}^{d+2} \left(\int_{\mathbb{T}^{d} \times \mathbb{R}^{d}} h \,\Psi_{i} \,\mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}v \right) \,\Psi_{i} \,\mathcal{M}$$
(2.22)

where $\Psi_1(v) = 1$, $\Psi_i(v) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\vartheta_1}}v_{i-1}$ (i = 2, ..., d+1) and $\Psi_{d+2}(v) = \frac{|v|^2 - d\vartheta_1}{\vartheta_1\sqrt{2d}}$ $(v \in \mathbb{R}^d)$.

Remark 2.11. Theorem 2.10 is known to be true on the Hilbert space $H_{x,v}^{\ell}(\mathcal{M}^{-\frac{1}{2}})$, see [14, Theorem 2.1] whereas, in the present context, a similar result was obtained in [15, Theorem 2.1] with the important difference that the estimate (2.21) was shown only for $t > t_{\star} > 0$. This actually comes from the use of a general enlargement theorem from [34] which yields

$$\left\|\mathcal{V}_{1,\varepsilon}(t)h - \mathbf{P}_{0}h\right\|_{\mathbb{W}^{\ell,1}_{x}\mathbb{W}^{s,1}_{v}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q})} \leqslant C_{0}\frac{t^{N}}{\varepsilon^{N(2+s)}}\exp(-\mu t)\left\|h - \mathbf{P}_{0}h\right\|_{\mathbb{W}^{\ell,1}_{x}\mathbb{W}^{s,1}_{v}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q})}, \quad t \geqslant 0$$

for some $N \in \mathbb{N}$ and s > 0 and $\mu > \mu_{\star}$. It is important for the rest of our analysis to be able to remove this strong dependence on ε in the decay estimate of $\mathcal{V}_{1,\varepsilon}(t)(\mathbf{Id} - \mathbf{P}_0)$. This is done in Appendix *C*.

An important consequence of the Theorem 2.10 is the following proposition.

Proposition 2.12. Let $\ell, s \in \mathbb{N}$ with $\ell \ge s$ and q > 2. There exists $C_1 > 0$ such that

$$\left\| \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{W}^{\ell,1}_{x} \mathbb{W}^{s,1}_{v}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q}))} \leqslant C_{1} \max\left(\frac{1}{|\lambda|}, \frac{1}{\operatorname{Re}\lambda + \mu_{\star}}\right), \quad \forall \lambda \in \mathbb{C}^{\star}_{\mu_{\star}}, \ \forall \varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_{0}),$$

where ε_0 and μ_{\star} have been defined in Theorem 2.10, C_1 being independent of ε .

Proof. On the space $\mathbb{W}^{\ell,1}_x \mathbb{W}^{s,1}_v(\varpi_q)$, the spectrum of $\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}$ satisfies

$$\mathfrak{S}(\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}) \cap \{ z \in \mathbb{C} ; \operatorname{Re} z > -\mu_{\star} \} = \{ 0 \}$$

and the above projection \mathbf{P}_0 is nothing but the spectral projection of $\mathfrak{S}(\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon})$ associated to the zero eigenvalue given by

$$\mathbf{P}_0 = \frac{1}{2i\pi} \oint_{\gamma_r} \mathcal{R}(z, \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}) \mathrm{d}z, \qquad \gamma_r := \{ z \in \mathbb{C} ; |z| = r \}, \qquad r < \mu_\star.$$

Notice also

$$\dim (\operatorname{Range}(\mathbf{P}_0)) = \dim \operatorname{Ker}(\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}) = d + 2,$$

which means that the algebraic multiplicity of the zero eigenvalue coincides with its geometrical multiplicity and, as such, 0 is a *simple* pole of the resolvent $\mathcal{R}(\cdot, \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon})$ (see [42, III.5]). Denote by $\|\cdot\|$ the operator norm in $\mathbb{W}_x^{\ell,1}\mathbb{W}_v^{s,1}(\varpi_q)$ and fix $\mu \in (0, \mu_*)$. Since $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}) = \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon})\mathbf{P}_0 + \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon})(\mathbf{Id} - \mathbf{P}_0)$ and \mathbf{P}_0 commutes with $\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}$, we only need to estimate independently

$$\|\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon})\mathbf{P}_{0}\|$$
 and $\|\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon})[\mathbf{Id}-\mathbf{P}_{0}]\|$

for any $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}_{\mu}^{\star}$. Since the multiplicity of the pole 0 is one, one has $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon})\mathbf{P}_0 = \frac{1}{\lambda}\mathbf{P}_0$ and

$$\|\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon})\mathbf{P}_0\| \leqslant \frac{\|\mathbf{P}_0\|}{|\lambda|}, \qquad \lambda \in \mathbb{C}_{\mu_{\star}}^{\star}.$$

On the other hand, since for any $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}_{\mu_{\star}}$

$$\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}) \left[\mathbf{Id} - \mathbf{P}_0 \right] = \int_0^\infty e^{-\lambda t} \mathcal{V}_{1,\varepsilon}(t) \left[\mathbf{Id} - \mathbf{P}_0 \right] \mathrm{d}t$$

one deduces from Theorem 2.10 that

$$\|\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon})\left[\mathbf{Id}-\mathbf{P}_{0}\right]\| \leq C_{0}\int_{0}^{\infty}e^{-\mathrm{Re}\lambda t}e^{-\mu_{\star}t}\|\mathbf{Id}-\mathbf{P}_{0}\|\mathrm{d}t\,,$$

which gives that

$$\|\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon})\left[\mathbf{Id}-\mathbf{P}_{0}\right]\| \leqslant C_{0}\|\mathbf{Id}-\mathbf{P}_{0}\|\frac{1}{\mathrm{Re}\lambda+\mu_{\star}}, \qquad \forall \lambda \in \mathbb{C}_{\mu_{\star}}$$

This gives the desired estimate with $C_1 = \|\mathbf{P}_0\| + C_0 \|\mathbf{Id} - \mathbf{P}_0\|$ independent of ε and μ . \Box

We end this section with the following semigroup generation result.

Proposition 2.13. For any $\ell \ge s \ge 0$, q > 2, $\alpha \in (\alpha_{\ell,s,q}^{\dagger}, 1), \delta \in (0, \delta_{\ell,s,q}^{\dagger})$ and $\varepsilon > 0$, the operator

$$\mathcal{B}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)} : \mathscr{D}(\mathcal{B}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)}) \subset \mathbb{W}_{x}^{\ell,1} \mathbb{W}_{v}^{s,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q}) \longrightarrow \mathbb{W}_{x}^{\ell,1} \mathbb{W}_{v}^{s,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q})$$

is the generator of a C_0 -semigroup $\{S_{\alpha,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)}(t) ; t \ge 0\}$ in $\mathbb{W}_x^{\ell,1}\mathbb{W}_v^{s,1}(\varpi_q)$ and there exist $0 < \nu_* < \nu_{\ell,s,q}$ and $C_{\ell,s,q} > 0$ such that

$$\left\| \mathcal{S}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)}(t) \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{W}_{x}^{\ell,1}\mathbb{W}_{v}^{s,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q}))} \leqslant C_{\ell,s,q} \exp(-\varepsilon^{-2}\nu_{*} t), \qquad \forall t \ge 0.$$
(2.23)

As a consequence,

$$\mathcal{G}_{\alpha,\varepsilon} : \mathscr{D}(\mathcal{G}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}) \subset \mathbb{W}_x^{\ell,1} \mathbb{W}_v^{s,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q) \longrightarrow \mathbb{W}_x^{\ell,1} \mathbb{W}_v^{s,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q)$$

is the generator of a C_0 -semigroup $\{\mathcal{V}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}(t) ; t \ge 0\}$ in $\mathbb{W}_x^{\ell,1}\mathbb{W}_v^{s,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q)$.

Proof. The fact that $\mathcal{B}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)}$ is a generator of a C_0 -semigroup in $\mathbb{W}_x^{\ell,1}\mathbb{W}_v^{s,1}(\varpi_q)$ is proven in Appendix C. Since we already proved that $\mathcal{B}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)} + \varepsilon^{-2}\nu_{\ell,s,q}$ is hypo-dissipative, we deduce directly (2.23). Finally, because $\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}^{(\delta)}$ is a bounded operator in $\mathbb{W}_x^{\ell,1}\mathbb{W}_v^{s,1}(\varpi_q)$, we deduce from the bounded perturbation theorem that $\mathcal{G}_{\alpha,\varepsilon} = \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}^{(\delta)} + \mathcal{B}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)}$ generates a C_0 -semigroup in $\mathbb{W}_x^{\ell,1}\mathbb{W}_v^{s,1}(\varpi_q)$.

3. LINEAR THEORY IN THE WEAKLY INELASTIC REGIME

The final goal of this section is to prove Theorem 1.7, so, in the sequel we define

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{X} &:= \mathbb{W}_x^{\ell,1} \mathbb{W}_v^{s,1}(\varpi_q), \qquad \mathbb{Y} := \mathbb{W}_x^{\ell,1} \mathbb{W}_v^{s+1,1}(\varpi_{q+2}) \\ & \ell, s \in \mathbb{N}, \quad \ell \geqslant s+1 \quad \text{and} \quad q>2 \end{split}$$

so that $\mathbb{Y} \subset \mathbb{X}$.

We recall that, in the space X, the full linearized operator is given by

$$\mathcal{G}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}h = \varepsilon^{-2}\mathscr{L}_{\alpha}(h) - \varepsilon^{-1}v \cdot \nabla_x h, \qquad \forall \alpha \in (0,1],$$

with domain $\mathscr{D}(\mathcal{G}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}) = \mathbb{W}_x^{\ell+1}\mathbb{W}_v^{s+1,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q+1})$.

Clearly, any spatially homogeneous eigenfunction of \mathscr{L}_{α} associated to an eigenvalue $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ is an eigenfunction to $\mathcal{G}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}$ with associated eigenvalue $\varepsilon^{-2}\lambda$. In particular

$$\operatorname{Ker}(\mathscr{L}_{\alpha}) \subset \operatorname{Ker}(\mathcal{G}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}).$$

Notice that, in contrast to [14, 15], it is not clear whether such spaces agree. We deduce in particular from Proposition 2.4 that, on the space $L_x^1 L_v^1(\varpi_q)$,

$$-\varepsilon^{-2}\mu_{lpha}\in\mathfrak{S}(\mathcal{G}_{lpha,arepsilon})$$

with associated eigenfunction ϕ_{α} , that is,

$$\mathcal{G}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}\phi_{\alpha}=-\varepsilon^{-2}\,\mu_{\alpha}\phi_{\alpha}.$$

For the eigenvalue $-\varepsilon^{-2} \mu_{\alpha}$ to stay sufficiently close to 0, we assume that $\alpha = \alpha(\varepsilon)$ satisfies Assumption 1.2 and write

$$\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon} = \mathcal{G}_{\alpha(\varepsilon),\varepsilon}$$

and keep the notation $\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}$ for the elastic operator. Similarly, for all the operators introduced in Section 2.1 the double subscript (α, ε) will be replaced by ε except when $\alpha = 1$. More precisely, to fix notations, we have

$$\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon}h = \varepsilon^{-2}\mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}h - \varepsilon^{-1}v \cdot \nabla_x h,$$

with

$$\mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}h = \mathbf{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}h - \kappa_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}\nabla_v \cdot (vh),$$

and

$$\mathbf{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}h = \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h, G_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}) + \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(G_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}, h)$$

In the sequel, since ℓ, s, q are fixed, we set

$$\delta^{\dagger} := \min\left\{\delta^{\dagger}_{\ell,s,q}, \, \delta^{\dagger}_{\ell,s+1,q+2}\right\}, \qquad \alpha^{\dagger} := \max\left\{\alpha^{\dagger}_{\ell,s,q}, \, \alpha^{\dagger}_{\ell,s+1,q+2}\right\},$$

so that, for $\delta \in (0, \delta^{\dagger})$ and $\alpha \in (\alpha^{\dagger}, 1)$, the results of the previous section hold in both the spaces X, Y. Moreover, we denote by $\varepsilon^{\dagger} > 0$ the *unique* solution to

$$\alpha(\varepsilon^{\dagger}) = \alpha^{\dagger}.$$

We consider $\delta \in (0, \delta^{\dagger})$, $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon^{\dagger})$ (which implies $\alpha(\varepsilon) \in (\alpha^{\dagger}, 1)$), and write

$$\mathcal{A}_{arepsilon} = \mathcal{A}_{arepsilon}^{(\delta)}, \qquad \mathcal{B}_{arepsilon} = \mathcal{B}_{lpha,arepsilon}^{(\delta)}.$$

One has the following result which is similar to [59, Lemma 2.16]. We adapt and drastically simplify the proof given there by exploiting the fact that the difference operator $\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon} - \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}$ does not involve any spatial derivatives:

Proposition 3.1. For all $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}_{\mu_*}^{\star}$, let

$$\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) = (\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon} - \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}) \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}) \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}).$$

Then, $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) \in \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X})$. Furthemore, for any $\mu \in (0, \mu_{\star})$ and

$$\lambda \in \mathbb{C}_{\mu} \setminus \mathbb{D}(\mu_{\star} - \mu) = \{ z \in \mathbb{C} ; \operatorname{Re} z > -\mu, |z| > \mu_{\star} - \mu \},\$$

it holds that

$$\|\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X})} \leqslant \frac{C}{\mu_{\star} - \mu} \frac{1 - \alpha(\varepsilon)}{\varepsilon^2}$$
(3.1)

for a universal constant C > 0.

In addition, there exists $\varepsilon^* \in (0, \varepsilon^{\dagger})$ such that $\mathbf{Id} - \mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda)$ and $\lambda - \mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon}$ are invertible in \mathbb{X} with

$$\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon}) = \Gamma_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) (\mathbf{Id} - \mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda))^{-1}, \qquad \lambda \in \mathbb{C}_{\mu} \setminus \mathbb{D}(\mu_{\star} - \mu), \quad \varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon^{\star}),$$
(3.2)

where $\Gamma_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) = \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}) + \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon})\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon})$. Finally, there exists some constant C > 0 such that

$$\|\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X})} \leqslant \frac{C}{\mu_{\star}-\mu}, \qquad \forall \lambda \in \mathbb{C}_{\mu} \setminus \mathbb{D}(\mu_{\star}-\mu), \quad \varepsilon \in (0,\varepsilon^{\star}).$$
(3.3)

Proof. We adapt the method of [59, Lemma 2.16] but simplifies it in several aspects. For $\operatorname{Re}\lambda > -\mu_{\star}$, $\lambda \neq 0$, one knows from Proposition 2.12 that $\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}) \in \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{Y})$ since we assumed $k \geq s+1$ and there is $C_1 > 0$ such that, for any $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon^{\dagger})$, it holds that

$$\|\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{Y})} \leq C_1 \max\left(\frac{1}{|\lambda|}, \frac{1}{\operatorname{Re}\lambda + \mu_{\star}}\right), \qquad \lambda \in \mathbb{C}_{\mu_{\star}}^{\star}.$$

Moreover, from Proposition 2.8, there is $\nu > 0$ such that $\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon^{-2}\nu$ is hypo-dissipative in both \mathbb{Y} and \mathbb{X} . In particular (see Remark 2.9) there exists $C_2 > 0$, independent of ε , such that

$$\|\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X})} \leqslant \frac{C_2}{\operatorname{Re}\lambda + \varepsilon^{-2}\nu}, \qquad \forall \operatorname{Re}\lambda > -\mu_{\star}.$$

Therefore, as soon as $\varepsilon^{-2}\nu > 2\mu_{\star}$, one gets

$$\|\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X})} \leqslant \frac{C_2 \varepsilon^2}{\varepsilon^2 \operatorname{Re} \lambda + \nu} \leqslant C_3 \varepsilon^2, \qquad \forall \operatorname{Re} \lambda > -\mu_{\star}, \tag{3.4}$$

with $C_3 = 2C_2/\nu$. A similar estimate holds true if X is replaced with Y. Notice that the regularization properties of $\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$ in both velocity regularity and tail behaviour implies that there exists C > 0 (independent of ε) such that $\|\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X},\mathbb{Y})} \leq C\varepsilon^{-2}$ from which

$$\|\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X},\mathbb{Y})} \leqslant C_4, \qquad \forall \operatorname{Re}\lambda > -\mu_{\star},$$

with $C_4 = C_3 C$. Finally, notice that in the difference $\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon} - \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon} = \varepsilon^{-2} \left[\mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)} - \mathscr{L}_1 \right]$, the transport term $v \cdot \nabla_x$ vanishes and, according to (2.9), $\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon} - \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon} \in \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{Y},\mathbb{X})$ for $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon^{\dagger})$ with

$$\|\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon} - \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{Y},\mathbb{X})} \leqslant C_0 \frac{1 - \alpha(\varepsilon)}{\varepsilon^2}$$
(3.5)

for some positive constant C_0 independent of ε . We deduce with this that, for any $\operatorname{Re} \lambda > -\mu_{\star}$, $\lambda \neq 0$, the operator $\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) \in \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X})$ is well-defined and, for any $r \in (0, \mu_{\star})$

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X})} &\leqslant \|\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon} - \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{Y},\mathbb{X})} \|\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{Y})} \|\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} \,\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X},\mathbb{Y})} \\ &\leqslant C_{5} \frac{1 - \alpha(\varepsilon)}{\varepsilon^{2}} \, \max\left(\frac{1}{|\lambda|}, \frac{1}{\operatorname{Re}\lambda + \mu_{\star}}\right), \qquad \lambda \in \mathbb{C}_{\mu_{\star}}^{\star} \,, \end{aligned}$$

with $C_5 := C_0 C_1 C_4 > 0$ independent of ε . Then, for $\mu \in (0, \mu_{\star})$ it holds

$$\|\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X})} \leqslant C_5 \frac{1 - \alpha(\varepsilon)}{\varepsilon^2} \max\left(\frac{1}{|\lambda|}, \frac{1}{\mu_{\star} - \mu}\right), \qquad \lambda \in \mathbb{C}_{\mu}^{\star}, \tag{3.6}$$

which gives (3.1). With this, under Assumptions 1.2, one can choose ε^* small enough, depending on the difference $|\mu_* - \mu|$, so that

$$\rho(\varepsilon) = \frac{C_5}{\mu_\star - \mu} \frac{1 - \alpha(\varepsilon)}{\varepsilon^2} < 1, \qquad \forall \varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon^\star).$$
(3.7)

Under such an assumption, one sees that, for all $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}_{\mu} \setminus \mathbb{D}(\mu_{\star} - \mu)$, $\mathbf{Id} - \mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda)$ is invertible in \mathbb{X} with

$$(\mathbf{Id} - \mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda))^{-1} = \sum_{p=0}^{\infty} [\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda)]^p, \quad \forall \varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon^*).$$

Let us fix then $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon^*)$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}_{\mu} \setminus \mathbb{D}(\mu_* - \mu)$. The range of $\Gamma_{\varepsilon}(\lambda)$ is clearly included in $\mathscr{D}(\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}) = \mathscr{D}(\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon})$. Then, writing $\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon} = \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}$ we easily get that

$$(\lambda - \mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon})\Gamma_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) = \mathbf{Id} - \mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda)$$

i.e. $\Gamma_{\varepsilon}(\lambda)(\mathbf{Id} - \mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda))^{-1}$ is a right-inverse of $(\lambda - \mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon})$. To prove that $\lambda - \mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon}$ is invertible, it is therefore enough to prove that it is one-to-one. Consider the eigenvalue problem

$$\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon}h = \lambda h, \qquad h \in \mathscr{D}(\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon}),$$

Writing this as $(\lambda - \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon})h = \mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon}h - \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}h$, there is a positive constant $C_6 > 0$ independent of ε such that

$$\|h\|_{\mathbb{X}} = \|\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon})(\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon} - \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon})h\|_{\mathbb{X}} \leqslant C_{6} \frac{1 - \alpha(\varepsilon)}{\varepsilon^{2}} \|h\|_{\mathbb{Y}}$$
(3.8)

where we used Proposition 2.12 to estimate $\|\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X})}$ on $\mathbb{C}_{\mu} \setminus \mathbb{D}(\mu_{\star} - \mu)$ and (3.5) for the difference $(\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon} - \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon})h$. Let us now estimate $\|h\|_{\mathbb{Y}}$. Since $\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon}h = \lambda h$, one has $(\lambda - \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon})h = \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}h$ and $h = \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon})\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}h$, so that, thanks to (3.4),

$$\|h\|_{\mathbb{Y}} \leqslant \|\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{Y})} \|\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}h\|_{\mathbb{Y}} \leqslant C_{3}\varepsilon^{2}\|\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}h\|_{\mathbb{Y}} \leqslant C_{3}\|\mathcal{A}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}, \mathbb{Y})}\|h\|_{\mathbb{X}}$$

where we recall that $\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon^{-2}\mathcal{A} \in \mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X}, \mathbb{Y})$. Combining this with the above estimate (3.8), we end up with

$$\|h\|_{\mathbb{X}} \leqslant C_7 \frac{1 - \alpha(\varepsilon)}{\varepsilon^2} \|h\|_{\mathbb{X}}$$

with $C_7 := C_6 C_3 \|\mathcal{A}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X},\mathbb{Y})}$ independent of ε . One sees that, up to reducing ε^* , one can assume that $C_7 \frac{1-\alpha(\varepsilon)}{\varepsilon^2} < 1$ for $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon^*)$ which implies that h = 0. This proves that $\lambda - \mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon}$ is one-to-one and its right-inverse is, actually, its inverse. Thus, for $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon^*)$, $\mathbb{C}_{\mu} \setminus \mathbb{D}(\mu_* - \mu)$ belongs to the resolvent set of $\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon}$ and this shows (3.2). To estimate now $\|\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X})}$ one simply notices that

$$\|(\mathbf{Id} - \mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda))^{-1}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X})} \leqslant \sum_{p=0}^{\infty} \|\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X})}^{p} \leqslant \frac{1}{1 - \rho(\varepsilon)}, \quad \forall \lambda \in \mathbb{C}_{\mu} \setminus \mathbb{D}(\mu_{\star} - \mu)$$
(3.9)

from which, as soon as $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}_{\mu} \setminus \mathbb{D}(\mu_{\star} - \mu)$,

$$\|\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X})} \leq \frac{1}{1-\rho(\varepsilon)} \|\Gamma_{\varepsilon}(\lambda)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X})}.$$

One checks, using the previous computations, that for $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}_{\mu} \setminus \mathbb{D}(\mu_{\star} - \mu)$,

$$\|\Gamma_{\varepsilon}(\lambda)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X})} \leq C_{3}\varepsilon^{2} + C_{3}\|\mathcal{A}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X})}\|\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X})}$$
(3.10)

and deduces (3.3). This achieves the proof.

Remark 3.2. Of course, the above result is relevant mainly for $\frac{1}{2}\mu_{\star} < \mu < \mu_{\star}$ for which $\mathbb{D}(\mu_{\star} - \mu) \subset \mathbb{C}_{\mu}$, see Figure 1. Notice also that, in previous statement, the parameter ε^{\star} is depending only on the gap

$$\chi := \mu_\star - \mu$$
 .

From (3.7) we consider ε for which

$$\lambda_0 := \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \frac{1 - \alpha(\varepsilon)}{\varepsilon^2} \ll \chi \,,$$

therefore, λ_0 is a fraction of χ .

A first obvious consequence of Proposition 3.1 is that, for any $\mu \in (0, \mu_*)$, there is $\varepsilon^* \in (0, \varepsilon^{\dagger})$ depending only on $\chi = \mu_* - \mu$ such that

$$\mathfrak{S}(\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon}) \cap \{\lambda \in \mathbb{C} \, ; \, \mathrm{Re}\lambda > -\mu\} \subset \{z \in \mathbb{C} \, ; \, |z| \leqslant \mu_{\star} - \mu\}, \qquad \forall \, \varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon^{\star}).$$

We denote by \mathbf{P}_{ε} the spectral projection associated to the set

$$\mathfrak{S}_{\varepsilon} := \mathfrak{S}(\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon}) \cap \mathbb{C}_{\mu} = \mathfrak{S}(\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon}) \cap \mathbb{D}(\mu_{\star} - \mu)$$

One can deduce then the following lemma whose proof is similar to [59, Lemma 2.17].

Lemma 3.3. For any $\mu \in (0, \mu_{\star})$ there is some $\varepsilon_0^{\star} \in (0, \varepsilon^{\star})$ depending only on $\mu_{\star} - \mu$ and such that

$$\|\mathbf{P}_{\varepsilon} - \mathbf{P}_{0}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X})} < 1, \qquad \forall \, \varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_{0}^{\star}).$$

In particular,

dim Range(
$$\mathbf{P}_{\varepsilon}$$
) = dim Range(\mathbf{P}_{0}) = $d + 2$, $\forall \varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_{0}^{\star})$. (3.11)

Proof. Let $\frac{\mu_{\star}}{2} < \mu < \mu_{\star}$ and $0 < r < \chi := \mu_{\star} - \mu$. Recall that ε^{\star} depends only on χ . One has $\mathbb{D}(r) \subset \mathbb{C}_{\mu}^{\star}$. We set $\gamma_r := \{z \in \mathbb{C} ; |z| = r\}$. Recall that

$$\mathbf{P}_{\varepsilon} := \frac{1}{2i\pi} \oint_{\gamma_r} \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon}) \mathrm{d}\lambda, \qquad \mathbf{P}_0 := \frac{1}{2i\pi} \oint_{\gamma_r} \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}) \mathrm{d}\lambda.$$

For $\lambda \in \gamma_r$, set

$$\mathcal{Z}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) = \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}) \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon})$$

so that $\Gamma_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) = \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}) + \mathcal{Z}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda)$. Recall from (3.2) that, for $\lambda \in \gamma_r$,

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon}) &= \mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon})(\mathbf{Id} - \mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda))^{-1} + \mathcal{Z}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda)(\mathbf{Id} - \mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda))^{-1} \\ &= \mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}) + \mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon})\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda)(\mathbf{Id} - \mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda))^{-1} + \mathcal{Z}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda)(\mathbf{Id} - \mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda))^{-1} \end{aligned}$$

where we wrote $(\mathbf{Id} - \mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda))^{-1} = \mathbf{Id} + \mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda)(\mathbf{Id} - \mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda))^{-1}$. In the same way, one sees that

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}) &= \mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{B}_{1,\varepsilon}) + \mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon})\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{B}_{1,\varepsilon}) \\ &= \mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{B}_{1,\varepsilon}) + \mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon})\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}\left[\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{B}_{1,\varepsilon}) - \mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon})\right] + \mathcal{Z}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda). \end{aligned}$$

Since the mappings $\lambda \in \mathbb{D}(r) \mapsto \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon})$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{D}(r) \mapsto \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{B}_{1,\varepsilon})$ are analytic, one has

$$\oint_{\gamma_r} \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}) \mathrm{d}\lambda = \oint_{\gamma_r} \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{B}_{1,\varepsilon}) \mathrm{d}\lambda = 0,$$

so that

$$\mathbf{P}_{\varepsilon} = \frac{1}{2i\pi} \oint_{\gamma_r} \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}) \mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) (\mathbf{Id} - \mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda))^{-1} \mathrm{d}\lambda + \frac{1}{2i\pi} \oint_{\gamma_r} \mathcal{Z}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) (\mathbf{Id} - \mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda))^{-1} \mathrm{d}\lambda,$$

whereas

$$\mathbf{P}_{0} = \frac{1}{2i\pi} \oint_{\gamma_{r}} \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}) \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} \left[\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{B}_{1,\varepsilon}) - \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}) \right] \mathrm{d}\lambda + \frac{1}{2i\pi} \oint_{\gamma_{r}} \mathcal{Z}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) \mathrm{d}\lambda.$$

Consequently, one easily obtains that

$$\mathbf{P}_{\varepsilon} - \mathbf{P}_{0} = \frac{1}{2i\pi} \oint_{\gamma_{r}} \Gamma_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) \mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) (\mathbf{Id} - \mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda))^{-1} d\lambda + \frac{1}{2i\pi} \oint_{\gamma_{r}} \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}) \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} \left[\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}) - \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{B}_{1,\varepsilon}) \right] d\lambda.$$

Using (3.6), (3.9), and (3.3), one notices that there exists C > 0 independent of ε such that

$$\left\|\Gamma_{\varepsilon}(\lambda)\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda)(\mathbf{Id}-\mathcal{J}_{\varepsilon}(\lambda))^{-1}\right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X})} \leqslant \frac{C}{r^{2}(1-\rho(\varepsilon))}\frac{1-\alpha(\varepsilon)}{\varepsilon^{2}}, \qquad \forall \lambda \in \gamma_{r},$$

where we used that $0 < r < \mu_{\star} - \mu$ and noticed that $\|\Gamma_{\varepsilon}(\lambda)\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X})} \leq C/r$ by virtue of (3.10). Moreover, from Proposition 2.12, it follows that

$$\left\|\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon})\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}\left[\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon})-\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{B}_{1,\varepsilon})\right]\right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X})} \leqslant \frac{C_{1}}{r} \left\|\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon})-\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{B}_{1,\varepsilon})\right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X})}$$

for any $\lambda \in \gamma_r$, from which

$$\|\mathbf{P}_{\varepsilon} - \mathbf{P}_{0}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X})} \leq \frac{C_{0}}{r^{2}(1 - \rho(\varepsilon))} \left(\frac{1 - \alpha(\varepsilon)}{\varepsilon^{2}} + \sup_{\lambda \in \gamma_{r}} \|\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}) - \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{B}_{1,\varepsilon})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X})} \right)$$

for some positive constant $C_0 > 0$ independent of ε . We only need to estimate

 $\left\|\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon})-\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{B}_{1,\varepsilon})\right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X})}$

for $\lambda \in \gamma_r$. Observe that, for $\lambda \in \gamma_r$,

$$\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}) - \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{B}_{1,\varepsilon}) = \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon})\left[\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon} - \mathcal{B}_{1,\varepsilon}\right]\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{B}_{1,\varepsilon})$$

and, with the notations of the proof of Proposition 3.1,

$$\left\|\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon})-\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{B}_{1,\varepsilon})\right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X})}$$

$$\leqslant \|\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{Y},\mathbb{X})} \|\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon}-\mathcal{B}_{1,\varepsilon}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X},\mathbb{Y})} \|\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{B}_{1,\varepsilon})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X})}$$

where, as in Proposition 3.1, there is a positive constant C > 0 independent of ε such that

$$\|\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{Y},\mathbb{X})} \leqslant C, \quad \|\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{B}_{1,\varepsilon})\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X})} \leqslant C, \quad \lambda \in \gamma_{r},$$

whereas

$$\|\mathcal{B}_{\varepsilon} - \mathcal{B}_{1,\varepsilon}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X},\mathbb{Y})} = \|\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon} - \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X},\mathbb{Y})} \leqslant C \frac{1 - \alpha(\varepsilon)}{\varepsilon^2}$$

Gathering the previous estimates, it follows that, for any $0 < r < \chi = \mu_{\star} - \mu$,

$$\|\mathbf{P}_{\varepsilon} - \mathbf{P}_{0}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{X})} \leqslant \frac{C}{r^{2}(1 - \rho(\varepsilon))} \frac{1 - \alpha(\varepsilon)}{\varepsilon^{2}} := \ell(\varepsilon)$$
(3.12)

and, thanks to Assumption 1.2, one can find ε_{\star} depending only on χ such that $\ell(\varepsilon) < 1$ for any $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon^{\star})$. In particular, we deduce (3.11) from [42, Paragraph I.4.6].

With Lemma 3.3 we can prove Theorem 1.7

Proof of Theorem 1.7. The structure of the spectrum of $\mathfrak{S}(\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon}) \cap \mathbb{C}_{\mu}$ in the space \mathbb{X} comes directly from Lemma 3.3 together with Proposition 3.1. To describe more precisely the spectrum, one first recalls that

$$\mathfrak{S}(\mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}) \cap \{ z \in \mathbb{C} ; \operatorname{Re} z > -\mu \} \subset \mathfrak{S}(\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon}) \cap \{ z \in \mathbb{C} ; \operatorname{Re} z > -\mu \}.$$

Since, for ε small enough, the spectral projection $\Pi_{\mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}}$ associated to $\mathfrak{S}(\mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}) \cap \mathbb{C}_{\mu}$ satisfies

$$\dim(\operatorname{Range}(\Pi_{\mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}})) = \dim(\operatorname{Range}(\Pi_{\mathscr{L}_{1}})) = d + 2 = \dim(\operatorname{Range}(\mathbf{P}_{\varepsilon})),$$

we get that

$$\mathfrak{S}(\mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}) \cap \mathbb{C}_{\mu} = \mathfrak{S}(\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon}) \cap \mathbb{C}_{\mu}, \qquad (3.13)$$

that is, the eigenvalues $\lambda_j(\varepsilon)$ are actually eigenvalues of $\mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}$. In particular, one has that

$$\lambda_{d+2}(\varepsilon) = -\varepsilon^{-2}\mu_{\alpha(\varepsilon)} = -\frac{1-\alpha(\varepsilon)}{\varepsilon^2} + O\left(\left(\frac{1-\alpha(\varepsilon)}{\varepsilon}\right)^2\right), \quad \text{for } \varepsilon \simeq 0,$$


FIGURE 1. The set $\mathbb{C}_{\mu} \setminus \mathbb{D}(\mu_{\star} - \mu)$ and the eigenvalue $-\lambda_{\varepsilon}$.

according to (2.5) and (2.6). We set

$$\lambda_{\varepsilon} := -\lambda_{d+2}(\varepsilon) > 0, \qquad \lambda_{\varepsilon} \simeq -\varepsilon^{-2}(1 - \alpha(\varepsilon))$$

For the other eigenvalues, one notices that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)} \varphi(v) \mathrm{d} v = 0, \qquad \forall \, \varphi \in \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}) \subset \mathbb{Y},$$

where we recall that $\mathbb{Y} = \mathbb{W}_x^{\ell,1} \mathbb{W}_v^{s+1,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q+2})$. Of course, the spatial variable x plays no role here since $\mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}$ is local in x. We begin with understanding the eigenfunctions in

$$\mathbb{X}_0 = L^1_x L^1_v(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q)$$

Recall that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)} \varphi(v) \mathrm{d}v = 0, \qquad \forall \, \varphi \in \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}) \subset \mathbb{X}_0,$$

which implies that

$$\langle \mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)} \varphi, \boldsymbol{\varpi}_q^{-1} \rangle_{\mathbb{X}_0, \mathbb{X}_0^{\star}} = 0$$

where $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_{\mathbb{X}_0, \mathbb{X}_0^{\star}}$ denotes the duality bracket between \mathbb{X}_0 and its dual \mathbb{X}_0^{\star} . This proves that

$$\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q^{-1} \in \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}^{\star}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}) \quad \text{with} \quad \mathscr{L}^{\star}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q^{-1}) = 0,$$

that is, 0 is an eigenvalue of $\mathscr{L}^{\star}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}$ in \mathbb{X}^{\star}_{0} and therefore an eigenvalue of $\mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}$ in \mathbb{X}_{0} . With the same reasoning, since

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)} \varphi(v) \, v_i \mathrm{d}v = -\varepsilon^{-2} \kappa_{\alpha(\varepsilon)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} v_i \nabla \cdot (v\varphi(v)) \mathrm{d}v = \varepsilon^{-2} \kappa_{\alpha(\varepsilon)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} v_i \varphi(v) \mathrm{d}v$$

one sees that, for any i = 1, ..., d, $m_i^{\star}(v) := v_i \boldsymbol{\varpi}_q^{-1}(v) \in \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}^{\star})$ satisfies

$$\mathscr{L}^{\star}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}m_{i}^{\star}=\varepsilon^{-2}\kappa_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}m_{i}^{\star}\,,$$

that is, $\varepsilon^{-2}\kappa_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}$ is an eigenvalue of $\mathscr{L}^{\star}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}$ of multiplicity d and, as such, an eigenvalue of $\mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}$ with same multiplicity in the space \mathbb{X}_0 . With this, we found d+1 eigenvalues of $\mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}$ in the space \mathbb{X}_0 . To prove that these d+1 eigenvalues are still eigenvalues of $\mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}$ in the smaller space \mathbb{X} , we proceed as follows. Let \bar{g} be an eigenfunction of $\mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}$ in \mathbb{X}_0 associated to the $\varepsilon^{-2}\kappa_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}$ eigenvalue, i.e

$$\mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)} \, \bar{g} = \varepsilon^{-2} \kappa_{\alpha(\varepsilon)} \bar{g}, \qquad \bar{g} \in \mathscr{D}(\mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}) \cap \mathbb{X}_0.$$

With the splitting $\mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)} = \mathcal{B}_{\alpha}^{\delta} + \mathcal{A}^{(\delta)}$, where we recall $\alpha = \alpha(\varepsilon)$ and δ is sufficiently small, one deduces from this that

$$\left(\varepsilon^{-2}\kappa_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}-\mathcal{B}^{\delta}_{\alpha}\right)\bar{g}=\mathcal{A}^{(\delta)}\bar{g}.$$

Using the fact that for $\varepsilon^{-2}\kappa_{\alpha(\varepsilon)} < \mu_{\star} - \mu < \nu_{\star}$ the operator $\varepsilon^{-2}\kappa_{\alpha(\varepsilon)} - \mathcal{B}_{\alpha}^{\delta}$ is invertible in both X and X₀ thanks to Proposition 2.13 and

$$\bar{g} = \mathcal{R}(\varepsilon^{-2}\kappa_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}, \, \mathcal{B}_{\alpha}^{(\delta)})\mathcal{A}^{(\delta)}\bar{g}$$
.

Because \bar{g} is depending on the velocity only, using the regularizing effect of $\mathcal{A}^{(\delta)}$ and the hypo-dissipativity property of the operator $\varepsilon^{-2}\kappa_{\alpha(\varepsilon)} - \mathcal{B}^{\delta}_{\alpha}$ one concludes that $\mathcal{A}^{(\delta)}\bar{g} \in \mathbb{X}$ and, by previous identity, so is \bar{g} . Therefore, any eigenfunction of $\mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}$ associated to the eigenvalue $\varepsilon^{-2}\kappa_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}$ in \mathbb{X}_0 lies in \mathbb{X} as well, consequently, it is an eigenvalue of $\mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}$ in \mathbb{X} . It has the same multiplicity d as in \mathbb{X}_0 since the reasoning is valid for *any* eigenfunction \bar{g} . In the same way, we prove that 0 is a simple eigenvalue of $\mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}$ in \mathbb{X} . We just found exactly d + 1 eigenvalues and exhausted $\mathfrak{S}(\mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}) \cap \mathbb{C}_{\mu} = \mathfrak{S}(\mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}) \cap \mathbb{D}(\mu_{\star} - \mu)$ under the assumption that $\varepsilon^{-2}\kappa_{\alpha(\varepsilon)} < \mu_{\star} - \mu$ which gives the desired result.

4. Nonlinear analysis

We now apply the results obtained so far to the study of Eq. (1.20). In all this section we assume that

$$\mathcal{E} = \mathbb{W}_x^{m,1} \mathbb{W}_v^{k,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q) \tag{4.1}$$

with

$$m > 2d, \qquad m-1 \ge k \ge 1, \qquad q \ge 4,$$
(4.2)

and introduce also the Hilbert space on which \mathscr{L}_1 is symmetric

$$\mathcal{H} := \mathbb{W}_{x,v}^{m,2}\left(\mathcal{M}^{-1/2}
ight)$$

We recall here that \mathcal{M} is the steady state of \mathscr{L}_1 whereas \mathcal{H} is a Hilbert space on which the elastic Boltzmann equation is well-understood [14].

We also denote

$$\mathcal{E}_{1} := \mathbb{W}_{x}^{m,1} \mathbb{W}_{v}^{k,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q+1}), \qquad \mathcal{E}_{2} := \mathbb{W}_{x}^{m,1} \mathbb{W}_{v}^{k+1,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q+2})$$
$$\mathcal{H}_{1} := \mathbb{W}_{x,v}^{m,2} \left(\mathcal{M}^{-1/2} \langle \cdot \rangle^{1/2} \right) \qquad \text{and} \qquad \mathcal{E}_{-1} := \mathbb{W}_{x}^{m,1} \mathbb{W}_{v}^{k,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q-1}) \quad (4.3)$$

where k, m, q satisfy (4.2).

The analysis of the elastic case in [15, 14] holds in $\mathbb{W}_{x,v}^{\beta,2}(\mathcal{M}^{-1/2})$ for $\beta > d$. We need, however, the \mathcal{H} -norm to control the \mathcal{E} -norm, which constrains $\beta \ge m$. At the same time, it is needed that $\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} \in \mathscr{B}(\mathcal{E}, \mathcal{H})$ and, because $\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}$ has no regularisation effect on the spatial variable, we are forced to choose $\beta \le m$. This explains the choice of $\beta = m$. Moreover, we need the constraint m > 2d to carry out our nonlinear analysis, more precisely, we use that the embedding $\mathbb{W}_x^{m/2,1}(\mathbb{T}^d) \hookrightarrow L_x^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d)$ is continuous if m/2 > d which provides us an algebra structure. Notice that the analysis of [14] is in particular valid under this condition since it only required m > d to ensure that the embedding $\mathbb{W}_x^{m/2,2}(\mathbb{T}^d) \hookrightarrow L_x^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d)$ is continuous. Taking q > 3 would be enough to control the dissipation of kinetic energy $\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha}(f, f) |v|^2 dv$ but we require $q \ge 4$ in order to be able to control some terms in the study of the hydrodynamic limit (see Subsection 6.3). Finally, the restriction $k \le m - 1$ in (4.2) implies the continuous embedding $\mathcal{H} \hookrightarrow \mathcal{E}_2$ and the restriction $k \ge 1$ is due to the loss of one derivative in the estimate of $\mathcal{Q}_{\alpha} - \mathcal{Q}_1$ (see Lemma 2.1).

For A, B > 0, we will indicate in the sequel $A \leq B$ whenever there is a positive constant C > 0 depending on the mass and energy of the h(0), but not on parameters like t, ε or Δ_0 , such that $A \leq C B$.

We adapt the approach of [15] and decompose the solution h_{ε} into

$$h_{\varepsilon}(t, x, v) = h^0(t, x, v) + h^1(t, x, v)$$

where $h^0 = h^0_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{E}$ and $h^1 = h^1_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{H}$ are the solutions to the following system of equations

$$\begin{cases}
\partial_t h^0 = \mathcal{B}_{\alpha(\varepsilon),\varepsilon} h^0 + \varepsilon^{-1} \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h^0, h^0) + \varepsilon^{-1} \Big[\mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h^0, h^1) + \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h^1, h^0) \Big] \\
+ \Big[\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon} h^1 - \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon} h^1 \Big] + \varepsilon^{-1} \Big[\mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h^1, h^1) - \mathcal{Q}_1(h^1, h^1) \Big], \quad (4.4) \\
h^0(0, x, v) = h^{\varepsilon}_{\text{in}}(x, v) \in \mathcal{E}.
\end{cases}$$

and

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t h^1 &= \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon} h^1 + \varepsilon^{-1} \mathcal{Q}_1(h^1, h^1) + \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} h^0, \\ h^1(0, x, v) &= 0. \end{cases}$$
(4.5)

In this section, we omit the dependence on ε for h^0 and h^1 . We recall that

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} F_{\mathrm{in}}^{\varepsilon}(x, v) \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ v \end{pmatrix} \mathrm{d}v \mathrm{d}x = 0 \Longrightarrow \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} f_{\varepsilon}(t, x, v) \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ v \end{pmatrix} \mathrm{d}v \mathrm{d}x = \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

and, in particular, the fluctuation $h_{\varepsilon}(t, x, v)$ also satisfies

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} h_{\varepsilon}(t, x, v) \begin{pmatrix} 1 \\ v \end{pmatrix} \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}v = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.6)

4.1. Estimating h^0 . For the part of the solution $h^0(t)$ in \mathcal{E} we have the following estimate.

Proposition 4.1. Assume that $h^0 \in \mathcal{E}$, $h^1 \in \mathcal{E}_1$ are such that

$$\sup_{t \ge 0} \left(\|h^0(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} + \|h^1(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_1} \right) \le \Delta_0 < \infty \,.$$

Let $\nu_0 := \nu_{m,k,q}$ given in Proposition 2.8. Then, for $\mu_0 \in (0, \nu_0)$ there exists an explicit $\varepsilon_1 > 0$ (that can be chosen less than ε_0 defined in Theorem C.1) such that:

$$\begin{aligned} \|h^{0}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} &\lesssim \|h^{0}(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}} e^{-\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}t} + \lambda_{\varepsilon} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}(t-s)} \|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}} \,\mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \varepsilon \lambda_{\varepsilon} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}(t-s)} \|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}}^{2} \,\mathrm{d}s \,, \quad \forall \, \varepsilon \in (0,\varepsilon_{1}) \,. \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.7)$$

As a consequence, for any $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_1)$,

$$\|h^{0}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{2} \lesssim \|h^{0}(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{2} e^{-\frac{2\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}t} + \frac{1}{\mu_{0}} (\varepsilon \lambda_{\varepsilon})^{2} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}(t-s)} \|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}}^{2} ds + \frac{1}{\mu_{0}} (\varepsilon^{2} \lambda_{\varepsilon})^{2} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}(t-s)} \|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}}^{4} ds.$$

$$(4.8)$$

Proof. In the subsequent proof, we denote by $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{E}_1}$ and $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{E}}$ the norms on \mathcal{E}_1 and \mathcal{E} that are equivalent to the standard ones (with multiplicative constants independent of ε) and that make $\varepsilon^{-2}\nu_0 + \mathcal{B}_{\alpha(\varepsilon),\varepsilon}$ dissipative. The conclusion with standard norms will simply follows by equivalence. We first observe that

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|h^{0}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} &\leq -\frac{\nu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}} \|h^{0}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{1}} + \varepsilon^{-1} \Big(\|\mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h^{0}(t),h^{0}(t))\|_{\mathcal{E}} + \|\mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h^{0}(t),h^{1}(t))\|_{\mathcal{E}} \\ &+ \|\mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h^{1}(t),h^{0}(t))\|_{\mathcal{E}} \Big) + \left\|\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon}h^{1}(t) - \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}h^{1}(t)\right\|_{\mathcal{E}} \\ &+ \varepsilon^{-1} \left\|\mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h^{1}(t),h^{1}(t)) - \mathcal{Q}_{1}(h^{1}(t),h^{1}(t))\right\|_{\mathcal{E}} \end{aligned}$$

Using classical estimates for $Q_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}$ and Q_1 , (see [3, 4]), together with Lemma 2.1, there exist C > 0 independent of ε such that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h^{0}(t),h^{0}(t))\|_{\mathcal{E}} + \|\mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h^{0}(t),h^{1}(t))\|_{\mathcal{E}} \\ + \|\mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h^{1}(t),h^{0}(t))\|_{\mathcal{E}} \leqslant C\Big(\|h^{0}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} + \|h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{1}}\Big)\|h^{0}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{1}}\,, \end{aligned}$$

and

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon}h^{1}(t) - \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}h^{1}(t) \right\|_{\mathcal{E}} + \varepsilon^{-1} \left\| \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h^{1}(t),h^{1}(t)) - \mathcal{Q}_{1}(h^{1}(t),h^{1}(t)) \right\|_{\mathcal{E}} \\ &\leq C(1-\alpha(\varepsilon)) \|h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}} \left(\varepsilon^{-2} + \varepsilon^{-1} \|h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}} \right). \end{aligned}$$

Notice that such estimate is exactly what motivated the definition of \mathcal{E}_2 . We conclude that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|h^{0}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} \leq -\varepsilon^{-2} \Big(\nu_{0} - \varepsilon C \big(\|h^{0}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} + \|h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{1}}\big) \Big) \|h^{0}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{1}} + C(1 - \alpha(\varepsilon))\varepsilon^{-2} \|h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}} + C(1 - \alpha(\varepsilon))\varepsilon^{-1} \|h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}}^{2}.$$

For any $\mu_0 \in (0, \nu_0)$, we pick $\varepsilon_1 \in (0, \varepsilon_0)$ as $\nu_0 - \varepsilon_1 C \Delta_0 \ge \mu_0$. Therefore,

$$\nu_0 - \varepsilon C \left(\|h^0(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} + \|h^1(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_1} \right) \ge \mu_0, \qquad \forall \varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_1).$$

Consequently, we obtain that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|h^{0}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} \leqslant -\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}} \|h^{0}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{1}} + C(1-\alpha(\varepsilon))\varepsilon^{-2}\|h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}} + C(1-\alpha(\varepsilon))\varepsilon^{-1}\|h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}}^{2}, \qquad (4.9)$$

$$\leqslant -\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}} \|h^{0}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{1}} + C\lambda_{\varepsilon}\|h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}} + C\varepsilon\,\lambda_{\varepsilon}\|h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}}^{2}, \qquad \forall t \ge 0,$$

where we used that $\varepsilon^2 \lambda_{\varepsilon} \simeq 1 - \alpha(\varepsilon)$ which gives (4.7) after integration. To prove (4.8), we use the fact that, for any nonnegative mapping $t \mapsto \zeta(t)$ and $\alpha > 0$

$$\left(\int_{0}^{t} e^{-\alpha (t-s)} \zeta(s) \mathrm{d}s\right)^{2} \leqslant \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\alpha (t-s)} \mathrm{d}s \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\alpha (t-s)} \zeta(s)^{2} \mathrm{d}s \qquad (4.10)$$
$$\leqslant \frac{1}{\alpha} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\alpha (t-s)} \zeta(s)^{2} \mathrm{d}s, \qquad \forall t \ge 0,$$
he result.

which gives the result.

On the basis of Theorem 1.7, there exist Ψ_{ε}^{j} , with $j = 1, \ldots, d+2$, linearly independent and such that

$$\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon}\Psi^{j}_{\varepsilon} = \mathscr{L}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}\Psi^{j}_{\varepsilon} = \lambda_{j}(\varepsilon)\Psi^{j}_{\varepsilon}$$

with moreover $\Psi_{\varepsilon}^{d+2} = \phi_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}$. We denote by Π_{ε} the spectral projection associated to $\lambda_{d+2}(\varepsilon) = -\lambda_{\varepsilon}$ and $\mathbb{P}_{\varepsilon} = \mathbf{P}_{\varepsilon} - \Pi_{\varepsilon}$, that is,

$$\operatorname{Range}(\mathbb{P}_{\varepsilon}) = \operatorname{Span}\{\Psi_{\varepsilon}^{1}, \dots, \Psi_{\varepsilon}^{d+1}\}, \qquad \operatorname{Range}(\Pi_{\varepsilon}) = \operatorname{Span}(\Psi_{\varepsilon}^{d+2})$$

In the same way, with the notations of Theorem C.1, we introduce

$$\mathbb{P}_{0}h = \sum_{i=1}^{d+1} \left(\int_{\mathbb{T}^{d} \times \mathbb{R}^{d}} h \Psi_{i} \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}v \right) \Psi_{i} \mathcal{M}, \quad \Pi_{0}h = \left(\int_{\mathbb{T}^{d} \times \mathbb{R}^{d}} h \Psi_{d+2} \, \mathrm{d}x \mathrm{d}v \right) \Psi_{d+2} \mathcal{M}, \quad (4.11)$$

where recall that

1.4

$$\Psi_1 = 1$$
, $\Psi_i = \frac{v_{i-1}}{\sqrt{\vartheta_1}}$ for $i = 2, ..., d+1$, and $\Psi_{d+2} = \frac{1}{\vartheta_1 \sqrt{2d}} (|v|^2 - d\vartheta_1)$.

Of course, see (2.22), one has $\mathbb{P}_0 = \mathbf{P}_0 - \Pi_0$. Recall that the eigenfunctions Ψ_j are such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^3} \Psi_i(v) \Psi_j(v) \mathcal{M}(v) dv = \delta_{i,j} \qquad i, j = 1, \dots, d+2,$$

which in particular implies that, in the Hilbert space \mathcal{H}^4 , one has $\mathbf{Id} - \mathbf{P}_0 = \mathbf{P}_0^{\perp}$.

Remark 4.2. Notice that, since $\Psi_{\varepsilon}^{d+2} = \phi_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}$ one deduces from (2.7) that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \|\Pi_{\varepsilon} - \Pi_0\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathcal{E})} = 0$$

The rate of convergence is actually explicit (see [52, Lemma 5.17]). For any $s \in \mathbb{N}$, $p \ge 0$, there is C > 0 such that

$$\left\| \Pi_{\varepsilon} - \Pi_0 \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{W}^{\ell,1}_x \mathbb{W}^{s,1}_v(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_p))} \leqslant C(1 - \alpha(\varepsilon)), \qquad \ell \ge 0.$$

Lemma 4.3. For i = 1, ..., d + 1, it holds that

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} h^1(t, x, v) \Psi_i(v) \mathrm{d}v \mathrm{d}x \right| \leq \max\left(1, \frac{1}{\sqrt{\vartheta_1}}\right) \|h^0(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}}$$

As a consequence,

$$\|\mathbb{P}_0 h^1(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} \leqslant C \|h^0(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}},$$

for some constant C > 0 depending only on \mathcal{M} .

Proof. Note that total mass and momentum conservation leads to

$$0 = \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} h(t, x, v) \Psi_i(v) dv dx = \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} h^0(t, x, v) \Psi_i(v) dv dx + \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} h^1(t, x, v) \Psi_i(v) dv dx, \quad i = 1, \dots, d+1.$$

Thus, for any i = 1, ..., d + 1,

$$\left|\int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} h^1(t, x, v) \Psi_i(v) \mathrm{d}v \mathrm{d}x\right| = \left|\int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} h^0(t, x, v) \Psi_i(v) \mathrm{d}v \mathrm{d}x\right| \leqslant \max\left(1, \frac{1}{\sqrt{\vartheta_1}}\right) \|h^0(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}}$$

since $|\Psi_i(v)| \leq \max\left(1, \frac{1}{\sqrt{\vartheta_1}}\right) \varpi_q(v)$ for any $i = 1, \ldots, d+1$. Regarding the estimate for the projection, it follows from the previous inequality and (4.11) by taking for example $C := \max_{i=1,\ldots,d+1} \|\Psi_i\mathcal{M}\|_{\mathcal{E}}$.

4.2. Estimating $\mathbf{P}_0 h^1(t)$. One has the following fundamental estimate for $\mathbf{P}_0 h^1(t)$. Lemma 4.4. We have that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathbf{P}_{0}h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{-1}} &\lesssim \|\Pi_{\varepsilon}h(0)\|_{\varepsilon}e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}t} + \left(1-\alpha(\varepsilon)\right)\|h^{1}(t)\|_{\varepsilon} + \|h^{0}(t)\|_{\varepsilon} \\ &+ \varepsilon^{-1}\left(1-\alpha(\varepsilon)\right)\int_{0}^{t}e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}(t-s)}\left(\|h^{1}(s)\|_{\varepsilon}^{2} + \|h^{0}(s)\|_{\varepsilon}^{2}\right) \mathrm{d}s \end{aligned}$$

for any $t \ge 0$.

⁴Recall here that, on the space $L^2_v(\mathcal{M}^{-\frac{1}{2}})$ the inner product is $\langle f,g \rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(v)g(v)\mathcal{M}^{-1}(v)dv$.

Proof. The equation for h is given by

$$\partial_t h = \mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon} h + \varepsilon^{-1} \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h,h).$$

Thus,

$$\partial_t (\Pi_{\varepsilon} h) = \mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon} (\Pi_{\varepsilon} h) + \varepsilon^{-1} \Pi_{\varepsilon} \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h,h) \,.$$

Therefore,

$$\Pi_{\varepsilon}h(t) = \Pi_{\varepsilon}h(0) e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon} t} + \varepsilon^{-1} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon} (t-s)} \Pi_{\varepsilon} \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h(s), h(s)) \mathrm{d}s \,. \tag{4.12}$$

Observe the following facts

$$\left\|\Pi_{\varepsilon}\mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h(s),h(s))\right\|_{\mathcal{E}_{-1}} \leqslant \left\|\left(\Pi_{\varepsilon}-\Pi_{0}\right)\mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h(s),h(s))\right\|_{\mathcal{E}_{-1}} + \left\|\Pi_{0}\mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h(s),h(s))\right\|_{\mathcal{E}_{-1}},$$
 where

$$\begin{split} \left\| \left(\Pi_{\varepsilon} - \Pi_{0} \right) \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h(s), h(s)) \right\|_{\mathcal{E}_{-1}} &\lesssim (1 - \alpha(\varepsilon)) \| \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h(s), h(s)) \|_{\mathcal{E}_{-1}} \\ &\lesssim (1 - \alpha(\varepsilon)) \| h(s) \|_{\mathcal{E}}^{2} \,. \end{split}$$

Notice that, according to (4.11), $\Pi_0 \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}$ is explicit with

$$\left\|\Pi_{0}\mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h(s),h(s))\right\|_{\mathcal{E}_{-1}} = (1-\alpha^{2}(\varepsilon))\left|\mathcal{D}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h(s),h(s))\right|\left\|\Psi_{d+2}\mathcal{M}\right\|_{\mathcal{E}_{-1}}$$

where $\mathcal{D}_{lpha}(g,g)$ denotes the normalised energy dissipation associated to \mathcal{Q}_{lpha} , namely,

$$\mathcal{D}_{\alpha}(g,g) = -\frac{1}{1-\alpha^2} \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} \Psi_{d+2}(v) \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha}(g,g) \mathrm{d}v \mathrm{d}x$$
$$= -\frac{1}{\vartheta_1 \sqrt{2d}} \frac{1}{1-\alpha^2} \frac{1}{\vartheta_1 \sqrt{2d}} \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \mathrm{d}x \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha}(g,g) |v|^2 \mathrm{d}v$$
$$= \gamma_b \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \mathrm{d}x \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} g(x,v) g(x,v_*) |v-v_*|^3 \mathrm{d}v \mathrm{d}v_*$$

for some nonnegative γ_b independent of α , see [52]. Therefore,

$$\left\| \Pi_0 \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h(s), h(s)) \right\|_{\mathcal{E}_{-1}} \lesssim (1 - \alpha(\varepsilon)) \|h(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^2$$

because $\varpi_q(v) \ge \langle v \rangle^3$ for any $v \in \mathbb{R}^3$.

Thus, applying the $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{E}_{-1}}$ -norm in (4.12) one obtains

$$\left\| \Pi_{\varepsilon} h(t) \right\|_{\mathcal{E}_{-1}} \lesssim \| \Pi_{\varepsilon} h(0) \|_{\mathcal{E}} e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon} t} + \varepsilon^{-1} (1 - \alpha(\varepsilon)) \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon} (t-s)} \| h(s) \|_{\mathcal{E}}^{2} ds$$

where we recall that $\lambda_{\varepsilon} = -\lambda_{d+2}(\varepsilon) > 0$. Consequently, using again Remark 4.2, we conclude that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\Pi_0 h(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{-1}} &\lesssim \|\Pi_{\varepsilon} h(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}} e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon} t} + (1 - \alpha(\varepsilon))\|h(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} \\ &+ \varepsilon^{-1}(1 - \alpha(\varepsilon)) \int_0^t e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}(t-s)}\|h(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^2 \,\mathrm{d}s \,. \end{aligned}$$
(4.13)

According to (4.6), one has $\mathbb{P}_0 h(t) = 0$ for any $t \ge 0$ from which we deduce that

$$\mathbf{P}_0 h(t) = \Pi_0 h(t), \qquad \forall t \ge 0.$$

Since $\mathbf{P}_0 h^1(t) = \mathbf{P}_0 h(t) - \mathbf{P}_0 h^0(t)$, we can reformulate the above (4.13) in terms of the relevant functions h^1 and h^0 to obtain that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathbf{P}_{0}h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{-1}} &\lesssim \|\Pi_{\varepsilon}h(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}} e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon} t} + (1-\alpha(\varepsilon)) \left(\|h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} + \|h^{0}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}}\right) + \|h^{0}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} \\ &+ \varepsilon^{-1}(1-\alpha(\varepsilon)) \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}(t-s)} \left(\|h^{0}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{2} + \|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{2}\right) \,\mathrm{d}s\,, \end{aligned}$$

which is the desired lemma.

Remark 4.5. Since $\varepsilon \lambda_{\varepsilon} \simeq \frac{1-\alpha(\varepsilon)}{\varepsilon}$, we get $\frac{1-\alpha^2(\varepsilon)}{\varepsilon \lambda_{\varepsilon}} \simeq \varepsilon(1+\alpha(\varepsilon)) \simeq 2\varepsilon$ as $\varepsilon \to 0$. Therefore,

$$\frac{(1-\alpha^2(\varepsilon))}{\varepsilon\,\lambda_\varepsilon}\lesssim\varepsilon.$$

Proposition 4.6. There exists an explicit $\varepsilon_2 \in (0, \varepsilon_1)$ such that for any $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_2)$ and $t \ge 0$, it holds that

$$\begin{split} \|\mathbf{P}_{0}h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{-1}} \lesssim \left(\|\Pi_{\varepsilon}h(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}} + \|h^{0}(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}} + \frac{\varepsilon^{3}\lambda_{\varepsilon}}{\mu_{0}}\|h^{0}(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{2}\right)e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}t} + \varepsilon^{2}\lambda_{\varepsilon}\|h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} \\ &+ \lambda_{\varepsilon}\int_{0}^{t} e^{-\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}(t-s)}\|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}}\,\mathrm{d}s + \varepsilon\lambda_{\varepsilon}\int_{0}^{t} e^{-\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}(t-s)}\|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}}^{2}\,\mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \varepsilon\lambda_{\varepsilon}\left(1+\mu_{0}^{-2}\varepsilon^{4}\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{2}\right)\int_{0}^{t} e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}(t-s)}\|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{2}\,\mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \mu_{0}^{-2}\varepsilon^{7}\,\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{3}\int_{0}^{t} e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}(t-s)}\|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}}^{4}\,\mathrm{d}s\,. \end{split}$$

Proof. We insert the bound for $||h^0(t)||^i_{\mathcal{E}}$ for i = 1, 2 in (4.7) and (4.8) in the estimate of Lemma 4.4. Assuming $\mu_0 \ge 2\varepsilon^2 \lambda_{\varepsilon}$ and recalling that $1 - \alpha(\varepsilon) \simeq \varepsilon^2 \lambda_{\varepsilon}$, we first deduce from (4.7) that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathbf{P}_{0}h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{-1}} &\lesssim \left(\|\Pi_{\varepsilon}h(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}} + \|h^{0}(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}\right)e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}t} + \varepsilon^{2}\lambda_{\varepsilon}\|h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} \\ &+ \lambda_{\varepsilon}\int_{0}^{t}e^{-\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}(t-s)}\|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}}\,\mathrm{d}s + \varepsilon\lambda_{\varepsilon}\int_{0}^{t}e^{-\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}(t-s)}\|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}}^{2}\,\mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \varepsilon\lambda_{\varepsilon}\int_{0}^{t}e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}(t-s)}\|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{2}\,\mathrm{d}s + \varepsilon\lambda_{\varepsilon}\int_{0}^{t}e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}(t-s)}\|h^{0}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{2}\,\mathrm{d}s \,. \end{aligned}$$
(4.14)

Now, using (4.8) for the last integral, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \int_0^t e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}(t-s)} \|h^0(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^2 \, \mathrm{d}s &\lesssim \|h^0(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^2 \int_0^t e^{-\frac{2\mu_0}{\varepsilon^2}s - \lambda_{\varepsilon}(t-s)} \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \mu_0^{-1} \big(\varepsilon \, \lambda_{\varepsilon}\big)^2 \int_0^t e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}(t-s)} \, \mathrm{d}s \int_0^s e^{-\frac{\mu_0}{\varepsilon^2}(s-\tau)} \|h^1(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}_2}^2 \mathrm{d}\tau \\ &+ \mu_0^{-1} \big(\varepsilon^2 \, \lambda_{\varepsilon}\big)^2 \int_0^t e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}(t-s)} \, \mathrm{d}s \int_0^s e^{-\frac{\mu_0}{\varepsilon^2}(s-\tau)} \|h^1(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}_2}^4 \, \mathrm{d}s \end{split}$$

Using that, for any $\beta > \alpha > 0$ and nonnegative mapping $t \mapsto \zeta(t)$

$$\int_{0}^{t} e^{-\alpha(t-s)} ds \int_{0}^{s} e^{-\beta(s-\tau)} \zeta(\tau) d\tau = e^{-\alpha t} \int_{0}^{t} e^{\beta \tau} \zeta(\tau) d\tau \int_{\tau}^{t} e^{-(\beta-\alpha)s} ds$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{\beta-\alpha} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\alpha(t-\tau)} \zeta(\tau) d\tau$$
(4.15)

we have, for $\mu_0 \ge 2\varepsilon^2 \lambda_{\varepsilon}$, that

$$\int_0^t e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}(t-s)} \,\mathrm{d}s \int_0^s e^{-\frac{\mu_0}{\varepsilon^2}(s-\tau)} \|h^1(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}_2}^{2i} \,\mathrm{d}\tau \leqslant \frac{2\varepsilon^2}{\mu_0} \int_0^t e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}(t-s)} \|h^1(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_2}^{2i} \,\mathrm{d}s, \quad i=1,2\,,$$

so that

$$\begin{split} \int_0^t e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}(t-s)} \|h^0(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^2 \,\mathrm{d}s \lesssim \frac{\varepsilon^2}{\mu_0} \|h^0(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^2 e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon} t} + \mu_0^{-2} \varepsilon^4 \lambda_{\varepsilon}^2 \int_0^t e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}(t-s)} \|h^1(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_2}^2 \,\mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \mu_0^{-2} \big(\varepsilon^3 \,\lambda_{\varepsilon}\big)^2 \int_0^t e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}(t-s)} \|h^1(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_2}^4 \,\mathrm{d}s \,. \end{split}$$

Inserting this in (4.14) gives the desired estimate.

Remark 4.7. We will also need an estimate for $\|\mathbf{P}_0 h^1(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{-1}}^2$. This is easy to do using Cauchy-Schwarz inequality as we did for the proof of (4.8). We obtain that

$$\begin{split} \|\mathbf{P}_{0}h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{-1}}^{2} \lesssim \left(\|\Pi_{\varepsilon}h(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{2} + \|h^{0}(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{2} + \frac{(\varepsilon^{3}\lambda_{\varepsilon})^{2}}{\mu_{0}^{2}}\|h^{0}(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{4}\right)e^{-2\lambda_{\varepsilon}t} + \varepsilon^{4}\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{2}\|h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{2} \\ &+ \frac{(\varepsilon\lambda_{\varepsilon})^{2}}{\mu_{0}}\int_{0}^{t}e^{-\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}(t-s)}\|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}}^{2}\,\mathrm{d}s + \frac{(\varepsilon^{2}\lambda_{\varepsilon})^{2}}{\mu_{0}}\int_{0}^{t}e^{-\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}(t-s)}\|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}}^{4}\,\mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \varepsilon^{2}\lambda_{\varepsilon}\left(1 + \mu_{0}^{-2}(\varepsilon^{2}\lambda_{\varepsilon})^{2}\right)^{2}\int_{0}^{t}e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}(t-s)}\|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}}^{4}\,\mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \mu_{0}^{-4}\varepsilon^{4}(\varepsilon^{2}\lambda_{\varepsilon})^{5}\int_{0}^{t}e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}(t-s)}\|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}}^{8}\,\mathrm{d}s \end{split}$$

4.3. Estimating the complement $(\mathbf{Id} - \mathbf{P}_0)h^1$. Let us focus on an estimate on $\mathbf{P}_0^{\perp}h^1(t)$ with $\mathbf{P}_0^{\perp} = \mathbf{Id} - \mathbf{P}_0$, the orthogonal projection onto $(\text{Ker}(\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}))^{\perp}$ in the Hilbert space $L^2_{x,v}(\mathcal{M}^{-1/2})$. The same notation for the operator $\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}$ in the spaces \mathcal{E} and \mathcal{H} is used. We begin with the following lemma where, we recall, $\Sigma_{\mathcal{M}}(\xi)$ is defined in (2.12).

Proposition 4.8. With the notations of Theorem C.1, let $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0)$, $\mu \in (0, \mu_{\star})$ and assume that

$$\sup_{t \ge 0} \left(\|h^0(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} + \|h^1(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \right) \le \Delta_0$$

with $\Delta_0 \leqslant 1$ small enough so that

$$\nu := \frac{2\mu}{\sigma_0^2} - c_0 \Delta_0^2 > 0 \tag{4.16}$$

where $\sigma_0 := \inf_{\xi \in \mathbb{R}^d} \Sigma_{\mathcal{M}}(\xi) > 0$ and $c_0 > 0$ is a universal constant depending only on \mathcal{M} defined in (4.19). Set

$$\Psi(t) = h^1(t) - \mathbf{P}_0 h^1(t), \qquad \forall t \ge 0.$$

Then, there exists $C_0 > 0$ independent of $\varepsilon > 0$ such that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\Psi(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} &\leqslant \|\Psi(0)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} e^{-\nu t} + C_{0} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|\mathbf{P}_{0}h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{-1}}^{4} \,\mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \frac{C_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \|h^{0}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}} \,\mathrm{d}s \end{aligned} \tag{4.17}$$

for any $t \ge 0$.

Proof. One checks from (4.5) that

$$\partial_t \Psi = \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon} \Psi + \mathbf{P}_0^{\perp} \left(\varepsilon^{-1} \mathcal{Q}_1(h^1, h^1) + \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} h^0 \right) = \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon} \Psi + \varepsilon^{-1} \mathcal{Q}_1(h^1, h^1) + \mathbf{P}_0^{\perp} \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} h^0 \,,$$

where for the later we used that $\mathbf{P}_0 \mathcal{Q}_1(h^1, h^1) = 0$. Using [15, Theorem 4.7], one obtains as in [15, Eq. (4.8)] that, for any $\mu \in (0, \mu_{\star})$ there is some positive constant C > 0 such that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|\Psi(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \leqslant -\frac{2\mu}{\sigma_0^2} \|\Psi(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}_1}^2 + C \|h^1(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \|h^1(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}_1}^2 + \|\Psi(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \|\mathbf{P}_0^{\perp}\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}h^0(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}.$$
 (4.18)

Writing $h^1 = \mathbf{P}_0 h^1 + \Psi$, we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \|h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \|h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}_{1}}^{2} &\leq 2\|h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \left(\|\mathbf{P}_{0}h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}_{1}}^{2} + \|\Psi(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}_{1}}^{2}\right) \\ &\leq 2\Delta_{0}^{2}\|\Psi(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}_{1}}^{2} + 4\|\mathbf{P}_{0}h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}_{1}}^{2} \left(\|\mathbf{P}_{0}h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} + \|\Psi(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2}\right). \end{aligned}$$

In particular, since there exists a positive constant c > 0 depending only on \mathcal{M} such that

$$\|\mathbf{P}_0 h^1(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}_1}^2 \leqslant c \|\mathbf{P}_0 h^1(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{-1}}^2$$

we deduce that

$$\|h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2}\|h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}_{1}}^{2} \leq c_{0}\|\mathbf{P}_{0}h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{-1}}^{4} + c_{0}\Delta_{0}^{2}\|\Psi(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}_{1}}^{2}$$
(4.19)

for some universal constant $c_0 > 0$ depending only on M. Therefore, assuming that Δ_0 is small enough so that

$$\nu := \frac{2\mu}{\sigma_0^2} - c_0 \Delta_0^2 > 0$$

we deduce that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|\Psi(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \leqslant -\nu \|\Psi(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}_1}^2 + C \|\mathbf{P}_0 h^1(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{-1}}^4 + \|\Psi(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \|\mathbf{P}_0^{\perp} \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} h^0(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}, \qquad \forall t \ge 0$$

for some C > 0 independent of t and ε . Moreover, we also have that

$$\|\mathbf{P}_0^{\perp}\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}h^0(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \lesssim \frac{1}{\varepsilon^2} \|h^0(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}}, \quad \|\Psi(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \lesssim \|h^1(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}, \qquad \forall t \ge 0,$$

from which we get the desired estimate after integration of the previous differential inequality. $\hfill \Box$

Lemma 4.9. With the notation of Proposition 4.8, there is an explicit $\varepsilon_3 \in (0, \varepsilon_2)$ such that for for any $\delta > 0$, $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_3)$, and $t \ge 0$

$$\begin{split} \varepsilon^{-2} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \|h^{0}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}} \, \mathrm{d}s &\lesssim \delta \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \, \mathrm{d}s + \frac{1}{\delta \mu_{0}} \|h^{0}(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{2} e^{-\nu t} \\ &+ \frac{\delta}{\varepsilon^{2}} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s) - \frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}} s} \|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \, \mathrm{d}s + \frac{1}{\delta \mu_{0}^{2}} \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{2} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}}^{2} \, \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \frac{1}{\delta \mu_{0}^{2}} (\varepsilon \lambda_{\varepsilon})^{2} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}}^{4} \, \mathrm{d}s \, . \end{split}$$

Proof. We use the estimate of $||h^0(s)||_{\mathcal{E}}$ provided in (4.7) which gives

$$\varepsilon^{-2} \int_0^t e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|h^1(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \|h^0(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}} \,\mathrm{d}s \lesssim I_1(t) + I_2(t) + I_3(t)$$

with

$$I_{1}(t) = \varepsilon^{-2} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \|h^{0}(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}} e^{-\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}s} \,\mathrm{d}s,$$
$$I_{2}(t) = \varepsilon^{-2} \lambda_{\varepsilon} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \,\mathrm{d}s \int_{0}^{s} e^{-\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}(s-\tau)} \|h^{1}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}} \,\mathrm{d}\tau,$$

and

$$I_3(t) = \varepsilon^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon} \int_0^t e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|h^1(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \,\mathrm{d}s \int_0^s e^{-\frac{\mu_0}{\varepsilon^2}(s-\tau)} \|h^1(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}_2}^2 \,\mathrm{d}\tau.$$

Using Young's inequality, for any $\delta > 0$ it holds that

$$\|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}\|h^{0}(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}} \leq \delta \|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} + \frac{1}{4\delta}\|h^{0}(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{2},$$

so that, since $\mu_0 - \varepsilon^2 \nu \ge \frac{\mu_0}{2}$,

$$I_{1}(t) \leq \delta \varepsilon^{-2} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s) - \frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}s} \|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} ds + \frac{1}{4\delta \varepsilon^{2}} \|h^{0}(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{2} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s) - \frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}s} ds$$
$$\leq \delta \varepsilon^{-2} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s) - \frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}s} \|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} ds + \frac{1}{2\delta\mu_{0}} \|h^{0}(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{2} e^{-\nu t}.$$

Similarly, Young's inequality implies, for any $\delta > 0$, that

$$I_{2}(t) \leq \delta \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} ds + \frac{(\varepsilon^{-2}\lambda_{\varepsilon})^{2}}{4\delta} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)} ds \left(\int_{0}^{s} e^{-\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}(s-\tau)} \|h^{1}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}} d\tau\right)^{2},$$

and, using (4.10) and (4.15) to estimate the square of the last integral, we get for $\mu_0 \ge 2\varepsilon^2 \nu$ that

$$I_2(t) \leq \delta \int_0^t e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|h^1(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \, \mathrm{d}s + \frac{1}{2\delta\mu_0^2} \lambda_{\varepsilon}^2 \int_0^t e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|h^1(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_2}^2 \, \mathrm{d}s.$$

In the same way, it follows that

$$I_{3}(t) \leq \delta \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \,\mathrm{d}s + \frac{1}{2\delta\mu_{0}^{2}} (\varepsilon\lambda_{\varepsilon})^{2} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}}^{4} \,\mathrm{d}s.$$

Combining these estimates yields the result.

It remains to estimate the term involving $\|\mathbf{P}_0 h^1\|_{\mathcal{E}_{-1}}^4$ in (4.17). This is done in the following lemma.

Lemma 4.10. Under the assumptions and notations of Proposition 4.8, there are explicits $\varepsilon_4 \in (0, \varepsilon_3)$ and $\lambda_4 > 0$ such that, for any $\delta > 0$, $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_4)$ and $\lambda_{\varepsilon} \in (0, \lambda_4)$,

$$\begin{split} \int_0^t e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|\mathbf{P}_0 h^1(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{-1}}^4 \, \mathrm{d}s &\lesssim \nu^{-1} \Big(\|\Pi_{\varepsilon} h(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^4 + \|h^0(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^4 + \frac{(\varepsilon^3 \lambda_{\varepsilon})^4}{\mu_0^4} \|h^0(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^8 \Big) \, e^{-4\lambda_{\varepsilon} t} \\ &+ (\varepsilon^2 \lambda_{\varepsilon})^4 \boldsymbol{C}_0(\varepsilon, \mu_0, \Delta_0) \int_0^t e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|h^1(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \varepsilon^4 \lambda_{\varepsilon} \boldsymbol{C}_1(\varepsilon, \mu_0, \nu, \Delta_0) \int_0^t e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}(t-s)} \|h^1(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \mathrm{d}s \end{split}$$

with $C_0(\varepsilon,\mu_0,\Delta_0):=\Delta_0^2+rac{\Delta_0^2}{\mu_0^4}+rac{\varepsilon^4}{\mu_0^4}\Delta_0^6$ and

$$\boldsymbol{C}_1(\varepsilon,\mu_0,\nu,\Delta_0) := \frac{(\varepsilon^3\lambda_\varepsilon)^8}{\nu\,\mu_0^8} \Delta_0^{14} + \nu^{-1} \left(1 + \mu_0^{-2} (\varepsilon^2\lambda_\varepsilon)^2\right)^4 \Delta_0^6.$$

Remark 4.11. Since $\varepsilon \lambda_{\varepsilon} \ll 1$ and $\Delta_0 \leqslant 1$, it follows that for ε small enough

$$C_0(\varepsilon,\mu_0,\Delta_0) \lesssim \left(1+\mu_0^{-4}\right) \Delta_0^2 \quad and \quad C_1(\varepsilon,\mu_0,\nu,\Delta_0) \lesssim \nu^{-1} \left(1+\mu_0^{-8}\right) \Delta_0^2.$$

Proof. We start with the estimate for $\|\mathbf{P}_0 h^1\|_{\mathcal{E}_{-1}}^2$ in Remark 4.7 which gives

$$\begin{split} \|\mathbf{P}_{0}h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{-1}}^{4} \lesssim \left(\|\Pi_{\varepsilon}h(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{4} + \|h^{0}(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{4} + \frac{(\varepsilon^{3}\lambda_{\varepsilon})^{4}}{\mu_{0}^{4}}\|h^{0}(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{8}\right)e^{-4\lambda_{\varepsilon}\,s} + \varepsilon^{8}\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{4}\|h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{4} \\ &+ \frac{(\varepsilon\,\lambda_{\varepsilon})^{4}}{\mu_{0}^{2}}\left(\int_{0}^{s}e^{-\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}(s-\tau)}\|h^{1}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}}^{2}\,\mathrm{d}\tau\right)^{2} + \frac{(\varepsilon^{2}\lambda_{\varepsilon})^{4}}{\mu_{0}^{2}}\left(\int_{0}^{s}e^{-\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}(s-\tau)}\|h^{1}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}}^{4}\,\mathrm{d}\tau\right)^{2} \\ &+ \varepsilon^{4}\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{2}\left(1+\mu_{0}^{-2}(\varepsilon^{2}\lambda_{\varepsilon})^{2}\right)^{4}\left(\int_{0}^{s}e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}(s-\tau)}\|h^{1}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}}^{4}\,\mathrm{d}\tau\right)^{2} \\ &+ \mu_{0}^{-8}\varepsilon^{8}(\varepsilon^{2}\lambda_{\varepsilon})^{10}\left(\int_{0}^{s}e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}(s-\tau)}\|h^{1}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}}^{8}\,\mathrm{d}\tau\right)^{2}. \end{split}$$

A repeated use of (4.10) gives

$$\begin{split} \|\mathbf{P}_{0}h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{-1}}^{4} \lesssim \left(\|\Pi_{\varepsilon}h(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{4} + \|h^{0}(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{4} + \frac{(\varepsilon^{3}\lambda_{\varepsilon})^{4}}{\mu_{0}^{4}}\|h^{0}(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{8}\right)e^{-4\lambda_{\varepsilon}\,s} + \varepsilon^{8}\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{4}\|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{4} \\ &+ \frac{(\varepsilon\,\lambda_{\varepsilon})^{4}}{\mu_{0}^{3}}\,\varepsilon^{2}\int_{0}^{s}e^{-\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}(s-\tau)}\|h^{1}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}}^{4}\,\mathrm{d}\tau + \frac{(\varepsilon^{2}\lambda_{\varepsilon})^{4}}{\mu_{0}^{3}}\,\varepsilon^{2}\int_{0}^{s}e^{-\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}(s-\tau)}\|h^{1}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}}^{8}\,\mathrm{d}\tau \\ &+ \varepsilon^{4}\lambda_{\varepsilon}\left(1+\mu_{0}^{-2}(\varepsilon^{2}\lambda_{\varepsilon})^{2}\right)^{4}\int_{0}^{s}e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}(s-\tau)}\|h^{1}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}}^{8}\,\mathrm{d}\tau \\ &+ \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{-1}\mu_{0}^{-8}\varepsilon^{8}(\varepsilon^{2}\lambda_{\varepsilon})^{10}\int_{0}^{s}e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}(s-\tau)}\|h^{1}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}}^{16}\,\mathrm{d}\tau \end{split}$$

Multiplying this inequality with $e^{-\nu(t-s)}$, using (4.15) and integrating over (0, t) yields

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|\mathbf{P}_{0}h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{-1}}^{4} \, \mathrm{d}s &\lesssim \nu^{-1} \Big(\|\Pi_{\varepsilon}h(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{4} + \|h^{0}(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{4} + \frac{(\varepsilon^{3}\lambda_{\varepsilon})^{4}}{\mu_{0}^{4}} \|h^{0}(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{8} \Big) e^{-4\lambda_{\varepsilon} t} \\ &+ (\varepsilon^{2}\lambda_{\varepsilon})^{4} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{4} \mathrm{d}s + \frac{(\varepsilon^{2}\lambda_{\varepsilon})^{4}}{\mu_{0}^{4}} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}}^{4} \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \frac{(\varepsilon^{3}\lambda_{\varepsilon})^{4}}{\mu_{0}^{4}} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}}^{8} \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \nu^{-1} \varepsilon^{4}\lambda_{\varepsilon} \left(1 + \mu_{0}^{-2} (\varepsilon^{2}\lambda_{\varepsilon})^{2}\right)^{4} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}(t-\tau)} \|h^{1}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}}^{8} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \\ &+ \nu^{-1} \lambda_{\varepsilon}^{-1} \mu_{0}^{-8} \varepsilon^{8} (\varepsilon^{2}\lambda_{\varepsilon})^{10} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}(t-\tau)} \|h^{1}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}}^{16} \, \mathrm{d}\tau \end{split}$$

as soon as $\mu_0 \ge 2\varepsilon^2 \nu$ and $\nu \ge 2\lambda_{\varepsilon}$. Using now the estimates

$$\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}} \lesssim \|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{H}}, \quad \text{and} \quad \|h^{1}\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{i+2} \leqslant \Delta_{0}^{i} \|h^{1}\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2}, \quad i \ge 0,$$
sult.
$$\Box$$

we obtain the result.

Proposition 4.12. There exist $\varepsilon_5 \in (0, \varepsilon_4)$, $\lambda_5 \in (0, \lambda_4)$, C_1 is a positive universal constant and C_2 is a positive constant that depends on μ_0 and ν such that, for any $\delta > 0$, $t \ge 0$,

 $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_5)$ and $\lambda_{\varepsilon} \in (0, \lambda_5)$,

$$\|h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \leqslant C_{1} \mathcal{K}_{0} e^{-2\lambda_{\varepsilon}t} + C_{2} \left(\delta + \frac{\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{2}}{\delta\mu_{0}^{2}}\right) \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \mathrm{d}s$$
$$+ C_{2} \varepsilon^{2} \lambda_{\varepsilon} \Delta_{0}^{2} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}(t-s)} \|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \mathrm{d}s + C_{2} \frac{\delta}{\varepsilon^{2}} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s) - \frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}s} \|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \mathrm{d}s, \quad (4.21)$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{K}_{0} &:= \|h^{1}(0)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} + \frac{1}{\delta \mu_{0}} \|h^{0}(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{2} \\ &+ \frac{1}{\nu} \|\Pi_{\varepsilon} h(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{4} + \frac{1}{\nu} \|h^{0}(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{4} + \frac{1}{\nu \mu_{0}^{4}} \|h^{0}(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{8} \\ &+ \|\Pi_{\varepsilon} h(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{2} + \|h^{0}(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{2} + \frac{1}{\mu_{0}^{2}} \|h^{0}(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{4} \end{aligned}$$

depends only on h(0), μ_0 and ν .

Proof. Combining the two previous Lemmas with Proposition 4.8, we first have the following estimate for $\|\Psi(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2$. For simplicity, we set

$$b_{\varepsilon} := \|\Pi_{\varepsilon} h(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{2} + \|h^{0}(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{2} + \frac{(\varepsilon^{3}\lambda_{\varepsilon})^{2}}{\mu_{0}^{2}}\|h^{0}(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{4},$$

which depends only on h(0) and μ_0 . Using again (4.20) to estimate $||h^1||_{\mathcal{E}_2}$ in Lemma 4.9, we get that there exists a positive constant C > 0 such that, for any $\delta > 0$,

$$\begin{split} \|\Psi(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \lesssim \left[\|\Psi(0)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 + \frac{1}{\delta\,\mu_0} \|h^0(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^2 \right] e^{-\nu\,t} + \nu^{-1} b_{\varepsilon}^2 e^{-4\lambda_{\varepsilon}t} \\ &+ \left(\delta + (\varepsilon^2\lambda_{\varepsilon})^4 \boldsymbol{C}_0(\varepsilon,\mu_0,\Delta_0) + \frac{\lambda_{\varepsilon}^2}{\delta\mu_0^2} (1+\varepsilon^2\Delta_0^2) \right) \int_0^t e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|h^1(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \varepsilon^4\lambda_{\varepsilon} \boldsymbol{C}_1(\varepsilon,\mu_0,\nu,\Delta_0) \int_0^t e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}(t-s)} \|h^1(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \mathrm{d}s + \frac{\delta}{\varepsilon^2} \int_0^t e^{-\nu(t-s)-\frac{\mu_0}{\varepsilon^2}s} \|h^1(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \mathrm{d}s. \end{split}$$

Therefore, for ε sufficiently small, using Remark 4.11, since $(\varepsilon^2 \lambda_{\varepsilon})^4 \ll (\varepsilon^2 \lambda_{\varepsilon})^2 \ll \varepsilon^4 \lambda_{\varepsilon} \ll \varepsilon^2 \lambda_{\varepsilon}$ and $4\lambda_{\varepsilon} < \nu$, one obtains

$$\begin{split} \|\Psi(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \lesssim \left[\|\Psi(0)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} + \frac{1}{\delta\,\mu_{0}}\|h^{0}(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{2} + \nu^{-1}\,b_{\varepsilon}^{2}\right]e^{-4\lambda_{\varepsilon}t} \\ &+ \left(\delta + (\varepsilon^{2}\lambda_{\varepsilon})^{2}\,\left(1 + \mu_{0}^{-4}\right)\,\Delta_{0}^{2} + \frac{\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{2}}{\delta\mu_{0}^{2}}\right)\int_{0}^{t}e^{-\nu(t-s)}\|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2}\mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \nu^{-1}\varepsilon^{2}\lambda_{\varepsilon}\,\left(1 + \mu_{0}^{-8}\right)\Delta_{0}^{2}\int_{0}^{t}e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}(t-s)}\|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2}\mathrm{d}s + \frac{\delta}{\varepsilon^{2}}\int_{0}^{t}e^{-\nu(t-s)-\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}s}\|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2}\mathrm{d}s. \end{split}$$

Adding $\|\mathbf{P}_0 h^1(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2$ to both sides and, since

 $\|h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \leq \|\mathbf{P}_{0}h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} + \|\Psi(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \lesssim \|\mathbf{P}_{0}h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{-1}}^{2} + \|\Psi(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2},$

we obtain, using the estimate of $\|\mathbf{P}_0 h^1(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{-1}}^2$ in Remark 4.7, that

$$\begin{split} \|h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \lesssim \left[\|h^{1}(0)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} + \frac{1}{\delta\mu_{0}}\|h^{0}(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{2} + \nu^{-1}b_{\varepsilon}^{2} + b_{\varepsilon}\right]e^{-2\lambda_{\varepsilon}t} + \varepsilon^{4}\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{2}\|h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{2} \\ &+ \left(\delta + (\varepsilon^{2}\lambda_{\varepsilon})^{2}\left(1 + \mu_{0}^{-4}\right)\Delta_{0}^{2} + \frac{\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{2}}{\delta\mu_{0}^{2}} + \frac{\varepsilon^{2}\lambda_{\varepsilon}^{2}}{\mu_{0}} + \frac{(\varepsilon^{2}\lambda_{\varepsilon})^{2}}{\mu_{0}}\Delta_{0}^{2}\right)\int_{0}^{t}e^{-\nu(t-s)}\|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2}\mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \varepsilon^{2}\lambda_{\varepsilon}\Delta_{0}^{2}\left(\nu^{-1}\left(1 + \mu_{0}^{-8}\right) + \left(1 + \mu_{0}^{-4}\right) + \mu_{0}^{-4}\varepsilon^{4}\left(\varepsilon^{2}\lambda_{\varepsilon}\right)^{4}\Delta_{0}^{4}\right)\int_{0}^{t}e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}(t-s)}\|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2}\mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \frac{\delta}{\varepsilon^{2}}\int_{0}^{t}e^{-\nu(t-s)-\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}s}\|h^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2}\mathrm{d}s, \end{split}$$

where we used that $\nu \leq \frac{\mu_0}{\varepsilon^2}$. Therefore, there exist positive universal constants C_0 and C_1 and a positive constant C_2 that depends on μ_0 and ν , for ε sufficiently small, such that

$$\begin{split} (1 - C_0 \varepsilon^4 \lambda_{\varepsilon}^2) \|h^1(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 &\leqslant C_1 \left[\|h^1(0)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 + \frac{1}{\delta \mu_0} \|h^0(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^2 + \nu^{-1} b_{\varepsilon}^2 + b_{\varepsilon} \right] e^{-2\lambda_{\varepsilon} t} \\ &+ C_2 \left(\delta + \frac{\lambda_{\varepsilon}^2}{\delta \mu_0^2} \right) \int_0^t e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|h^1(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ C_2 \varepsilon^2 \lambda_{\varepsilon} \Delta_0^2 \int_0^t e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}(t-s)} \|h^1(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \mathrm{d}s + C_2 \frac{\delta}{\varepsilon^2} \int_0^t e^{-\nu(t-s) - \frac{\mu_0}{\varepsilon^2} s} \|h^1(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \mathrm{d}s \,. \end{split}$$
ake \$\varepsilon\$ small enough so that \$1 - C_0 \varepsilon^4 \lambda_{\varepsilon}^2 \ge \frac{1}{2}\$ to deduce the result.

Take ε small enough so that $1 - C_0 \varepsilon^4 \lambda_{\varepsilon}^2 \ge \frac{1}{2}$ to deduce the result.

Corollary 4.13. There exist $\varepsilon_6 \in (0, \varepsilon_5)$, $\lambda_6 \in (0, \lambda_5)$, and C > 0 depending on ν, μ_0, Δ_0 such that

$$\|h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \leq C \mathcal{K}_{0} \exp(-\lambda_{\varepsilon} t) , \quad \forall t \geq 0,$$
for any $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_{6})$ and $\lambda_{\varepsilon} \in (0, \lambda_{6})$. Here \mathcal{K}_{0} is given in Proposition 4.12. (4.22)

Proof. Set for simplicity

$$\boldsymbol{x}(t) := e^{\lambda_{\varepsilon} t} \|h^1(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2, \qquad t \ge 0.$$

Inequality (4.21) yields

$$\frac{1}{c_1} \boldsymbol{x}(t) \leqslant \mathcal{K}_0 + \left(\delta + \frac{\lambda_{\varepsilon}^2}{\delta\mu_0^2}\right) \int_0^t e^{-(\nu - \lambda_{\varepsilon})(t-s)} \boldsymbol{x}(s) \mathrm{d}s \\ + \varepsilon^2 \lambda_{\varepsilon} \Delta_0^2 \int_0^t \boldsymbol{x}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s + \frac{\delta}{\varepsilon^2} \int_0^t e^{-\frac{\mu_0}{\varepsilon^2} s} \boldsymbol{x}(s) \, \mathrm{d}s$$

We use a Gronwall type argument to prove the result. For notational simplicity introduce

$$C_{\delta}(\lambda_{\varepsilon}) = c_1 \left(\delta + \frac{\lambda_{\varepsilon}^2}{\delta\mu_0} \right), \quad A_0 = c_1 \mathcal{K}_0, \quad \xi(t) = c_1 \varepsilon^2 \lambda_{\varepsilon} \Delta_0^2 + \frac{c_1 \delta}{\varepsilon^2} e^{-\frac{\mu_0}{\varepsilon^2} t}, \quad t \ge 0,$$

from which one obtains that

$$0 \leq \boldsymbol{x}(t) \leq A_0 + C_{\delta}(\lambda_{\varepsilon}) \int_0^t e^{-(\nu - \lambda_{\varepsilon})(t-s)} \boldsymbol{x}(s) \mathrm{d}s + \int_0^t \xi(s) \boldsymbol{x}(s) \mathrm{d}s =: \Upsilon(t).$$
(4.23)

Thus,

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\Upsilon(t) = -(\nu - \lambda_{\varepsilon})C_{\delta}(\lambda_{\varepsilon})\int_{0}^{t} e^{-(\nu - \lambda_{\varepsilon})(t-s)}\boldsymbol{x}(s)\mathrm{d}s + (C_{\delta}(\lambda_{\varepsilon}) + \xi(t))\boldsymbol{x}(t)$$
$$= -(\nu - \lambda_{\varepsilon})\left(\Upsilon(t) - A_{0} - \int_{0}^{t} \xi(s)\boldsymbol{x}(s)\mathrm{d}s\right) + (C_{\delta}(\lambda_{\varepsilon}) + \xi(t))\boldsymbol{x}(t).$$

Using (4.23), which reads $x(t) \leq \Upsilon(t)$, we deduce that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}\Upsilon(t) \leqslant (\nu - \lambda_{\varepsilon})A_0 + \left[C_{\delta}(\lambda_{\varepsilon}) - (\nu - \lambda_{\varepsilon}) + \xi(t)\right]\Upsilon(t) + (\nu - \lambda_{\varepsilon})\int_0^t \xi(s)\Upsilon(s)\mathrm{d}s.$$

Clearly, it is possible to choose $\delta_{\star} > 0$ sufficiently small depending only on ν , and λ_{\star} sufficiently small depending only on ν , μ_0 , Δ_0 , so that

$$C_{\delta}(\lambda_{\varepsilon}) - (\nu - \lambda_{\varepsilon}) + \xi(t) \leqslant -\frac{\nu}{2} + \frac{\delta c_1}{\varepsilon^2} e^{-\frac{\mu_0}{\varepsilon^2}t}, \qquad \forall t \ge 0,$$

holds true for any $\delta \in (0, \delta_{\star})$ and $\lambda_{\varepsilon} \in (0, \lambda_{\star})$. Fixing δ and λ_{ε} in this range, we introduce

$$\boldsymbol{z}(t) = -\frac{\nu}{2}t + \frac{\delta c_1}{\varepsilon^2} \int_0^t e^{-\frac{\mu_0}{\varepsilon^2}s} \mathrm{d}s$$

to deduce that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left(e^{-\boldsymbol{z}(t)} \Upsilon(t) \right) \leqslant \left(\nu - \lambda_{\varepsilon} \right) A_0 e^{-\boldsymbol{z}(t)} + \left(\nu - \lambda_{\varepsilon} \right) e^{-\boldsymbol{z}(t)} \int_0^t \xi(s) \Upsilon(s) \mathrm{d}s$$
$$\leqslant \nu A_0 e^{-\boldsymbol{z}(t)} + \nu e^{-\boldsymbol{z}(t)} \int_0^t \xi(s) \Upsilon(s) \mathrm{d}s \,.$$

Integration of this differential inequality yields (recalling that $\Upsilon(0) = A_0$)

$$\Upsilon(t) \leqslant A_0 e^{\mathbf{z}(t)} + \nu A_0 \int_0^t e^{\mathbf{z}(t) - \mathbf{z}(s)} \mathrm{d}s + \nu \int_0^t e^{\mathbf{z}(t) - \mathbf{z}(s)} \mathrm{d}s \int_0^s \xi(\tau) \Upsilon(\tau) \mathrm{d}\tau$$
$$= A_0 e^{\mathbf{z}(t)} + \nu A_0 \int_0^t e^{\mathbf{z}(t) - \mathbf{z}(s)} \mathrm{d}s + \nu \int_0^t \xi(\tau) \Upsilon(\tau) \left(\int_\tau^t e^{\mathbf{z}(t) - \mathbf{z}(s)} \mathrm{d}s\right) \mathrm{d}\tau$$

Notice that $\mathbf{z}(t) - \mathbf{z}(s) \leq \frac{\delta c_1}{\mu_0} - \frac{\nu}{2}(t-s)$, for $0 \leq s \leq t$, from which we conclude that

$$\int_{\tau}^{t} e^{\boldsymbol{z}(t) - \boldsymbol{z}(s)} \mathrm{d}s \leqslant \frac{2}{\nu} e^{\frac{\delta c_{1}}{\mu_{0}}}, \qquad 0 \leqslant \tau \leqslant t.$$

Consequently,

$$\Upsilon(t) \leqslant 3A_0 e^{\frac{\delta c_1}{\mu_0}} + 2e^{\frac{\delta c_1}{\mu_0}} \int_0^t \xi(s)\Upsilon(s) \mathrm{d}s \,,$$

which, thanks to Gronwall lemma, implies that

$$\Upsilon(t) \leqslant 3A_0 e^{\frac{\delta c_1}{\mu_0}} \exp\left(2e^{\frac{\delta c_1}{\mu_0}} \int_0^t \xi(s) \mathrm{d}s\right).$$

Noticing that

$$\int_0^t \xi(s) \mathrm{d}s \leqslant c_1 \varepsilon^2 \lambda_\varepsilon \Delta_0^2 t + \frac{c_1 \delta}{\mu_0} \,,$$

one can choose $\varepsilon_{\star} > 0$ sufficiently small so that

$$2e^{\frac{\delta c_1}{\mu_0}}c_1\varepsilon^2\Delta_0^2 \leqslant \frac{1}{2} \quad \text{for any} \quad \varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_\star).$$
(4.24)

Consequently,

$$\Upsilon(t) \leqslant CA_0 \, e^{\frac{\lambda_{\varepsilon}}{2}t}$$

for some positive constant *C* depending only on ν , μ_0 , Δ_0 . Recalling the definition of A_0 , such estimate combined with (4.23) gives that

$$\|h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \leq C \mathcal{K}_{0} \exp\left(-\frac{\lambda_{\varepsilon}}{2}t\right), \qquad \forall t \geq 0.$$
(4.25)

One can upgrade the relaxation rate up to λ_{ε} by bootstrapping. To see this, one suitably uses (4.25) instead of (4.20), namely

$$\|h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{4} \leq C \,\mathcal{K}_{0} \,\exp\left(-\frac{\lambda_{\varepsilon}}{2}t\right)\|h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2}.$$

Then, (4.21) changes to

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{c_1} \|h^1(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 &\leqslant \mathcal{K}_0 e^{-2\lambda_{\varepsilon}t} + \left(\delta + \frac{\lambda_{\varepsilon}^2}{\delta\mu_0^2}\right) \int_0^t e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|h^1(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \varepsilon^2 \lambda_{\varepsilon} C \,\mathcal{K}_0 \,\int_0^t e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}(t-s)} e^{-\frac{\lambda_{\varepsilon}}{2}s} \|h^1(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \,\mathrm{d}s + \frac{\delta}{\varepsilon^2} \int_0^t e^{-\nu(t-s) - \frac{\mu_0}{\varepsilon^2}s} \|h^1(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \,\mathrm{d}s \,. \end{aligned}$$

Consequently, one can redo the argument above with $\tilde{\xi}(t)$ instead of $\xi(t)$, where

$$\tilde{\xi}(t) = c_1 \varepsilon^2 \lambda_{\varepsilon} C \,\mathcal{K}_0 \, e^{-\frac{\lambda_{\varepsilon}}{2}t} + \frac{c_1 \delta}{\varepsilon^2} e^{-\frac{\mu_0}{\varepsilon^2}t} \,.$$

Since,

$$\int_0^t \tilde{\xi}(s) \mathrm{d}s \leqslant 2c_1 \varepsilon^2 C \,\mathcal{K}_0 + \frac{c_1 \delta}{\mu_0} \leqslant 2 \frac{c_1 \delta}{\mu_0} \,,$$

provided $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_{\star})$ for sufficiently small $\varepsilon_{\star} := \varepsilon_{\star}(\nu, \mu_0, \Delta_0)$, one is led to (4.22).

Estimate (4.22) leads to the main result of this section.

Theorem 4.14. There exist $\varepsilon^{\dagger} \in (0, \varepsilon_6)$, $\lambda^{\dagger} \in (0, \lambda_6)$, and C > 0 depending on ν, μ_0, Δ_0 such that

$$\|h(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^2 \leqslant C\left(\|h(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^2 + \|h(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^4 + \|h(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^8\right) \exp\left(-\lambda_{\varepsilon}t\right), \qquad \forall t \ge 0,$$

for any $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon^{\dagger})$ and $\lambda_{\varepsilon} \in (0, \lambda^{\dagger})$.

Proof. Using estimate (4.22) in estimate (4.8), it follows that

$$\|h^{0}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{2} \leq 2\|h^{0}(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{2} e^{-\frac{2\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}t} + \frac{C\mathcal{K}_{0}}{\mu_{0}^{2}}\varepsilon^{2} \left(\varepsilon \lambda_{\varepsilon}\right)^{2} e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}t} \leq C\mathcal{K}_{0} e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}t}.$$
(4.26)

Consequently,

$$\|h(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{2} \leq 2\left(\|h^{0}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{2} + \|h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{2}\right) \leq C\left(\|h^{0}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^{2} + \|h^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2}\right) \leq C \mathcal{K}_{0} e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon} t}.$$
 (4.27)

Recalling that $h^0(0) = h(0)$ and $h^1(0) = 0$ in the definition of \mathcal{K}_0 , estimate (4.27) gives the result.

We also point out the gain of decay in h in the following corollary.

Corollary 4.15. Under the same conditions of Theorem 4.14 it follows that

$$\int_0^t \|h(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}_1} \mathrm{d}\tau \leqslant C\sqrt{\mathcal{K}_0} \min\left\{1+t, 1+\frac{1}{\lambda_{\varepsilon}}\right\}, \qquad \forall t > 0.$$

In particular, $||h(\cdot)||_{\mathcal{E}_1}$ is integrable and exists *a.e.* in (0,T) for any T > 0.

Proof. After performing time integration of equation (4.9) in [0, t] one finds that

$$\|h^{0}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} + \frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}} \int_{0}^{t} \|h^{0}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{1}} d\tau$$

$$\leq \|h^{0}(0)\|_{\mathcal{E}} + C \int_{0}^{t} \left(\lambda_{\varepsilon} \|h^{1}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{1}} + \varepsilon \lambda_{\varepsilon} \|h^{1}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{1}}^{2}\right) d\tau \qquad (4.28)$$

$$\leq C \left(\sqrt{\mathcal{K}_{0}} + \varepsilon \mathcal{K}_{0}\right), \qquad \forall t > 0,$$

where we used estimate (4.22) in the latter inequality. Thus,

$$\int_0^t \|h(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}_1} \mathrm{d}\tau \leqslant \int_0^t \|h^0(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}_1} \mathrm{d}\tau + \int_0^t \|h^1(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}_1} \mathrm{d}\tau$$
$$\leqslant C\left(\sqrt{\mathcal{K}_0} + \varepsilon \,\mathcal{K}_0\right) + C\sqrt{\mathcal{K}_0} \int_0^t e^{-\frac{\lambda_{\varepsilon}}{2}\tau} \mathrm{d}\tau \,,$$

which gives the result.

Remark 4.16. Of course, for a fixed $\varepsilon > 0$, one can replace $\min \{1+t, 1+\frac{1}{\lambda_{\varepsilon}}\}$ with $1+\frac{1}{\lambda_{\varepsilon}}$ and the above estimate shows that $h(t) = h_{\varepsilon}(t) \in L^1([0,\infty), \mathcal{E}_1)$. However, in the case in which $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \lambda_{\varepsilon} = 0$ then the bound is not uniform with respect to ε . In practice, two situations occur according to the value of λ_0 in Assumption 1.2:

a) If $\lambda_0 > 0$, then the family $\{h_{\varepsilon}(t)\}_{\varepsilon \ge 0}$ is bounded in $L^1([0,\infty), \mathcal{E}_1)$,

b) If
$$\lambda_0 = 0$$
 then for any $T > 0$, the family $\{h_{\varepsilon}(t)\}_{\varepsilon \ge 0}$ is bounded in $L^1([0,T], \mathcal{E}_1)$.

5. CAUCHY THEORY

In this section, we will use the functional spaces introduced at the beginning of Section 4. Based on the a priori estimates derived in the previous section, we show in this section the well-posedness of the system (4.4)-(4.5).

5.1. **Iteration scheme.** Let us follow the iteration scheme of [59, Section 3] with suitable modifications. We are seeking to approximate the solution to the inelastic Boltzmann equation using the iteration scheme

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t h_{n+1}(t) &= \mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon} h_{n+1}(t) + \varepsilon^{-1} \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h_n(t), h_n(t)), \quad n \ge 1\\ \partial_t h_1(t) &= \mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon} h_1(t), \\ h_n(0) &= h(0) \in \mathcal{E}, \quad n \ge 1, \end{cases}$$
(5.1)

where the initial perturbation h(0) has zero mass and momentum. This is done using the decomposition of previous section. More precisely, writing $h_n = h_n^0 + h_n^1$ we consider solutions with the coupled system

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{t}h_{n+1}^{0} = \mathcal{B}_{\alpha(\varepsilon),\varepsilon}h_{n+1}^{0} + \varepsilon^{-1}\mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h_{n}^{0},h_{n}^{0}) + \varepsilon^{-1}\Big[\mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h_{n}^{0},h_{n}^{1}) + \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h_{n}^{1},h_{n}^{0})\Big] \\ + \Big[\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon}h_{n+1}^{1} - \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}h_{n+1}^{1}\Big] + \varepsilon^{-1}\Big[\mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h_{n}^{1},h_{n}^{1}) - \mathcal{Q}_{1}(h_{n}^{1},h_{n}^{1})\Big], \qquad (5.2)$$
$$h_{n+1}^{0}(0) = h^{0}(0) \in \mathcal{E}, \end{cases}$$

and

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t h_{n+1}^1 &= \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon} h_{n+1}^1 + \varepsilon^{-1} \mathcal{Q}_1(h_n^1, h_n^1) + \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} h_{n+1}^0, \\ h_{n+1}^1(0) &= h^1(0) \in \mathcal{H}. \end{cases}$$
(5.3)

Motivated by the a priori estimates of Section 4, we introduce the following norms

$$|||g|||_0 := \sup_{t \ge 0} \left(||g(t)||_{\mathcal{E}} + \varepsilon^{-2} \int_0^t e^{-\nu(t-\tau)} ||g(\tau)||_{\mathcal{E}_1} \mathrm{d}\tau \right), \qquad g \in \mathcal{C}([0,\infty),\mathcal{E}),$$

and

$$|||g|||_{1} := \sup_{t \ge 0} \left(||g(t)||_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} + \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-\tau)} ||g(\tau)||_{\mathcal{H}_{1}}^{2} \mathrm{d}\tau \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}, \qquad g \in \mathcal{C}([0,\infty),\mathcal{H}),$$

where $\nu \sim \mu/\sigma_0^2 > 0$ was computed in (4.16) and we recall that $\mathcal{E}_1, \mathcal{E}, \mathcal{H}$ and \mathcal{H}_1 are defined in (4.3). Notice that $(\mathcal{C}([0,\infty),\mathcal{E}); ||| \cdot |||_0)$ and $(\mathcal{C}([0,\infty),\mathcal{H}); ||| \cdot |||_1)$ are Banach spaces. In particular, the space

$$\mathbb{B} := \mathcal{C}([0,\infty),\mathcal{E}) \times \mathcal{C}([0,\infty),\mathcal{H})$$

endowed with the norm

$$|\!|\!||(g,h)|\!|\!|:=|\!|\!||g||\!|_0+|\!|\!|h|\!|\!|_1 \qquad \text{for} \quad (g,h)\in\mathbb{B},$$

is a Banach space. Define then

$$\mathcal{X}_{0} = \left\{ h^{0} \in \mathcal{C}([0,\infty);\mathcal{E}) \mid \left\| h^{0} \right\|_{0} \leqslant C\sqrt{\mathcal{K}_{0}} \right\},$$
$$\mathcal{X}_{1} = \left\{ h^{1} \in \mathcal{C}([0,\infty);\mathcal{H}) \mid \left\| h^{1} \right\|_{1} \leqslant C\sqrt{\mathcal{K}_{0}} \right\}, \quad (5.4)$$

for some positive constant C > 0 which can be explicitly estimated from the subsequent computations. The system (5.2)-(5.3) is a simplified coupled version of the system (4.4)-(4.5) with all nonlinear terms as sources. Notice however that the coupling between h_{n+1}^0 and h_{n+1}^1 in the system makes it *nonlinear*. However, because $\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon}$ is the generator of a C_0 -semigroup in \mathcal{E} , equation (5.1) is well-posed and

$$h_{n+1}(t) = \mathcal{V}_{\varepsilon}(t)h(0) + \varepsilon^{-1} \int_0^t \mathcal{V}_{\varepsilon}(t-s)\mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h_n(s), h_n(s)) \mathrm{d}s$$

where $\{\mathcal{V}_{\varepsilon}(t); t \ge 0\}$ is the C_0 -semigroup in \mathcal{E} generated by $\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon}$ (i.e., with the notations of Prop. 2.13, $\mathcal{V}_{\varepsilon}(t) = \mathcal{V}_{\alpha(\varepsilon),\varepsilon}(t), t \ge 0$). With this at hands, substitute in (5.2) the term h_{n+1}^1 by $h_{n+1} - h_{n+1}^0$ and look at $h_{n+1}(t)$ as an additional source term. In the same way for (5.3), the system (5.2)-(5.3) becomes linear (in terms of h_{n+1}^0 and h_{n+1}^1) and admits, for any $n \in \mathbb{N}$, a unique solution. One can use a slight modification of the ideas of Section 4 to check that the iteration scheme is stable, that is, the mapping

$$(h_n^0, h_n^1) \in \mathcal{X}_0 \times \mathcal{X}_1 \mapsto (h_{n+1}^0, h_{n+1}^1) \in \mathcal{X}_0 \times \mathcal{X}_1$$

is well defined. Indeed, existence of the scheme is guaranteed by the linear theory as the iteration scheme is based on the linear equation. Moreover, note that (5.1) preserves the conservation laws: mass conservation and vanishing momentum, which were essential for the *a priori* estimates related to $\mathbf{P}_0 h^1$. Thus, stability holds true under the conditions of the *a priori* estimates, that is, for $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon^{\dagger})$ (where ε^{\dagger} is defined in Theorem 4.14) and

$$\sup_{t \ge 0} \left(\|h_n^1(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}} + \|h_n^0(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} \right) \le C\sqrt{\mathcal{K}_0} \le \Delta_0, \qquad n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

This latter condition is possible by taking \mathcal{K}_0 smaller than a threshold depending only on the initial mass and energy $E_{\rm in}$ ⁵

$$\mathcal{K}_0 \leq (\Delta_0/C)^2 =: \mathcal{K}_0^{\dagger}.$$

We leave the details to the reader and focus in the next subsections on the convergence of the scheme.

5.2. Estimating $\|h_{n+1}^0 - h_n^0\|_{\mathcal{E}}$ and $\|h_{n+1}^1 - h_n^1\|_{\mathcal{H}}$. To prove the convergence of the scheme, we define for $n \in \mathbb{N}$

$$d_{n+1}^0 = h_{n+1}^0 - h_n^0, \qquad \qquad d_{n+1}^1 = h_{n+1}^1 - h_n^1.$$

⁵since all the threshold values appearing here are prescribed by the choice of the initial mass and energy, see Remark 1.1.

Then, one deduces from (5.2) and (5.3)

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t d_{n+1}^0 = \mathcal{B}_{\alpha(\varepsilon),\varepsilon} d_{n+1}^0 + \left[\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon} d_{n+1}^1 - \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon} d_{n+1}^1 \right] + \varepsilon^{-1} \mathcal{F}_n^0, \\ d_{n+1}^0(0) = 0, \end{cases}$$
(5.5)

and

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t d_{n+1}^1 &= \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon} d_{n+1}^1 + \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} d_{n+1}^0 + \varepsilon^{-1} \mathcal{F}_n^1, \\ d_{n+1}^1(0) &= 0. \end{cases}$$
(5.6)

The sources \mathcal{F}_n^i , for $i \in \{0, 1\}$, correspond to the bilinear terms and depend only on the previous iterations $\{h_n^i, h_{n-1}^i\}$, for $i \in \{0, 1\}$ and $n \ge 2$ (see (5.9) and (5.11) for the precise expression). We introduce

$$\begin{cases} \Psi_n^1(t) = \|h_n^0(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_2} + \|h_{n-1}^0(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_2} \\ \Psi_n^\infty(t) = \|h_n^0(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} + \|h_{n-1}^0(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} + \|h_n^1(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}} + \|h_{n-1}^1(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \end{cases}$$

which satisfy

$$\sup_{t \ge 0} \left(\Psi_n^{\infty}(t) + \varepsilon^{-2} \int_0^t e^{-\nu(t-\tau)} \Psi_n^1(\tau) \mathrm{d}\tau \right) \leqslant C \sqrt{\mathcal{K}_0} \,, \qquad n \ge 2 \,, \tag{5.7}$$

for $h_n^0, h_{n-1}^0 \in \mathcal{X}_0$, and $h_n^1, h_{n-1}^1 \in \mathcal{X}_1$. Consequently, the following estimate for d_{n+1}^0 follows under suitable modifications of the arguments leading to Proposition 4.1 (keep in mind that $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{E}_2} \lesssim \|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{H}}$).

Lemma 5.1. Let $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon^{\dagger})$ and $\mathcal{K}_0 \leq \mathcal{K}_0^{\dagger}$. Then, we have that

$$\begin{aligned} \|d_{n+1}^{0}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} &\lesssim \lambda_{\varepsilon} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}(t-s)} \|d_{n+1}^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \,\mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \varepsilon^{-1} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}(t-s)} \Psi_{n}^{1}(s) \Big(\|d_{n}^{0}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}} + \|d_{n}^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \Big) \,\mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}(t-s)} \Psi_{n}^{\infty}(s) \Big(\varepsilon^{-1} \|d_{n}^{0}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{1}} + \varepsilon \lambda_{\varepsilon} \|d_{n}^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \Big) \,\mathrm{d}s \,. \end{aligned}$$
(5.8)

Proof. Here again, as in the proof of Proposition 4.1, we denote by $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{E}_1}$ and $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{E}}$ the norms on \mathcal{E}_1 and \mathcal{E} that are equivalent to the standard ones (with multiplicative constants independent of ε) and that make $\varepsilon^{-2}\nu_0 + \mathcal{B}_{\alpha(\varepsilon),\varepsilon}$ dissipative so that

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|d^0_{n+1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} &\leqslant -\frac{\nu_0}{\varepsilon^2} \|d^0_{n+1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_1} + \varepsilon^{-1} \|\mathcal{F}^0_n(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} + \left\|\mathcal{G}_{\varepsilon}d^1_{n+1}(t) - \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}d^1_{n+1}(t)\right\|_{\mathcal{E}} \\ &\leqslant -\frac{\nu_0}{\varepsilon^2} \|d^0_{n+1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_1} + \varepsilon^{-1} \|\mathcal{F}^0_n(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} + C\lambda_{\varepsilon} \|d^1_{n+1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}. \end{aligned}$$

We need to estimate $\|\mathcal{F}_n^0(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}}$. One has,

$$\mathcal{F}_{n}^{0} = \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(d_{n}^{0}, h_{n}^{0}) + \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h_{n-1}^{0}, d_{n}^{0}) + 2\widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(d_{n}^{0}, h_{n}^{1}) + 2\widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h_{n-1}^{0}, d_{n}^{1}) \\ + \left(\mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(d_{n}^{1}, h_{n}^{1}) - \mathcal{Q}_{1}(d_{n}^{1}, h_{n}^{1})\right) + \left(\mathcal{Q}_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(h_{n-1}^{1}, d_{n}^{1}) - \mathcal{Q}_{1}(h_{n-1}^{1}, d_{n}^{1})\right).$$
(5.9)

Therefore, since $1 - \alpha(\varepsilon) \lesssim \varepsilon^2 \lambda_{\varepsilon}$, using Lemma 2.1 and the usual estimates for \mathcal{Q}_{α} and \mathcal{Q}_1 :

$$\begin{split} \|\mathcal{F}_{n}^{0}\|_{\mathcal{E}} &\lesssim \|d_{n}^{0}\|_{\mathcal{E}_{1}} \left(\|h_{n}^{0}\|_{\mathcal{E}} + \|h_{n-1}^{0}\|_{\mathcal{E}}\right) + \|d_{n}^{0}\|_{\mathcal{E}} \left(\|h_{n}^{0}\|_{\mathcal{E}_{1}} + \|h_{n-1}^{0}\|_{\mathcal{E}_{1}}\right) \\ &+ \|d_{n}^{0}\|_{\mathcal{E}}\|h_{n}^{1}\|_{\mathcal{E}_{1}} + \|d_{n}^{0}\|_{\mathcal{E}_{1}}\|h_{n}^{1}\|_{\mathcal{E}} + \|d_{n}^{1}\|_{\mathcal{E}_{1}}\|h_{n-1}^{0}\|_{\mathcal{E}} \\ &+ \|d_{n}^{1}\|_{\mathcal{E}}\|h_{n-1}^{0}\|_{\mathcal{E}_{1}} + \varepsilon^{2}\lambda_{\varepsilon}\|d_{n}^{1}\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}} \left(\|h_{n}^{1}\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}} + \|h_{n-1}^{1}\|_{\mathcal{E}_{2}}\right). \end{split}$$

Using that $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{E}_2} \lesssim \|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{H}}$ we get

$$\|\mathcal{F}_n^0(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} \lesssim \|d_n^0(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_1}\Psi_n^\infty(t) + \Psi_n^1(t)\left(\|d_n^0(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} + \|d_n^1(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}\right) + \varepsilon^2\lambda_{\varepsilon}\|d_n^1(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_2}\Psi_n^\infty(t).$$

This leads to the desired estimate since $\mu_0 < \nu_0$ (see the proof of Proposition 4.1).

Regarding the projection $\mathbf{P}_0 d_{n+1}^1(t)$, since the difference $h_{n+1} - h_n = d_{n+1}^0 + d_{n+1}^1$ has zero mass and momentum, one can follow the line of proof of Lemma 4.4 to deduce that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathbf{P}_{0}d_{n+1}^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{-1}} &\lesssim \left(1-\alpha(\varepsilon)\right) \|d_{n+1}^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} + \|d_{n+1}^{0}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} \\ &+ \varepsilon\lambda_{\varepsilon}\int_{0}^{t} e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}(t-s)}\Psi_{n}^{\infty}(s)\Big(\|d_{n}^{0}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}} + \|d_{n}^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}}\Big) \mathrm{d}s \,. \end{aligned}$$

Consequently, plugging (5.8) in the second term in the right side and recalling that

$$\|\mathbf{P}_{0}d_{n+1}^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \lesssim \|\mathbf{P}_{0}d_{n+1}^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{-1}} \lesssim \|\mathbf{P}_{0}d_{n+1}^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}$$

we obtain the following lemma.

Lemma 5.2. For any $t \ge 0$, we have that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathbf{P}_{0}d_{n+1}^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}} &\lesssim \lambda_{\varepsilon}\varepsilon^{2} \|d_{n+1}^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}} + \lambda_{\varepsilon} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}(t-s)} \|d_{n+1}^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \,\mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \varepsilon^{-1} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}(t-s)} \Psi_{n}^{1}(s) \Big(\|d_{n}^{0}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}} + \|d_{n}^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \Big) \,\mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}(t-s)} \Psi_{n}^{\infty}(s) \Big(\varepsilon^{-1} \|d_{n}^{0}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{1}} + \varepsilon\lambda_{\varepsilon} \|d_{n}^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \Big) \,\mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \varepsilon\lambda_{\varepsilon} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\lambda_{\varepsilon}(t-s)} \Psi_{n}^{\infty}(s) \Big(\|d_{n}^{0}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}} + \|d_{n}^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \Big) \,\mathrm{d}s \,. \end{aligned}$$

Let us focus on estimating $\mathbf{P}_0^{\perp} d_{n+1}^1(t)$. To do so, we introduce the functions Φ_n^1 and Φ_n^{∞} defined by

$$\Phi_n^1(t) = \|h_n^1(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}_1}^2 + \|h_{n+1}^1(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}_1}^2 \quad \text{and} \quad \Phi_n^\infty = \|h_n^1(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 + \|h_{n+1}^1(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2$$

which satisfy

$$\sup_{t \ge 0} \left(\Phi_n^{\infty}(t) + \int_0^t e^{-\nu(t-\tau)} \Phi_n^1(\tau) \mathrm{d}\tau \right) \le C\mathcal{K}_0, \quad n \ge 2.$$
(5.10)

One has the following lemma.

Lemma 5.3. Let $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon^{\dagger})$ and $\mathcal{K}_0 \leq \mathcal{K}_0^{\dagger}$. Then,

$$\begin{split} \|\mathbf{P}_{0}^{\perp}d_{n+1}^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} &\lesssim \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)}\Phi_{n}^{1}(s)\|d_{n}^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2}\mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)}\Phi_{n}^{\infty}(s)\|d_{n}^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}_{1}}^{2}\mathrm{d}s + \frac{\lambda_{\varepsilon}}{\mu_{0}}\int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)}\|d_{n+1}^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2}\mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \frac{1}{\mu_{0}\varepsilon}\left(\sup_{t\geq 0}\|d_{n+1}^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}\right)\int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-\tau)}\Psi_{n}^{1}(\tau)\left(\|d_{n}^{0}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}} + \|d_{n}^{1}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{H}}\right)\mathrm{d}\tau \\ &+ \frac{1}{\mu_{0}}\left(\sup_{t\geq 0}\|d_{n+1}^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}\right)\int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-\tau)}\Psi_{n}^{\infty}(\tau)\left(\varepsilon^{-1}\|d_{n}^{0}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}} + \varepsilon\,\lambda_{\varepsilon}\|d_{n}^{1}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{H}}\right)\mathrm{d}\tau. \end{split}$$

Proof. One deduces from (5.6) that $\mathbf{P}_0^\perp d_{n+1}^1(t)$ is such that

$$\partial_t \mathbf{P}_0^{\perp} d_{n+1}^1(t) = \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon} \mathbf{P}_0^{\perp} d_{n+1}^1(t) + \mathbf{P}_0^{\perp} \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} d_{n+1}^0(t) + \mathcal{F}_n^1$$

where

$$\mathcal{F}_{n}^{1} = \mathcal{Q}_{1}(h_{n}^{1}, h_{n}^{1}) - \mathcal{Q}_{1}(h_{n-1}^{1}, h_{n-1}^{1}) = \mathcal{Q}_{1}(d_{n}^{1}, h_{n}^{1}) + \mathcal{Q}_{1}(h_{n-1}^{1}, d_{n}^{1}).$$
(5.11)

Following the argument leading to inequality (4.18) (see also [15, Lemma 4.6, Theorem 4.7]) one deduces that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathbf{P}_{0}^{\perp}d_{n+1}^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \lesssim \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)}\Phi_{n}^{1}(s)\|d_{n}^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2}\mathrm{d}s + \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)}\Phi_{n}^{\infty}(s)\|d_{n}^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2}\mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)}\|d_{n+1}^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}\|\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}d_{n+1}^{0}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}\mathrm{d}s. \end{aligned}$$
(5.12)

The latter term in the right side of (5.12) can be estimated using (5.8) and recalling that $\|\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}d_{n+1}^0\|_{\mathcal{H}} \lesssim \varepsilon^{-2} \|d_{n+1}^0\|_{\mathcal{E}}$. Thus,

$$\int_0^t e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|d_{n+1}^1(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \|\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} d_{n+1}^0(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \mathrm{d} s \lesssim \sum_{i=1}^3 \mathcal{T}_i,$$

with

$$\mathcal{T}_{1} = \frac{\lambda_{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon^{2}} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|d_{n+1}^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \left(\int_{0}^{s} e^{-\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}(s-\tau)} \|d_{n+1}^{1}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \,\mathrm{d}\tau \right) \mathrm{d}s,$$

$$\mathcal{T}_{2} = \varepsilon^{-3} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|d_{n+1}^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \left[\int_{0}^{s} e^{-\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}(s-\tau)} \Psi_{n}^{1}(\tau) \Big(\|d_{n}^{0}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}} + \|d_{n}^{1}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \Big) \mathrm{d}\tau \right] \mathrm{d}s$$

$$\mathcal{T}_{3} = \varepsilon^{-2} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|d_{n+1}^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \left[\int_{0}^{s} e^{-\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}(s-\tau)} \Psi_{n}^{\infty}(\tau) \Big(\varepsilon^{-1} \|d_{n}^{0}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{1}} + \varepsilon \lambda_{\varepsilon} \|d_{n}^{1}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \Big) \mathrm{d}\tau \right] \mathrm{d}s$$

It is easy to check, using (4.15), that

$$\mathcal{T}_{2} \leqslant \frac{2}{\mu_{0}\varepsilon} \left(\sup_{t \ge 0} \|d_{n+1}^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \right) \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-\tau)} \Psi_{n}^{1}(\tau) \left(\|d_{n}^{0}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}} + \|d_{n}^{1}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \right) \mathrm{d}\tau$$

and

$$\mathcal{T}_{3} \leqslant \frac{2}{\mu_{0}} \left(\sup_{t \ge 0} \|d_{n+1}^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \right) \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-\tau)} \Psi_{n}^{\infty}(\tau) \left(\varepsilon^{-1} \|d_{n}^{0}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{1}} + \varepsilon \lambda_{\varepsilon} \|d_{n}^{1}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \right) \mathrm{d}\tau.$$

The estimate for \mathcal{T}_1 is a bit more involved. Thanks to Cauchy-Schwarz inequality one first has

$$\mathcal{T}_1 \leqslant \frac{\lambda_{\varepsilon}}{\varepsilon^2} \left(\int_0^t e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|d_{n+1}^1(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \mathrm{d}s \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left(\int_0^t e^{-\nu(t-s)} Y^2(s) \mathrm{d}s \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

where

$$Y(s) := \int_0^s e^{-\frac{\mu_0}{\varepsilon^2}(s-\tau)} \|d_{n+1}^1(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{H}} d\tau, \qquad s \in (0,t).$$

Thanks to (4.10),

$$Y^{2}(s) \leqslant \frac{\varepsilon^{2}}{\mu_{0}} \int_{0}^{s} e^{-\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}(s-\tau)} \|d_{n+1}^{1}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \mathrm{d}\tau$$

and, using now (4.15) for $\mu_0 > 2\varepsilon^2 \nu$,

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)} Y^{2}(s) \mathrm{d}s &\leqslant \frac{\varepsilon^{2}}{\mu_{0}} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)} \mathrm{d}s \int_{0}^{s} e^{-\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}(s-\tau)} \|d_{n+1}^{1}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \mathrm{d}\tau \\ &\leqslant \frac{\varepsilon^{2}}{\mu_{0}\left(\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}-\nu\right)} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|d_{n+1}^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \mathrm{d}s \leqslant \frac{2\varepsilon^{4}}{\mu_{0}^{2}} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|d_{n+1}^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \mathrm{d}s. \end{split}$$

We deduce finally that

$$\mathcal{T}_1 \leqslant \frac{\sqrt{2}\lambda_{\varepsilon}}{\mu_0} \int_0^t e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|d_{n+1}^1(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \mathrm{d}s$$

and this, together with the estimates for \mathcal{T}_2 and \mathcal{T}_3 , gives the result.

Introducing now the quantities

$$\begin{split} & \boldsymbol{\Xi}_{n}^{0} = \sup_{t \ge 0} \left(\|d_{n}^{0}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} + \varepsilon^{-2} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-\tau)} \|d_{n}^{0}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{1}} \mathrm{d}\tau \right), \\ & \boldsymbol{\Xi}_{n}^{1} = \sup_{t \ge 0} \left(\|d_{n}^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} + \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-\tau)} \|d_{n}^{1}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{H}_{1}}^{2} \mathrm{d}\tau \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}, \qquad n \ge 2, \end{split}$$

we can gather the three previous lemmas and use (5.7) to obtain the following result. **Proposition 5.4.** For any $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and $t \ge 0$

$$\|d_{n+1}^0(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} \lesssim \frac{\varepsilon^2 \lambda_{\varepsilon}}{\mu_0} \,\mathbf{\Xi}_{n+1}^1 + \sqrt{\mathcal{K}_0} \,\varepsilon \left(\mathbf{\Xi}_n^0 + \mathbf{\Xi}_n^1(1+\mu_0^{-1})\right). \tag{5.13}$$

while

$$\|\mathbf{P}_0 d_{n+1}^1(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \lesssim \varepsilon^2 \lambda_{\varepsilon} \left(1 + \mu_0^{-1}\right) \mathbf{\Xi}_{n+1}^1 + \sqrt{\mathcal{K}_0} \varepsilon \left(\mathbf{\Xi}_n^0 + \mathbf{\Xi}_n^1 (1 + \mu_0^{-1})\right), \tag{5.14}$$

and

$$\|\mathbf{P}_{0}^{\perp}d_{n+1}^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \lesssim \sqrt{\frac{\lambda_{\varepsilon}}{\nu\mu_{0}} + \varepsilon} \,\mathbf{\Xi}_{n+1}^{1} + \frac{1}{\mu_{0}}\sqrt{\varepsilon\mathcal{K}_{0}}\,\mathbf{\Xi}_{n}^{0} + \left(\frac{\sqrt{(1+\nu^{-1})\varepsilon}}{\mu_{0}} + 1\right)\sqrt{(1+\nu^{-1})\mathcal{K}_{0}}\,\mathbf{\Xi}_{n}^{1}.$$
(5.15)

In particular,

$$\|d_{n+1}^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \lesssim \left((1+\mu_{0}^{-1})\sqrt{\varepsilon} + \sqrt{\frac{\lambda_{\varepsilon}}{\nu\mu_{0}}}\right) \Xi_{n+1}^{1} + (1+\mu_{0}^{-1})\sqrt{\varepsilon}\mathcal{K}_{0} \Xi_{n}^{0} + \sqrt{1+\nu^{-1}}\left(\sqrt{1+\nu^{-1}}(1+\mu_{0}^{-1})\sqrt{\varepsilon} + 1\right)\sqrt{\mathcal{K}_{0}} \Xi_{n}^{1},$$
(5.16)

as long as $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon^{\dagger})$, $\mathcal{K}_0 \leqslant \mathcal{K}_0^{\dagger}$.

Proof. We give a detailed proof of inequality (5.15). Notice directly from Lemma 5.3 that

$$\begin{split} \|\mathbf{P}_{0}^{\perp}d_{n+1}^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \lesssim \frac{\lambda_{\varepsilon}}{\mu_{0}} \left[\mathbf{\Xi}_{n+1}^{1}\right]^{2} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)} \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \left[\mathbf{\Xi}_{n}^{1}\right]^{2} \left(\int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)} \Phi_{n}^{1}(s) \mathrm{d}s + \sup_{t \ge 0} \Phi_{n}^{\infty}(t) \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)} \mathrm{d}s\right) \\ &+ \frac{1}{\mu_{0}\varepsilon} \mathbf{\Xi}_{n+1}^{1} \left(\mathbf{\Xi}_{n}^{0} + \mathbf{\Xi}_{n}^{1}\right) \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-\tau)} \Psi_{n}^{1}(\tau) \mathrm{d}\tau \\ &+ \frac{1}{\mu_{0}} \mathbf{\Xi}_{n+1}^{1} (\sup_{t \ge 0} \Psi_{n}^{\infty}(t)) \left(\varepsilon \, \mathbf{\Xi}_{n}^{0} + \nu^{-1} \varepsilon \lambda_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{\Xi}_{n}^{1}\right) \end{split}$$

since $\int_0^t e^{-\nu(t-s)} ds \leqslant \nu^{-1}$. We can thus invoke (5.7) and (5.10) to deduce that

$$\|\mathbf{P}_{0}^{\perp}d_{n+1}^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \lesssim (1+\nu^{-1})\mathcal{K}_{0}\left[\mathbf{\Xi}_{n}^{1}\right]^{2} + \frac{\lambda_{\varepsilon}}{\nu\mu_{0}}\left[\mathbf{\Xi}_{n+1}^{1}\right]^{2} + \frac{\varepsilon}{\mu_{0}}\sqrt{\mathcal{K}_{0}}\left(\mathbf{\Xi}_{n}^{0} + \mathbf{\Xi}_{n}^{1}\left(1+\nu^{-1}\right)\right)\right)\mathbf{\Xi}_{n+1}^{1}$$

where we used that $\varepsilon\lambda_\varepsilon<\varepsilon.$ From Young's inequality, we deduce that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathbf{P}_{0}^{\perp}d_{n+1}^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \lesssim \left(\frac{\lambda_{\varepsilon}}{\nu\mu_{0}} + \varepsilon\right) \left[\mathbf{\Xi}_{n+1}^{1}\right]^{2} \\ + (1+\nu^{-1})\mathcal{K}_{0}\left(1+\frac{\varepsilon}{\mu_{0}^{2}}(1+\nu^{-1})\right) \left[\mathbf{\Xi}_{n}^{1}\right]^{2} + \frac{\varepsilon}{\mu_{0}^{2}}\mathcal{K}_{0}\left[\mathbf{\Xi}_{n}^{0}\right]^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

This proves (5.15). The other inequalities are easier to prove along the same lines, with (5.13) easily deduced from Lemma 5.1 and (5.14) deduced from Lemma 5.2 together with (5.7). The proof of (5.16) comes from the fact that $||d_{n+1}^1(t)||_{\mathcal{H}}^2 = ||\mathbf{P}_0 d_{n+1}^1(t)||_{\mathcal{H}}^2 + ||\mathbf{P}_0^{\perp} d_{n+1}^1(t)||_{\mathcal{H}}^2$.

Proposition 5.5. For any $t \ge 0$, we have that

$$\left(\frac{\mu_0}{\varepsilon^2} - \nu\right) \int_0^t e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|d_{n+1}^0(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_1} \mathrm{d}s \lesssim \nu^{-1} \lambda_\varepsilon \, \mathbf{\Xi}_{n+1}^1 + \varepsilon \, \sqrt{\mathcal{K}_0} \left(\mathbf{\Xi}_n^0 + (1+\nu^{-1})\mathbf{\Xi}_n^1\right) \tag{5.17}$$

FLUID DYNAMIC LIMIT OF BOLTZMANN EQUATION FOR GRANULAR HARD-SPHERES

$$\left(\int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-\tau)} \|\mathbf{P}_{0}d_{n+1}^{1}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{H}_{1}}^{2} \mathrm{d}\tau\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \lesssim \nu^{-1/2} (1+\mu_{0}^{-1})\varepsilon^{2}\lambda_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{\Xi}_{n+1}^{1} + \nu^{-1/2}\sqrt{\mathcal{K}_{0}}\varepsilon \left(\mathbf{\Xi}_{n}^{0}+\mathbf{\Xi}_{n}^{1}(1+\mu_{0}^{-1})\right).$$
(5.18)

whereas

$$\Delta_0^2 \left(\int_0^t e^{-\nu(t-\tau)} \|\mathbf{P}_0^{\perp} d_{n+1}^1(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{H}_1}^2 \mathrm{d}\tau \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \lesssim \sqrt{\frac{\lambda_{\varepsilon}}{\nu\mu_0} + \varepsilon} \, \mathbf{\Xi}_{n+1}^1 + \frac{1}{\mu_0} \sqrt{\varepsilon \mathcal{K}_0} \, \mathbf{\Xi}_n^0 + \left(\frac{\sqrt{(1+\nu^{-1})\varepsilon}}{\mu_0} + 1\right) \sqrt{(1+\nu^{-1})\mathcal{K}_0} \, \mathbf{\Xi}_n^1 \,.$$
(5.19)

In particular

$$\Delta_{0}^{2} \left(\int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-\tau)} \|d_{n+1}^{1}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{H}_{1}}^{2} \mathrm{d}\tau \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \lesssim \left((1+\nu^{-1/2})(1+\mu_{0}^{-1})\sqrt{\varepsilon} + \sqrt{\frac{\lambda_{\varepsilon}}{\nu\mu_{0}}} \right) \Xi_{n+1}^{1} + (\nu^{-1/2}+\mu_{0}^{-1})\sqrt{\varepsilon\mathcal{K}_{0}} \Xi_{n}^{0} + \sqrt{1+\nu^{-1}} \left(\sqrt{1+\nu^{-1}}(1+\mu_{0}^{-1})\sqrt{\varepsilon} + 1+\mu_{0}^{-1} \right) \sqrt{\mathcal{K}_{0}} \Xi_{n}^{1} .$$
(5.20)

Proof. To prove (5.17), we follow the argument that led to Lemma 5.1 and thus in the subsequent proof, we again denote by $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{E}_1}$ and $\|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{E}}$ the norms on \mathcal{E}_1 and \mathcal{E} that are equivalent to the standard ones independently of ε and that make $\varepsilon^{-2}\nu_0 + \mathcal{B}_{\alpha(\varepsilon),\varepsilon}$ dissipative so that we can write

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|d_{n+1}^0(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} \leqslant -\frac{\nu_0}{\varepsilon^2} \|d_{n+1}^0(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_1} + \varepsilon^{-1} \|\mathcal{F}_n^0(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} + C\lambda_{\varepsilon} \|d_{n+1}^1(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}},$$

which implies that,

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \|d^0_{n+1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} + \nu \|d^0_{n+1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_1} &\leq -\left(\frac{\mu_0}{\varepsilon^2} - \nu\right) \|d^0_{n+1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_1} \\ &+ \varepsilon^{-1} \|\mathcal{F}^0_n(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} + C\lambda_{\varepsilon} \|d^1_{n+1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \end{aligned}$$

where we used that $\mu_0 < \nu_0$. After integration over [0, t], using that $d_{n+1}^0(0) = 0$, we get that

$$\begin{split} \|d_{n+1}^{0}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} &\leq -\left(\frac{\mu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}} - \nu\right) \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|d_{n+1}^{0}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{1}} \mathrm{d}s + \varepsilon^{-1} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|\mathcal{F}_{n}^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}} \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ C\lambda_{\varepsilon} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|d_{n+1}^{1}(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \mathrm{d}s \,, \end{split}$$

and, recalling that \mathcal{F}_n^0 is given by (5.9), we estimate $\|\mathcal{F}_n^0(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}}$ as in Lemma 5.1 to obtain that

$$\begin{aligned} \left(\frac{\mu_0}{\varepsilon^2} - \nu\right) \int_0^t e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|d_{n+1}^0(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_1} \mathrm{d}s &\lesssim \lambda_{\varepsilon} \int_0^t e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|d_{n+1}^1(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \varepsilon^{-1} \int_0^t e^{-\nu(t-s)} \Psi_n^1(s) \Big(\|d_n^0(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}} + \|d_n^1(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \Big) \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \int_0^t e^{-\nu(t-s)} \Psi_n^\infty(s) \Big(\varepsilon^{-1} \|d_n^0(s)\|_{\mathcal{E}_1} + \varepsilon \lambda_{\varepsilon} \|d_n^1(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \Big) \mathrm{d}s. \end{aligned}$$

This yields (5.17). In the same way, we adapt the proof of Lemma 5.3 to get that

$$\left(\frac{2\mu}{\sigma_0^2} - \nu\right) \int_0^t e^{-\nu(t-\tau)} \|\mathbf{P}_0^{\perp} d_{n+1}^1(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{H}_1}^2 \mathrm{d}\tau \lesssim \int_0^t e^{-\nu(t-s)} \Phi_n^1(s) \|d_n^1(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \mathrm{d}s \\ + \int_0^t e^{-\nu(t-s)} \Phi_n^{\infty}(s) \|d_n^1(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}_1}^2 \mathrm{d}s + \int_0^t e^{-\nu(t-s)} \|d_{n+1}^1(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \|\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} d_{n+1}^0(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \mathrm{d}s$$

where $2\mu/\sigma_0^2 - \nu = c_0\Delta_0^2$ (see (4.16)). This estimate is similar to (5.12) and therefore we can resume both the proofs of Lemma 5.3 and Proposition 5.4 to conclude to (5.19). Recalling that $\|\mathbf{P}_0 d_{n+1}^1\|_{\mathcal{H}_1} \lesssim \|\mathbf{P}_0 d_{n+1}^1\|_{\mathcal{H}}$, a simple integration of (5.14) gives (5.18). \Box

5.3. **Convergence of the iteration scheme.** In this Subsection, we do not mention anymore the dependences of positive multiplicative constants in terms of μ_0 , ν and Δ_0 so that they may depend on these parameters. We are in position to conclude our analysis and prove the convergence of the iteration scheme. Suitably adding (5.13) and (5.17) and taking the supremum in time, one has that

$$\mathbf{\Xi}_{n+1}^0 \lesssim \lambda_{\varepsilon} \, \mathbf{\Xi}_{n+1}^1 + \varepsilon \, \sqrt{\mathcal{K}_0} \left(\mathbf{\Xi}_n^0 + \mathbf{\Xi}_n^1 \right) \tag{5.21}$$

where we used that $\mu_0 \ge 2\varepsilon^2 \nu$. Similarly, adding (5.16) and (5.20) and taking the supremum in time it holds that

$$\Xi_{n+1}^{1} \lesssim \sqrt{\lambda_{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon} \,\Xi_{n+1}^{1} + \sqrt{\varepsilon \mathcal{K}_{0}} \,\Xi_{n}^{0} + \sqrt{\mathcal{K}_{0}} \,\Xi_{n}^{1} \,.$$
(5.22)

Let us define $\mathscr{E}_n = \Xi_n^0 + \Xi_n^1$, for $n \ge 2$. Adding the estimates (5.21) and (5.22), we conclude that there exists C > 0 such that $\mathscr{E}_{n+1} \le C(\lambda_{\varepsilon} + \sqrt{\lambda_{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon}) \mathscr{E}_{n+1} + C\sqrt{\mathcal{K}_0} \mathscr{E}_n$. Thus, choosing ε sufficiently small such that $C(\lambda_{\varepsilon} + \sqrt{\lambda_{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon}) < \frac{1}{2}$, we get that $\mathscr{E}_{n+1} \le C\sqrt{\mathcal{K}_0} \mathscr{E}_n$ from which

$$\mathscr{E}_{n+1} \leqslant \left(C\sqrt{\mathcal{K}_0}\right)^{n-1} \mathscr{E}_2, \qquad \forall n \ge 2.$$

Whence, in the Banach space $(\mathbb{B}, || \cdot ||)$, one has for $m > n \ge 1$,

$$\left\| \left\| (h_m^0, h_m^1) - (h_n^0, h_n^1) \right\| \right\| \leq \sum_{i=n}^{m-1} \mathscr{E}_{i+1} \leq \mathscr{E}_2 \frac{\theta^{n-1}}{1-\theta}, \qquad \theta := C\sqrt{\mathcal{K}_0}.$$

Therefore, choosing $\mathcal{K}_0 \leq \mathcal{K}_0^{\dagger} < C^{-2}$ so that $\theta < 1$, we conclude that the sequence $\{(h_n^0, h_n^1)\}_n \subset \mathcal{X}_0 \times \mathcal{X}_1 \subset \mathbb{B}$ is a Cauchy sequence. Hence, it converges in $(\mathbb{B}, ||\!| \cdot ||\!|)$ to a

limit $(h^0, h^1) \in \mathcal{X}_0 \times \mathcal{X}_1$. Of course, such limit satisfies equations (4.4) and (4.5). Thus, $h = h^0 + h^1$ is a solution to the inelastic Boltzmann problem (1.20). Such solution is unique in the class of functions that we consider since, at essence, we proved that the problem is a contraction on $\mathcal{X}_0 \times \mathcal{X}_1$. Let us write the conclusion as the main theorem of the section.

Theorem 5.6. Fix a nonnegative initial data $F_{in}^{\varepsilon} = G_{\alpha} + \varepsilon h_{in}^{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{E}$ and assume that the initial perturbation h_{in}^{ε} has zero total mass and momentum

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} h_{\mathrm{in}}^{\varepsilon}(t, x, v) \mathrm{d}v \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} h_{\mathrm{in}}^{\varepsilon}(t, x, v) \, v \, \mathrm{d}v \mathrm{d}x = 0 \, .$$

Then, there exist positive threshold values $(\varepsilon^{\dagger}, \lambda^{\dagger}, \mathcal{K}_{0}^{\dagger})$ fully determined by the initial mass and energy $E_{\rm in}$ (see Remark 1.1) such that if

$$\|h_{\mathrm{in}}^{\varepsilon}\|_{\mathcal{E}} \leqslant \sqrt{\mathcal{K}_0^{\dagger}},$$

and $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon^{\dagger})$, $\lambda_{\varepsilon} \in (0, \lambda^{\dagger})$, the inelastic Boltzmann equation (1.20) has a unique solution $h_{\varepsilon} \in \mathcal{C}([0, \infty); \mathcal{E})$ satisfying for t > 0

$$\|h_{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} \leqslant C \|h_{\mathrm{in}}^{\varepsilon}\|_{\mathcal{E}} \exp\left(-\lambda_{\varepsilon}t\right) \quad and \quad \int_{0}^{t} \|h_{\varepsilon}(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}_{1}} \mathrm{d}\tau \leqslant C \|h_{\mathrm{in}}^{\varepsilon}\|_{\mathcal{E}} \min\left\{1+t,1+\frac{1}{\lambda_{\varepsilon}}\right\}.$$

6. Hydrodynamic limit

In this last section, we will once again specify that h, h^0 and h^1 depend on ε by noting $h = h_{\varepsilon}$, $h^0 = h_{\varepsilon}^0$, $h^1 = h_{\varepsilon}^1$. On the other hand, to lighten notations, we will write α for $\alpha(\varepsilon)$ but recall that $\alpha = \alpha(\varepsilon)$ satisfies Assumption 1.2. Finally, we will consider m and q satisfying (4.2) as well as the spaces \mathcal{E} and \mathcal{E}_1 defined in (4.1)-(4.3).

6.1. **Compactness and convergence.** We start this section recalling the expression for the spectral projection π_0 onto the kernel Ker(\mathbf{L}_1) of the linearized collision operator \mathbf{L}_1 seen as an operator acting in velocity only on the space $L^2_v(\mathcal{M}^{-\frac{1}{2}})$. We recall that, with the notations of Theorem 2.10,

$$\pi_0(g) := \sum_{i=1}^{d+2} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} g \,\Psi_i \,\mathrm{d}v \right) \,\Psi_i \,\mathcal{M}\,,\tag{6.1}$$

where $\Psi_1(v) = 1$, $\Psi_i(v) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{\vartheta_1}}v_{i-1}$ (i = 2, ..., d+1) and $\Psi_{d+2}(v) = \frac{|v|^2 - d\vartheta_1}{\vartheta_1\sqrt{2d}}$. Note that the difference with respect to the spectral projection \mathbf{P}_0 for the operator $\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}$ in (2.22) is that no spatial integration is performed.

Consider now $h_{\varepsilon} = h_{\varepsilon}^0 + h_{\varepsilon}^1$ the solution constructed in Section 5. One can prove the following estimate for time-averages of $(\mathbf{Id} - \pi_0)h_{\varepsilon}(\tau)$ in spaces which do not involve derivatives in the *v*-variable:

Proposition 6.1. For any $0 \le \beta \le m - 1$ there exists C > 0 independent of ε such that

$$\int_{t_1}^{t_2} \| (\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_0) h_{\varepsilon}(\tau) \|_{\mathbb{W}_x^{\beta, 1} L^1_v(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q)} \mathrm{d}\tau \leqslant C \, \varepsilon \, \sqrt{\mathcal{K}_0} \, \sqrt{t_2 - t_1} \, \exp\left(\frac{\nu}{2} (t_2 - t_1)\right) \tag{6.2}$$

holds true for any $0 \leq t_1 \leq t_2$.

Proof. For a given $0 \leq \beta \leq m - 1$, we introduce the hierarchy of Hilbert spaces

$$\tilde{H}_s = \mathbb{W}_x^{\beta,2} L_v^2(\mathcal{M}^{-\frac{1}{2}} \langle v \rangle^{\frac{s}{2}}), \qquad s \in \mathbb{R},$$

setting simply $\tilde{H} := \tilde{H}_0$. Recall that $-\mathbf{L}_1$ is (better than) coercive on $(\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_0)\tilde{H}$ (see [14] for instance) and denote by $\tilde{\mu}_1$ the coercivity constant, namely

$$-\langle \mathbf{L}_1(\mathbf{Id}-\boldsymbol{\pi}_0)g, (\mathbf{Id}-\boldsymbol{\pi}_0)g \rangle_{\tilde{H}} \geqslant \tilde{\mu}_1 \| (\mathbf{Id}-\boldsymbol{\pi}_0)g \|_{\tilde{H}_1}^2, \qquad g \in \tilde{H}_1.$$

In the space \tilde{H} , we can compute the inner product between $\partial_t h_{\varepsilon}^1$ and $(\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_0)h_{\varepsilon}^1$ where we recall that h_{ε}^1 solves

$$\partial_t h_{\varepsilon}^1 = \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon} h_{\varepsilon}^1 + \varepsilon^{-1} \mathcal{Q}_1(h_{\varepsilon}^1, h_{\varepsilon}^1) + \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} h_{\varepsilon}^0 \,.$$

We obtain, thanks to Cauchy-Schwarz inequality, that

$$\begin{split} \frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left\| (\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_0) h_{\varepsilon}^1 \right\|_{\tilde{H}}^2 + \frac{\mu_1}{\varepsilon^2} \| (\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_0) h_{\varepsilon}^1 \|_{\tilde{H}_1}^2 \\ &\leqslant \langle \varepsilon^{-1} \left(\mathcal{Q}_1(h_{\varepsilon}^1, h_{\varepsilon}^1) - (\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_0) (v \cdot \nabla_x h_{\varepsilon}^1) \right) + (\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_0) (\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} h_{\varepsilon}^0), (\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_0) h_{\varepsilon}^1 \rangle_{\tilde{H}} \\ &\leqslant \varepsilon^{-1} \Big(\| \mathcal{Q}_1(h_{\varepsilon}^1, h_{\varepsilon}^1) \|_{\tilde{H}_{-1}} + \| v \cdot \nabla_x h_{\varepsilon}^1 \|_{\tilde{H}_{-1}} \Big) \| (\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_0) h_{\varepsilon}^1 \|_{\tilde{H}_1} \\ &+ \| \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} h_{\varepsilon}^0 \|_{\tilde{H}} \| (\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_0) h_{\varepsilon}^1 \|_{\tilde{H}} \,. \end{split}$$

We deduce easily then with a simple use of Young's inequality on the right-hand-side of this inequality that there is C > 0 independent of ε such that

$$\frac{1}{2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left\| (\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_0) h_{\varepsilon}^1 \right\|_{\tilde{H}}^2 + \frac{\tilde{\mu}_1}{2\varepsilon^2} \| (\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_0) h_{\varepsilon}^1 \|_{\tilde{H}_1}^2 \\ \leqslant C \left(\| \mathcal{Q}_1(h_{\varepsilon}^1, h_{\varepsilon}^1) \|_{\tilde{H}_{-1}}^2 + \| v \cdot \nabla_x h_{\varepsilon}^1 \|_{\tilde{H}_{-1}}^2 + \varepsilon^2 \| \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} h_{\varepsilon}^0 \|_{\tilde{H}}^2 \right).$$

Thus, for some different C > 0, one has

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} \left\| (\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_0) h_{\varepsilon}^1(t) \right\|_{\tilde{H}}^2 + \frac{\tilde{\mu}_1}{\varepsilon^2} \| (\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_0) h_{\varepsilon}^1(t) \|_{\tilde{H}_1}^2 \\ \leqslant C \left(\| h_{\varepsilon}^1(t) \|_{\mathcal{H}}^4 + \| h_{\varepsilon}^1(t) \|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 + \| h_{\varepsilon}^0(t) \|_{\mathcal{E}}^2 \right) \leqslant C \mathcal{K}_0$$

where the last estimate comes from the results obtained in Sections 4 and 5, $\mathcal{K}_0 \lesssim 1$ and $\|\cdot\|_{\tilde{H}} \lesssim \|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{H}}$. We integrate this inequality over (t_1, t_2) to get

$$\frac{\tilde{\mu}_{1}}{\varepsilon^{2}} \int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} \| (\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_{0}) h_{\varepsilon}^{1}(t) \|_{\tilde{H}_{1}}^{2} dt \leq \| (\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_{0}) h_{\varepsilon}^{1}(t_{1}) \|_{\tilde{H}}^{2} + C\mathcal{K}_{0}(t_{2} - t_{1}) \\ \leq C\mathcal{K}_{0} \max(1, t_{2} - t_{1}),$$
(6.3)

where we used (4.25). Introduce now the space $\tilde{E} = \mathbb{W}_x^{\beta,1} L_v^1(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q)$. Noticing that

$$\|\cdot\|_{\tilde{E}} \lesssim \|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{E}}$$
 and $\|\cdot\|_{\tilde{E}} \lesssim \|\cdot\|_{\tilde{H}}$

and writing that $h_{\varepsilon}(\tau) = h_{\varepsilon}^{1}(\tau) + h_{\varepsilon}^{0}(\tau)$, one has

$$\int_{t_1}^{t_2} \|(\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_0)h_{\varepsilon}(\tau)\|_{\tilde{E}} \,\mathrm{d}\tau \leqslant \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \left(\|(\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_0)h_{\varepsilon}^1(\tau)\|_{\tilde{E}} + \|(\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_0)h_{\varepsilon}^0(\tau)\|_{\tilde{E}}\right) \mathrm{d}\tau.$$
 (6.4)

Using Cauchy-Schwarz inequality

$$\int_{t_1}^{t_2} \| (\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_0) h_{\varepsilon}(\tau) \|_{\tilde{E}} d\tau \\
\lesssim \sqrt{t_2 - t_1} \left(\left(\int_{t_1}^{t_2} \| (\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_0) h_{\varepsilon}^1(\tau) \|_{\tilde{H}}^2 d\tau \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} + \left(\int_{t_1}^{t_2} \| h_{\varepsilon}^0(\tau) \|_{\mathcal{E}}^2 d\tau \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right).$$

From (6.3), the first integral involving h^1_ε is such that

$$\left(\int_{t_1}^{t_2} \|(\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_0) h_{\varepsilon}^1(\tau)\|_{\tilde{H}}^2 \,\mathrm{d}\tau\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \leqslant C\varepsilon\sqrt{\mathcal{K}_0} \max\left\{1, \sqrt{t_2 - t_1}\right\}$$

whereas, to estimate the integral involving h^0_ε we use that $h^0_\varepsilon \in \mathcal{X}_0$ as defined in Section 5 to get

$$\int_{t_1}^{t_2} \|h_{\varepsilon}^0(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}}^2 \,\mathrm{d}\tau \leq \sup_{t_1 \leq \tau \leq t_2} \|h_{\varepsilon}^0(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}} \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \|h_{\varepsilon}^0(\tau)\|_{\mathcal{E}_1} \,\mathrm{d}\tau$$
$$\leq e^{\nu(t_2 - t_1)} \varepsilon^2 \|\|h_{\varepsilon}^0\|\|_0^2 \leq C\varepsilon^2 e^{\nu(t_2 - t_1)} \mathcal{K}_0.$$

This proves the result.

Remark 6.2. Notice that, if we are not interested in introducing a modulus of continuity in time for the above integral, we can directly deduce from (6.3) and (6.4) that

$$\begin{split} \int_{0}^{T} \| (\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_{0}) h_{\varepsilon}(t) \|_{\mathbb{W}_{x}^{\beta,1} L_{v}^{1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q+1})} \, \mathrm{d}t \\ \lesssim \int_{0}^{T} \| (\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_{0}) h_{\varepsilon}^{0}(t) \|_{\mathcal{E}_{1}} \, \mathrm{d}t + \int_{0}^{T} \| (\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_{0}) h_{\varepsilon}^{1}(t) \|_{\tilde{H}_{1}} \, \mathrm{d}t \\ \lesssim \varepsilon \| \| h_{\varepsilon}^{0} \| \|_{0} + \sqrt{T} \left(\int_{0}^{T} \| (\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_{0}) h_{\varepsilon}^{1}(t) \|_{\tilde{H}_{1}}^{2} \, \mathrm{d}t \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \end{split}$$

which results in

$$\int_{0}^{T} \left\| \left(\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_{0} \right) h_{\varepsilon}(t) \right\|_{\mathbb{W}_{x}^{\beta,1} L_{v}^{1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q+1})} \, \mathrm{d}t \lesssim \varepsilon$$
(6.5)

for any $0 \leq \beta \leq m - 1$.

We deduce the following convergence result:

Theorem 6.3 (Weak convergence). *Fix* T > 0, *and let*

$${h_{\varepsilon}}_{\varepsilon} \subset L^1((0,T); \mathbb{W}^{m,1}_x L^1_v(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q))$$

be a sequence of solutions to the inelastic Boltzmann equation (1.20). Then, with the splitting $h_{\varepsilon} = h_{\varepsilon}^0 + h_{\varepsilon}^1$, up to extraction of a subsequence, one has

where $h = \pi_0(h)$. In particular, there exist

$$\begin{split} \varrho \in L^2\left((0,T); \, \mathbb{W}^{m,2}_x(\mathbb{T}^d)\right), \qquad \theta \in L^2\left((0,T); \, \mathbb{W}^{m,2}_x(\mathbb{T}^d)\right), \\ u \in L^2\left((0,T); \, \left(\mathbb{W}^{m,2}_x(\mathbb{T}^d)\right)^d\right) \end{split}$$

such that

$$\boldsymbol{h}(t,x,v) = \left(\varrho(t,x) + u(t,x) \cdot v + \frac{1}{2}\theta(t,x)(|v|^2 - d\vartheta_1)\right)\mathcal{M}(v)$$
(6.7)

where \mathcal{M} is the Maxwellian distribution introduced in (1.13).

Proof. Let T > 0 be fixed. We use the notations of Proposition 6.1. The estimates obtained in Section 5, using the splitting $h_{\varepsilon} = h_{\varepsilon}^{0}(t) + h_{\varepsilon}^{1}(t)$ imply the following properties of the sequences of time-dependent vector-valued mappings $\{h_{\varepsilon}^{1}\}_{\varepsilon}, \{h_{\varepsilon}^{0}\}_{\varepsilon}$ and $\{h_{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$:

$$\{h_{\varepsilon}^{1}\} \subset \left(L^{1} \cap L^{\infty}\right)\left((0,T);\mathcal{H}\right) \quad \text{is bounded}$$

$$(6.8)$$

$$\int_0^T \|h_{\varepsilon}^0(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}_1} \mathrm{d}t \lesssim \varepsilon^2 \tag{6.9}$$

From (6.8) and since $\|\cdot\|_{\mathbb{W}^{m,2}_x L^2_v(\mathcal{M}^{-\frac{1}{2}})} \lesssim \|\cdot\|_{\mathcal{H}}$, we deduce that

 $\{h_{\varepsilon}^{1}\}$ is bounded in $L^{2}\left((0,T)\,;\,\mathbb{W}_{x}^{m,2}L_{v}^{2}(\mathcal{M}^{-\frac{1}{2}})\right)$

and therefore, admits a subsequence, say $\{h_{\varepsilon'}^1\}_{\varepsilon'}$ which converges weakly to some h in $L^2((0,T); \mathbb{W}_x^{m,2}L_v^2(\mathcal{M}^{-\frac{1}{2}}))$. This, combined with (6.9) gives (6.6). From (6.3) we also have, for that subsequence,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon' \to 0} \int_0^T \left\| \left(\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_0 \right) h_{\varepsilon'}^1(t) \right\|_{\mathbb{W}_x^{m-1,2} L^2_v(\mathcal{M}^{-\frac{1}{2}})}^2 \mathrm{d}t = 0$$

so that $(\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_0) \boldsymbol{h} = 0$. This gives the result.

Remark 6.4. As observed in the previous proof, the convergence (6.6) can be made even more precise since we also have

$$\{(\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_0) h_{\varepsilon}^1\}$$
 converges strongly to 0 in $L^2\left((0,T); \mathbb{W}_x^{m-1,2} L_v^2(\mathcal{M}^{-\frac{1}{2}})\right)$

This means somehow that the only part of h_{ε} which prevents the strong convergence towards h is $\{\pi_0 h_{\varepsilon}^1\}_{\varepsilon}$.

Because of Theorem 6.3 and for simplicity sake, from here on, we will write that our sequences converge even if it is true up to an extraction.

The above mode of convergence implies the following convergence of velocity averages of h_{ε} . For any function f = f(t, x, v) we denote the velocity average by

$$\left\langle f \right\rangle = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f(t, x, v) \mathrm{d}v$$

recalling of course that this is a function depending on (t, x). We have then the following:

Lemma 6.5. Let $\{h_{\varepsilon}\}$ be converging to h in the sense of Theorem 6.3. Then, for any function $\psi = \psi(v)$ such that

$$|\psi(v)| \lesssim \boldsymbol{\varpi}_q(v)$$

one has

$$\left\langle \psi h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle \longrightarrow \left\langle \psi h \right\rangle \quad in \ \mathscr{D}'_{t,x}$$

$$(6.10)$$

whereas

$$\left\langle \psi \, \mathcal{Q}_1^{\boldsymbol{r}}(h_{\varepsilon}, h_{\varepsilon}) \right\rangle \longrightarrow 0 \quad \text{in } \mathscr{D}_{t,x}'$$
 (6.11)

where we set $\mathcal{Q}_1^r(h_{\varepsilon}, h_{\varepsilon}) = \mathcal{Q}_1(h_{\varepsilon}, h_{\varepsilon}) - \mathcal{Q}_1(\pi_0 h_{\varepsilon}, \pi_0 h_{\varepsilon})$.

Proof. Let ψ be such that $|\psi(v)| \leq \varpi_q(v)$ and let $\varphi = \varphi(t, x) \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_c((0, T) \times \mathbb{T}^d)$ be given. One computes

$$I_{\varepsilon} := \int_{0}^{T} \mathrm{d}t \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \varphi(t, x) \left(\left\langle \psi \, h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle - \left\langle \psi \, \boldsymbol{h} \right\rangle \right) \mathrm{d}x = I_{\varepsilon}^{0} + I_{\varepsilon}^{1}$$

where

$$I_{\varepsilon}^{0} = \int_{0}^{T} \mathrm{d}t \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \varphi(t, x) \Big\langle \psi \, h_{\varepsilon}^{0} \Big\rangle \mathrm{d}x, \qquad I_{\varepsilon}^{1} = \int_{0}^{T} \mathrm{d}t \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \varphi(t, x) \left(\Big\langle \psi \, h_{\varepsilon}^{1} \Big\rangle - \Big\langle \psi \, \boldsymbol{h} \Big\rangle \right) \mathrm{d}x.$$

Because $|I_{\varepsilon}^{0}| \lesssim \|\varphi\|_{L_{t,x}^{\infty}} \int_{0}^{T} \|h_{\varepsilon}^{0}(t)\|_{L_{x}^{1}L_{v}^{1}(\varpi_{q})} dt$, we deduce from (6.6) that $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} I_{\varepsilon}^{0} = 0$. In the same way, one has

$$I_{\varepsilon}^{1} = \int_{0}^{T} \mathrm{d}t \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d} \times \mathbb{R}^{d}} \left(\psi(v) \,\mathcal{M}(v) \,\varphi(t,x) \right) \, \left(h_{\varepsilon}^{1}(t,x,v) - \boldsymbol{h}(t,x,v) \right) \mathrm{d}x \,\mathcal{M}^{-1}(v) \mathrm{d}v$$

and, since the mapping

 $(t, x, v) \mapsto \psi(v) \mathcal{M}(v) \varphi(t, x)$ belongs to $L^2((0, T); \mathbb{W}_x^{m,2} L_v^2(\mathcal{M}^{-\frac{1}{2}})),$ (6.12) we deduce from (6.6) that $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} I_{\varepsilon}^1 = 0$. This proves (6.10). To prove (6.11), one sets

$$J_{\varepsilon} := \int_0^T \mathrm{d}t \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \varphi(t, x) \Big\langle \psi \, \mathcal{Q}_1^{\boldsymbol{r}}(h_{\varepsilon}, h_{\varepsilon}) \Big\rangle \mathrm{d}x.$$

One writes $J_{\varepsilon}=J_{\varepsilon}^1+J_{\varepsilon}^2$ where

$$J_{\varepsilon}^{1} = \int_{0}^{T} \mathrm{d}t \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \varphi(t, x) \Big\langle \psi \, \mathcal{Q}_{1}((\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_{0})h_{\varepsilon}, (\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_{0})h_{\varepsilon}) \Big\rangle \mathrm{d}x$$
$$J_{\varepsilon}^{2} = 2 \int_{0}^{T} \mathrm{d}t \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \varphi(t, x) \Big\langle \psi \, \widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{1}((\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_{0})h_{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\pi}_{0}h_{\varepsilon}) \Big\rangle \mathrm{d}x$$

One has

$$|J_{\varepsilon}^{1}| \lesssim \|\varphi\|_{L_{t,x}^{\infty}} \int_{0}^{T} \|\mathcal{Q}_{1}\left((\mathbf{Id}-\boldsymbol{\pi}_{0})h_{\varepsilon}, (\mathbf{Id}-\boldsymbol{\pi}_{0})h_{\varepsilon}\right)\|_{L_{x,v}^{1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q})} \,\mathrm{d}t.$$

Noticing that

$$\|\mathcal{Q}_1\left((\mathbf{Id}-\boldsymbol{\pi}_0)h_{\varepsilon},(\mathbf{Id}-\boldsymbol{\pi}_0)h_{\varepsilon}\right)\|_{L^1_{x,v}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q)} \lesssim \|h_{\varepsilon}\|_{\mathcal{E}}\|(\mathbf{Id}-\boldsymbol{\pi}_0)h_{\varepsilon}\|_{\mathbb{W}^{m-1,1}_xL^1_v(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q+1})}.$$

we deduce from (6.5) and the fact that $\sup_{t\in(0,T)}\|h_{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}}<\infty$ that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} |J_{\varepsilon}^1| = 0.$$

We prove exactly in the same way that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} |J_{\varepsilon}^2| = 0.$$

This proves the result.

Regarding the characterisation (6.7) of the limit h(t), note that

$$\varrho(t,x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \boldsymbol{h}(t,x,v) \mathrm{d}v, \qquad u(t,x) = \frac{1}{\vartheta_1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} v \, \boldsymbol{h}(t,x,v) \mathrm{d}v \,,$$

and

$$\varrho(t,x) + \vartheta_1 \theta(t,x) = \frac{1}{d\vartheta_1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |v|^2 \boldsymbol{h}(t,x,v) \mathrm{d}v \,.$$

Corollary 6.6. With the notations of Theorem 6.3, for any T > 0, the limit h(t, x, v) given by (6.7) satisfies the incompressibility condition

$$\operatorname{div}_{x} u(t, x) = 0, \qquad t \in (0, T),$$
(6.13)

and Boussinesq relation

$$\nabla_x \left(\varrho + \vartheta_1 \theta \right) = 0. \tag{6.14}$$

As a consequence, introducing

$$E(t) = \frac{1}{|\mathbb{T}^d|} \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \theta(t, x) \mathrm{d}x, \qquad t \in (0, T) \,,$$

one has strengthened Boussinesq relation

$$\varrho(t,x) + \vartheta_1 \left(\theta(t,x) - E(t) \right) = 0, \qquad \text{for a.e } (t,x) \in (0,T) \times \mathbb{T}^d.$$
(6.15)

Proof. Set

$$\varrho_{\varepsilon}(t,x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} h_{\varepsilon}(t,x,v) \mathrm{d}v, \qquad \boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon}(t,x) = \frac{1}{\vartheta_1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} v \, h_{\varepsilon}(t,x,v) \mathrm{d}v,$$

and, multiplying (1.20) with 1 and v and integrating in velocity, we get

$$\varepsilon \partial_t \varrho_{\varepsilon} + \vartheta_1 \operatorname{div}_x (\boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon}) = 0,$$
 (6.16)

$$\varepsilon \partial_t \boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon} + \operatorname{Div}_x (\boldsymbol{J}_{\varepsilon}) = \frac{\kappa_{\alpha}}{\varepsilon} \boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon},$$
(6.17)

where $J_{\varepsilon}(t, x)$ denotes the tensor

$$\boldsymbol{J}_{\varepsilon}(t,x) := \frac{1}{\vartheta_1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} v \otimes v \, h_{\varepsilon}(t,x,v) \mathrm{d}v \,,$$

since both \mathbf{L}_{α} and \mathcal{Q}_{α} conserve mass and momentum. The proof of (6.13) is straightforward since $\varepsilon \partial_t \varrho_{\varepsilon} \to 0$ and $\operatorname{div}_x(\boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon}) \to \operatorname{div}_x \boldsymbol{u}$ in the distribution sense. Let us give the detail for the sake of completeness. Multiplying (6.16) with a function $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}_c^{\infty}((0,T) \times \mathbb{T}^d)$ and integrating over $(0,T) \times \mathbb{T}^d$ we get that

$$-\int_0^T \mathrm{d}t \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \nabla_x \varphi(t,x) \cdot \boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon}(t,x) \mathrm{d}x = \varepsilon \int_0^T \mathrm{d}t \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \varrho_{\varepsilon}(t,x) \partial_t \varphi(t,x) \mathrm{d}x$$

which, taking the limit $\varepsilon \to 0$ and because $\varrho_{\varepsilon} \to \varrho$ and $u_{\varepsilon} \to u$ in $\mathscr{D}'_{t,x}$, yields

$$\int_0^T \mathrm{d}t \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \nabla_x \varphi(t, x) \cdot u(t, x) \mathrm{d}x = 0, \qquad \forall \, \varphi \in \mathcal{C}_c^\infty((0, T) \times \mathbb{T}^d).$$

Since $u(t,x) \in L^2((0,T); \mathbb{W}^{m,2}_x(\mathbb{T}^d))$, the incompressibility condition (6.13) holds true. In the same way, for any i = 1, ..., d and $\varphi \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}_c((0,T) \times \mathbb{T}^d)$, noticing that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \varepsilon \int_0^T \boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon}^i \,\partial_t \varphi(t, x) \mathrm{d}x = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \frac{\kappa_{\alpha}}{\varepsilon} \int_0^T \mathrm{d}t \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon}^i(t, x) \varphi(t, x) \mathrm{d}x = 0\,,$$

because $\kappa_{\alpha} = 1 - \alpha \leqslant C \varepsilon^2$ we get that

$$0 = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \sum_{j=1}^d \int_0^T \mathrm{d}t \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} J_{\varepsilon}^{i,j}(t,x) \partial_{x_j} \varphi(t,x) \mathrm{d}x = \sum_{j=1}^d \int_0^T \mathrm{d}t \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} J_0^{i,j}(t,x) \partial_{x_j} \varphi(t,x) \mathrm{d}x \,,$$

where

$$\boldsymbol{J}_0^{i,j}(t,x) = \frac{1}{\vartheta_1} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} v_i \, v_j \, \boldsymbol{h}(t,x,v) \mathrm{d}v = \left(\varrho(t,x) + \vartheta_1 \theta(t,x)\right) \delta_{ij}, \qquad i,j = 1, \dots, d.$$

Therefore, for any $i = 1, \ldots, d$,

$$\int_0^T \mathrm{d}t \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \left(\varrho(t,x) + \vartheta_1 \theta(t,x) \right) \, \partial_{x_i} \varphi(t,x) \mathrm{d}x = 0 \,, \qquad \forall \, \varphi \in \mathcal{C}^\infty_c((0,T) \times \mathbb{T}^d).$$

As before, this gives the Boussinesq relation (6.14). To show that Boussinesq relation can be strengthened, one notices that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \varrho_{\varepsilon}(t, x) \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \varrho(t, x) \mathrm{d}x \quad \text{ in } \mathscr{D}'_t$$

from which we deduce, from the conservation of mass for (6.19), that

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \varrho(t, x) \mathrm{d}x = 0, \qquad \text{for a.e. } t > 0.$$

With the definition of E(t), this implies that

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^d} (\varrho(t,x) + \vartheta_1 \left(\theta(t,x) - E(t) \right)) \mathrm{d}x = 0, \qquad \text{for a.e. } t > 0,$$

and, this combined with (6.14) yields the strengthened form (6.15).

Remark 6.7. Using Boussinesq relation together with (6.7), one checks without major difficulty that

$$v \cdot \nabla_x \boldsymbol{h} = \mathcal{M}(v \otimes v) : \nabla_x u + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{M} \left(|v|^2 - (d+2)\vartheta_1 \right) v \cdot \nabla_x \theta.$$
(6.18)

Then, using the incompressibility condition (6.13) it holds that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \Psi_j(v) \, v \cdot \nabla_x \boldsymbol{h} \, \mathrm{d}v = 0, \qquad \forall j = 1, \dots, d+2,$$

that is, $\pi_0(v \cdot \nabla_x h) = 0$. In particular, $v \cdot \nabla_x h \in \text{Range}(\text{Id} - \pi_0) \subset \text{Range}(\text{L}_1)$ (see [42, Eq. (6.34), p. 180]).

6.2. **Identification of the limit.** We aim here to fully characterise the limit h(t, x, v) obtained in Theorem 6.3. To do so, we identify the limit equation satisfied by the macroscopic quantities (ϱ, u, θ) in (6.7) following the path of [9, 30] and exploiting the fact that the mode of convergence in Theorem 6.3 is stronger than the one of [9, 30]. The regime of weak inelasticity is central in the analysis.

We denote by $\{h_{\varepsilon}\}$ any subsequence which converges to h in the above Theorem 6.3. We will see in the sequel, under some strong convergence assumption on the initial datum, all subsequences will share the same limit and, as such, the whole sequence will be convergent.

Recall (1.20)

$$\varepsilon \partial_t h_{\varepsilon} + v \cdot \nabla_x h_{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon^{-1} \kappa_{\alpha} \nabla_v \cdot (v h_{\varepsilon}) = \varepsilon^{-1} \mathbf{L}_{\alpha} h_{\varepsilon} + \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha}(h_{\varepsilon}, h_{\varepsilon}), \qquad (6.19)$$

under the scaling hypothesis that $\alpha = 1 - \lambda_0 \varepsilon^2 + o(\varepsilon^2)$, $\lambda_0 \ge 0$. Multiplying (6.19) respectively with 1, v, $\frac{1}{2}|v|^2$, we observe that the quantities

$$\langle h_{\varepsilon} \rangle, \langle vh_{\varepsilon} \rangle, \langle \frac{1}{2}|v|^2 \rangle, \langle \frac{1}{2}|v|^2 v h_{\varepsilon} \rangle, \text{ and } \langle v \otimes v h_{\varepsilon} \rangle,$$

are important. As in the classical case, we write

$$\left\langle v \otimes v h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle = \left\langle \boldsymbol{A} h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle + p_{\varepsilon} \mathbf{Id}, \qquad p_{\varepsilon} = \left\langle \frac{1}{d} |v|^2 h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle,$$

where we introduce the traceless tensor

$$A = A(v) = v \otimes v - \frac{1}{d} |v|^2 \mathbf{Id}$$

Properties of this tensor are established in Appendix B. In a more precise way, one obtains, after integrating (6.19) against 1, v_i , $\frac{1}{2} |v|^2$,

$$\partial_t \left\langle h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \operatorname{div}_x \left\langle v \, h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle = 0,$$
 (6.20a)

$$\partial_t \left\langle v \, h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \mathrm{Div}_x \left\langle \mathbf{A} \, h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \nabla_x p_{\varepsilon} = \frac{\kappa_{\alpha}}{\varepsilon^2} \left\langle v \, h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle, \tag{6.20b}$$

$$\partial_t \left\langle \frac{1}{2} |v|^2 h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \operatorname{div}_x \left\langle \frac{1}{2} |v|^2 v h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle = \frac{1}{\varepsilon^3} \mathscr{J}_{\alpha}(f_{\varepsilon}, f_{\varepsilon}) + \frac{2\kappa_{\alpha}}{\varepsilon^2} \left\langle \frac{1}{2} |v|^2 h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle, \tag{6.20c}$$

where

$$\mathscr{J}_{\alpha}(f,f) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left[\mathcal{Q}_{\alpha}(f,f) - \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha}(G_{\alpha},G_{\alpha}) \right] |v|^2 \mathrm{d}v.$$

Notice that, using (6.7) as well as Corollary 6.6,

$$\begin{aligned} \operatorname{div}_x \left\langle v \, h_\varepsilon \right\rangle &\longrightarrow \vartheta_1 \operatorname{div}_x u = 0, \qquad \left\langle \frac{1}{2} |v|^2 h_\varepsilon \right\rangle \longrightarrow \frac{d\vartheta_1}{2} \left(\varrho + \vartheta_1 \theta \right), \\ \nabla_x p_\varepsilon &\longrightarrow \frac{1}{d} \nabla_x \left\langle |v|^2 \boldsymbol{h} \right\rangle = \vartheta_1 \nabla_x (\varrho + \vartheta_1 \theta) = 0, \\ \left\langle \boldsymbol{A} \, h_\varepsilon \right\rangle \longrightarrow \left\langle \boldsymbol{A} \, \boldsymbol{h} \right\rangle = 0, \\ \left\langle \frac{1}{2} |v|^2 v_j \, h_\varepsilon \right\rangle \longrightarrow \left\langle \frac{1}{2} |v|^2 v_j \, \boldsymbol{h} \right\rangle = \frac{1}{2} u_j \left\langle |v|^2 v_j^2 \mathcal{M} \right\rangle = \frac{d+2}{2} \vartheta_1^2 u_j, \qquad j = 1, \dots, d, \end{aligned}$$

where all the limits hold in $\mathscr{D}'_{t,x}$ and where $\langle Ah \rangle = 0$ since $h \in \text{Ker}(\mathbf{L}_1)$ and $A \in \text{Range}(\mathbf{I} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_0)$. Moreover, under the above scaling

$$\frac{\kappa_{\alpha}}{\varepsilon^2} \left\langle v \, h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle \longrightarrow \vartheta_1 \lambda_0 u \,, \quad \text{in} \quad \mathscr{D}_{t,x}' \,,$$

since $\lambda_0 = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \varepsilon^{-2} \kappa_{\alpha}$. The limit of $\varepsilon^{-3} \mathscr{J}_{\alpha}(f_{\varepsilon}, f_{\varepsilon})$ is handled in the following lemma. Lemma 6.8. It holds that

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon^3}\mathscr{J}_{\alpha}(f_{\varepsilon},f_{\varepsilon})\longrightarrow \mathcal{J}_0 \qquad \text{in } \mathscr{D}'_{t,x}\,,$$

where

$$\mathcal{J}_0(t,x) = -\lambda_0 \,\bar{c} \,\vartheta_1^{\frac{3}{2}} \left(\varrho(t,x) + \frac{3}{4} \vartheta_1 \,\theta(t,x) \right)$$

for some positive constant \bar{c} depending only on the angular kernel $b(\cdot)$ and d. In particular,

$$\mathcal{J}_0 = -\lambda_0 \, \bar{c} \, \vartheta_1^{\frac{5}{2}} \left(E(t) - \frac{1}{4} \theta(t, x) \right).$$
Proof. We recall, see (1.6), that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |v|^2 \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha}(f, f) \mathrm{d}v = -(1 - \alpha^2) \frac{\gamma_b}{4} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} f(v) f(v_*) |v - v_*|^3 \mathrm{d}v \mathrm{d}v_*$$

where $\gamma_b := \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1}} (1 - \bar{q} \cdot \sigma) b(\bar{q} \cdot \sigma) d\sigma$ $(\bar{q} \in \mathbb{S}^{d-1})$. Thus, for $f_{\varepsilon} = G_{\alpha} + \varepsilon h_{\varepsilon}$ we obtain

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon^3} \mathscr{J}_{\alpha}(f_{\varepsilon}, f_{\varepsilon}) = -\frac{\gamma_b}{4} \frac{1-\alpha^2}{\varepsilon^2} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} \left[h_{\varepsilon}(v) G_{\alpha}(v_*) + h_{\varepsilon}(v_*) G_{\alpha}(v) \right] |v - v_*|^3 \mathrm{d}v \mathrm{d}v_* \right. \\ \left. + \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} h_{\varepsilon}(v) h_{\varepsilon}(v_*) |v - v_*|^3 \mathrm{d}v \mathrm{d}v_* \right).$$
(6.21)

Recall that $\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \frac{1-\alpha}{\varepsilon^2} = \lambda_0$. It is clear that the $\mathbb{W}_x^{m,1}(\mathbb{T}^d)$ norm of the last term in the right-side is controlled by $\|h_{\varepsilon}\|_{\mathcal{E}}^2$. Theorem 5.6 implies that the last term in (6.21) is converging to 0 in $L^1((0,T); \mathbb{W}_x^{m,1}(\mathbb{T}^d))$. One handles the first term in the right-side using Theorem 6.3 and the fact that $G_{\alpha} \to \mathcal{M}$ strongly. Details are left to the reader. We then easily obtain the convergence of $\varepsilon^{-3} \mathscr{J}_{\alpha}(f_{\varepsilon}, f_{\varepsilon})$ towards

$$\mathcal{J}_0 := -\lambda_0 \gamma_b \int_{\mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} \boldsymbol{h}(t, x, v) \mathcal{M}(v_*) |v - v_*|^3 \mathrm{d}v \mathrm{d}v_*.$$

The expression of \mathcal{J}_0 is then obtained by direct inspection from (6.7) with

$$\bar{c} = \gamma_b a, \qquad a = \frac{2\sqrt{2}}{(2\pi)^{\frac{d}{2}}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}|v|^2\right) |v|^3 \mathrm{d}v,$$

where

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \mathcal{M}(v)\mathcal{M}(v_*)|v-v_*|^3 \mathrm{d}v \mathrm{d}v_* &= \vartheta_1^{\frac{3}{2}}a\,,\\ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \mathcal{M}(v)\mathcal{M}(v_*)|v|^2|v-v_*|^3 \mathrm{d}v \mathrm{d}v_* &= \frac{2d+3}{2}\,\vartheta_1^{\frac{5}{2}}\,a. \end{split}$$

We refer to [52, Lemma A.1] for these identities. The second part of the lemma follows from the strengthened Boussinesq relation (6.15).

6.3. About the equations of motion and temperature. We give here some preliminary result aiming at deriving the equations satisfied by the bulk velocity u(t, x) and $\theta(t, x)$. As in [9, 30], in order to investigate the limiting behaviour of the system (6.20) as $\varepsilon \to 0^+$, we need to investigate the limit in the distributional sense of

$$\varepsilon^{-1} \operatorname{Div}_x \left\langle \mathbf{A} h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle = -\varepsilon^{-1} \operatorname{Div}_x \left\langle \phi \, \mathbf{L}_1 h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle$$
(6.22)

and

$$\varepsilon^{-1} \operatorname{div}_x \left\langle \boldsymbol{b} \, h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle = -\varepsilon^{-1} \operatorname{div}_x \left\langle \psi \, \mathbf{L}_1 h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle$$
(6.23)

where ϕ and ψ are defined in Lemma B.1 and where we used that \mathbf{L}_1 is selfadjoint in $L^2_v(\mathcal{M}^{-1/2})$.

Since the limiting vector-field u is divergence-free, it turns out enough to investigate only the limit of $\mathcal{P}\text{Div}_x \left\langle \varepsilon^{-1} \mathbf{A} h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle$ where we recall that \mathcal{P} is the Leray projection on divergence-free vector fields⁶. We begin with a strong compactness result

Lemma 6.9. Introduce

$$u_{\varepsilon}(t,x) = \exp\left(-t\frac{\kappa_{\alpha}}{\varepsilon^{2}}\right) \mathcal{P}\boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon}(t,x)$$

and $\vartheta_{\varepsilon}(t,x) = \left\langle \frac{1}{2} \left(|v|^{2} - (d+2)\vartheta_{1}\right)h_{\varepsilon}\right\rangle, \ t \in (0,T), \ x \in \mathbb{T}^{d}$

Then, $\{\partial_t u_{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$ and $\{\partial_t \vartheta_{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$ are bounded in $L^1((0,T); \mathbb{W}^{m-2,1}_x(\mathbb{T}^d))$. Consequently, up to the extraction of a subsequence,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \int_0^T \|\mathcal{P} \boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon}(t) - \boldsymbol{u}(t)\|_{\mathbb{W}^{m-2,1}_x(\mathbb{T}^d)} \, \mathrm{d}t = 0$$
(6.24)

and

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \int_0^T \left\| \vartheta_{\varepsilon}(t, \,\cdot\,) - \vartheta_0(t, \,\cdot\,) \right\|_{\mathbb{W}^{m-2,1}_x(\mathbb{T}^d)} \mathrm{d}t = 0 \tag{6.25}$$

where

$$\vartheta_0(t,x) = \left\langle \frac{1}{2} (|v|^2 - (d+2)\vartheta_1) \boldsymbol{h} \right\rangle = \frac{d\vartheta_1}{2} \left(\varrho(t,x) + \vartheta_1 \theta(t,x) \right) - \frac{d+2}{2} \vartheta_1 \varrho(t,x) \,.$$

In other words, $\{\mathcal{P}\boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$ converges strongly to u in $L^{1}\left((0,T); \mathbb{W}_{x}^{m-2,1}(\mathbb{T}^{d})\right)$ and $\{\vartheta_{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$ converges strongly to ϑ_{0} in $L^{1}\left((0,T); \mathbb{W}_{x}^{m-2,1}(\mathbb{T}^{d})\right)$.

Proof. We begin with the proof of (6.24). We apply the Leray projection \mathcal{P} to (6.20b) to eliminate the pressure gradient term. Then, we have that

$$\partial_t u_{\varepsilon} = -\exp\left(-t\frac{\kappa_{\alpha}}{\varepsilon^2}\right) \mathcal{P}\left(\vartheta_1^{-1} \operatorname{Div}_x\left\langle\frac{1}{\varepsilon}\boldsymbol{A}\,h_{\varepsilon}\right\rangle\right)$$

Notice that, since $\{h_{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$ is bounded in $L^1((0,T); \mathcal{E})$, one has that

$$\{u_{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$$
 is bounded in $L^1\left((0,T); \mathbb{W}^{m,1}_x(\mathbb{T}^d)\right)$

Moreover, since $A h_{\varepsilon} = A (Id - \pi_0) h_{\varepsilon}$ we deduce from Proposition 6.1 that

$$\sup_{\varepsilon} \int_0^T \left\| \mathcal{P}\left(\operatorname{Div}_x \left\langle \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \boldsymbol{A} h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle \right) \right\|_{\mathbb{W}^{m-2,1}_x(\mathbb{T}^d)} \, \mathrm{d}t < \infty.$$

In particular

$$\{\partial_t u_{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$$
 is bounded in $L^1\left((0,T); \mathbb{W}^{m-2,1}_x(\mathbb{T}^d)\right)$.

⁶Recall that, for a vector field \boldsymbol{u} , $\mathcal{P}\boldsymbol{u} = \boldsymbol{u} - \nabla \Delta^{-1}(\nabla \cdot \boldsymbol{u})$. On the torus, it can be defined via Fourier expansion, if $\boldsymbol{u} = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \boldsymbol{a}_k e^{ik \cdot x}$, $\boldsymbol{a}_k \in \mathbb{C}^d$, then $\mathcal{P}\boldsymbol{u} = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}^d} \left(\mathbf{I}_d - \frac{k \otimes k}{|k|^2}\right) \boldsymbol{a}_k e^{ik \cdot x}$.

Applying [58, Corollary 4] with $X = \mathbb{W}_x^{m,1}(\mathbb{T}^d)$ and $B = Y = \mathbb{W}_x^{m-2,1}(\mathbb{T}^d)$ (so that the embedding of X into B is compact by Rellich-Kondrachov Theorem [38, Theorem 2.9, p. 37]), we deduce that $\{u_{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$ is relatively compact in $L^1((0,T); \mathbb{W}_x^{m-2,1}(\mathbb{T}^d))$. The result of strong convergence follows easily since we already now that $\mathcal{P}u_{\varepsilon}$ converges to u in $\mathscr{D}'_{t,x}$ (see Lemma 6.5 and recall $u = \mathcal{P}u$ since u is divergence-free).

The proof of (6.25) is similar. We begin with observing that, multiplying (6.20a) with $-\frac{d+2}{2}\vartheta_1$ and add it to (6.20c) we obtain the evolution of $\vartheta_{\varepsilon}(t, x)$

$$\partial_t \vartheta_{\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \operatorname{div}_x \left\langle \boldsymbol{b} \, h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle = \frac{1}{\varepsilon^3} \mathscr{J}_{\alpha}(f_{\varepsilon}, f_{\varepsilon}) + \frac{2\kappa_{\alpha}}{\varepsilon^2} \left\langle \frac{1}{2} |v|^2 h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle. \tag{6.26}$$

Notice that $\{\vartheta_{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$ is bounded in $L^1((0,T); \mathbb{W}^{m,1}_x(\mathbb{T}^d))$ while, because $\boldsymbol{b} h_{\varepsilon} = \boldsymbol{b} (\mathbf{Id} - \boldsymbol{\pi}_0) h_{\varepsilon}$ we deduce from Proposition 6.1 that

$$\sup_{\varepsilon} \int_0^T \left\| \left(\operatorname{div}_x \left\langle \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \boldsymbol{b} \, h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle \right) \right\|_{\mathbb{W}^{m-2,1}_x(\mathbb{T}^d)} \, \mathrm{d}t < \infty.$$

It is easy to see that the right-hand side of (6.26) is also bounded in $L^1((0,T), \mathbb{W}_x^{m,1}(\mathbb{T}^d))$ so that $\{\partial_t \vartheta_\varepsilon\}_\varepsilon$ is bounded in $L^1((0,T); \mathbb{W}_x^{m-2,1}(\mathbb{T}^d))$. Using again [58, Corollary 4] together with Rellich-Kondrachov Theorem, we deduce as before that $\{\vartheta_\varepsilon\}_\varepsilon$ is relatively compact in $L^1((0,T); \mathbb{W}_x^{m-2,1}(\mathbb{T}^d))$. Since we already know that ϑ_ε converges in the distributional sense to ϑ_0 (see Lemma 6.5), we get the result of strong convergence.

Remark 6.10. We will see later that the convergence of $\{\mathcal{P}\boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$ and $\{\vartheta_{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$ can actually be strenghten for well-prepared initial datum (see Proposition 6.18).

A first consequence of the above Lemma is the following which regards (6.22)

Lemma 6.11. In the distributional sense,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \mathcal{P} \text{Div}_x \left(\left\langle \varepsilon^{-1} \boldsymbol{A} \, h_\varepsilon \right\rangle - \left\langle \phi \, \mathcal{Q}_1 \left(\boldsymbol{\pi}_0 h_\varepsilon, \boldsymbol{\pi}_0 h_\varepsilon \right) \right\rangle \right) = -\boldsymbol{\nu} \, \Delta_x u \tag{6.27}$$

where ν is defined in Lemma B.1.

Proof. When compared to the elastic case, L_1h_{ε} does not appear in (6.19). We add it, as well as the quadratic elastic Boltzmann operator, by force and rewrite the latter as

$$\varepsilon \partial_t h_{\varepsilon} + v \cdot \nabla_x h_{\varepsilon} - \varepsilon^{-1} \mathbf{L}_1 h_{\varepsilon} = \mathcal{Q}_1(h_{\varepsilon}, h_{\varepsilon}) - \varepsilon^{-1} \kappa_{\alpha} \nabla_v \cdot (vh_{\varepsilon}) + \varepsilon^{-1} (\mathbf{L}_{\alpha} h_{\varepsilon} - \mathbf{L}_1 h_{\varepsilon}) + \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha}(h_{\varepsilon}, h_{\varepsilon}) - \mathcal{Q}_1(h_{\varepsilon}, h_e).$$
(6.28)

We interpret the last three terms as a source term

$$\mathbf{S}_{\varepsilon} := \varepsilon^{-1} \left(\mathbf{L}_{\alpha} h_{\varepsilon} - \mathbf{L}_{1} h_{\varepsilon} \right) + \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha} (h_{\varepsilon}, h_{\varepsilon}) - \mathcal{Q}_{1} (h_{\varepsilon}, h_{\varepsilon}) - \varepsilon^{-1} \kappa_{\alpha} \nabla_{v} \cdot (v h_{\varepsilon}).$$
(6.29)

Then, multiplying (6.28) by ϕ and integrating over \mathbb{R}^d , we get using (6.22) that, for any $i, j = 1, \ldots, d$,

$$\varepsilon \partial_t \left\langle \phi^{i,j} h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle + \operatorname{div}_x \left\langle v \, \phi^{i,j} h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle - \varepsilon^{-1} \left\langle \phi^{i,j} \mathbf{L}_1 h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle \\ = \left\langle \phi^{i,j} \, \mathcal{Q}_1(h_{\varepsilon}, h_{\varepsilon}) \right\rangle + \left\langle \phi^{i,j} \, \mathbf{S}_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle.$$
(6.30)

One writes

$$\mathcal{Q}_1(h_{\varepsilon}, h_{\varepsilon}) = \mathcal{Q}_1\left(\boldsymbol{\pi}_0 h_{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\pi}_0 h_{\varepsilon}\right) + \mathcal{Q}_1^{\boldsymbol{r}}(h_{\varepsilon}, h_{\varepsilon})$$

so that (6.30) becomes

$$\varepsilon \partial_t \left\langle \phi^{i,j} h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle + \operatorname{div}_x \left\langle v \, \phi^{i,j} h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle - \varepsilon^{-1} \left\langle \phi^{i,j} \mathbf{L}_1 h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle$$

$$= \left\langle \phi^{i,j} \, \mathcal{Q}_1 \left(\boldsymbol{\pi}_0 h_{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\pi}_0 h_{\varepsilon} \right) \right\rangle + \left\langle \phi^{i,j} \, \mathcal{Q}_1^{\boldsymbol{r}} (h_{\varepsilon}, h_{\varepsilon}) \right\rangle + \left\langle \phi^{i,j} \, \boldsymbol{S}_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle.$$

According to Lemma 6.5 we have that

$$\begin{split} \varepsilon \partial_t \left\langle \phi^{i,j} \, h_\varepsilon \right\rangle &\longrightarrow 0, \qquad \operatorname{div}_x \left\langle v \, \phi^{i,j} \, h_\varepsilon \right\rangle \longrightarrow \operatorname{div}_x \left\langle v \, \phi^{i,j} \, \boldsymbol{h} \right\rangle, \\ \left\langle \phi^{i,j} \, \mathcal{Q}_1^{\boldsymbol{r}}(h_\varepsilon, h_\varepsilon) \right\rangle &\longrightarrow 0, \qquad \left\langle \phi^{i,j} \, \boldsymbol{S}_\varepsilon \right\rangle \longrightarrow 0, \end{split}$$

where the limits are all meant in the distributional sense and where the last limit is deduced from the strong convergence of S_{ε} to 0 in $L^1((0,T); L^1_x L^1_v(\varpi_q))$ (see Lemma B.6).

From Lemma B.4 in Appendix B, one has

$$\left\langle v_{\ell} \phi^{i,j} \boldsymbol{h} \right\rangle = \begin{cases} \boldsymbol{\nu} u_{j} & \text{if } i \neq j, \ \ell = i, \\ \boldsymbol{\nu} u_{i} & \text{if } i \neq j, \ \ell = j, \\ -\frac{2}{d} \boldsymbol{\nu} u_{\ell} + 2 \boldsymbol{\nu} u_{i} \delta_{i\ell} & \text{if } i = j, \\ 0 & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$

Therefore, using the incompressibility condition,

$$\operatorname{div}_{x}\left\langle v\,\phi^{i,j}\,\boldsymbol{h}\right\rangle = \boldsymbol{\nu}\left(\partial_{x_{j}}u_{i}+\partial_{x_{i}}u_{j}\right).$$

We deduce that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \left(\varepsilon^{-1} \left\langle \phi^{i,j} \mathbf{L}_1 h_\varepsilon \right\rangle + \left\langle \phi^{i,j} \mathcal{Q}_1 \left(\boldsymbol{\pi}_0 h_\varepsilon, \boldsymbol{\pi}_0 h_\varepsilon \right) \right\rangle \right) = \boldsymbol{\nu}(\partial_{x_j} u_i + \partial_{x_i} u_j),$$

in the distributional sense. Applying the Div_x operator one deduces that, in $\mathscr{D}'_{t,x}$

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \operatorname{Div}_x^i \left(\varepsilon^{-1} \left\langle \phi \, \mathbf{L}_1 h_\varepsilon \right\rangle + \left\langle \phi \, \mathcal{Q}_1 \left(\boldsymbol{\pi}_0 h_\varepsilon, \boldsymbol{\pi}_0 h_\varepsilon \right) \right\rangle \right) = \boldsymbol{\nu} \Delta_x u_i \,,$$

where we use the incompressibility condition to deduce that $\text{Div}_x^i \left(\partial_{x_j} u_i + \partial_{x_i} u_j \right) = \Delta_x u_i$. This proves the result.

In the same spirit, we have the following which now regards (6.23).

Lemma 6.12. In the distributional sense,

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \left(\varepsilon^{-1} \operatorname{div}_x \left\langle \boldsymbol{b} \, h_\varepsilon \right\rangle + \operatorname{div}_x \left\langle \psi \, \mathcal{Q}_1(\boldsymbol{\pi}_0 h_\varepsilon, \boldsymbol{\pi}_0 h_\varepsilon \right\rangle \right) = -\frac{d+2}{2} \, \gamma \, \Delta_x \theta \,. \tag{6.31}$$

Proof. We recall that

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \operatorname{div}_x \left\langle \boldsymbol{b} \, h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle = -\frac{1}{\varepsilon} \operatorname{div}_x \left\langle \mathbf{L}_1(h_{\varepsilon}) \psi \right\rangle.$$

Multiply (6.28) with ψ_i (recall that ψ is defined by (B.1)). As previously, it holds that

$$\varepsilon \partial_t \left\langle \psi_i h_\varepsilon \right\rangle + \operatorname{div}_x \left\langle v \, \psi_i h_\varepsilon \right\rangle - \varepsilon^{-1} \left\langle \psi_i \mathbf{L}_1 h_\varepsilon \right\rangle = \left\langle \psi_i \, \mathcal{Q}_1(h_\varepsilon, h_\varepsilon) \right\rangle + \left\langle \psi_i \, \boldsymbol{S}_\varepsilon \right\rangle$$

and

$$\varepsilon \partial_t \left\langle \psi_i h_\varepsilon \right\rangle \longrightarrow 0, \qquad \left\langle \psi_i \, \boldsymbol{S}_\varepsilon \right\rangle \longrightarrow 0,$$

in the distributional sense. Splitting again $Q_1(h_{\varepsilon}, h_{\varepsilon}) = Q_1^r(h_{\varepsilon}, h_{\varepsilon}) + Q_1(\pi_0 h_{\varepsilon}, \pi_0 h_{\varepsilon})$, one has $\langle \psi_i Q_1^r(h_{\varepsilon}, h_{\varepsilon}) \rangle$ converges to 0 in $\mathscr{D}'_{t,x}$ so that, in the distributional sense, it follows that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \left(\varepsilon^{-1} \left\langle \psi_i \mathbf{L}_1 h_\varepsilon \right\rangle + \left\langle \psi_i \mathcal{Q}_1(\boldsymbol{\pi}_0 h_\varepsilon, \boldsymbol{\pi}_0 h_\varepsilon \right\rangle \right) = \operatorname{div}_x \left\langle v \, \psi_i \boldsymbol{h} \right\rangle = \frac{d+2}{2} \gamma \, \partial_{x_i} \theta$$

thanks to Lemma B.5 in Appendix B. This gives the result.

6.4. **Convergence of the nonlinear terms.** To determine the distributional limit of (6.22) and (6.23), we "only" need now to explicit the limit of

$$\mathcal{P}\mathrm{Div}_x\Big\langle\phi\,\mathcal{Q}_1(\pi_0h_\varepsilon,\pi_0h_\varepsilon)\Big\rangle$$
 and $\mathrm{div}_x\Big\langle\psi\mathcal{Q}_1(\pi_0h_\varepsilon,\pi_0h_\varepsilon)\Big\rangle$

respectively. Writing

$$\boldsymbol{\pi}_0 h_{\varepsilon} = \left(\varrho_{\varepsilon}(t, x) + \boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon}(t, x) \cdot v + \frac{1}{2} \theta_{\varepsilon}(t, x) \left(|v|^2 - d\vartheta_1 \right) \right) \mathcal{M}(v)$$

we first observe that, according to Lemma B.3 and Lemma B.5 in Appendix B,

$$\left\langle \phi \, \mathcal{Q}_1 \left(\boldsymbol{\pi}_0 h_{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\pi}_0 h_{\varepsilon} \right) \right\rangle = \vartheta_1^2 \left[\boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon} \otimes \boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon} - \frac{2}{d} |\boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon}|^2 \mathbf{Id} \right]$$

and

$$\left\langle \psi \, \mathcal{Q}_1(\boldsymbol{\pi}_0 h_{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\pi}_0 h_{\varepsilon}) \right\rangle = rac{d+2}{2} \vartheta_1^3\left(\theta_{\varepsilon} \, \boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon}
ight).$$

Therefore,

$$\mathcal{P}\mathrm{Div}_{x}\left\langle \phi \, \mathcal{Q}_{1}\left(\boldsymbol{\pi}_{0} h_{\varepsilon}, \boldsymbol{\pi}_{0} h_{\varepsilon}\right) \right\rangle = \vartheta_{1}^{2} \mathcal{P}\mathrm{Div}_{x}\left(\boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon} \otimes \boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon}\right)$$

since $\mathrm{Div}_x\left(|oldsymbol{u}_arepsilon|^2\mathbf{Id}
ight)$ is a gradient term and

$$\operatorname{div}_{x}\left\langle\psi\,\mathcal{Q}_{1}(\boldsymbol{\pi}_{0}h_{\varepsilon},\boldsymbol{\pi}_{0}h_{\varepsilon})\right\rangle=\frac{d+2}{2}\vartheta_{1}^{3}\operatorname{div}_{x}\left(\theta_{\varepsilon}\,\boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon}\right).$$

One has the following whose proof is adapted from [30, Corollary 5.7].

Lemma 6.13. In the distributional sense (in $\mathscr{D}'_{t,x}$), one has

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \mathcal{P} \text{Div}_x \left\langle \phi \, \mathcal{Q}_1 \left(\pi_0 h_{\varepsilon}, \pi_0 h_{\varepsilon} \right) \right\rangle = \vartheta_1^2 \mathcal{P} \text{Div}_x (u \otimes u)$$

and

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \operatorname{div}_x \left\langle \psi \, \mathcal{Q}_1(\boldsymbol{\pi}_0 h_\varepsilon, \boldsymbol{\pi}_0 h_\varepsilon) \right\rangle = \frac{d+2}{2} \vartheta_1^3 u \cdot \nabla_x \theta.$$

In particular

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \mathcal{P}\mathrm{Div}_x \left\langle \varepsilon^{-1} \mathbf{A} h_\varepsilon \right\rangle = -\boldsymbol{\nu} \Delta_x u + \vartheta_1^2 \mathcal{P}\mathrm{Div}_x (u \otimes u) \qquad \text{in } \mathscr{D}'_{t,x}$$
(6.32)

while

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \operatorname{div}_x \left\langle \varepsilon^{-1} \boldsymbol{b} \, h_\varepsilon \right\rangle = -\frac{d+2}{2} \left(\gamma \, \Delta_x \theta - \vartheta_1^3 \boldsymbol{u} \cdot \nabla_x \theta \right) \qquad \text{in } \mathscr{D}'_{t,x}. \tag{6.33}$$

Proof. We write $u_{\varepsilon} = \mathcal{P}u_{\varepsilon} + (\mathbf{Id} - \mathcal{P})u_{\varepsilon}$. Due to the strong convergence of $\mathcal{P}u_{\varepsilon}$ towards u in $L^1((0,T); \mathbb{W}_x^{m-2,1}(\mathbb{T}^d))$ (see Lemma 6.9) and the weak convergence of u_{ε} (see Lemma 6.5), we see that

$$\mathcal{P}\mathrm{Div}_x\left(\boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon}\otimes\boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon}-(\mathbf{Id}-\mathcal{P})\boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon}\otimes(\mathbf{Id}-\mathcal{P})\boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon}\right)\longrightarrow\mathcal{P}\mathrm{Div}_x\left(\boldsymbol{u}\otimes\boldsymbol{u}\right) \text{ in } \mathscr{D}_{t,x}'$$

So, to prove the first part of the Lemma, we only need to prove that

$$\mathcal{P}\mathrm{Div}_{x}\left((\mathbf{Id}-\mathcal{P})\boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon}\otimes(\mathbf{Id}-\mathcal{P})\boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon}\right)\longrightarrow0$$
(6.34)

in $\mathscr{D}'_{t,x}$. Moreover, as in [30, Corollary 5.7], we set

$$\boldsymbol{\beta}_{\varepsilon} := \frac{1}{d \vartheta_1} \Big\langle |v|^2 h_{\varepsilon} \Big\rangle = \varrho_{\varepsilon} + \vartheta_1 \theta_{\varepsilon}$$

which is such that $\theta_{\varepsilon} = \frac{2}{(d+2)\vartheta_1} \left(\beta_{\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{\vartheta_1} \vartheta_{\varepsilon} \right)$ and

$$\operatorname{div}_{x}(\theta_{\varepsilon}\boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon}) = \frac{2}{(d+2)\vartheta_{1}} \left(\operatorname{div}_{x} \left(\boldsymbol{\beta}_{\varepsilon}\boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{\vartheta_{1}}\boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon}\vartheta_{\varepsilon} \right) \right)$$
$$= \frac{2}{(d+2)\vartheta_{1}} \operatorname{div}_{x} \left(\boldsymbol{\beta}_{\varepsilon} \left(\operatorname{\mathbf{Id}} - \boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}} \right) \boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon} \right) + \frac{2}{(d+2)\vartheta_{1}} \left[\operatorname{div}_{x} \left(\boldsymbol{\beta}_{\varepsilon} \boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}} \boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{\vartheta_{1}}\boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon}\vartheta_{\varepsilon} \right) \right]$$

Therefore, using the strong convergence of ϑ_{ε} towards ϑ_0 in $L^1((0,T); \mathbb{W}_x^{m-2,1}(\mathbb{T}^d))$ given by Lemma 6.9 together with the weak convergence of u_{ε} to u from Lemma 6.5, we get

$$\frac{2}{(d+2)\vartheta_1^2} \operatorname{div}_x(\boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon}\vartheta_{\varepsilon}) \longrightarrow \frac{2}{(d+2)\vartheta_1^2} \operatorname{div}_x(\boldsymbol{u}\vartheta_0) \quad \text{in } \mathscr{D}_{t,x}'$$

whereas the strong convergence of $\mathcal{P}\boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon}$ to u with the weak convergence of $\boldsymbol{\beta}_{\varepsilon}$ towards $\varrho + \vartheta_1 \theta$ we get

$$\operatorname{div}_{x}(\boldsymbol{\beta}_{\varepsilon}\mathcal{P}\boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon}) \longrightarrow \operatorname{div}_{x}\left(u\left(\varrho + \vartheta_{1}\theta\right)\right) = 0 \quad \text{in } \mathscr{D}_{t,x}'$$

where we used both the incompressibility condition (6.13) together with Boussinesq relation (6.14). Notice that, thanks to (6.13), it holds

$$\frac{2}{(d+2)\vartheta_1^2}\operatorname{div}_x(u\vartheta_0) = \frac{2}{(d+2)\vartheta_1^2}u \cdot \nabla_x\vartheta_0 = u \cdot \nabla_x\theta$$

where we used the expression of ϑ_0 together with Bousinesq relation (6.14). This shows that

$$\operatorname{div}_{x}(\theta_{\varepsilon}\boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon}) - \frac{2}{(d+2)\vartheta_{1}}\operatorname{div}_{x}(\boldsymbol{\beta}_{\varepsilon}(\operatorname{\mathbf{Id}}-\boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}})\boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon}) \longrightarrow u \cdot \nabla_{x}\theta \qquad \text{in } \mathscr{D}_{t,x}'$$

and, to get the second part of the result, we need to prove that

$$\operatorname{div}_{x}\left(\boldsymbol{\beta}_{\varepsilon}\left(\operatorname{\mathbf{Id}}-\boldsymbol{\mathcal{P}}\right)\boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon}\right)\longrightarrow0\qquad\text{in }\mathscr{D}_{t,x}^{\prime}.$$
(6.35)

Let us now focus on the proof of (6.34) and (6.35). One observes that, Equation (6.20b) reads

$$\varepsilon \,\partial_t \boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon} + \nabla_x \boldsymbol{\beta}_{\varepsilon} = \frac{\kappa_{\alpha}}{\varepsilon} \boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon} - \vartheta_1^{-1} \mathrm{Div}_x \left\langle \boldsymbol{A} \, h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle \tag{6.36}$$

whereas (6.20c) can be reformulated as

$$\varepsilon \partial_t \beta_{\varepsilon} + \operatorname{div}_x \left\langle \frac{1}{d\vartheta_1} |v|^2 v \, h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle = \frac{2}{d\vartheta_1 \varepsilon^2} \mathscr{J}_\alpha(f_{\varepsilon}, f_{\varepsilon}) + \frac{2\kappa_\alpha}{\varepsilon} \beta_{\varepsilon}$$
(6.37)

where we check easily that

$$\operatorname{div}_{x}\left\langle\frac{1}{d\vartheta_{1}}|v|^{2}v\,h_{\varepsilon}\right\rangle = \frac{2}{d\vartheta_{1}}\operatorname{div}_{x}\left\langle\boldsymbol{b}\,h_{\varepsilon}\right\rangle + \frac{d+2}{d}\vartheta_{1}\operatorname{div}_{x}\boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon}$$
$$= \frac{2}{d\vartheta_{1}}\operatorname{div}_{x}\left\langle\boldsymbol{b}\,h_{\varepsilon}\right\rangle + \frac{d+2}{d}\vartheta_{1}\operatorname{div}_{x}\left(\mathbf{Id}-\mathcal{P}\right)\boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon}.$$

Recall that from Theorem 5.6, $h_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}((0,T); \mathcal{E})$ so that $\beta_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}((0,T); \mathbb{W}_{x}^{m,1}(\mathbb{T}^{d}))$ and using [48, Proposition 1.6, p. 33]), we can write

$$(\mathbf{Id} - \mathcal{P}) \boldsymbol{u}_{\varepsilon} =
abla_x \boldsymbol{U}_{\varepsilon}$$

with $U_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}\left((0,T); \left(\mathbb{W}_{x}^{m-1,1}(\mathbb{T}^{d})\right)^{d}\right)$. After applying (Id $-\mathcal{P}$) to (6.36) and reformulating (6.37), we obtain that U_{ε} and β_{ε} satisfy

$$\begin{cases} \varepsilon \partial_t \nabla_x U_{\varepsilon} + \nabla_x \beta_{\varepsilon} = F_{\varepsilon} \\ \varepsilon \partial_t \beta_{\varepsilon} + \frac{d+2}{d} \vartheta_1 \Delta_x U_{\varepsilon} = G_{\varepsilon} \end{cases}$$
(6.38)

with

$$oldsymbol{F}_{arepsilon} := rac{\kappa_{lpha}}{arepsilon}
abla_x oldsymbol{U}_{arepsilon} - artheta_1^{-1} (\mathbf{Id} - \mathcal{P}) \mathrm{Div}_x \left\langle oldsymbol{A} h_{arepsilon}
ight
angle \ oldsymbol{G}_{arepsilon} := -rac{2}{dartheta_1} \mathrm{div}_x \left\langle oldsymbol{b} h_{arepsilon}
ight
angle + rac{2}{dartheta_1 arepsilon^2} \mathscr{J}_{lpha}(f_{arepsilon}, f_{arepsilon}) + rac{2\kappa_{lpha}}{arepsilon} oldsymbol{eta}_{arepsilon}.$$

It is easy to see that

$$\|\boldsymbol{F}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{1}((0,T)\,;\,\mathbb{W}^{m-2,1}_{x}(\mathbb{T}^{d}))}\lesssim\varepsilon,\qquad\text{and}\qquad\|\boldsymbol{G}_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{1}((0,T)\,;\,\mathbb{W}^{m-2,1}_{x}(\mathbb{T}^{d}))}\lesssim\varepsilon$$

Since the embeddings $\mathbb{W}_x^{m,1}(\mathbb{T}^d) \hookrightarrow \mathbb{W}_x^{m-2,1}(\mathbb{T}^d) \hookrightarrow L^2_x(\mathbb{T}^d)$ are continuous (recall m > 2d), we see that both F_{ε} and G_{ε} converge *strongly* to 0 in $L^1((0,T); L^2_x(\mathbb{T}^d))$ and $U_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}((0,T); (\mathbb{W}_x^{1,2}(\mathbb{T}^d))^d)$, $\beta_{\varepsilon} \in L^{\infty}((0,T); L^2_x(\mathbb{T}^d))$. Then, according to the *compensated compactness* argument of [45] recalled in Proposition B.7 in Appendix B, we deduce that (6.34) and (6.35) hold true and this achieves the proof. The proofs of (6.32) and (6.33) follow then from an application of Lemmas 6.11 and 6.12.

Coming back to the system of equations (6.20) and with the preliminary results of Section 6.2, we get the following where we wrote $\mathcal{P}\text{Div}_x(u \otimes u) = \text{Div}_x(u \otimes u) + \vartheta_1^{-1} \nabla_x p$, see [48, Proposition 1.6].

Proposition 6.14. The limit velocity u(t, x) in (6.7) satisfies

$$\partial_t u - \frac{\nu}{\vartheta_1} \Delta_x u + \vartheta_1 \operatorname{Div}_x (u \otimes u) + \nabla_x p = \lambda_0 u$$
(6.39)

while the limit temperature $\theta(t, x)$ in (6.7) satisfies

$$\partial_t \theta - \frac{\gamma}{\vartheta_1^2} \Delta_x \theta + \vartheta_1 \, u \cdot \nabla_x \theta = \frac{2}{(d+2)\vartheta_1^2} \mathcal{J}_0 + \frac{2d\lambda_0}{d+2} E(t) + \frac{2}{d+2} \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} E(t)$$

where

$$E(t) = \frac{1}{|\mathbb{T}^d|} \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \theta(t, x) \mathrm{d}x, \qquad t \ge 0.$$

Notice that, due to (6.13), $\text{Div}_x(u \otimes u) = (u \cdot \nabla_x) u$ and (6.39) is nothing but a *damped* Navier-Stokes equation associated to a divergence-free source term given by $\lambda_0 u$.

Proof. The proof of (6.39) is a straightforward consequence of the previous limit. To obtain investigate the evolution of θ , we recall that ϑ_{ε} satisfies (6.26). We notice that

$$\frac{1}{\varepsilon^3} \mathscr{J}_{\alpha}(f_{\varepsilon}, f_{\varepsilon}) + \frac{2\kappa_{\alpha}}{\varepsilon^2} \Big\langle \frac{1}{2} |v|^2 h_{\varepsilon} \Big\rangle \longrightarrow \mathcal{J}_0 + d\vartheta_1 \lambda_0 \left(\varrho + \vartheta_1 \theta \right) \,,$$

whereas

$$\vartheta_{\varepsilon} \longrightarrow \left\langle \frac{1}{2} (|v|^2 - (d+2)\vartheta_1) \boldsymbol{h} \right\rangle = \frac{d\vartheta_1}{2} \left(\varrho + \vartheta_1 \theta \right) - \frac{d+2}{2} \vartheta_1 \varrho$$

where the convergence is meant in $\mathscr{D}'_{t,x}$. We deduce from (6.33), performing the distributional limit of (6.26), that

$$\frac{d\vartheta_1}{2}\partial_t\left(\varrho+\vartheta_1\theta\right) - \frac{d+2}{2}\vartheta_1\partial_t\varrho - \frac{d+2}{2}\gamma\,\Delta_x\theta + \frac{d+2}{2}\vartheta_1^3\,u\cdot\nabla_x\theta \\ = \mathcal{J}_0 + d\vartheta_1\lambda_0\left(\varrho+\vartheta_1\theta\right).$$
 (6.40)

Using the strengthened Boussinesq relation (6.15), we see that

$$\partial_t \left(\varrho + \vartheta_1 \theta \right) = \vartheta_1 \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} E(t), \quad \text{and} \quad \partial_t \varrho = -\vartheta_1 \left(\partial_t \theta - \frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t} E(t) \right),$$

and get the result.

Proposition 6.15. For any $t \ge 0$, it follows that

$$E(t) = \frac{1}{|\mathbb{T}^d|} \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \theta(t, x) \mathrm{d}x = 0,$$

consequently, the limiting temperature $\theta(t, x)$ in (6.7) satisfies

$$\partial_t \theta - \frac{\gamma}{\vartheta_1^2} \Delta_x \theta + \vartheta_1 u \cdot \nabla_x \theta = \frac{\lambda_0 \bar{c}}{2(d+2)} \sqrt{\vartheta_1} \theta.$$
(6.41)

Moreover, the strong Boussinesq relation

$$\varrho(t,x) + \vartheta_1 \theta(t,x) = 0, \qquad x \in \mathbb{T}^d,$$
(6.42)

holds true.

Proof. To capture the evolution of the temperature E(t), we average equation (6.40) over \mathbb{T}^d and using the incompressibility condition (6.13) we deduce get that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}E(t) = \frac{2}{d\vartheta_1^2} \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \mathcal{J}_0(t,x) \frac{\mathrm{d}x}{|\mathbb{T}^d|} + 2\lambda_0 E(t).$$
(6.43)

And, from Lemma 6.8, it holds that

$$\frac{\mathrm{d}}{\mathrm{d}t}E(t) = \bar{c}_0 E(t), \qquad \bar{c}_0 := 2\lambda_0 - \frac{3}{2d}\lambda_0 \bar{c} \sqrt{\vartheta_1},$$

so that,

$$E(t) = E(0) \exp(\bar{c}_0 t), \qquad t \ge 0.$$

Now, return to the original equation (1.20) and recall that the solution $f_{\varepsilon}(t, x, v)$ is given by

$$f_{\varepsilon}(t) = G_{\alpha} + \varepsilon h_{\varepsilon}(t) = \mathcal{M} + (G_{\alpha} - \mathcal{M}) + \varepsilon h_{\varepsilon}(t), \qquad t \ge 0,$$

where \mathcal{M} has the same global mass, momentum and energy as the initial datum $f_{\varepsilon}(0) = F_{\text{in}}^{\varepsilon}$, independent of $\varepsilon > 0$. For any test-function $\phi = \phi(x, v)$ we get that

$$\varepsilon^{-1} \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \left\langle \left(f_\varepsilon(t) - \mathcal{M} \right) \phi \right\rangle \mathrm{d}x - \varepsilon^{-1} \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \left\langle \left(G_\alpha - \mathcal{M} \right) \phi \right\rangle \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \left\langle h_\varepsilon(t) \phi \right\rangle \mathrm{d}x, \quad t \ge 0.$$

Using this equality for $\phi(x, v) = \frac{1}{2}|v|^2$ and t = 0 one is led to

$$-\varepsilon^{-1} \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \left\langle \frac{1}{2} (G_\alpha - \mathcal{M}) |v|^2 \right\rangle \mathrm{d}x = \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \left\langle \frac{1}{2} h_\varepsilon(0) |v|^2 \right\rangle \mathrm{d}x.$$

We recall that $\|G_{\alpha} - \mathcal{M}\|_{L^{1}_{v}(\varpi_{2})} \leq C(1-\alpha) \sim C\varepsilon^{2}$, consequently

$$E(0) = \frac{1}{|\mathbb{T}^d|} \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \theta(0, x) \mathrm{d}x = \lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{1}{|\mathbb{T}^d|} \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \left\langle h_\varepsilon(0) \frac{1}{2} |v|^2 \right\rangle \mathrm{d}x = 0.$$

Therefore, $E(t) \equiv 0$ for all t > 0. This observation and (6.41) lead us to the equation for the energy and Boussinesq relation (6.42).

6.5. About the initial conditions. Before going into the proof of Theorem 1.4 and handle the problem of initial datum of our limit system, we begin by proving that our limits u and θ in (6.7) are actually continuous on (0, T).

Lemma 6.16. Consider the sequences $\{u_{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$ and $\{\vartheta_{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$ defined in Lemma 6.9. The timedepending mappings

$$t \in [0,T] \longmapsto \|\vartheta_{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{\mathbb{W}^{m-2,1}_{x}(\mathbb{T}^{d})} \quad and \quad t \in [0,T] \longmapsto \|u_{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{\mathbb{W}^{m-2,1}_{x}(\mathbb{T}^{d})}$$

are Hölder continuous uniformly in ε . As a consequence, the limiting mass ϱ , velocity u and temperature θ in (6.7) are continuous on (0, T).

Proof. Recall that we set

$$\vartheta_{\varepsilon}(t,x) = \left\langle \frac{1}{2} \left(|v|^2 - (d+2)\vartheta_1 \right) h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle.$$

For any test-function $\varphi = \varphi(x) \in \mathcal{C}_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d)$ and multi-index β with $|\beta| \leq m - 2$, multiplying (6.26) with $\partial_x^{\beta} \varphi$ and integrating in time and space, one deduces that for any $0 \leq t_1 \leq t_2$,

$$\int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \left[\partial_x^\beta \vartheta_\varepsilon(t_2, x) - \partial_x^\beta \vartheta_\varepsilon(t_1, x) \right] \varphi(x) \mathrm{d}x = \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \mathrm{d}t \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \mathrm{div}_x \Big\langle \varepsilon^{-1} \boldsymbol{b} \, \partial_x^\beta h_\varepsilon(t) \Big\rangle \varphi(x) \mathrm{d}x \\ + \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \mathrm{d}t \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \varepsilon^{-3} \partial_x^\beta \mathscr{J}_\alpha(f_\varepsilon, f_\varepsilon) \varphi(x) \mathrm{d}x \\ + \frac{2\kappa_\alpha}{\varepsilon^2} \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \mathrm{d}t \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \Big\langle \frac{1}{2} |v|^2 \partial_x^\beta h_\varepsilon \Big\rangle \varphi(x) \mathrm{d}x.$$
(6.44)

Clearly, since $\varepsilon^{-2}\kappa_{\alpha} \to \lambda_0$, there is C > 0 such that

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{2\kappa_{\alpha}}{\varepsilon^{2}} \left| \int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} \mathrm{d}t \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \left\langle \frac{1}{2} |v|^{2} \partial_{x}^{\beta} h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle \varphi(x) \mathrm{d}x \right| &\leq C \|\varphi\|_{\infty} \int_{t_{1}}^{t_{2}} \|h_{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{\mathbb{W}_{x}^{m-1,1} L_{v}^{1}(\varpi_{2})} \mathrm{d}t \\ &\leq C \sqrt{\mathcal{K}_{0}} (t_{2} - t_{1}) \end{aligned}$$

from the general estimate in Theorem 5.6. In the same way, since

$$\partial_x^\beta \mathscr{J}_\alpha(f_\varepsilon, f_\varepsilon) = \mathscr{J}_\alpha(\partial_x^\beta f_\varepsilon, f_\varepsilon) + \mathscr{J}_\alpha(f_\varepsilon, \partial_x^\beta f_\varepsilon) \,,$$

with $f_{\varepsilon} = G_{\alpha} + \varepsilon h_{\varepsilon}$, one deduces again from Theorem 5.6 that

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \mathrm{d}t \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \varepsilon^{-3} \partial_x^\beta \mathscr{J}_\alpha(f_\varepsilon, f_\varepsilon) \varphi(x) \mathrm{d}x \right| \\ \leqslant C \|\varphi\|_\infty \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \|h_\varepsilon(t)\|_{\mathbb{W}^{m-1,1}_x L^1_v(\varpi_3)} \left(1 + \|h_\varepsilon(t)\|_{\mathbb{W}^{m-1,1}_x L^1_v(\varpi_3)} \right) \mathrm{d}t \leqslant C \sqrt{\mathcal{K}_0} (t_2 - t_1). \end{aligned}$$

Moreover, noticing that $\langle bh_{\varepsilon}(t) \rangle = \langle b(\mathbf{Id} - \pi_0)h_{\varepsilon}(t) \rangle$ for any $t \ge 0$, one deduces easily from Proposition 6.1 that

$$\left| \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \varepsilon^{-1} \operatorname{div}_x \left\langle \boldsymbol{b} \, h_{\varepsilon}(t) \right\rangle \mathrm{d}t \right| \leqslant C \, \sqrt{t_2 - t_1}$$

for any $0 \le t_2 - t_1 \le 1$. Since ∂_x^{β} commutes with π_0 we deduce easily that there is C > 0 independent of ε such that for any $0 \le \beta \le m - 2$,

$$\left| \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \varepsilon^{-1} \mathrm{div}_x \left\langle \boldsymbol{b} \, \partial_x^\beta h_\varepsilon(t) \right\rangle \mathrm{d}t \right| \leqslant C \sqrt{t_2 - t_1} \tag{6.45}$$

for any $0 \leqslant t_2 - t_1 \leqslant 1$. We conclude with (6.44) that

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \left[\partial_x^\beta \vartheta_\varepsilon(t_2, x) - \partial_x^\beta \vartheta_\varepsilon(t_1, x) \right] \varphi(x) \mathrm{d}x \right| \leqslant C \, \|\varphi\|_\infty \sqrt{\mathcal{K}_0} \sqrt{t_2 - t_1}$$

for some positive constant independent of ε and $0 \leq t_2 - t_1 \leq 1$. Taking the supremum over all $\varphi \in L^{\infty}(\mathbb{T}^d)$, we deduce that

$$\left\|\partial_x^\beta \vartheta_\varepsilon(t_2) - \partial_x^\beta \vartheta_\varepsilon(t_1)\right\|_{L^1_x(\mathbb{T}^d)} \leqslant C \sqrt{\mathcal{K}_0} \sqrt{t_2 - t_1}$$
(6.46)

and, the time-depending mappings $t \in [0,T] \mapsto \|\vartheta_{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{\mathbb{W}_x^{m-2,1}(\mathbb{T}^d)}$ are thus Hölder continuous uniformly in ε . Recall also that $\vartheta_{\varepsilon}(t)$ converges in $L^1((0,T)$; $\mathbb{W}_x^{m-2,1}(\mathbb{T}^d))$ towards $\vartheta_0(t) = \frac{d\vartheta_1}{2} (\varrho + \vartheta_1 \theta) - \frac{d+2}{2} \vartheta_1 \varrho$ from Lemma 6.9. As a consequence, there exists a subsequence $(\vartheta_{\varepsilon'})_{\varepsilon'}$ such that $\|\vartheta_{\varepsilon'}(t) - \vartheta_0(t)\|_{\mathbb{W}_x^{m-2,1}(\mathbb{T}^d)}$ converges towards 0 for almost every $t \in [0,T]$. Using then the uniform in ε Hölder continuity obtained above, we can deduce that ϑ_0 is Hölder continuous on (0,T). Recalling that E(0) = 0 according to Proposition 6.15, the strong Boussinesq relation (6.42) holds true and

$$\vartheta_0(t) = \frac{d+2}{2} \vartheta_1^2 \theta(t) = -\frac{d+2}{2} \vartheta_1 \varrho(t) \,,$$

which gives the regularity of both ρ and θ .

We recall that, setting

$$u_{\varepsilon}(t,x) = \frac{1}{\vartheta_1} \exp\left(-t\frac{\kappa_{\alpha}}{\varepsilon^2}\right) \mathcal{P}\Big\langle vh_{\varepsilon}\Big\rangle,$$

we have that

$$\partial_t u_{\varepsilon} + \exp\left(-t\frac{\kappa_{\alpha}}{\varepsilon^2}\right) \mathcal{P}\left(\operatorname{Div}_x\left\langle\frac{1}{\vartheta_1\varepsilon}\boldsymbol{A}h_{\varepsilon}\right\rangle\right) = 0.$$

we multiply this identity by $\partial_x^\beta \varphi$ and integrate in both time and space to get

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \left[\partial_x^\beta u_\varepsilon(t_2, x) - \partial_x^\beta u_\varepsilon(t_1, x) \right] \varphi(x) \mathrm{d}x \\ &= \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \exp\left(-\frac{\kappa_\alpha}{\varepsilon^2} t \right) \mathrm{d}t \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \mathcal{P}\left(\mathrm{Div}_x \left\langle \frac{1}{\vartheta_1 \varepsilon} \mathbf{A} \, \partial_x^\beta h_\varepsilon \right\rangle \right) \varphi(x) \mathrm{d}x. \end{split}$$

Arguing as in the proof of (6.45), we see that there is C > 0 independent of ε such that for any $0 \le \beta \le m - 2$,

$$\left| \int_{t_1}^{t_2} \varepsilon^{-1} \mathrm{Div}_x \left\langle \mathbf{A} \, \partial_x^\beta h_\varepsilon(t) \right\rangle \mathrm{d}t \right| \leqslant C \, \sqrt{t_2 - t_1}$$

for any $0 \leq t_2 - t_1 \leq 1$. This gives easily

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{T}^d} \left[\partial_x^\beta u_\varepsilon(t_2, x) - \partial_x^\beta u_\varepsilon(t_1, x) \right] \varphi(x) \mathrm{d}x \right| \leq C \|\varphi\|_\infty \sqrt{t_2 - t_1} \sqrt{\mathcal{K}_0} \,,$$

from which, as before, the time-depending mappings $t \in [0,T] \mapsto ||u_{\varepsilon}(t)||_{\mathbb{W}_x^{m-2,1}(\mathbb{T}^d)}$ are Hölder continuous uniformly in ε . We deduce the result of regularity on u as previously done for ϱ and θ noticing that the limit of u_{ε} is $\exp(-t\lambda_0)\mathcal{P}u = \exp(-t\lambda_0)u$.

Recall that, in Theorem 6.3, the convergence of h_{ε} to the solution h(t, x) given by (6.7) is known to hold only for a subsequence and, in particular, different subsequences could converge towards different initial datum and therefore (ϱ, u, θ) could be different solutions to the Navier-Stokes system. We aim here to *prescribe* the initial datum by ensuring the convergence of the initial datum h_{in}^{ε} towards a *single* possible limit.

Recall that the initial datum for (6.28) is denoted by h_{in}^{ε} . We write $h_{in}^{\varepsilon} = \pi_0 h_{in}^{\varepsilon} + (\mathbf{Id} - \pi_0)h_{in}^{\varepsilon}$ and introduce the following assumption.

Assumption 6.17. Assume that there exists

$$(\varrho_0, u_0, \theta_0) \in \mathbb{W}_x^{m,1}(\mathbb{T}^d) \times \left(\mathbb{W}_x^{m,1}(\mathbb{T}^d)\right)^d \times \mathbb{W}_x^{m,1}(\mathbb{T}^d),$$

such that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \|\boldsymbol{\pi}_0 h_{\mathrm{in}}^{\varepsilon} - h_0\|_{\mathbb{W}^{m,1}_x L^1_v(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q)} = 0,$$

where

$$h_0(x,v) = \left(\varrho_0(x) + u_0(x) \cdot v + \frac{1}{2}\theta_0(x)(|v|^2 - d\vartheta_1)\right)\mathcal{M}(v)$$

Under this assumption we can prescribe the initial value of the solution (ϱ,u,θ) and strengthen the convergence.

Proposition 6.18. We define the initial data for (ϱ, u, θ) as

$$u_{\rm in} = u(0) := \mathcal{P}u_0, \qquad \theta_{\rm in} = \theta(0) = \frac{d}{d+2}\theta_0 - \frac{2}{(d+2)\vartheta_1}\varrho_0,$$
$$\varrho_{\rm in} = \varrho(0) := -\vartheta_1\theta_{\rm in}, \quad (6.47)$$

where we recall that $\mathcal{P}u_0$ is the Leray projection on divergence-free vector fields. Then, as a consequence, for any T > 0, one has that

$$\vartheta_{\varepsilon}(t) = \left\langle \frac{1}{2} \left(|v|^2 - (d+2)\vartheta_1 \right) h_{\varepsilon} \right\rangle \longrightarrow \frac{d+2}{2} \vartheta_1^2 \theta \,, \quad \text{in} \quad \mathcal{C} \left([0,T] \,, \, \mathbb{W}_x^{m-2,1}(\mathbb{T}^d) \right) \,,$$

and

$$\frac{1}{\vartheta_1} \mathcal{P} \Big\langle v \, h_{\varepsilon}(t) \Big\rangle \longrightarrow u \,, \qquad \text{in } \mathcal{C} \left(\left[0, T \right], \, \left(\mathbb{W}_x^{m-2,1}(\mathbb{T}^d) \right)^d \right).$$

Proof. According to Lemma 6.16, we already have that the family of time-depending mappings

$$\left\{t \in [0,T] \longmapsto \left\|\vartheta_{\varepsilon}(t)\right\|_{\mathbb{W}^{m-2,1}_{x}(\mathbb{T}^{d})}\right\}_{\varepsilon}$$
(6.48)

is equicontinuous. At time t = 0 according to Assumption 6.17,

$$\vartheta_{\varepsilon}(0,x) = \left\langle \frac{1}{2} \left(|v|^2 - (d+2)\vartheta_1 \right) h_{\mathrm{in}}^{\varepsilon} \right\rangle \longrightarrow \vartheta_1 \left[\frac{d\vartheta_1}{2} \theta_0(x) - \varrho_0(x) \right] \,,$$

and, by definition of $\rho(0, x)$, $\theta(0, x)$, we get that

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0^+} \left\| \vartheta_{\varepsilon}(0, \cdot) - \vartheta_0(0, \cdot) \right\|_{\mathbb{W}^{m-2,1}_x(\mathbb{T}^d)} = 0.$$

In particular, the family $\{\|\vartheta_{\varepsilon}(0)\|_{\mathbb{W}_{x}^{m-2,1}(\mathbb{T}^{d})}\}_{\varepsilon}$ is bounded and, since the family (6.48) is uniformly in ε Hölder continuous, for any $t \in [0,T]$, the family $\{\|\vartheta_{\varepsilon}(t)\|_{\mathbb{W}_{x}^{m-2,1}(\mathbb{T}^{d})}\}_{\varepsilon}$ is also bounded. Since it is also equicontinuitous, Arzelà-Ascoli Theorem implies that the convergence holds in $\mathcal{C}([0,T]; \mathbb{W}_{x}^{m-2,1}(\mathbb{T}^{d}))$ and

$$\vartheta_0 \in \mathcal{C}([0,T]; \mathbb{W}_x^{m-2,1}(\mathbb{T}^d)).$$

As in the proof of Lemma 6.16, it implies the continuity on [0, T] of both ρ and θ .

We proceed in a similar way for the regularity of u.

All the previous convergence results lead us to the fact the the limit

$$\boldsymbol{h}(t,x,v) = \left(\varrho(t,x) + u(t,x) \cdot v + \frac{1}{2}\theta(t,x)(|v|^2 - d\vartheta_1)\right)\mathcal{M}(v)$$

is such that

$$(\varrho, u, \theta) \in \mathcal{C}([0, T]; \mathscr{W}_{m-2}) \cap L^2((0, T); \mathscr{W}_m)$$
,

solve the following *incompressible Navier-Stokes-Fourier system* where the right-hand-side acts as a self-consistent forcing term

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t u - \frac{\nu}{\vartheta_1} \Delta_x u + \vartheta_1 u \cdot \nabla_x u + \nabla_x p = \lambda_0 u, \\ \partial_t \theta - \frac{\gamma}{\vartheta_1^2} \Delta_x \theta + \vartheta_1 u \cdot \nabla_x \theta = \frac{\lambda_0 \bar{c}}{2(d+2)} \sqrt{\vartheta_1} \theta, \\ \operatorname{div}_x u = 0, \qquad \varrho + \vartheta_1 \theta = 0, \end{cases}$$
(6.49)

subject to the initial datum $(\rho_{in}, u_{in}, \theta_{in})$. This proves Theorem 1.4 in full.

6.6. About the original problem in the physical variables. The above considerations allow us to get a quite precise description of the asymptotic behaviour for the original

physical problem (1.8a). Indeed, recalling the relations (1.10) together with Theorem 1.4 one has

$$\begin{split} F_{\varepsilon}(t,x,v) &= V_{\varepsilon}(t)^{d} f_{\varepsilon}\big(\tau_{\varepsilon}(t),x,V_{\varepsilon}(t)v\big) \\ &= V_{\varepsilon}(t)^{d} \Big(G_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(V_{\varepsilon}(t)v) + \varepsilon h_{\varepsilon}(\tau_{\varepsilon}(t),x,V_{\varepsilon}(t)v) \Big) \\ &= V_{\varepsilon}(t)^{d} \Big(G_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(V_{\varepsilon}(t)v) + \varepsilon \mathbf{h}(\tau_{\varepsilon}(t),x,V_{\varepsilon}(t)v) \Big) + \varepsilon e_{\varepsilon}(t,x,v) \,, \end{split}$$

where the error term e_{ε} is given by

$$e_{\varepsilon}(t, x, v) = V_{\varepsilon}(t)^{d} \left(h_{\varepsilon}(\tau_{\varepsilon}(t), x, V_{\varepsilon}(t)v) - \boldsymbol{h}(\tau_{\varepsilon}(t), x, V_{\varepsilon}(t)v) \right).$$

Under Assumption 1.2, a relevant phenomenon occurs when considering the purely dissipative case $\lambda_0 > 0$. In such a case, the term $e_{\varepsilon}(t, x, v)$ becomes an *uniform in time* error term. The reason is that, when $\lambda_0 > 0$, the scaling $V_{\varepsilon}(t)$ increases up to infinity. More precisely,

$$V_{\varepsilon}(t) \approx (1 + \lambda_0 t), \qquad \varepsilon \ll 1$$

Indeed, Lemma A.1 guarantees that for any $a \in (0, 1/2)$, up to an extraction of a subsequence if necessary,

$$\left| \langle e_{\varepsilon}(t), |v|^{\kappa} \varphi \rangle \right| \leqslant C_{\varphi} \sqrt{\mathcal{K}_0} \, V_{\varepsilon}(t)^{-\kappa-a} \,, \qquad \varphi \in L_x^{\infty} \mathcal{C}_{v,b}^1 \,, \ 0 \leqslant \kappa \leqslant q-1 \,, \tag{6.50}$$

where we denoted by $C_{v,b}^1$ the set of C^1 functions in v that are bounded as well as their first order derivatives. Consequently,

$$F_{\varepsilon}(t,x,v) = V_{\varepsilon}(t)^{d} \Big(G_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(V_{\varepsilon}(t)v) + \varepsilon \left(\varrho(\tau_{\varepsilon}(t),x) + u(\tau_{\varepsilon}(t),x) \cdot (V_{\varepsilon}(t)v) \right) \\ + \frac{1}{2} \theta(\tau_{\varepsilon}(t),x) (|V_{\varepsilon}(t)v|^{2} - d\vartheta_{1}) \Big) \mathcal{M}(V_{\varepsilon}(t)v) \Big) + O\Big(V_{\varepsilon}(t)^{-\kappa-a}\Big),$$
(6.51)

in the *weak sense* described in (6.50). In particular, if $\varphi = 1$ and $\kappa = 2$, one finds from (6.51) an explicit expression for *Haff's law* is obtained. That is, the optimal cooling rate of the temperature is described by

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{T}_{\varepsilon}(t) &= \frac{1}{|\mathbb{T}^{d}|} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d} \times \mathbb{R}^{d}} F_{\varepsilon}(t, x, v) |v|^{2} \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &= \frac{1}{V_{\varepsilon}(t)^{2}} \bigg(\int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} G_{\alpha}(v) |v|^{2} \mathrm{d}v + \frac{\varepsilon}{2|\mathbb{T}^{d}|} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \big(|v|^{2} - d\vartheta_{1} \big) |v|^{2} \mathcal{M}(v) \, \mathrm{d}v \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \theta(\tau_{\varepsilon}(t), x) \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &+ \frac{\varepsilon}{|\mathbb{T}^{d}|} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} |v|^{2} \mathcal{M}(v) \mathrm{d}v \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \varrho(\tau_{\varepsilon}(t), x) \mathrm{d}x \bigg) + \mathcal{O}\Big(V_{\varepsilon}(t)^{-2-a} \Big) \\ &\approx \frac{d\vartheta_{1}}{V_{\varepsilon}(t)^{2}} \bigg(1 + \frac{\varepsilon}{|\mathbb{T}^{d}|} \left(d\vartheta_{1} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \theta(\tau_{\varepsilon}(t), x) \mathrm{d}x + 2 \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d}} \varrho(\tau_{\varepsilon}(t), x) \mathrm{d}x \right) \bigg) \,, \qquad t \gg \frac{1}{\lambda_{0}} \,. \end{split}$$

Recalling that the fluctuation h_{ε} is such that the average mass and temperature both vanish at all times, we deduce the precised Haff's law

$$T_{\varepsilon}(t) \approx \frac{d\vartheta_1}{V_{\varepsilon}(t)^2}, \qquad t \gg \frac{1}{\lambda_0}.$$

In the Appendix A.2 we complement this discussion and, in particular, show that the Haff's law holds uniformly *locally* in space due to the boundedness of the solutions that we treat here. This is not expected in a general context.

APPENDIX A. ABOUT GRANULAR GASES IN THE SPATIAL HOMOGENEOUS SETTING

We collect several result about the Boltzmann collision operator Q_{α} for granular gases. We recall the definition given in the weak form

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha}(g,f)(v) \psi(v) \mathrm{d}v = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} f(v) g(v_*) |v - v_*| \mathcal{A}_{\alpha}[\psi](v,v_*) \mathrm{d}v_* \mathrm{d}v,$$

where

$$\mathcal{A}_{\alpha}[\psi](v,v_{*}) = \int_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1}} (\psi(v') + \psi(v'_{*}) - \psi(v) - \psi(v_{*}))b(\sigma \cdot \bar{q}) \mathrm{d}\sigma,$$

and the post-collisional velocities (v', v'_*) are given by

$$v' = v + \frac{1+\alpha}{4} (|q|\sigma - q), \qquad v'_* = v_* - \frac{1+\alpha}{4} (|q|\sigma - q),$$

where $q = v - v_*, \qquad \bar{q} = q/|q|.$ (A.1)

A.1. Alternative representation of the velocities. As well-known, the above collision operator is a well-accepted model that describes collisions in a system composed by a large number of granular particles which are assumed to be hard-spheres with equal mass (that we take to be m = 1) and that undertake inelastic collisions. The collision mechanism and the role of the *coefficient of normal restitution* is easier to understand in an alternative representation of the post-collisional velocities. More precisely, if v and v_* denote the velocities of two particles before collision, their respective velocities v' and v'_* after collision are such that

$$(u' \cdot n) = -\alpha(u \cdot n). \tag{A.2}$$

The unitary vector $n \in \mathbb{S}^{d-1}$ determines the impact direction, that is, n stands for the unit vector that points from the v-particle center to the v_* -particle center at the moment of impact. Here above

$$u = v - v_*, \qquad u' = v' - v'_*,$$
 (A.3)

denote respectively the relative velocity before and after collision. The velocities after collision v' and v'_* are given, in virtue of (A.2) and the conservation of momentum, by

$$v' = v - \frac{1+\alpha}{2} (u \cdot n)n, \qquad v'_* = v_* + \frac{1+\alpha}{2} (u \cdot n)n.$$
 (A.4)

In particular, the energy relation and the collision mechanism can be written as

$$|v|^{2} + |v_{*}|^{2} = |v|^{2} + |v_{*}|^{2} - \frac{1 - \alpha^{2}}{2} (u \cdot n)^{2}, \qquad u \cdot n = -\alpha (u \cdot n).$$
(A.5)

Pre-collisional velocities (v, v_*) (resulting in (v, v_*) after collision) can be therefore introduced through the relation

$$v = v - \frac{1+\alpha}{2} (u \cdot n) n, \qquad v_* = v_* + \frac{1+\alpha}{2} (u \cdot n) n, \qquad u = v - v_*$$
 (A.6)

This representation is of course equivalent to the one given in (A.1) (so-called σ -representation) by setting, for a given pair of velocities (v, v_*) ,

$$\sigma = \widehat{u} - 2\,(\widehat{u} \cdot n)n \in \mathbb{S}^{d-1}.$$

Such a description provides an alternative parametrization of the unit sphere \mathbb{S}^{d-1} in which the unit vector σ points in the post-collisional relative velocity direction in the case of elastic collisions. In this case, the impact velocity reads

$$|u \cdot n| = |u| \, |\widehat{u} \cdot n| = |u| \sqrt{\frac{1 - \widehat{u} \cdot \sigma}{2}}.$$

In the *n*-representation, we can explicit the strong form of the collision operator Q_{α} . Namely, for a given pair of distributions f = f(v) and g = g(v) and a given *collision kernel* the Boltzmann collision operator is defined as the difference of two nonnegative operators (gain and loss operators respectively)

$$\mathcal{Q}_{\alpha}(g,f) = \mathcal{Q}^{+}_{\alpha}(g,f) - \mathcal{Q}^{-}_{\alpha}(g,f),$$

with

$$\mathcal{Q}^{+}_{\alpha}(g,f)(v) = \frac{1}{\alpha^{2}} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \mathbb{S}^{d-1}} |u \cdot n| b_{0}(\widehat{u} \cdot n) f('v)g('v_{*}) dv_{*} dn,$$

$$\mathcal{Q}^{-}_{\alpha}(g,f)(v) = f(v) \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d} \times \mathbb{S}^{d-1}} |u \cdot n| b_{0}(\widehat{u} \cdot n)g(v_{*}) dv_{*} dn.$$
(A.7)

where the new angular collision kernel $b_0(\cdot)$ is related to the original one $b(\cdot)$ through the relation

$$b_0(\widehat{u}\cdot n) = 2^{d-1} |\widehat{u}\cdot n|^{d-2} b(\widehat{u}\cdot \sigma).$$

i.e.

$$b_0(x) = 2^{d-1} |x|^{d-2} b(1-2x^2), \qquad x \in [-1,1].$$

Using this representation we prove Lemma 2.1 in Section 2.1.

Proof of Lemma **2**.**1***.* Note that

$$\mathcal{Q}_1(g,f) - \mathcal{Q}_\alpha(g,f) = \mathcal{I}_1(g,f) + \mathcal{I}_2(g,f),$$

where

$$\mathcal{I}_1(g,f) = -\frac{1-\alpha^2}{\alpha^2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1}} g(v_{*,\alpha}) f(v_\alpha) \left| u \cdot n \right| b_0(\hat{u} \cdot n) \mathrm{d}n \mathrm{d}v_*$$

and

$$\mathcal{I}_{2}(g,f) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{d}} \int_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1}} \left(g('v_{*,\alpha}) f('v_{\alpha}) - g('v_{*,1}) f('v_{1}) \right) |u \cdot n| \, b_{0}(\hat{u} \cdot n) \mathrm{d}n \mathrm{d}v_{*} \, .$$

Here we adopt the notation v_1 and v_α for the pre-collisional velocities associate to elastic ($\alpha = 1$) and inelastic ($0 < \alpha < 1$) interactions respectively in the *n*-representation (see (A.6) in Appendix A.1). Therefore, by classical means, there is a positive $c_q > 0$ such that

$$\|\mathcal{I}_1(g,f)\|_{L^1_v(\varpi_q)} \leqslant \frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha^2} c_q \|b_0\|_{L^1(\mathbb{S}^{d-1})} \|g\|_{L^1_v(\varpi_{q+1})} \|f\|_{L^1_v(\varpi_{q+1})}.$$

We estimate then the difference $g(b_{*,\alpha})f(b_{\alpha}) - g(b_{*})f(b)$ thanks to Taylor formula

$$g(v_{*,\alpha})f(v_{\alpha}) - g(v_{*})f(v) = g(v_{*})(f(v_{\alpha}) - f(v)) + (g(v_{*,\alpha}) - g(v_{*}))f(v_{\alpha})$$
$$= g(v_{*})(v_{\alpha} - v) \cdot \int_{0}^{1} \nabla f(v_{t})dt + f(v_{\alpha})(v_{*,\alpha} - v_{*}) \cdot \int_{0}^{1} \nabla g(v_{*,t})dt$$

where we recall that, according to (A.6) in Appendix A.1

$$v_{\alpha} - v = -\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}(u \cdot n)n, \qquad v_{*,\alpha} - v_* = \frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}(u \cdot n)n,$$

and, for 0 < t < 1,

.

We split $\mathcal{I}_2(g, f)$ accordingly into $\mathcal{I}_2(g, f) = \mathcal{I}_2^1(g, f) + \mathcal{I}_2^2(g, f)$. For the term $\mathcal{I}_2^1(g, f)$, we first notice that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| \mathcal{I}_2^1(g,f)(v) \right| \langle v \rangle^q \mathrm{d}v \\ &\leqslant \frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha} \int_0^1 \mathrm{d}t \int_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1}} b_0(\widehat{u} \cdot n) |\widehat{u} \cdot n|^2 \mathrm{d}n \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} |g('v_t - \check{u})| \left| \nabla f('v_t) \right| |u|^2 \langle v \rangle^q \mathrm{d}u \mathrm{d}v. \end{split}$$

We set

$$\tilde{u} := v_t - v_* = u - 2(u \cdot n)n - t \frac{1 - \alpha}{2\alpha} (u \cdot n)n$$

and apply, for fixed n, the change of variables $(v, u) \rightarrow (v_t, \tilde{u})$ (with Jacobian $J_{\alpha}(t) = 1 + t \frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha} \ge 1$). Together with the fact that

$$|u| \leq |'\tilde{u}|, \qquad |v| \leq |'v| + |'v_*| \leq 2|'v_t| + 2|'\tilde{u}|,$$

we obtain that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| \mathcal{I}_2^1(g,f)(v) \right| \langle v \rangle^q \mathrm{d}v &\leqslant \frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha} c_q \int_0^1 \frac{1}{J_\alpha(t)} \mathrm{d}t \int_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1}} b_0(\widehat{u} \cdot n) |\widehat{u} \cdot n|^2 \mathrm{d}n \\ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} |g(v-u) \langle v-u \rangle^{q+2}| \, |\nabla f(v) \langle v \rangle^{q+2} |\mathrm{d}u \mathrm{d}v \\ &\leqslant \frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha} c_q \, \|b_0\|_{L^1(\mathbb{S}^{d-1})} \, \|g\|_{L^1_v(\varpi_{q+2})} \|f\|_{\mathbb{W}_v^{1,1}(\varpi_{q+2})} \,. \end{split}$$

For the term $\mathcal{I}_2^2(g,f)$ we begin with observing that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \left| \mathcal{I}_2^2(g, f)(v) \right| \langle v \rangle^q \mathrm{d}v \\ \leqslant \frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha} \int_0^1 \mathrm{d}t \int_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1}} b_0(\widehat{u} \cdot n) |\widehat{u} \cdot n|^2 \mathrm{d}n \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} \left| f('\widetilde{u}_\alpha + 'v_{*,t}) \right| \left| \nabla g('v_{*,t}) \right| |u|^2 \langle v \rangle^q \mathrm{d}u \mathrm{d}v$$

and set

$${}^{\prime}\tilde{u}_{\alpha} := {}^{\prime}v_{\alpha} - {}^{\prime}v_{*,t} = u - 2(u \cdot n)n - (1+t)\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha}(u \cdot n)n$$

and apply, for fixed *n*, the change of variables $(v_*, u) \to (v_{*,t}, \tilde{u}_{\alpha})$ (with Jacobian $\tilde{J}_{\alpha}(t) = 1 + (1+t)\frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha} \ge 1$). Noticing that

$$|u| \leq |'u_{\alpha}| \leq \frac{2}{1+t} |'\tilde{u}_{\alpha}|, \qquad |v| \leq |'v_{\alpha}| + |'v_{*,\alpha}| \leq 2|'v_{*,t}| + 4|'\tilde{u}_{\alpha}|,$$

it follows that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} \left| \mathcal{I}_2^2(g,f)(v) \right| \langle v \rangle^q \mathrm{d}v &\leqslant \frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha} c_q \int_0^1 \frac{1}{\tilde{J}_\alpha(t)} \mathrm{d}t \int_{\mathbb{S}^{d-1}} b_0(\widehat{u} \cdot n) |\widehat{u} \cdot n|^2 \mathrm{d}n \\ \int_{\mathbb{R}^{2d}} |f(v+u) \langle v+u \rangle^{q+2}| \left| \nabla g(v) \langle v \rangle^{q+2} \right| \mathrm{d}u \mathrm{d}v \\ &\leqslant \frac{1-\alpha}{2\alpha} c_q \left\| f \right\|_{L^1_v(\varpi_{q+2})} \left\| g \right\|_{\mathbb{W}_v^{1,1}(\varpi_{q+2})}. \end{split}$$

Gathering previous estimates proves the first assertion of the Lemma. For higher norms simply differentiate and apply previous estimates for each suitable difference. \Box

A.2. About the original problem in physical variables. Let $F_{\varepsilon}(t, x, v)$ be the solution of the Boltzmann equation (1.8a) with associated Knudsen number ε . Recall that the time-scale functions $\tau_{\varepsilon}(t), V_{\varepsilon}(t)$ that relate the problem in original (physical) variables to its self-similar counterpart

$$F_{\varepsilon}(t, x, v) = V_{\varepsilon}(t)^{d} f_{\varepsilon} \big(\tau_{\varepsilon}(t), x, V_{\varepsilon}(t) v \big)$$

are given by

$$\tau_{\varepsilon}(t) := \frac{1}{c_{\varepsilon}} \ln(1 + c_{\varepsilon} t), \quad V_{\varepsilon}(t) = 1 + c_{\varepsilon} t, \qquad t \ge 0,$$

where $c_{\varepsilon} = \frac{1-\alpha(\varepsilon)}{\varepsilon^2}$. It follows that the explicit equation for f_{ε} is given by

$$\partial_{\tau} f_{\varepsilon} + \varepsilon^{-1} w \cdot \nabla_{x} f_{\varepsilon} = \varepsilon^{-2} \mathcal{Q}(f_{\varepsilon}, f_{\varepsilon}) - \varepsilon^{-2} (1 - \alpha) \nabla_{w}(w f_{\varepsilon}), \quad w = V_{\varepsilon}(t) v$$

as observed in (1.20). Set $f_{\varepsilon}(\tau, x, w) = G_{\alpha(\varepsilon)}(w) + \varepsilon h_{\varepsilon}(\tau, x, w)$ and denote $h(\tau, x, w)$ the weak- \star limit in the space $L^{\infty}((0, \infty); \mathcal{E})$ of the (sub-)sequence $\{h_{\varepsilon}\}$. Define

$$e_{\varepsilon}(t, x, v) = V_{\varepsilon}(t)^d \left(h_{\varepsilon}(\tau_{\varepsilon}(t), x, V_{\varepsilon}(t)v) - \boldsymbol{h}(\tau_{\varepsilon}(t), x, V_{\varepsilon}(t)v) \right).$$

The following error estimate holds.

Lemma A.1. Under Assumption 1.2 and in the regime $\varepsilon \ll 1$, $\lambda_0 > 0$, the following estimation holds for any $a \in (0, 1/2)$, up to possibly extracting a subsequence,

$$\left| \langle e_{\varepsilon}(t), |v|^{\kappa} \varphi \rangle \right| \leqslant C_{\varphi} \sqrt{\mathcal{K}_0} \, V_{\varepsilon}(t)^{-\kappa-a} \,, \qquad \varphi \in L^{\infty}_x \mathcal{C}^1_{v,b} \,, \ 0 \leqslant \kappa \leqslant q-1 \,,$$

where we denoted by $C_{v,b}^1$ the set of C^1 functions in v that are bounded as well as their derivatives and where for any $t \ge 0$,

$$V_{\varepsilon}(t) \approx V_0(t) = (1 + \lambda_0 t), \quad \text{as } \varepsilon \approx 0.$$

Proof. After a change of variables it follows that, for any test-function φ ,

$$\begin{aligned} \langle e_{\varepsilon}(t), |v|^{\kappa} \varphi \rangle \\ &= V_{\varepsilon}(t)^{-\kappa} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d} \times \mathbb{R}^{d}} \left(h_{\varepsilon}(\tau_{\varepsilon}(t), x, v) - \boldsymbol{h}(\tau_{\varepsilon}(t), x, v) \right) |v|^{\kappa} \big(\varphi(x, V_{\varepsilon}(t)^{-1}v) - \varphi(x, 0) \big) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &+ V_{\varepsilon}(t)^{-\kappa} \int_{\mathbb{T}^{d} \times \mathbb{R}^{d}} \left(h_{\varepsilon}(\tau_{\varepsilon}(t), x, v) - \boldsymbol{h}(\tau_{\varepsilon}(t), x, v) \right) |v|^{\kappa} \varphi(x, 0) \, \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \\ &= \mathcal{I}_{1}(t) + \mathcal{I}_{2}(t) \,. \end{aligned}$$

Note that, up to a subsequence, h is the weak $-\star$ limit of $\{h_{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$ in $L^{\infty}((0,\infty); \mathcal{E})$. Thus, for any t > 0, $\|h\|_{L^{\infty}((t,\infty);\mathcal{E})} \leq \liminf_{\varepsilon \searrow 0} \|h_{\varepsilon}\|_{L^{\infty}((t,\infty);\mathcal{E})}$. Consequently, thanks to Theorem 4.14, it holds that

$$\|\boldsymbol{h}\|_{L^{\infty}((t,\infty);\mathcal{E})} \leqslant C \sqrt{K_0} e^{-\frac{\lambda_{\varepsilon}}{2}t}, \qquad t > 0.$$
(A.8)

As a consequence, recalling that $\lambda_{\varepsilon} \simeq c_{\varepsilon}$, it follows that for any $a \in (0, 1/2)$

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{T}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d} \left(h_{\varepsilon}(\tau, x, v) - \boldsymbol{h}(\tau, x, v) \right) |v|^{\kappa} \mathrm{d}v \, \mathrm{d}x \right| \\ \leqslant \| h_{\varepsilon}(\tau_{\varepsilon}(t)) - \boldsymbol{h}(\tau_{\varepsilon}(t)) \|_{L^1_{x,v}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q)} \leqslant C \sqrt{\mathcal{K}_0} \, e^{-\frac{\lambda_{\varepsilon}}{2} \tau_{\varepsilon}(t)} \leqslant C \, V_{\varepsilon}(t)^{-a} \, \sqrt{\mathcal{K}_0} \, .$$

Now, in regard of $\mathcal{I}_1(t)$, note that

$$\left|\varphi(x, V_{\varepsilon}(t)^{-1}v) - \varphi(x, 0)\right| \leq V_{\varepsilon}(t)^{-1} |v| \sup_{x} \sup_{v} \left|\partial_{v}\varphi(x, v)\right| = C_{\varphi} V_{\varepsilon}(t)^{-1} |v|,$$

so that the following holds:

$$\left|\mathcal{I}_{1}(t)\right| \leqslant C_{\varphi} V_{\varepsilon}(t)^{-\kappa-1} \|h_{\varepsilon}(\tau_{\varepsilon}(t)) - \boldsymbol{h}(\tau_{\varepsilon}(t))\|_{L^{1}_{x,v}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q})} \leqslant C_{\varphi} V_{\varepsilon}(t)^{-\kappa-1-a} \sqrt{\mathcal{K}_{0}}.$$

Similarly,

$$\left| \mathcal{I}_{2}(t) \right| \leq C_{\varphi} V_{\varepsilon}(t)^{-\kappa-a} \sqrt{\mathcal{K}}_{0},$$

which proves the desired estimate.

The above computations also allow to provide a *local version of Haff's Law*. Namely, note that

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f_{\varepsilon}(\tau_{\varepsilon}(t), x, w) |w|^{\kappa} \mathrm{d}w \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} G_{\alpha}(w) |w|^{\kappa} \mathrm{d}w + \varepsilon \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} h_{\varepsilon}(\tau_{\varepsilon}(t), x, w) |w|^{\kappa} \mathrm{d}w \,, \qquad 0 \leqslant \kappa \leqslant q \,. \end{split}$$

Thanks to Sobolev embedding it holds that

$$\left|\sup_{x\in\mathbb{T}^d}\int_{\mathbb{R}^d}h_{\varepsilon}(\tau_{\varepsilon}(t),x,w)|w|^{\kappa}\mathrm{d}v\right|\leqslant C_{\kappa}\|h_{\varepsilon}(\tau_{\varepsilon}(t))\|_{\varepsilon}\leqslant C_{\kappa}\sqrt{K_0}\,.$$

Therefore, for sufficiently small $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists two positive constants C_{κ} and c_{κ} such that

$$c_{\kappa} \leqslant \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} f_{\varepsilon}(\tau_{\varepsilon}(t), x, w) |w|^{\kappa} \mathrm{d}w \leqslant C_{\kappa}, \qquad 0 \leqslant \kappa \leqslant q, \ t \ge 0,$$

which leads, for the physical problem, to

$$V_{\varepsilon}(t)^{-\kappa}c_{\kappa} \leqslant \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} F_{\varepsilon}(t,x,v)|v|^{\kappa} \mathrm{d}v \leqslant V_{\varepsilon}(t)^{-\kappa}C_{\kappa}, \qquad 0 \leqslant \kappa \leqslant q, \ t \ge 0.$$

In particular, this estimate renders a local version of Haff's law

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^d} F_{\varepsilon}(t, x, v) |v|^2 \mathrm{d}v \sim \left(1 + c_{\varepsilon} t\right)^{-2}, \qquad \forall t \ge 0, \quad x \in \mathbb{T}^d.$$

APPENDIX B. TOOLS FOR THE HYDRODYNAMIC LIMIT

We collect several tools that are used in Section 6.2 to derive the modified incompressible Navier-Stokes system. Various known computations regarding the elastic Boltzmann operator are needed. As in the classical case, we introduce the traceless tensor

$$\mathbf{A}(v) = v \otimes v - \frac{1}{d} |v|^2 \mathbf{Id}.$$

Notice that that (6.18) can be rewritten thanks to (6.13) as

$$v \cdot \nabla_x \mathbf{h} = \mathbf{A}(v) \mathcal{M}(v) : \nabla_x u + \mathbf{b}(v) \mathcal{M}(v) \cdot \nabla_x \theta,$$

with

$$\boldsymbol{b}(v) = \frac{1}{2} \left(|v|^2 - (d+2)\vartheta_1 \right) v \in \mathbb{R}^d.$$

Lemma B.1. One has that $A, b \in \text{Range}(\mathbf{I} - \pi_0)$ and there exists two radial functions $\chi_i = \chi_i(|v|), i = 1, 2$, such that

$$\phi(v) = \chi_1(|v|) \mathbf{A}(v) \in \mathscr{M}_d(\mathbb{R}), \text{ and } \psi(v) = \chi_2(|v|) \mathbf{b}(v) \in \mathbb{R}^d,$$

satisfy

$$\mathbf{L}_1(\phi \,\mathcal{M}) = -\boldsymbol{A} \,\mathcal{M} \,, \qquad \mathbf{L}_1(\psi \,\mathcal{M}) = -\boldsymbol{b} \,\mathcal{M} \,. \tag{B.1}$$

Moreover,

$$\left\langle \phi^{i,j} \mathbf{L}_{1}(\phi^{k,\ell} \mathcal{M}) \right\rangle = -\boldsymbol{\nu} \left(\delta_{ik} \delta_{j\ell} + \delta_{i\ell} \delta_{jk} - \frac{2}{d} \delta_{ij} \delta_{kl} \right)$$
$$\left\langle \psi_{i} \mathbf{L}_{1}(\psi_{j} \mathcal{M}) \right\rangle = -\frac{d+2}{2} \gamma \, \delta_{ij}, \qquad i, j, k, \ell \in \{1, \dots, d\}, \quad (B.2)$$

with

$$\boldsymbol{\nu} := -\frac{1}{(d-1)(d+2)} \Big\langle \phi : \mathbf{L}_1(\phi \mathcal{M}) \Big\rangle \ge 0, \qquad \gamma := -\frac{2}{d(d+2)} \Big\langle \psi \cdot \mathbf{L}_1(\psi \mathcal{M}) \Big\rangle \ge 0.$$

Finally,

$$\phi^{i,j}(v) \lesssim \boldsymbol{\varpi}_3(v), \qquad \psi_i(v) \lesssim \boldsymbol{\varpi}_4(v), \qquad i, j \in \{1, \dots, d\}.$$

Proof. The tensor *A* and the vector *b* satisfy

$$\left\langle \mathbf{A}^{k,\ell}\Psi_{i}\mathcal{M}\right\rangle = 0, \quad \left\langle \mathbf{b}\Psi_{i}\mathcal{M}\right\rangle = 0, \quad \forall i = 1,\dots,d+2, \qquad k,\ell \in \{1,\dots,d\},$$
(B.3)

from which we get that $A, b \in \text{Range}(\mathbf{I} - \pi_0)$. We refer to [23] and [9] for the proof of the second part of the Lemma, just mind that the linearized Boltzmann operator considered in such references is defined as $Lg = -\mathcal{M}^{-1}\mathbf{L}_1(\mathcal{M}g)$. We refer to [9, Lemma 4.4] for the proof of (B.2). We refer to [32, Proposition 6.5] for the last estimates on $\phi^{i,j}$ and ψ . \Box

Remark B.2. Notice that if $\zeta = \zeta(|v|)$ is radially symmetric, then

$$\left\langle \zeta \, \boldsymbol{A}^{i,j} \, \mathcal{M} \right\rangle = \left\langle \zeta \, \mathbf{L}_1(\phi \, \mathcal{M}) \right\rangle = 0, \qquad \forall \, i, j = 1, \dots, d$$

Lemma B.3. For h given by (6.7), it holds that

$$\left\langle \phi \, \mathcal{Q}_1(\boldsymbol{h}, \boldsymbol{h}) \right
angle = \vartheta_1^2 \left(u \otimes u - rac{2}{d} |u|^2 \mathbf{Id}
ight) \,,$$

for any i, j = 1, ..., d.

Proof. As observed in [21, Eq. (60)], if $g\mathcal{M} \in \text{Ker}(\mathbf{L}_1)$ then $\mathcal{Q}_1(g\mathcal{M}, g\mathcal{M}) = -\frac{1}{2}\mathbf{L}_1(g^2\mathcal{M})$. Therefore, with $g = \varrho + u \cdot v + \frac{1}{2}(|v|^2 - 2\vartheta_1)$,

$$\mathcal{Q}_1(\boldsymbol{h},\boldsymbol{h}) = -\frac{1}{2}\mathbf{L}_1((u \cdot v)^2 \mathcal{M}) - \frac{1}{8}\theta^2 \mathbf{L}_1(|v|^4 \mathcal{M}) + \theta \, u \cdot \mathbf{L}_1(\frac{1}{2}|v|^2 v \mathcal{M}). \tag{B.4}$$

One checks that

$$\left\langle \phi^{i,j} \mathbf{L}_1(|v|^4 \mathcal{M}) \right\rangle = 0$$

whereas $\mathbf{L}_1(\frac{1}{2}|v|^2 v \mathcal{M}) = \mathbf{L}_1(\boldsymbol{b}\mathcal{M})$, from which

$$\left\langle \phi^{i,j} \mathbf{L}_1(\frac{1}{2} |v|^2 v \mathcal{M}) \right\rangle = \left\langle b \mathbf{L}_1(\phi^{i,j} \mathcal{M}) \right\rangle = -\left\langle b \mathbf{A}^{i,j} \mathcal{M} \right\rangle = 0,$$

since $b A^{i,j}$ is an even function. Therefore, we obtain that

$$\left\langle \phi^{i,j} \mathcal{Q}_1(\boldsymbol{h}, \boldsymbol{h}) \right\rangle = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{k,\ell} u_k u_\ell \left\langle \phi^{i,j} \mathbf{L}_1(v_k v_\ell \mathcal{M}) \right\rangle = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{k,\ell} u_k u_\ell \left\langle v_k v_\ell \boldsymbol{A}^{i,j} \mathcal{M} \right\rangle.$$
(B.5)

As for (B.2), one checks that if $i \neq j$

$$\sum_{k,\ell} u_k u_\ell \left\langle v_k v_\ell \mathbf{A}^{i,j} \mathcal{M} \right\rangle = \sum_{\{k,\ell\} = \{i,j\}} u_k u_\ell \left\langle v_i^2 v_j^2 \mathcal{M} \right\rangle = 2 u_i u_j \left\langle v_i^2 v_j^2 \mathcal{M} \right\rangle,$$

whereas, for i = j,

$$\sum_{k,\ell} u_k u_\ell \left\langle v_k v_\ell \mathbf{A}^{i,i} \mathcal{M} \right\rangle = \sum_{k=1}^d u_k^2 \left(\left\langle v_i^2 v_k^2 \mathcal{M} \right\rangle - \frac{1}{d} \left\langle v_k^2 |v|^2 \mathcal{M} \right\rangle \right) \,.$$

Notice that $a := \left\langle v_i^2 v_j^2 \mathcal{M} \right\rangle$ is independent of i, j, thus, it is not difficult to check that

$$(d-1)a = \frac{1}{d} \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} |v|^4 \mathcal{M} \mathrm{d}v - \int_{\mathbb{R}^d} v_1^4 \mathcal{M}(v) \mathrm{d}v = (d-1)\vartheta_1^2,$$

that is, $a=\vartheta_1^2.$ In the same way, for any $k\in\{1,\ldots,d\}$

$$\left\langle v_k^2 |v|^2 \mathcal{M} \right\rangle = \frac{1}{d} \left\langle |v|^4 \mathcal{M} \right\rangle = (d+2)\vartheta_1^2,$$

whereas

$$\left\langle v_k^2 v_i^2 \mathcal{M} \right\rangle = \begin{cases} a = \vartheta_1^2 & \text{if } k \neq i \,, \\ \left\langle v_i^4 \mathcal{M} \right\rangle = 3 \vartheta_1^2 & \text{if } k = i \,, \end{cases}$$

so that,

$$\sum_{k,\ell} u_k u_\ell \left\langle v_k v_\ell \mathbf{A}^{i,i} \mathcal{M} \right\rangle = \vartheta_1^2 \sum_{k \neq i} u_k^2 + 3\vartheta_1^2 u_i^2 - \frac{d+2}{d} |u|^2 \vartheta_1^2 = 2\vartheta_1^2 u_i^2 - \frac{2}{d} \vartheta_1^2 |u|^2.$$

Gathering these last computations, we get

$$\left\langle \phi^{i,j} \mathcal{Q}_1((u \cdot v)\mathcal{M}, (u \cdot v)\mathcal{M}) \right\rangle = \vartheta_1^2 \left(u_i u_j - \frac{2}{d} |u|^2 \delta_{i,j} \right) \,,$$

which, combined with (B.5) gives the result.

Lemma B.4. Let h be given by (6.7). For any i, j = 1, ..., d it holds that

$$\left\langle v_{\ell} \phi^{i,j} \mathbf{h} \right\rangle = \begin{cases} \mathbf{\nu} u_{j} & \text{if } i \neq j, \ \ell = i, \\ \mathbf{\nu} u_{i} & \text{if } i \neq j, \ \ell = j, \\ -\frac{2}{d} \mathbf{\nu} u_{\ell} + 2 \mathbf{\nu} u_{i} \delta_{i\ell} & \text{if } i = j, \\ 0 & \text{else.} \end{cases}$$

Proof. Using the fact that χ_1 is radial, similar computations to that of Lemma B.3 imply that for $\ell \in \{1, \ldots, d\}$,

$$\left\langle v_{\ell} \phi^{i,j} \mathbf{h} \right\rangle = \sum_{k=1}^{d} u_{k} \left\langle v_{\ell} v_{k} \phi^{i,j} \mathcal{M} \right\rangle = \sum_{k=1}^{d} u_{k} \left\langle v_{\ell} v_{k} \phi^{i,j} \mathcal{M} \right\rangle$$
$$= \sum_{k=1}^{d} u_{k} \left(\left\langle \mathbf{A}^{k,\ell} \phi^{i,j} \mathcal{M} \right\rangle + \frac{1}{d} \left\langle |v|^{2} \phi^{i,j} \mathcal{M} \right\rangle \delta_{k\ell} \right)$$
$$= -\sum_{k=1}^{d} u_{k} \left\langle \phi^{i,j} \mathbf{L}_{1}(\phi^{k,\ell} \mathcal{M}) \right\rangle,$$

where we used that $\mathbf{L}_1(\phi \mathcal{M}) = -A\mathcal{M}$ and $\langle |v|^2 \phi^{i,j} \mathcal{M} \rangle = 0$. This gives the result thanks to (B.2).

Lemma B.5. Let h be given by (6.7). For any $i = 1, \ldots, d$ it holds that

$$\left\langle \psi_i \, \mathcal{Q}_1(\boldsymbol{h}, \boldsymbol{h}) \right\rangle = \frac{d+2}{2} \vartheta_1^3 \left(\theta \, u_i \right),$$

and, if ρ and θ satisfies Boussinesq relation (6.14), then

$$\operatorname{div}_x \left\langle \psi_i \, \boldsymbol{h} \, v \right\rangle = \gamma \frac{d+2}{2} \partial_{x_i} \theta.$$

Proof. On the one hand, using (B.4) it holds that

$$\left\langle \psi_i \mathcal{Q}_1(\boldsymbol{h}, \boldsymbol{h}) \right\rangle = \theta \, u \cdot \left\langle \psi_i \mathbf{L}_1(\frac{1}{2} |v|^2 v \mathcal{M}) \right\rangle = \theta \, u \cdot \left\langle \psi_i \, \mathbf{L}_1(\boldsymbol{b} \mathcal{M}) \right\rangle,$$

since, ψ_i being odd, one has $\left\langle \psi_i \mathbf{L}_1((u \cdot v)^2 \mathcal{M}) \right\rangle = \left\langle \psi_i \mathbf{L}_1(|v|^4 \mathcal{M}) \right\rangle = 0$. Now,

$$\left\langle \psi_i \mathbf{L}_1(\boldsymbol{b}\mathcal{M}) \right\rangle = \left\langle \boldsymbol{b} \mathbf{L}_1(\psi_i \mathcal{M}) \right\rangle = -\left\langle \boldsymbol{b}\mathcal{M} \, \boldsymbol{b}_i \right\rangle,$$

and a direct computations show that

$$\left\langle \boldsymbol{b}_{j}\boldsymbol{b}_{i}\mathcal{M}\right\rangle = -\frac{1}{4d}\left\langle \left(|v|^{2}-(d+2)\vartheta_{1}\right)^{2}|v|^{2}\mathcal{M}\right\rangle \delta_{ij} = -\frac{d+2}{2}\vartheta_{1}^{3}\delta_{ij},$$

which gives the expression for $\langle \psi_i Q_1(h, h) \rangle$. On the other hand, using symmetry properties, one checks that

$$\left\langle \psi_i \boldsymbol{h} \, v_\ell \right\rangle = \varrho \left\langle \psi_i v_i \mathcal{M} \right\rangle \delta_{i\ell} + \frac{1}{2} \theta \left\langle \psi_i (|v|^2 - d\vartheta_1) v_i \mathcal{M} \right\rangle \delta_{i\ell} \,,$$

from which

$$\operatorname{div}_{x}\left\langle\psi_{i}\,\boldsymbol{h}\,v\right\rangle = \left\langle\psi_{i}v_{i}\mathcal{M}\right\rangle\partial_{x_{i}}\varrho + \frac{1}{2}\left\langle\psi_{i}\left(|v|^{2} - d\vartheta_{1}\right)v_{i}\mathcal{M}\right\rangle\partial_{x_{i}}\theta.$$

Writing $\frac{1}{2} \langle \psi_i(|v|^2 - d\vartheta_1) v_i \mathcal{M} \rangle = \langle \psi_i \mathbf{b}_i \mathcal{M} \rangle + \vartheta_1 \langle \psi_i v_i \mathcal{M} \rangle$ and using Boussinesq relation (6.14), one gets that

$$\operatorname{div}_{x}\left\langle\psi_{i}\,\boldsymbol{h}\,v\right\rangle = \left\langle\psi_{i}\,\boldsymbol{b}_{i}\mathcal{M}\right\rangle\partial_{x_{i}}\theta = \gamma \frac{d+2}{2}\partial_{x_{i}}\theta,$$

where the identity $\langle \psi_i \boldsymbol{b}_i \mathcal{M} \rangle = - \langle \psi_i \mathbf{L}_1(\psi_i \mathcal{M}) \rangle$ was used together with (B.2).

In Lemma 6.11, we study the convergence of some term involving the source term S_{ε} defined in (6.29). To do that, we use the next Lemma which provides a strong convergence to 0 of this source term.

Lemma B.6. Let S_{ε} defined in (6.29). We have that

$$\|oldsymbol{S}_{arepsilon}\|_{L^1((0,T);L^1_xL^1_v(oldsymbol{arphi}_q)}\lesssimarepsilon.$$

Proof. We decompose S_{ε} into three parts using the splitting $h_{\varepsilon} = h_{\varepsilon}^0 + h_{\varepsilon}^1$: $S_{\varepsilon} = S_{\varepsilon}^0 + S_{\varepsilon}^1 + S_{\varepsilon}^2$ with

$$\mathbf{S}_{\varepsilon}^{j} := \varepsilon^{-1} \left(\mathbf{L}_{\alpha} h_{\varepsilon}^{j} - \mathbf{L}_{1} h_{\varepsilon}^{j} \right) + \mathcal{Q}_{\alpha} (h_{\varepsilon}^{j}, h_{\varepsilon}^{j}) - \mathcal{Q}_{1} (h_{\varepsilon}^{j}, h_{\varepsilon}^{j}) - \varepsilon^{-1} \kappa_{\alpha} \nabla_{v} \cdot (v h_{\varepsilon}^{j}), \quad j = 0, 1,$$

and

$$\boldsymbol{S}_{\varepsilon}^{\boldsymbol{2}} := 2\widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{\alpha}(h_{\varepsilon}^{0}, h_{\varepsilon}^{1}) - 2\widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{1}(h_{\varepsilon}^{0}, h_{\varepsilon}^{1}).$$

The terms S_{ε}^{0} and S_{ε}^{2} are treated using the estimate on h_{ε}^{0} and h_{ε}^{1} stated in (6.8)-(6.9). Indeed, using standard estimates on Q_{α} and Q_{1} , we have:

$$\begin{split} \| \boldsymbol{S}_{\varepsilon}^{\boldsymbol{0}} + \boldsymbol{S}_{\varepsilon}^{\boldsymbol{2}} \|_{L^{1}((0,T);L_{x}^{1}L_{v}^{1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q}))} \lesssim \| h_{\varepsilon}^{0} \|_{L^{1}((0,T);\mathcal{E}_{1})} \\ &+ \| h_{\varepsilon}^{0} \|_{L^{1}((0,T);\mathcal{E}_{1})} (\| h_{\varepsilon}^{0} \|_{L^{\infty}((0,T);\mathcal{E})} + \| h_{\varepsilon}^{1} \|_{L^{\infty}((0,T);\mathcal{H})}) + \varepsilon \| h_{\varepsilon}^{0} \|_{L^{1}((0,T);\mathcal{E}_{1})} \lesssim \varepsilon^{2}. \end{split}$$

Using now (6.8) and Lemma 2.1, we have:

$$\begin{aligned} \|\boldsymbol{S}_{\varepsilon}^{1}\|_{L^{1}((0,T);L_{x}^{1}L_{v}^{1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q}))} &\lesssim \varepsilon \|h_{\varepsilon}^{1}\|_{L^{1}((0,T);\mathcal{H})} \\ &+ \varepsilon^{2}\|h_{\varepsilon}^{1}\|_{L^{1}((0,T);\mathcal{H})}\|h_{\varepsilon}^{1}\|_{L^{\infty}((0,T);\mathcal{H})} + \varepsilon \|h_{\varepsilon}^{1}\|_{L^{1}((0,T);\mathcal{H})} \lesssim \varepsilon \end{aligned}$$

which yields the result.

To handle the convergence of nonlinear terms, we will need to resort to the following compensated compactness result extracted from [45] (see also [30, Lemma 13.1, Appendix D]. The original result in [45] is proven in the whole space but is easily adapted to the case of the torus.

Proposition B.7. Let $c \neq 0$ and T > 0. Consider two families $\{\phi_{\varepsilon}\}_{\varepsilon}$ and $\{\psi_{\varepsilon}\}$ bounded in $L^{\infty}((0,T); L^2_x(\mathbb{T}^d))$ and in $L^{\infty}((0,T); \mathbb{W}^{1,2}_x(\mathbb{T}^d))$ respectively, such that

$$\begin{cases} \partial_t \nabla_x \psi_{\varepsilon} + \frac{c^2}{\varepsilon} \nabla_x \phi_{\varepsilon} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} F_{\varepsilon} \\ \\ \partial_t \phi_{\varepsilon} + \frac{1}{\varepsilon} \Delta_x \psi_{\varepsilon} = \frac{1}{\varepsilon} G_{\varepsilon} \end{cases}$$

where F_{ε} and G_{ε} converge strongly in $L^1((0,T); L^2_x(\mathbb{T}^d))$. Then,

$$\mathcal{P}\mathrm{Div}_x\left(\nabla_x\psi_\varepsilon\otimes\nabla_x\psi_\varepsilon\right)\longrightarrow 0,\qquad \mathrm{div}_x\left(\phi_\varepsilon\nabla_x\psi_\varepsilon\right)\longrightarrow 0$$

in the sense of distributions on $(0,T) \times \mathbb{T}^d$.

Appendix C. Proof of Theorem 2.10 and Proposition 2.13

Theorem C.1 (See Theorem 2.1, [15]). There exists $\varepsilon_0 \in (0,1)$ such that, for all $\ell, s \in \mathbb{N}$ with $\ell \ge s$ and q > 2 and any $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0)$, the full transport operator $\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}$ generates a C_0 semigroup $\{\mathcal{V}_{1,\varepsilon}(t) ; t \ge 0\}$ on $\mathbb{W}_x^{\ell,1}\mathbb{W}_v^{s,1}(\varpi_q)$ such that, for all $t_* > 0$ there exist $C_0(t_*)$, $\mu_* > 0$ such that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{V}_{1,\varepsilon}(t)h - \mathbf{P}_0h\|_{\mathbb{W}^{\ell,1}_x \mathbb{W}^{s,1}_v(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q)} \\ &\leq C_0(t_\star) \exp(-\mu_\star t) \|h - \mathbf{P}_0h\|_{\mathbb{W}^{\ell,1}_x \mathbb{W}^{s,1}_v(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q)}, \qquad \forall t > t_\star, \quad (\mathbf{C}.1) \end{aligned}$$

holds true for any $h_0 \in \mathbb{W}_x^{\ell,1} \mathbb{W}_v^{s,1}(\varpi_q)$, where \mathbf{P}_0 is the spectral projection onto $\operatorname{Ker}(\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}) = \operatorname{Ker}(\mathcal{L}_1)$ which is independent of ε and given by (2.22).

The difference between Theorems 2.10 and C.1 lies in the fact that, in Theorem 2.10, we allow $t_{\star} = 0$ in the decay estimate (C.1). The "initial layer" dependence on $t_{\star} > 0$ in (C.1) is inherent to the method of the enlargement semigroup theory of [34].

Theorem C.1 ensures that $\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}$ is the generator of a C_0 -semigroup $\{\mathcal{V}_{1,\varepsilon}(t) ; t \ge 0\}$ on \mathcal{E} as soon as q > 2 and $\varepsilon \in (0, \varepsilon_0)$. We focus on extending (C.1) to $t_* := 0$.

Proof of Theorem 2.10. We adopt the decomposition of the nonlinear part of [15] that we used in Section 4. Namely, for some *fixed* $h \in \mathbb{W}_x^{\ell,1} \mathbb{W}_v^{s,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q)$ we set

$$f_{\rm in} := h - \mathbf{P}_0 h$$

and write $f(t) = \mathcal{V}_{1,\varepsilon}(t)f_{\text{in}}$ as $f(t) = f^0(t) + f^1(t)$ with $f^0 \in \mathbb{W}_x^{\ell,1}\mathbb{W}_v^{s,1}(\varpi_q)$ solution to $\partial_t f^0(t) = \mathcal{B}_{1,\varepsilon}f^0, \qquad f^0(0) = f_{\text{in}},$ (C.2)

whereas $f^1 \in \mathcal{H} := H^{\ell}_{x,v}(\mathcal{M}^{-\frac{1}{2}})$, is solution to

$$\partial_t f^1(t) = \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon} f^1(t) + \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} f^0(t), \qquad f^1(0) = 0.$$
(C.3)

As before, the same notations for the operators $\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}$, $\mathcal{V}_{1,\varepsilon}(t)$ acting on various different spaces is used. The definition should be clear from the context. Of course,

$$f^0(t) = \mathcal{S}_{1,\varepsilon}(t) f_{\text{in}}$$

and

$$\|f^{0}(t)\|_{\mathbb{W}^{\ell,1}_{x}\mathbb{W}^{s,1}_{v}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q})} \leqslant C_{0} \exp(-\varepsilon^{-2}\nu_{0}t)\|f_{\mathrm{in}}\|_{\mathbb{W}^{\ell,1}_{x}\mathbb{W}^{s,1}_{v}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q})},$$
(C.4)

since $\mathcal{B}_{1,\varepsilon}$ is $\varepsilon^{-2}\nu_0$ hypo-dissipative (ν_0 depends on ℓ, m). The constant C_0 is independent of ε . Let us investigate $||f^1(t)||_{\mathcal{H}}$. Notice that, since $\mathbf{P}_0 f = 0$, $\mathbf{P}_0 f^1 = -\mathbf{P}_0 f^0$ (recall that the projection is the same in \mathcal{H} and $\mathbb{W}_x^{\ell,1}\mathbb{W}_v^{s,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q)$ and independent of ε), the estimate for $\mathbf{P}_0 f^1$ is straightforward

$$\|\mathbf{P}_0 f^1(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \leqslant C_1 \exp(-\varepsilon^{-2}\nu_0 t) \|f_{\mathrm{in}}\|_{\mathbb{W}^{\ell,1}_x \mathbb{W}^{s,1}_v(\varpi_q)},$$
(C.5)

where the constant C_1 differs from C_0 just because the norm of the eigenfunctions are different in \mathcal{H} and $\mathbb{W}_x^{\ell,1}\mathbb{W}_v^{s,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q)$. We focus on

$$\psi(t) = \mathbf{P}_0^{\perp} f^1(t) = (\mathbf{Id} - \mathbf{P}_0) f^1(t).$$

One has

$$\partial_t \psi(t) = \mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon} \psi(t) + \mathbf{P}_0^{\perp} \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} f^0(t) \,,$$

and, arguing as in [14, Section 7.2] (see also [15, Theorem 4.7 and Remark 4.8]) one has

$$\frac{1}{2} \|\psi(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \leqslant \frac{1}{2} \|\psi(0)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 e^{-\mu_{\star} t} + \int_0^t e^{-\mu_{\star}(t-s)} \|\psi(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \|\mathbf{P}_0^{\perp} \mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon} f^0(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \mathrm{d}s$$

with $\mu_{\star} > 0$ independent of ε which is the size of the spectral gap of $\mathcal{G}_{1,\varepsilon}$. Recalling that $\psi(0) = 0$ and $\|\mathcal{A}_{\varepsilon}\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{W}^{\ell,1}_{x}\mathbb{W}^{s,1}_{v}(\varpi_{q}),\mathcal{H})} \leq C_{A}\varepsilon^{-2}$, we get that

$$\|\psi(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \leqslant \frac{2C_A}{\varepsilon^2} \int_0^t e^{-\mu_\star(t-s)} \|\psi(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \|f^0(s)\|_{\mathbb{W}_x^{\ell,1}\mathbb{W}_v^{s,1}(\varpi_q)} \mathrm{d}s.$$

We use (C.4) to deduce that

$$\|\psi(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \leqslant \frac{2C_0C_A}{\varepsilon^2} \int_0^t e^{-\mu_\star(t-s)} e^{-\frac{\nu_0}{\varepsilon^2}s} \|\psi(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}} \|f_{\mathrm{in}}\|_{\mathbb{W}_x^{\ell,1}\mathbb{W}_v^{s,1}(\varpi_q)} \mathrm{d}s$$

Then, Young's inequality leads to

$$\begin{aligned} \|\psi(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} &\leqslant \frac{C_{0}C_{A}e^{-\mu_{\star}t}}{\varepsilon^{2}} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-(\frac{\nu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}-\mu_{\star})s} \|\psi(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \mathrm{d}s \\ &+ \frac{C_{0}C_{A}e^{-\mu_{\star}t}}{\varepsilon^{2}} \|f_{\mathrm{in}}\|_{\mathbb{W}_{x}^{\ell,1}\mathbb{W}_{v}^{s,1}(\varpi_{q})}^{2} \int_{0}^{t} e^{-(\frac{\nu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}-\mu_{\star})s} \mathrm{d}s. \end{aligned}$$

If $\varepsilon^{-2}\nu_0>2\mu_\star$ we get after integration that

$$\|\psi(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \leqslant \frac{2C_{0}C_{A}e^{-\mu_{\star}t}}{\nu_{0}}\|f_{\mathrm{in}}\|_{\mathbb{W}_{x}^{\ell,1}\mathbb{W}_{v}^{s,1}(\varpi_{q})}^{2} + \frac{C_{0}C_{A}e^{-\mu_{\star}t}}{\varepsilon^{2}}\int_{0}^{t}e^{-(\frac{\nu_{0}}{\varepsilon^{2}}-\mu_{\star})s}\|\psi(s)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2}\mathrm{d}s.$$

With $x(t) = e^{\mu_{\star} t} \|\psi(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2$ it follows that

$$x(t) \leqslant \frac{2C_0C_A}{\nu_0} \|f_{\mathrm{in}}\|^2_{\mathbb{W}^{\ell,1}_x \mathbb{W}^{s,1}_v(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q)} + \frac{C_0C_A}{\varepsilon^2} \int_0^t e^{-\frac{\nu_0}{\varepsilon^2}s} x(s) \mathrm{d}s$$

and Gronwall's lemma gives

$$x(t) \leqslant \frac{2C_0 C_A}{\nu_0} \|f_{\rm in}\|_{\mathbb{W}^{\ell,1}_x \mathbb{W}^{s,1}_v(\varpi_q)}^2 \exp\left(\frac{C_0 C_A}{\nu_0}\right) = C_2 \|f_{\rm in}\|_{\mathbb{W}^{\ell,1}_x \mathbb{W}^{s,1}_v(\varpi_q)}^2,$$

with $C_2 > 0$ independent of ε . Therefore

$$\|\psi(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^2 \leqslant C_2 \|f_{\mathrm{in}}\|_{\mathbb{W}^{\ell,1}_x \mathbb{W}^{s,1}_v(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q)}^2 \exp(-\mu_\star t).$$

This combined with (C.5) gives that

$$\|f^{1}(t)\|_{\mathcal{H}}^{2} \leq (C_{2} + C_{1})\|f_{\text{in}}\|_{\mathbb{W}_{x}^{\ell,1}\mathbb{W}_{v}^{s,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q})}^{2} \exp(-\mu_{\star} t).$$

Overall, the estimates for f^0 and f^1 lead to

$$\|f(t)\|_{\mathcal{E}} \leqslant C_3 \|f_{\mathrm{in}}\|_{\mathbb{W}^{\ell,1}_x \mathbb{W}^{s,1}_v(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q)} \exp\left(-\frac{\mu_{\star}}{2}t\right), \qquad \forall t \ge 0,$$

with C_3 independent of ε and given by $C_0 + \sqrt{C_1 + C_2}$ as long as $\nu_0 \varepsilon^{-2} > \mu_{\star}$.

Proof of Proposition 2.13. Notations are those of Proposition 2.13. We recall here that, on the Banach space $\mathbb{W}_x^{\ell,1}\mathbb{W}_v^{s,1}(\varpi_q)$,

$$\mathcal{B}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)} = \mathcal{B}_{1,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)} + \varepsilon^{-2} \mathcal{P}_{\alpha} + \varepsilon^{-2} T_{\alpha}$$

with domain $\mathscr{D}(\mathcal{B}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)}) = \mathbb{W}_x^{\ell+1,1}\mathbb{W}_v^{s+1,1}(\varpi_{q+1})$. Recall that we can find an equivalent norm on $\mathbb{W}_x^{\ell,1}\mathbb{W}_v^{s,1}(\varpi_q)$ for which $\mathcal{B}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)} + \varepsilon^{-2}\nu_{\ell,s}$ is dissipative. According to Lumer-Phillips Theorem, see [25, Proposition 3.14 & Theorem 3.15], in order to show that $\mathcal{B}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)}$ generates a C_0 -semigroup it suffices to prove that there exists $\lambda > 0$ large enough such that

$$\operatorname{Range}(\lambda - \mathcal{B}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)}) = \mathbb{W}_x^{\ell,1} \mathbb{W}_v^{s,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q).$$
(C.6)

Clearly, one can replace without loss of generality $\mathcal{B}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)}$ with $\varepsilon^2 \mathcal{B}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)}$. Denote for simplicity

$$X = \mathbb{W}_x^{\ell,1} \mathbb{W}_v^{s,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_q), \qquad B_\alpha := \varepsilon^2 \mathcal{B}_{\alpha,\varepsilon}^{(\delta)}$$

omitting the dependence with respect to ε and δ . It follows that

$$B_{\alpha} = \mathscr{L}_{1}^{R,\delta} - \Sigma_{\mathcal{M}} - \varepsilon v \cdot \nabla_{x} + \mathcal{P}_{\alpha} + T_{\alpha}.$$

Introduce the following operator

$$\mathcal{T}_{\alpha}h := -\varepsilon v \cdot \nabla_x h + T_{\alpha}h - \Sigma_{\mathcal{M}}h = -\varepsilon v \cdot \nabla_x h - \kappa_{\alpha} \operatorname{div}_v(vh) - \Sigma_{\mathcal{M}}h$$

with domain $\mathscr{D}(\mathcal{T}_{\alpha}) = \mathbb{W}_{x}^{\ell+1,1} \mathbb{W}_{v}^{s+1,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q+1})$. It is not difficult to check that \mathcal{T}_{α} generates a C_{0} -semigroup in X given by

$$e^{t\mathcal{T}_{\alpha}}g(x,v) = \exp\left(-\int_{0}^{t} d\kappa_{\alpha} + \Sigma_{\mathcal{M}}(ve^{\kappa_{\alpha}(s-t)})\mathrm{d}s\right)g\left(x - \frac{\varepsilon}{\kappa_{\alpha}}\left(1 - e^{-\kappa_{\alpha}t}\right)v, ve^{-\kappa_{\alpha}t}\right).$$

In particular,

$$\lim_{\lambda \to \infty} \|\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{T}_{\alpha})\|_{\mathscr{B}(X)} = 0.$$
(C.7)

Moreover, one has the following gain of integrability for the resolvent of \mathcal{T}_{α} : there is $\alpha_1 \in (0,1)$ such that, for $\alpha \in (\alpha_1, 1)$ there is c > 0 and $\lambda(\alpha) > 0$

$$\left\|\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{T}_{\alpha})\right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{W}_{x}^{\ell,1}\mathbb{W}_{v}^{s,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q}),\mathbb{W}_{x}^{\ell,1}\mathbb{W}_{v}^{s,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q+1}))} \leq \frac{1}{\sigma - c\kappa_{\alpha}}, \qquad \forall \, \lambda > \lambda(\alpha), \tag{C.8}$$

where σ is an explicit positive constant depending only on $\Sigma_{\mathcal{M}}$. The proof of such a property is an easy adaptation of [2, Lemma C.14] whenever k = s = 0 and extends to $k \ge s \ge 0$ following techniques from [49], we leave the details to the reader. One also has the following result, see the proof of [18, Lemma B.1 & Proposition B.2]: there exists $\tau(\delta) > 0$ such that $\lim_{\delta \to 0} \tau(\delta) = 0$ and

$$\left\| \mathscr{L}_{1,+}^{R,\delta} \right\|_{\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{W}_{x}^{\ell,1}\mathbb{W}_{v}^{s,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q+1}),\mathbb{W}_{x}^{\ell,1}\mathbb{W}_{v}^{s,1}(\boldsymbol{\varpi}_{q}))} \leq \tau(\delta),$$
(C.9)

while $\mathscr{L}_{1,-}^{R,\delta} \in \mathscr{B}(X)$. With these two properties, introduce the sum $\mathcal{C}_{\alpha} := \mathscr{L}_{1,+}^{R,\delta} + \mathcal{T}_{\alpha}$ with domain $\mathscr{D}(\mathcal{C}_{\alpha}) = \mathscr{D}(\mathcal{T}_{\alpha})$. We have directly from the previous two properties (C.8) and (C.9)

$$\left\|\mathscr{L}_{1,+}^{R,\delta}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{T}_{\alpha})\right\|_{\mathscr{B}(X)} \leqslant \frac{\tau(\delta)}{\sigma - c\kappa_{\alpha}}, \qquad \forall \lambda > \lambda(\alpha)$$

from which, choosing $\delta > 0$ sufficiently small such that $\frac{\tau(\delta)}{\sigma - c\kappa_{\alpha}} < 1$, we obtain that $(\mathbf{Id} - \mathscr{L}_{1,+}^{R,\delta}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{T}_{\alpha}))$ is invertible. We deduce that

$$\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{C}_{\alpha}) = \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{T}_{\alpha}) \left(\mathbf{Id} - \mathscr{L}_{1,+}^{R,\delta} \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{C}_{\alpha}) \right)^{-1}$$
$$= \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{T}_{\alpha}) \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left[\mathscr{L}_{1,+}^{R,\delta} \mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{T}_{\alpha}) \right]^{n}, \qquad \forall \lambda > \lambda(\alpha),$$

simply observing that $(\lambda - C_{\alpha}) = (\mathbf{Id} - \mathscr{L}_{1,+}^{R,\delta} \mathcal{R}(\lambda, C_{\alpha}))(\lambda - \mathcal{T}_{\alpha})$. In particular,

$$\|\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{C}_{\alpha})\|_{\mathscr{B}(X)} \leq \frac{1}{\sigma - c\kappa_{\alpha} - \tau(\delta)}, \quad \forall \lambda > \lambda(\alpha),$$

with

$$\lim_{\lambda \to \infty} \|\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{C}_{\alpha})\|_{\mathscr{B}(X)} = 0$$

by virtue of (C.7). Set then

$$\mathcal{C}^1_{\alpha} := \mathcal{C}_{\alpha} + \mathcal{P}_{\alpha}.$$

With the estimate of \mathcal{P}_{α}

$$\left\|\mathcal{P}_{\alpha}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{C}_{\alpha})\right\|_{\mathscr{B}(X)} \leqslant C \frac{1-\alpha}{\sigma - c\kappa_{\alpha} - \tau(\delta)}$$

and, choosing α sufficiently close to 1, the operator $\mathbf{Id} + \mathcal{P}_{\alpha}\mathcal{R}(\lambda, \mathcal{C}_{\alpha})$ is invertible and so is $\lambda - \mathcal{C}_{\alpha}^{1}$. Finally, since

$$B_{\alpha} = \mathcal{C}_{\alpha}^1 - \mathscr{L}_{1,-}^{R,\delta} ,$$

one can chose $\lambda > 0$ sufficiently large so that

$$\|\mathscr{L}_{1,-}^{R,\delta}\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{C}_{\alpha}^{1})\|_{\mathscr{B}(X)} \leq \|\mathscr{L}_{1,-}^{R,\delta}\|_{\mathscr{B}(X)} \|\mathcal{R}(\lambda,\mathcal{C}_{\alpha}^{1})\|_{\mathscr{B}(X)} < 1$$

and obtain that $\lambda - B_{\alpha}$ is invertible. In particular, (C.6) holds true and this proves the result.

REFERENCES

- [1] R. ALONSO, Existence of global solutions to the Cauchy problem for the inelastic Boltzmann equation with near-vacuum data, *Indiana Univ. Math. J.* **58** (2009), 999–1022.
- [2] R. ALONSO, V. BAGLAND, B. LODS, Convergence to self-similarity for ballistic annihilation dynamics, *J. Math. Pures Appl.* **138** (2020), 88–163.
- [3] R. ALONSO, E. CARNEIRO, I. M. GAMBA, Convolution inequalities for the Boltzmann collision operator, Comm. Math. Phys. 298 (2010), 293–322.
- [4] R. ALONSO, I. M. GAMBA, Gain of integrability for the Boltzmann collisional operator, *Kinet. Relat. Models* 4 (2011), 41–51.
- [5] R. ALONSO, B. LODS, Uniqueness and regularity of steady states of the Boltzmann equation for viscoelastic hard- spheres driven by a thermal bath, *Commun. Math. Sci.* **11** (2013), 851–906.
- [6] R. ALONSO, B. LODS, Boltzmann model for viscoelastic particles: asymptotic behavior, pointwise lower bounds and regularity, *Comm. Math. Phys.* **331** (2014), 545–591.
- [7] R. ALONSO, B. LODS, I. TRISTANI, Hydrodynamic limit for the Boltzmann equation with viscoelastic hard-spheres, work in preparation.
- [8] C. BARDOS, F. GOLSE, D. LEVERMORE, Fluid dynamic limits of kinetic equations. I. Formal derivations, J. Statist. Phys. 63 (1991), 323–344.
- [9] C. BARDOS, F. GOLSE, D. LEVERMORE, Fluid dynamic limits of kinetic equations. II. Convergence proofs for the Boltzmann equation, *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.* **46** (1993), 667–753.
- [10] C. BARDOS, S. UKAI, The classical incompressible Navier-Stokes limit of the Boltzmann equation, *Math. Models Methods Appl. Sci.* 1 (1991), 235–257.
- [11] A.V. BOBYLEV, J.A. CARRILLO, AND I.M. GAMBA, On some properties of kinetic and hydrodynamic equations for inelastic interactions, *Journal Stat. Phys.*, 98(3-4), (2000), 743–773.
- [12] J. BREY, J. W. DUFTY, C. S. KIM, A. SANTOS, Hydrodynamics for granular flow at low density, *Phys. Rev. E* 58 (1998), 4638–4653.

- [13] J. BREY, J. W. DUFTY, Hydrodynamic modes for a granular gas from kinetic theory, *Phys. Rev. E* 72 (2005), 011303.
- [14] M. BRIANT, From the Boltzmann equation to the incompressible Navier-Stokes equations on the torus: a quantitative error estimate, *J. Differential Equations* **259** (2015) 6072–6141.
- [15] M. BRIANT, SARA MERINO-ACEITUNO, C. MOUHOT, From Boltzmann to incompressible Navier-Stokes in Sobolev spaces with polynomial weight, *Anal. Appl. (Singap.)* 17 (2019), 85–116.
- [16] N. V. BRILLIANTOV, T. PÖSCHEL, **Kinetic theory of granular gases**, Oxford Graduate Texts. Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2004.
- [17] R. E. CAFLISCH, The fluid dynamic limit of the nonlinear Boltzmann equation, *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.* 33 (1980), 651–666.
- [18] J.A. CAÑIZO, B. LODS, Exponential trend to equilibrium for the inelastic Boltzmann equation driven by a particle bath, *Nonlinearity* **29** (2016), 1687–1715.
- [19] E. CARLEN, S.-N. CHOW, A. GRIGO, Dynamics and hydrodynamic limits of the inelastic Boltzmann equation, *Nonlinearity* **23** (2010), 1807–1849.
- [20] J. A. CARRILLO, J. HU, Z. MA, T. REY Recent development in kinetic theory of granular materials: analysis and numerical methods, https://arxiv.org/abs/2001.11206, 2020.
- [21] C. CERCIGNANI, Bifurcation problems in fluid mechanics, Meccanica 5 (1970), 7-16.
- [22] A. DE MASI, R. ESPOSITO, J. L. LEBOWITZ, Incompressible Navier-Stokes and Euler limits of the Boltzmann equation, *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.* 42 (1989), 1189–1214.
- [23] L. DESVILLETTES, F. GOLSE, A remark concerning the Chapman-Enskog asymptotics, Advances in kinetic theory and computing, 191–203, Ser. Adv. Math. Appl. Sci., 22, World Sci. Publ., River Edge, NJ, 1994.
- [24] R. J. DIPERNA, P.-L. LIONS, On the Cauchy problem for the Boltzmann equation: global existence and weak stability results, *Ann. Math.* **130** (1990), 321–366.
- [25] K. J. ENGEL, R. NAGEL, One-parameter semigroups for linear evolution equations, Springer, 1999.
- [26] R. S. ELLIS, M. A. PINSKY, The first and second fluid approximations to the linearized Boltzmann equation, *J. Math. Pures Appl.* **54** (1975), 125–156.
- [27] I. GALLAGHER, I. TRISTANI, On the convergence of smooth solutions from Boltzmann to Navier-Stokes, *Annales H. Lebesgue*, to appear, 2020.
- [28] V. GARZÓ, Granular gaseous flows. A kinetic theory approach to granular gaseous flows, **Soft and Biological Matter**, Springer, 2019.
- [29] A. GOLDSHTEIN, M. SHAPIRO, Mechanics of collisional motion of granular materials. I. General hydrodynamic equations, J. Fluid Mech. 282 (1995), 75–114.
- [30] F. GOLSE, L. SAINT-RAYMOND, The Navier-Stokes limit of the Boltzmann equation for bounded collision kernels, *Invent. Math.* 155 (2004), 81–161.
- [31] F. GOLSE, L. SAINT-RAYMOND, The incompressible Navier-Stokes limit of the Boltzmann equation for hard cutoff potentials, *J. Math. Pures Appl.* **91** (2009), 508–552.
- [32] F. GOLSE, L. SAINT-RAYMOND, Hydrodynamic limits for the Boltzmann equation, *Riv. Mat. Univ. Parma* 7 (2005), 1–144.
- [33] F. GOLSE, Fluid dynamic limits of the kinetic theory of gases. *From particle systems to partial differential equations*, 3–91, Springer Proc. Math. Stat., 75, Springer, Heidelberg, 2014.
- [34] M.P. GUALDANI, S. MISCHLER, C. MOUHOT, Factorization for non-symmetric operators and exponential H-theorem, *Mémoires de la SMF*, **153**, 2017.
- [35] Y. GUO, J. JANG, N. JIANG, Acoustic limit for the Boltzmann equation in optimal scaling, *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.* **63** (2010),337–361.
- [36] Y. GUO, L^6 bound for Boltzmann diffusive limit, Ann. Appl. Math. **32** (2016), 249–265.
- [37] P. K. HAFF, Grain flow as a fluid-mechanical phenomenon, J. Fluid Mech. 134 (1983).
- [38] E. HEBEY, Nonlinear analysis on manifolds: Sobolev spaces and inequalities, Courant Lecture Notes in Mathematics; American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1999.

- [39] P.-E. JABIN, T. REY Hydrodynamic limit of granular gases to pressureless Euler in dimension 1, *Quart. Appl. Math.* **75** (2017), 155–179.
- [40] N. JIANG, N. MASMOUDI, Boundary layers and incompressible Navier-Stokes-Fourier limit of the Boltzmann equation in bounded domain I, *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.* 70 (2017), 90–171.
- [41] N. JIANG, C.-J. XU, H. ZHAO, Incompressible Navier-Stokes-Fourier limit from the Boltzmann equation: classical solutions, *Indiana Univ. Math. J.* 67 (2018), 1817–1855.
- [42] T. KATO, Perturbation theory for linear operators, Classics in Mathematics, Springer Verlag, 1980.
- [43] M. LACHOWICZ, On the initial layer and the existence theorem for the nonlinear Boltzmann equation, *Math. Methods Appl. Sci.* **9** (1987), 342–366.
- [44] C. D. LEVERMORE, N. MASMOUDI, From the Boltzmann equation to an incompressible Navier-Stokes-Fourier system, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 196 (2010), 753–809.
- [45] P.-L. LIONS, N. MASMOUDI, Une approche locale de la limite incompressible, C. R. Acad. Sci. Paris Sér. I Math. 329 (1999), 387–392.
- [46] P.-L. LIONS, N. MASMOUDI, From Boltzmann equation to the Navier-Stokes and Euler equations I, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 158 (2001), 173–193.
- [47] P.-L. LIONS, N. MASMOUDI, From Boltzmann equation to the Navier-Stokes and Euler equations II, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 158 (2001), 195–211.
- [48] A. J. MAJDA, A. L. BERTOZZI, Vorticity and incompressible flow, Cambridge Texts in Applied Mathematics, 27. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2002.
- [49] C. MOUHOT, L. NEUMANN, Quantitative perturbative study of convergence to equilibrium for collisional kinetic models in the torus, *Nonlinearity* **19** (2006), 969–998.
- [50] S. MISCHLER, C. MOUHOT, M. RODRIGUEZ-RICARD, Cooling process for inelastic Boltzmann equations for hard-spheres, Part I: The Cauchy Theory, J. Statist. Phys. 124 (2006), 655-702.
- [51] S. MISCHLER, C. MOUHOT, Cooling process for inelastic Boltzmann equations for hard-spheres, Part II: Self-similar solution and tail behavior, *J. Statist. Phys.* **124** (2006), 702–746.
- [52] S. MISCHLER C. MOUHOT, Stability, convergence to self-similarity and elastic limit for the Boltzmann equation for inelastic hard-spheres, *Comm. Math. Phys.* **288** (2009), 431–502.
- [53] S. MISCHLER C. MOUHOT, Exponential stability of slowly decaying solutions to the kinetic-Fokker-Planck equation, Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal. 221 (2016), 677–723.
- [54] T. NISHIDA, Fluid dynamical limit of the nonlinear Boltzmann equation to the level of the compressible Euler equation, *Comm. Math. Phys.* **61** (1978), 119–148.
- [55] T. REY, A spectral study of the linearized Boltzmann equation for diffusively excited granular media, https://arxiv.org/abs/1310.7234, 2013.
- [56] L. SAINT-RAYMOND, **Hydrodynamic limits of the Boltzmann equation**, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, 1971. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2009.
- [57] L. SAINT-RAYMOND, Hydrodynamic limits: some improvements of the relative entropy method, *Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire* **26** (2009), 705–744.
- [58] J. SIMON, Compact sets in the space $L^{p}(0,T;B)$, Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. 146 (1987), 65–96.
- [59] I. TRISTANI, Boltzmann equation for granular media with thermal force in a weakly inhomogeneous setting. *J. Funct. Anal.* **270** (2016), 1922–1970.
- [60] S. UKAI, On the existence of global solutions of a mixed problem for nonlinear Boltzman equation, *Proc. Japan Acad.* **50** (1974), 179–184.
- [61] C. VILLANI, Mathematics of granular materials, J. Stat. Phys. 124 (2006), 781-822.

TEXAS A&M UNIVERSITY AT QATAR, SCIENCE DEPARTMENT, EDUCATION CITY, DOHA, QATAR. *E-mail address*: ricardo.alonso@qatar.tamu.edu

UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI TORINO & COLLEGIO CARLO ALBERTO, DEPARTMENT OF ECONOMICS AND STATISTICS, CORSO UNIONE SOVIETICA, 218/BIS, 10134 TORINO, ITALY. *E-mail address*: bertrand.lods@unito.it

Département de Mathématiques et Applications, École Normale Supérieure, CNRS, PSL University, 75005 Paris, France.

E-mail address: isabelle.tristani@ens.fr